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ABOUT

CHINA GAS

China Gas Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group” or “China
Gas”) are one of the largest trans-regional
integrated energy suppliers and service
providers in China. Focusing on China, it
is primarily engaged in the investment,
construction, and operation of city and
township gas pipelines, gas terminals, storage
and transport facilities, and gas logistics
systems to deliver natural gas and liquefied
petroleum gas (“LPG") to residential, industrial
and commercial users. The Group also builds
and operates compressed natural gas (“CNG")/
liquefied natural gas (“LNG") fueling stations
while developing and applying natural gas and
LPG technologies. In addition, it has drawn
on its extensive consumer base to form a
comprehensive business portfolio of value-
added services and integrated energy.
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MILESTONES

FY2023/24

66

piped gas projects
with concession rights
in total

47,051,267

households connected

billion m? natural
gas sold

FY2001/02

* Commenced city gas businesses

FY2003/04

* 40 city gas projects in total
* 266,992 households connected
* 39.1 million m3 natural gas sold

FY2005/06

* 50 city gas projects in total

* 806,103 households connected
* 176.4 million m? natural gas sold

FY2007/08

° 68 city gas projects in total

* 2,253,044 households connected
* 1.1 billion m? natural gas sold

China Gas Holdings Limited

41.7

FY2009/10

e 123 city gas projects in total

e 4,837,436 households connected
* 3.6 billion m? natural gas sold

FY2010/11

e 148 city gas projects in total

* 6,078,806 households connected
° 4.6 billion m* natural gas sold

FY2011/12

° 160 city gas projects in total

e 7,187,894 households connected
* 5.8 billion m? natural gas sold

FY2012/13

° 179 city gas projects in total

* 8,438,991 households connected
e 7.0 billion m? natural gas sold

FY2013/14

e 237 city gas projects in total

* 10,306,995 households connected
e 8.2 billion m* natural gas sold

FY2014/15

e 273 city gas projects in total

* 12,590,944 households connected
* 9.1 billion m? natural gas sold

FY2015/16

* 305 city gas projects in total
* 14,691,200 households connected
¢ 10.0 billion m? natural gas sold



330 city gas projects in total
20,681,656 households connected
12.4 billion m? natural gas sold

495 piped gas projects with
concession rights in total
24,570,321 households connected
18.9 billion m? natural gas sold

542 piped gas projects with
concession rights in total
29,678,157 households connected
24.7 billion m? natural gas sold

604 piped gas projects with
concession rights in total
35,105,524 households connected
25.4 billion m? natural gas sold

642 piped gas projects with
concession rights in total
40,153,824 households connected
31.2 billion m? natural gas sold

MILESTONES

660 piped gas projects with
concession rights in total
43,095,245 households connected
36.7 billion m? natural gas sold

661 piped gas projects with
concession rights in total
45,394,697 households connected
39.2 billion m? natural gas sold

662 piped gas projects with
concession rights in total
47,051,267 households connected
41.7 billion m? natural gas sold
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Financial Highlights

for the year ended 31 March 2024 2023 Change
Turnover (HK$'000) 81,410,133 91,988,445 (11.5%)
Gross profit (HK$'000) 11,304,123 12,034,675 (6.1%)
Profit attributable to owners of the Company (HK$'000) 3,184,939 4,293,484 (25.8%)
Non-HKFRS measure: Adjusted net profit attributable to

owners of the Company (HK$'000) (Note) 3,965,514 4,144,052 (4.3%)
Basic earnings per share (in HK$) 0.59 0.80 (25.8%)
Net operating cash flow (HK$'000) 11,340,195 10,027,284 13.1%
Free cash flow (HK$'000) 4,288,773 2,519,991 70.2%

2024 2023 Change

Total assets (HK$'000) 148,697,724 157,291,209 (5.5%)
Bank balance and cash (HK$'000) 8,280,335 10,617,686 (22.0%)
Shareholders’ equity (HK$'000) 53,927,655 57,900,584 (6.9%)
Key Financial Indicators
for the year ended 31 March 2024 2023
Average finance costs 4.8% 4.5%
Current ratio (times) 0.90 1.01
Gross profit margin 13.9% 13.1%
Net gearing ratio 79% 76%

Definitions:

Current ratio
Current assets/Current liabilities

o Average finance costs .
Total interest expenses/Average borrowing for the year

. Net gearing ratio .
Net borrowing/Total equity

Gross profit margin
Gross profit/Turnover

Note:

“Adjusted net profit” is defined as the profit for the year excluding other gains and losses of the Group and the Group'’s share of exchange losses of Zhongyu
Energy for the year. “Adjusted net profit” is a non-HKFRS measure. As items within other gains and losses of the Group and exchange losses of Zhongyu
Energy are not directly related to the Group’s business activities and are not reflective of the core operating performance of the Group, the Company considers
that presenting the adjusted net profit attributable to the owners of the Company would provide shareholders and potential investors of the Company with
supplementary information on the performance of the Group’s core operations. Please refer to the section headed “Reconciliation of Non-HKFRS Measure to the
Nearest HKFRS Measure”.

China Gas Holdings Limited



OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE
for the year ended 31 March

2024 2023 Change

Number of piped gas projects 662 661 0.2%
Connectable residential users for city gas projects

(million households) 54.4 53.9 0.9%
Penetration rate of residential users for city gas projects (%) 70.9% 68.6% 2.3 pts
Total natural gas sale volume (million m?3) 41,698.4 39,249.1 6.2%
Natural gas sold through city and township gas projects 23,513.1 23,004.3 2.2%
Natural gas sold through direct-supply pipelines and trade 18,185.3 16,244.8 12.0%
Sales of natural gas in city and township gas projects

(customer breakdown) (million m3)
Residential 8,666.6 8,382.8 3.4%
Industrial 11,249.3 11,211.5 0.3%
Commercial 3,127.5 2,887.2 8.3%
CNG/LNG stations 469.7 522.8 (10.2%)
New connections
Residential 1,656,570 2,299,452 (28.0%)

City gas projects 1,588,358 2,072,089 (23.3%)

Township gas projects 68,212 227,363 (70.0%)
Industrial 2,368 2,300 3.0%
Commercial 30,263 31,671 (4.4%)
Accumulated number of connected

customers and gas stations
Residential 47,051,267 45,394,697 3.6%

City gas projects 38,558,358 36,970,000 4.3%

Township gas projects 8,492,909 8,424,697 0.8%
Industrial 24,476 22,108 10.7%
Commercial 359,598 329,335 9.2%
CNG/LNG stations 516 533 (3.2%)
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NATURAL GAS

China Gas Holdings Limited

NATURAL GAS

Natural gas, a vital energy resource clean and efficient, with
fewer GHG emissions globally, serves as a major energy player
in China’s socioeconomic growth, as it can contribute to the
green development of energy and play a unique role in the
process of energy decarbonization. In order to move toward the
carbon peaking and neutrality goals as soon as possible, China
has continued to enhance the infrastructure construction since
this year, including the renovation of pipelines, the planning
and construction of gas storage and import terminals, so as to
improve its capacity and stability of natural gas supply, and to
continuously promote the development and progress of the
natural gas industry.

In the near term, with China’s economic recovery and the
rebound in industrial and manufacturing demand, the demand
for clean energy like natural gas registered rigid growth. In the
long term, natural gas is still budding worldwide. With increased
investment, the tight supply will be significantly eased, and the
gas price as well as market demand back to normal. Natural gas
demand in Asian markets, especially in China, will be the main
driving force for the sustainable growth of global natural gas
demand, an effective force to facilitate inter-regional rebalancing
of resources, and a driver in global natural gas trades towards
international win-win cooperation.



During the Period, the overall domestic housing market was in
downwardness, and as a result, new connections in the industry saw
a slowdown. In the face of challenges and opportunities, the Group
further worked to unlock development opportunities, moving fast to
leverage various favorable policies in China on renovation of aging
pipelines, development of old communities, bottled-to-piped-gas
project for urban and rural residents and catering commercial users,
rural revitalization, equipment renovation and more, to vigorously
develop existing users within the pipeline network, as a cushion from
the sluggish housing market.

Meanwhile, against the backdrop of uncertainties in energy prices,
the Group furthered its enhancement of resource collaboration
and channels. By going all out to secure upstream resources from
the three state-owned oil majors in China, the Group diversified
its gas sources, forged its resource pools at home and abroad, cut
its comprehensive procurement cost, cemented its planning and
operation of gas sources, and thus ensured its stable gas supply.
During the Period, on the back of opportunities arising from
the natural gas price reform announced in Guiding Principle for
Establishing and Improving Upstream-to-Downstream Price Pass-
through Mechanism of Natural Gas (Consultation Paper) from
the state, the Group put itself in tune with the national policies,
implemented the price pass-through formula and helped the natural
gas pricing go market-based.

NATURAL GAS
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OPERATIONAL LOCATIONS OF

NATURAL GAS

1. INNER MONGOLIA AUTONOMOUS REGION

Hohhot, Wushen Banner, Baotou, Helingeer County, Tuoketuo County, Tuzuo
Banner, Wuchuan County, Alashanmeng Wausitai Industrial Zone, Urad Front
Banner, Liangcheng County, Denkou County, Jining District, the City of Ulangab,
Dongshan Industrial Park, Ningcheng County, Hohhot Shengle Economic Zone,
Qingshuihe County, Urad Middle Banner, Ejin Horo Banner, Yuanbaoshan District
in Chifeng, Chifeng Economic Transformation and Development Pilot Zone,
Xinghe County, Bairin Right Banner

2. XINJIANG UYGUR AUTONOMOUS REGION

Horgos Economic Development Zone, Ho City Economic Development Zone

3. HEBEI

Shijiazhuang Gaocheng, Cangzhou Development Zone, Nanpi County, Qinghe
County, the City of Wangdu, Tangshan Nanpu, Leting County, Xinle, Pingshan
County, Fengnan District of Tangshan, Neigiu County, Bohai New Zone,
Cangzhou Hightech Zone, Tang County, Handan Jinan New Zone, Luquan,
Quyang County, Raoyang County, Botou New Zone, Laishui County, Dingzhou,
Dingxing County, Yutian County, Yutian Town and Caitinggiao Town of Yutian
County, Changli County, Weixian County, Xiahuayuan District, Chengan County,
Wougiao County, Ningjin County, Linzhang County, Zaogiang County, Longyao
County, Xingtang County, Urban Area of Gucheng County, Gucheng County
Administrative Jurisdiction, the City of Nangong, Jize County, Xinhe County,
Xingtai, Kangbao County, Zanhuang County, Yu County Economic Development
Zone, Nanhe County, Julu County, Linxi County, Xian County, Guangping
County, Baixiang County of the City of Xingtai

4. GANSU
Lingtai County, Huating County, Jingning County, Chongxin County, Huachi
County, Heshui County

5. TIANIJIN
Baodi District in Tianjin, Jinghai Economic Development Zone, Ziya Industrial Zone
6. SHANXI

the City of Shuozhou, Xiangning County in the City of Linfen

7. SHANDONG

Dezhou, Qingdao, Leling, Qufu, Sishui, Qufu New Zone, Weifang Binhai
Economic Development Zone, Liaocheng, Dezhou Tianqu Industrial Zone, the
City of Linyi, Linyi Economic Zone, Linshu County, Zhanggiu District of the City of
Jinan, the City of Rongcheng, the City of Haiyang, the City of Wendeng, the City
of Rushan, Weifang Binhai Economic Zone, Jiaxiang County, Ningyang County,
Laiyang Economic Development Zone

8. NINGXIA HUI AUTONOMOUS REGION
Zhongwei, the City of Guyuan

9. HENAN

Xinyang, the City of Jiaozuo, the City of Qinyang, Wuzhi County, Xiuwu County,
7 Projects in the City of Luohe, Xiping County, the City of Jiyuan, the City of
Sanmenxia, Shanxian County, Sanmenxia Industrial Park, the City of Lingbao, the
City of Yanshi, the City of Yongcheng, Yongcheng Industrial Zone, the City of
Xinmi, Huangchuan County, Guangshan County, Gushi County, Huiguo Town

in the City of Gongyi, Yuanyang County, Hui County, the City of Mengzhou,
Wen County, Puyang County, Puyang Industrial Zone, Tangyin County, the City
of Nanyang Wolong District, Suiping County, Shangcheng County , Ningling
County, Xi County, Luoshan Town, Neihuang Town, Puyang Town, Yanjin Town,
Changyuan Town, Gongyi Town, Nanyang Town, Luoning Town, Zhengyang
Town

10. SHAANXI
Baoji, Qishan County, Yulin, Linyou County, Shangnan County, Heyang County

11. JJANGSU

Nanjing Jiang Bei, Pizhou, Yangzhong, Nanjing Pu Kou District, Xuzhou Jiawang
District The north side of Nanjing, Xuzhou Xinyi District, the City of Yangzhou,
Taixing East District, Lianyungang Haizhou Economic Development Zone, Nanjing
Jinggiao, Donghai County, Tong Shan, Sihong County City Center, Sihong
County, Guannan County, Nanjing ChangLu Industrial Park, certain villages and
towns of Sihong County

12. ANHUI

Wuhu, Huainan, Shouxian, Suzhou, Wuhu County, Nanling County, Huoshan
County, Fengtai County, Wuwei County, Qimen County, Xiuning County, Maoji
Development Zone, Huoqu County, Susong Linjiang Industrial Zone, Suzhou Si
County, Suzhou Yonggiao Economic Zone, Wuhe County, Sixian, the City of
Susong, Taihu County, Hefei Binghu New District, She County, Huinan Town of
Wuhe County, Linbei Village, Xinji Town, Toupu Town, Wuhe Economic Zone

China Gas Holdings Limited

13. HUBEI

Yichang, Xiaogan, Hanchuan, Yingcheng, Yunmeng, Suizhou,
Tianmen, Dangyang, Wuhan Jiangnan, Laohekou, Danjiangkou,
Yuanan, Dawu County, Run County, Wuxue Industrial Zone, Shiyan
Wudangshan Zone, Donghu High-tech Zone, Jianli County, the City
of Honghu, the City of Songzi, Xinzhou District in the City of Wuhan,
the City of Wuxue, Yingshan County, Tuanfeng County, Longganhu
District in Huangmei County, the City of Huanggang, Xishui County,
Meichuan Town in the City of Wuxue, Huangmei County, Shiyan,
Zigui County, Huangshi Port Industrial Park, Yunxi County, Xiaogan
Hightech Zone, Chongyang County, Honghu Economic Development
Zone of Wuhan, Yunxi County, Wuhan Guanggu District

14. ZHEJIANG

Hangzhou Xiaoshan District, Taizhou, Jinhua, Hangzhou Jiangdong
Development Zone, Daishan Economic Development Zone, the City
of Yueqing, Xiushan Village of Zhejiang

15. CHONGQING
Yubei

16. JIANGXI

Nanchang Wanli, Xinfeng County, Wuyuan County, Yihuang
County, Xinfeng Industrial Park, Nancheng County, Quannan
County, Shangyou County, Jinyuan New District in the City of
Yichun

17. HUNAN

Yiyang, Youxian, Zhangjiajie, Yiyang Datonghu, the City of Yiyang
New Zone, Huaihua National Agriculture and Technology Zone,
Anhua County, Zhijiang Dong Autonomous County, Baojing
County, Huishangang Concentrated Industrial Park of Yiyang,
Chaling County, Nan County, Lukou County, Yanling County

18. FUJIAN

30 cities/regions, the City of Sanming, the City of Shaowu, Wuping
County, Taining County, Qingliu County, Youxi County, Datian
County, Jianning County, Huaan Economic Zone, Ninghua County
in Sanming, Jianning Xiangfei Industrial Park

19. GUIZHOU
the City of Kaili

20. YUNNAN
Dali Haidong New Zone, the City of Baoshan, Lvchun County

21. GUANGXI ZHUANG AUTONOMOUS REGION
Nanning, Yulin, Qinzhou, Liuzhou, Fangchenggang, Nanning
ASEAN Development Zone, Laibin, Baise, Bobai, Chongzuo,
Guiping, Luchuan, Tiandeng County, Dahua County, Hechi, Tianlin
County, Cenxi, Napo County, Liucheng County, Luocheng Mulao
Autonomous County, Yulin Environmental Protection Industrial Park

22. GUANGDONG

Maoming, Conghua, Meizhou, Yunfu, Shanwei, Xinxing County,
Fengshun County, Pingyuan County, Dapu County, Wuhua
County, Huazhou, Luhe County, Mei County, Jieyang Industrial
Park, Ruyuan County



23. HAINAN PROVINCE

Qiongzhong Li-Miao Autonomous County

24. HEILONGJIANG

Harbin, Jiamusi, Mudanjiang, Daxing’anling Jiagedagi
District, Huachuan County, Tangyuan County, Huanan
County, Suibin County, Tongjiang, Mudanjiang
Jiangnan Development Zone, Nongkenbaoquanling,
Raohe County, the City of Qitaihe Jinsha New Zone,
Mulan County, Chengguan in the City of Tieli, Fuyu
County, Boli County, Luobei County, the City of Yichun
Xinging District, Jixi, Lingdong District in Shuangyashan,
the City of Heihe, Nongken Hongxinglong District,

the City of Wudalianchi, Xunke County, Qingan
County, Sunwu County, the City of Shuangyashan,
Tailai County, Acheng, Anda, Bin County, Wuchang,
Zhaoyuan County, Fangzheng County, Jiansanjiang,
Yilan Economic Development Zone

25. JILIN

Fusong, the City of Baishan, Changbai Mountain
International Tourist Resort Zone, Jingyu County, the
City of Fuyu, Zhenlai County, Gongzhuling City National
Agricultural Science and Technology Park, the City of
Jiaohe, the City of Huadian, Dongfeng County, Lushuihe
Town and Quanyang Town in the administrative region
of Fusong County, Changbai County

26. LIAONING

the City of Shenyang, Fushun, Jinzhou Economic Hi-
Tech Development Zone, Shenyang Sujiatun, Dalian
Jinzhou Development Zone, Liaoyang, Gaizhou, the City
of Zhuanghe, Zhuanghe City Industrial Park, Pulandian,
Liaoyang Economic Zone, Liaoyang Taizi River, Xinbin
County, Jinzhou Longxiwan New Zone, Qingyuan
County, Fushun County, Yi County Qilihe, Changhai
County, Jinzhou Dayou Economic Area, Yingkou

Bohai Tech City, the City of Jinzhou, Kuandian Manzu
Autonomous County, Dalian Puwan Economic Zone,
the City of Dandong, the City of Fengcheng

27. BEUJING
Beijing Mentougou, Beijing Economic-Technological
Development Area

PIPED GAS
6 6 2 PROJECTS

. PROVINCIAL CAPITAL CITIES &
1 MUNICIPALITIES
Major National Natural Gas Pipelines (not drawn to scale)

—O— West-East Gas Pipeline No. 1 ——0O-— Sichuan-East Gas Pipeline
West-East Gas Pipeline No. 2 =—O— China-Russia Natural Gas Pipeline
Shaanxi-Beijing Pipeline No.2 ~ —0O— China-Myanmar Natural Gas Pipeline
—O— Zhongwu Pipeline
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LPG

As a colorless and volatile gas clean, environmental-friendly and easy to transport and storage, featuring high calorific value
and stable pressure, liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) is widely used as household gas, industrial fuel, automotive fuel and
chemical raw material for being lower-carbon, more efficient, cleaner and more environmentally-friendly. Faster research,
development and innovation of oil and gas development technology spurred the pickup of downstream demand, bringing
energy supply of LPG and more in continued growth. According to the data from the National Bureau of Statistics and the
General Administration of Customs, China’s LPG production volume totaled 51.73 million tons in 2023, a year-on-year
increase of 6.1%. China’s LPG annual import volume totaled approximately 32.68 million tons, a year-on-year increase of
21%. In the short term, China’s LPG production volume will continue to grow.

During the Period, the Group has integrated strengths in resource procurement, ocean transportation, wharf loading
and unloading, tank farm storage, in-park processing, land distribution and its nationwide smart distribution network
by constructing wharfs along the river and coasts with storage tank farms and chemical bases, upgrading logistics and
transportation capabilities, and creating an intelligent distribution network, etc., to build a comprehensive and efficient
industrial value chain for its LPG ecology with integration between retail and trade in accordance with the principle of
boosting residential supplies with industrial ones as the fundamental. While meeting the demand for raw materials for fast-
developing olefin projects, the Group also provides safe and high-quality energy security for civil and commercial users, and
builds up the most extensive industrial supply and distribution network radiating across mainland China, making the Group a
unique owner and leader of the whole industrial chain in China.

China Gas Holdings Limited



Since this year, the Work Safety Committee of the State Council of China and the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural
Development have issued policies to regulate the operation of the industry, support the integration of scale and strengthen
the main responsibility and requirements of the enterprises for safety, which has led to a surge in the concentration of
the industry and an unprecedented improvement in the business environment of the industry. As China’s largest vertically
integrated comprehensive LPG operator and service provider for upstream, midstream and downstream sectors, the Group,
boasting a two-decade track record in the LPG industry, with its knowledge of integration, management, standardization
and technology, has become a beneficiary of the development of the industry on a large scale and a leader in promoting the
development of the industry on a large scale. At present, the Group has explored a set of integrated solutions for market
consolidation that can effectively manage terminal safety, leveraging core resources such as professional talent team, edges
in safety management and digital platform technology to boost the market. By upgrading the light asset consolidation and
investment model, the Group has been able to assist in the high-quality development of the end-user business, while at the
same time promoting the process of industry consolidation and safeguarding the healthy and long-term development of the
industry.

Its trading, underpinned by better international trading team, business model and trading tools, prided itself with direct
procurement pipelines and presence in re-export markets to drive the volume of international trade. Trimming costs and risks
in procurement and maximizing volume and profits in trading, it grew better poised for its domestic trading, which registered
volume gains and price hikes stemmed from its evolved systems of sales management as well as its sales expansion of gas as
raw materials.

Annual Report 2023/24
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OPERATIONAL LOCATIONS OF
LIQUEFIED PETROLEUM GAS

() LPG TERMINAL
() LPG WHOLESALE

@ LPG STORAGE FACILITY
@ LPGRETAIL

THE LARGEST
VERTICALLY INTEGRATED

LIQUEFIED PETROLEUM GAS OPERATOR IN CHINA
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VALUE-ADDED SERVICES

The Group adheres to the core philosophy of “creating higher value for users” and
takes Yipin Smart Living Technology Limited (Z @24 ERHR AR A F) as the main
operating entity of value-added business. Based on the household scenarios, the
Group boasts three major traditional product segments (kitchen products, security
products and promotion) and four major new product segments (Smart Living

= O == o = 0O Fx 2

Appliances (Em=%gs), Smart Living Home Renovation (Sah=H/&), Smart Living
Household (EMZE %) and Smart Living Top Picks (EMREEIR). At present, Yipin
Smart Living’s business, with a national presence in more than 600 cities of 27
provinces, municipalities and autonomous regions, provides products and services
directly from nearly 30,000 grid managers for users. Yipin Smart Living, rooted in
opportunities and scenarios to closely reach users including online services, offline
payment, customer registration, safety checks and meter reading, continuously

increases user coverage, expands sales channel coverage, and solidifies the basic grids.

Building upon its own endowment, the Group has meticulously carved around its strategic orientation and further promoted
its value-added services, with its omni-channel business portfolio based on the new retail business model of grid-based
private domain business for stores: offline, a network of channels such as city stores, 4S business halls, community stores
and grid sales is constructed to carefully weave the land network and improve sales conversion; online, a new retail platform
is constructed to deeply penetrate the social circles, activate the user’s fissure growth, and continue to expand the private
domain traffic pools. Online and offline offerings have been interconnected, empowering each other and triggering growth.
Focusing deeply on the sub-segments of the lifestyle services market, the Group will continue to capitalize on the platform
capabilities to satisfy the comprehensive needs of users from the households to the community in all respects and create a
new experience of a better life.

Operating in a professional and market-oriented fashion, the Group has strode forward in brand building, competitiveness
enhancement of its conventional pillars with yet more footprints across China and growth quality promotion in such
businesses. Moreover, the Group has given full play to the advantages of China Gas’s grid via the omni-channel business
mix. Drawing on the fission model and bestseller model of social e-commerce, and the scene model of new retail stores, the
Group has innovated its integration of online and offline and the blending of social networking and stores to create a new
retail model of grid-based business for stores, improve user experience and better meet consumer needs. Bettering their life in
kitchens, at tables and beyond, the Group has been there for customers 24/7 with exquisite and cost-effective products and
tailor-made services, as its new impetus for sustainable and healthy growth. Growing its VAS into its second growth engine,
working to generate more returns by further scaling up such a business.

With an ever-increasing penetration rate of connections, the Group’s gas user base has rapidly expanded. The customer
network has significant potential for providing added value. Through continuous improvement of the VAS system, the Group
has established a VAS business model and a new retail platform well-suited to the gas industry. The business model has been
evolving to continuously boost VAS.

During the Period, the Group has optimized the structure of traditional products such as kitchen, security and promotion,
increased product coverage and strengthened the fundamentals. In addition, the Group has been actively expanding
innovative businesses, tapping into market opportunities, rapidly deploying areas such as renovation of old buildings, sales
of electric appliances, domestic services, and selection of high-quality goods, exploring new growth points, and tapping into
more user needs.

During the financial year, revenue from value-added services amounted to HK$3,654,898,000, representing a year-on-year
increase of 5.8%; and operating profit amounted to HK$1,582,032,000, representing a year-on-year increase of 5.7%.
Currently, the penetration rate of value-added business products remains low. However, with its diversified channels and
transformation toward online new retail business, there lies enormous potential for future development.
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INTEGRATED ENERGY

China has entered a critical period in which carbon reduction is a key strategic direction,
fostering the synergy of pollution reduction and carbon reduction, promoting the overall green
transformation of economic and social development, and achieving a qualitative improvement
in the ecological and environmental quality from quantitative changes. Green and low-carbon
technology has become a key driving force in achieving carbon peak and carbon neutrality.

The global green and low-carbon innovative development has become an inevitable trend. The

global economic landscape is being reshaped by technological and industrial reforms marked by

green and low-carbon characteristics. With some traditional energy sources gradually replaced

by clean energy, the trend towards green energy transformation is evident. Leveraging its
unique advantages to help the state save energy and reduce carbon
emissions, the Group has launched new integrated energy services,
which currently include PV, charging piles (stations), building energy
efficiency, industrial energy conservation, smart grids, electricity sales,
carbon peaking and neutrality and other businesses. In addition to
traditional businesses, the Group has also embarked on expanding
business scenarios such as “energy storage +”, “PV +", “electricity
sales +” and integrated PV storage and charging stations, thereby
reducing carbon emissions while promoting energy conservation and
consumption reduction for enterprises. In line with national policies
and the deepening green development and energy structural reforms
in various cities, the Group will consistently integrate innovative
achievements into its operations.

For its integrated energy, the Group is committed to developing into
a leading integrated energy service provider in the industry, with a
strategic focus on being a “green city operator”. The electricity and
new energy segment focuses on the construction and operation of
virtual power plants, and coordinates the development of integrated
energy efficiency businesses in the Yangtze River Delta, the Greater
Bay Area and key economically developed urban areas, such as energy
storage, industrial energy conservation, building energy efficiency, PV,
charging and electricity sales and distribution, and vigorously develops multiple profitable models
of derivative businesses and electricity digitalization and integrates multiple offerings to provide
integrated solutions in respect of integrated energy use for urban industry and commerce.

Grounded in customer demands for low-carbon transformation, energy saving and cost
reduction, China Gas's smart energy focuses on creating full life-cycle solutions with efficient
integrated cooling and heating facilities as the core, and collaboratively provides urban heating,
building heating and other integrated heating and cooling energy services. Taking proactive
measures in industrial deployment and integrating project resource endowments, the Group is
actively promoting the development of various renewable energy technologies, such as biomass
and surplus energy utilization, to provide customers with one-to-one customized energy-saving,
low-carbon, environmentally friendly, stable and reliable energy solutions. Currently, several
biomass projects have been put into operation in Yangzhong, Taixing, Zhangzhou and other
areas, which provide green heat, green electricity, and green building solutions for industrial
parks through the “biomass +” program, creating a sustainable new energy ecology.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Mr. LIU Ming Hui
Chairman and President
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DIVIDEND

The board of directors (“Directors”, each a “Director”)
of the Company (“Board”) resolved to recommend
payment of a final dividend of HK35 cents per share
to shareholders whose names appear on the register
of members of the Company on 29 August 2024 (the
record date for determining the entitlement of the
shareholders to receive the proposed final dividend), and
proposed that a scrip dividend option will be offered to
the shareholders of the Company. Together with the
interim dividend of HK15 cents per share paid to the
shareholders on 2 February 2024, the total dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2024 amounts to HK50 cents
per share (total dividend for the year ended 31 March
2023 amounted to HK50 cents per share).

CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

It is expected that the cheques for the final dividends
and/or the share certificates to be issued under the scrip
dividend option, if approved by the shareholders at the
forthcoming annual general meeting, is expected to be
distributed on or around 4 October 2024 (Friday).
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

To be eligible to attend and vote at the
forthcoming annual general meeting

For the purpose of determining the shareholders who are
entitled to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual
general meeting, the register of members of the Company
will be closed from 16 August 2024 (Friday) to 21 August
2024 (Wednesday) (both days inclusive), during which no
transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. In
order to qualify for attending and voting at the forthcoming
annual general meeting to be held on 21 August 2024
(Wednesday), all transfers of shares accompanied by the
relevant share certificates and transfer forms must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and
transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-16, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 15 August 2024
(Thursday).

To qualify for the proposed final dividend

For the purpose of determining the shareholders who are
entitled to receive the proposed final dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2024, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from 27 August 2024 (Tuesday)
to 29 August 2024 (Thursday) (both days inclusive),
during which no transfer of shares of the Company will be
registered. Subject to the approval of the shareholders at
the forthcoming annual general meeting, the final dividend
will be payable to the shareholders whose names appear
on the register of members of the Company on 29 August
2024 (Thursday). In order to qualify for the proposed
final dividend, all transfers of shares accompanied by the
relevant share certificates and transfer forms must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
at Shops 1712-16, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30
p.m. on 26 August 2024 (Monday).

China Gas Holdings Limited

PROSPECTS

The steady progress of China Gas in FY2023, amid growing
economic fluctuations and mounting uncertainties, was
especially hard-earned. Navigating a macro-economy
complex and ever-changing with escalating industry
competition, however, the Group grew steadily and even
hit milestones on various fronts. Yet transitioning energy
markets worldwide and a restructuring economy at home
have posed a question on what and how to deliver better
at the Group going forward.

To the Group, the first thing crystal-clear is how the current
macro-economic landscape prompts it to move faster in
evolving itself while staying ahead in the existing segments.
The question marks on the global economic rebound,
especially the risks in emerging markets, together with the
tectonic shifts in energy markets within and beyond China,
mean new challenges for the Group’s business models and
operations strategies.

In such a context, “safety first and priority to efficiency”
will remain at the heart of everything we do at China Gas,
for our high-quality development predominantly fueled by
our supply-side structural reform. Our safety management
will grow yet more solid, with our fast moves in response
to China’s requirements for higher standards of safe
operation, going incident-free in operations. Our dedication
will also go to renovation of key infrastructure, in tune with
China’s favorable policies on renovation of aging pipelines
and more, hence our growing service capabilities and
operational efficiency. Another powerhouse is China’s fresh
policies on further optimization of the price pass-through
mechanisms of natural gas, as drivers for further market-
based reforms in the natural gas industry cementing sound
development of city gas players in the long run.



Our business will progress with our monitoring of markets
at home and abroad and thus ever-upgrading strategies
always regeared to how the energy sector evolves. China
Gas’s natural gas arm sector will further drive up sales
and market share backed by its refined management
as well as market-based operations. The LPG line, by
weaving together resources upstream and downstream
and renewing business models, will grow and integrate
its footing across the industrial chain and hence maximize
its value. Tech-forward and innovation-intensive, our VAS
(value-added services) will develop products and services
with significant added-value to boost profitability.

Going digital will remain a top priority for the Group, which
will invest yet more to inject intelligence into management
and administration. Turbocharged by digital instruments
like big data and cloud computing, its operations is growing
more efficient and decision-making more ground-based.
And our digital platforms, where data are interconnected
and resources better allocated, will incredibly power our
key competitiveness.

CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

For a better-performing workforce, team building and
staff enhancement will be predominantly about growing
responsibility and ownership. As the leader ranking and
leadership-nurturing programs kicked in, the teams
will enjoy greater synergy and deliver more. Our rising
recruitment and incentives will also help ensure a
management team of performance and expertise.

At China Gas, things will further go stringent, refined,
pragmatic, efficient, precise and rule-based, where every
action and solution will be in light with how the actual
situation looks like. Toward high-quality and sustainable
development as always, we will serve as problem-solvers
and game-changers that think bigger and achieve higher,
unlocking fresh possibilities and scaling new heights for the
community, the shareholders and all China Gasers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ABOUT CHINA GAS

The Group is one of the largest trans-regional integrated energy suppliers and service providers in China. Focusing on the
home country, it predominantly specialises in the investment, construction and operation of city and township gas pipelines,
gas terminals, storage and transport facilities and logistics systems, delivering natural gas and liquified petroleum gas (LPG) to
residential, industrial, and commercial users. The Group also builds and operates compressed natural gas (CNG) and liquefied
natural gas (LNG) fuelling stations while developing and applying natural gas and LPG technologies. At China Gas, over two
decades of exploration and growth were translated into a full-fledged business portfolio centred around piped gas, stretching
across LPG, LNG, integrated energy services and grid-based new retail in the private domain backed by stores.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

The past year, injected with headwinds and setbacks as well as opportunities and silver linings, has been a year of resilience,
progress, innovation and reform.

The international arena, where geopolitical conflicts raged on, posed instabilities to the global energy transportation and
supply. Benchmark interest rates of the Federal Reserve sit at a 23-year high for almost a year, which put the global economic
and financial system on a bumpier path and the economy under greater downward pressure. The intensified competition
among countries and their respective development challenges have led to prevalent trade protectionism, restraining the
free flow of capital and trade across borders and leading to depressed demand. The world economy, in the bigger picture,
featured weak impetus for rebounds, unstable momentum for growth, widening economic gaps among countries and more.
Such risks put a cap on growth worldwide.

The story at home, likewise, was in the shadow where post-pandemic growth engines looked lackluster and uncertainties
mounting, brewing with cyclical and structural issues amid weak growth worldwide. The city gas industry, hit by the
sluggish macro-economy, climate change, energy substitution, price fluctuations and beyond, felt the pain from squeezed
consumption in the industrial sector, something shaped by the shrinking growth of industrial output, and thus recorded
lower gas consumption. Meanwhile, hurt by China’s cooling property sector, another player in the game, user acquisition of
city gas companies took a nosedive as compared to last year. Albeit in such thorniness over the year, the city gas industry,
buoyed by the consumption ramp-up by residential and commercial users, rode out the loss in industrial consumption.

As answers to such an economic landscape in the new normal and moves especially pronounced within this year, China’s
newly-launched macroeconomic policies, the drivers for booming consumption and stable investment, came along the freshly
rolled-out “Three Major Projects” (building affordable housing, renovating urban villages and constructing emergency public
facilities), ultra-long special treasury bonds, renovation of ageing pipelines, renovation of old communities, the “bottled-to-
piped gas” transition, and more policies turbocharging the gas industry. Such policies, together with China’s strong financial
backing, drove up demand, stabilised growth, and thus opened new frontiers for this industry. On top of this, on the back of
the nationwide proliferation of the price pass-through mechanisms of natural gas step by step and the price pass-through of
retail prices in parts of China, there emerged dollar-margins gains in gas sales, which further positioned the gas industry to
healthy and sustainable development.

What lies at the heart of the Group’s operations is also high-quality and sustainable development, for a business stringent
on its capital expenditure (“CAPEX") and cash flows for greater intrinsic value and stable return for shareholders. Its FY2023
story was one of stunning cash flows — free cash flow, for instance, hit HK$4.29 billion. And on its corporate administration,
lean operation and managerial innovations, its twin priorities, expedited the building and leveraging of digital assets for its
management system to go digital. Together, such moves delivered a yet sturdier groundwork for its resilient growth, ever-
rising efficiency and thus high-quality growth.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the year, the Group's turnover went down 11.5% year-on-year to HK$81,410,133,000; profit attributable to owners
of the Company dropped by 25.8% to HK$3,184,939,000. Excluding exchange gains and losses and other non-operating or
one-time factors, the adjusted net profit* attributable to the owners of the Company was HK$3,965,514,000, representing a
year-on-year decrease of 4.3%. The proposed dividend for the year was HK50 cents per share, with a payout ratio of 84.7%.

Looking forward, upholding the commitment of high-quality development, we will further strengthen our safety
management in active response to the requirements of raised operational standards regarding gas safety in China, to ensure
safe production with zero accidents. Meanwhile, we will capture the opportunity brought by the supportive national policies
focusing on the renovation of old pipeline networks and other aspects, with a view to expediting the upgrade and renovation
of key infrastructure and enhancing service capability and operations efficiency.

Navigating the headwinds and tailwinds encountered in business development, the Group has been venturing for new
growth engines in innovative segments to grow its business presence and its performance. This is how it has been building
synergy among its gas business, value-added services (“VAS") and integrated energy, the pillars of the Group. Regarding the
natural gas segment, we will further enhance our operations efficiency through delicacy management to provide premium
services for customers. In addition, the Group will promote the implementation of policies such as price pass-through
mechanisms of natural gas, cost review of distribution returns and beyond, achieving price pass-through for residential users as
soon as possible.

Regarding the LPG segment, we will further promote the pooling of upstream and downstream resources along the industrial
chain with innovative business model, building synergy within the industrial chain.

On the VAS segment, we will capture the opportunities of development of the home renovation industry, quickly crafting
its offerings on kitchen renovation and renewing its operating model of community stores. Besides, riding on our efforts
in technology innovation and business innovation, we will proliferate the development of products and services with high
added value, further diversifying the VAS business portfolio. We believe that the new development initiatives will be able
to strengthen the profitability of the VAS segment, while offering a wider spectrum of choices and more premium service
experience.

Digital transformation is considered as the key to our future development. The Group will speed up digital transformation to
enhance operations efficiency and optimize the decision-making process. Meanwhile, the Group will also construct a digital
platform, with a view to achieving the interconnection of business data, facilitating best resources allocation, and enhancing
operations efficiency in general. In addition, leveraging big data, cloud computation and other cutting-edge information
technology, we managed to step up our data analytical capability and optimize resources allocation, strengthening the
Group’s core competitiveness.

# Please refer to Note 1 on page 30 and the section headed “Reconciliation of Non-HKFRS Measure to the Nearest HKFRS Measure” for details.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SAFETY MANAGEMENT

At China Gas, where safe operations always come as a priority, well embedded in all actions is the management philosophy
of “all safety issues matter and responsibility rules”, with “safety as the keystone of all” at the heart of everything it offers. By
virtue of its risk overhauls, solid rectifications of hidden hazards, ever-escalating safety control, and proliferating renovations
and maintenance of aging pipelines, its safety management has been on the rise, meaning a safe and stable climate for its
high-quality development.

FY2023 registered how its safety management platform for the gas industry emerged more rounded, a leap from flat
workplace safety to multidimensional and integrated management matrix of workplace safety based on its multi-layered
architecture. On the platform, node data of workplace safety from the Group, regional companies and operational groups
to project-specific companies are all interconnected, pooling up the interplay of safety-inspection management, fulfilment of
safety responsibility, workplace safety incorporated in supervision, hidden-hazard management, corporate safety profiling and
more. This is how its workplace safety went more digital, convenient, visualised, and platform-based.

FY2023 also saw its intelligent platform for gas supervision take shape. Designed for the “joint creation and operations for
shared access and use” between companies and governments, this digitalisation-backed platform serves as a trailblazer in
management mechanisms of connectivity and collaboration between companies and governments. This enabled its gas
safety supervision to move from reactive responses into proactive management, from post-event solutions into prevention,
from static supervision isolated into constant prevention and control all dynamic. On this platform, proudly offered are
overall coordination, commands and allocations, supervision and assessment, monitoring and early warnings, analysis and
investigations as well as overall evaluation in city gas management, all weaved together as one, as strong powerhouses for
vital urban safety projects exemplified by smart gas.

Another highlight of the financial year was the Group’s digital twins well at play in the Hangzhou Asian Games Village, the
bedrocks for visualised operations and maintenance of the underground pipe racks there. This very digital-twin platform,
which went hand in hand with authorities of operations and management, enabled government-led pipe racks co-operated
by governments and businesses, upgraded from the previous ones built and operated solely by governments, something that
could fuel the digital and information-based planning, construction and management of gas infrastructure.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

New Projects

During the financial year, in line with prudent financial policy as always, the Group acquired one new city and township piped
gas projects. As of 31 March 2024, the Group had obtained 662 piped gas projects with concession rights in 30 provinces,
municipalities, and autonomous regions in China, on top of 32 long-distance natural gas pipeline projects, 516 CNG and LNG
refilling stations for vehicles, one coalbed methane development project, and 119 LPG distribution projects.

Natural Gas
Pipeline Construction and Connections

For gas distributors, city gas pipelines stand as the keystone of all. By building major and branch pipelines, the Group
connects its gas network to residential, industrial, and commercial users, charging connection fees and gas bills.

As of 31 March 2024, the Group had built a gas pipeline network totalling 554,755 km.

User Acquisition

Given the blow from the sluggish housing market at home, the drop in user acquisition lingered on in the gas industry.
During the year, the Group grew residential connections by 1,656,570 households, down by approximately 28.0% year-on-
year; as of 31 March 2024, the accumulated connections of residential users was 47,051,267, up by approximately 3.6%
year-on-year.

During the year, the Group connected 2,368 new industrial users and 30,263 new commercial users. As of 31 March 2024,
the Group had cumulatively connected 24,476 industrial users and 359,598 commercial users, representing a year-on-year
increase of approximately 10.7% and 9.2% respectively.

Users in the Transportation Sector (CNG and LNG Refilling Stations for Vehicles and Vessels)

As of 31 March 2024, the Group boasted 516 CNG and LNG refilling stations for vehicles. The speed-up of EV evolutions hurt
the market of natural gas vehicles (NGVs), which left the retail consumption and customer bases of CNG and LNG refuelling
stations shrinking year by year, despite the still-stable gas consumption by heavy duty trucks and speciality NGVs. To keep
itself up with such shifts, the Group has been re-gearing itself promptly — for one thing, moving fast to revitalise assets while
partnering with upstream resource providers for quality resources and securing downstream customers; for another, working
on and finetuning its portfolio nonstop to evolve some refuelling stations into hybrid-energy stations with “oil and electricity as
the main offer supplemented by gas and hydrogen”.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Natural Gas Sales

2023 stood as a milestone for the materialisation of the 14th Five-Year Plan in China, a country prioritised ensuring energy
security, enhancing the resilience of energy systems and moving into a green and low-carbon future as its paramount
objectives. The country went further in building systems of natural gas production, supply, storage and sales, worked to keep
gas supply and prices stable, and boosted the storage and production of natural gas as well as the transmission capabilities,
nurturing its economic rebounds. According to the National Energy Administration, the apparent natural gas consumption
in China in 2023 amounted to 394.53 billion m?, a year-on-year increase of 7.6%. The natural gas production in China hit
235.3 billion m? (including shale gas, coalbed methane and synthetic natural gas (SNG)), a year-on-year increase of 5.7%,
signifying a rise in production of over 10 billion m? for seven consecutive years.

The Group rounded off the year with total natural gas sales of 41.70 billion m3, a year-on-year increase of 6.2%, which
furthered such stable growths. Sales of natural gas is principally through city and township pipelines, trading and direct-
supply pipelines. Sales via city and township pipelines accounted for 23.51 billion m?, a year-on-year increase of 2.2%, while
trading and direct-supply pipelines contributed 18.19 billion m?, a year-on-year increase of 12.0%.

LPG

The proliferating persistently steady climb of LPG use among rural and suburban residents, the persistently steady climb of
LPG demand from industrial and commercial users, and the surging demand for LPG as raw materials for petrochemical
synthesis and deep processing have been pushing up the LPG demand step by step.

In its LPG segment, single-minded on advancing quality and efficiency of services in the industry, China Gas prides itself
with the most extensive network of LPG import and intelligent distribution in China, as the country’s largest integrated
LPG operator and service provider with the most rounded industrial chain. With an LPG arm stretching across 22 provinces,
municipalities and autonomous regions in China, the Group operates five LPG terminals and six large storage and logistics
bases for petrochemical products, which come with an annual throughput capacity of over 10 million tons and a total storage
capacity of over 800,000 m? for LPG. Crafted with its competitiveness in resources at home and abroad, its business, mostly
in industrial supplies supplemented by residential ones, spans all the way across the industry chain, from international and
domestic resource procurement to international and domestic trading, from ocean shipping, to wharf loading and unloading,
from tank farm storage to in-park processing, from road logistics to refuelling-specific retail and store-based distribution.

To arm itself with a stronger foothold in the upstream and a more solid grasp in international trading, the Group
rearchitected its international trade team and risk control system for trading during the fiscal year. Also carved out were leaps
in direct procurement international and international trading. Its midstream initiatives were about market-oriented operation
of warehousing and logistics well escalated, along with warehousing and logistics resources pooled for gradual pickups in
turnover rates. Augmentation was also embedded in its domestic distribution capabilities through digitalisation, as it unfolded
the building of its domestic trading and transportation platform, on which its domestic distribution, warehousing and logistics
went smoother and faster. And a close-up of its downstream actions would feature innovative business models blended with
asset-light models, the terminal investment model finetuned through constant upgrades and investment tools diversified for
higher-quality development of its terminal business.

During the financial year, the Group’s LPG sales volume amounted to 3.996 million tons, representing a year-on-year
decrease of 3.3%, of which the wholesale volume sit at 3.222 million tons, representing a year-on-year decrease of 5.1%,
while end-user retail hit 0.774 million tons, a year-on-year growth of 5.3%. During the financial year, the LPG sales revenue
totalled HK$17,980,918,000 (for the year ended 31 March 2023: HK$22,499,530,000), decrease 20.1% year-on-year.
Operating profit amounted to HK$120,064,000 (for the year ended 31 March 2023: HK$67,889,000), representing a year-
on-year increase of 76.9%.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Value-Added Services

At China Gas, the ever-mounting connection rate has been prompting expansions of its user base, behind which stands
substantial added value. In its VAS ecosystem, an ever-growing one, carved out were its business models for VAS and
platforms for new retail, all tailored for the gas industry. The day-to-day operations of its VAS also supercharged its
burgeoning VAS operations.

Its VAS activities during the year could be epitomised by enhancement in the traditional business mix covering kitchen
products, gas safety products as well as other services and products, which reached more customers by virtue of this. Hence,
cemented were its main offerings for customers. Such boundary-pushing was also in its innovative businesses, where market
opportunities went well seized with its fast moves in offering home renovation, electronic appliances, household services,
top product selections and beyond. This is how its VAS segment tapped into fresh growth engines and carved out more user
needs.

During the fiscal year, the Group's revenue from value-added services amounted to HK$3,654,898,000, representing a year-
on-year increase of 5.8%; and operating profit amounted to HK$1,582,032,000, representing a year-on-year increase of
5.7%. Despite the still-low penetration rate of China Gas's VAS, in the business’s growing reach channel-backed and its
transition toward online new retail, there lies tremendous potential yet to unleash.

Integrated Energy

A crucial vehicle to move the energy sector to a lower-carbon future, integrated energy serves as a fundamental recipe to
carbon peak and carbon neutrality, higher energy efficiency and lower energy costs, which seamlessly catches the present
and future energy trends in China.

Over the years, the Group’s strong presence in gas projects and its extensive user base have been supercharging the market
share of its new energy arm, powered by growth both outward and inward. During FY2023, the Group leaned in to
engineer development models of integrated energy services, and defined its orientation and objectives with its development
priorities at the core. Its FY2023 actions are also in the investment in and operations of diverse businesses such as energy
storage for industrial and commercial users, distributed photovoltaics, energy saving for boilers, energy saving for industrial
and commercial users, energy efficiency of buildings, charging piles and biomass energy supply. FY2023 also recorded its
electricity sales and the fast expansion of its green electricity certificates, factor libraries, virtual power plants and other
offerings. This is how it served customers with efficient integrated energy catering to their diverse needs for gas, heat,
electricity and cooling.

As of the end of the fiscal year, the total installed capacity contracted of integrated energy efficiency reached 221.6 MWH, of
which the completed energy storage for industrial and commercial users was 112.7 MWH.

Human Resources

Well-trained professionals are what businesses thrive on. Hence, the Group’s management has always been human-
centred. In talent nurturing and team building, already with a full-fledged talent acquisition and internal training system,
it has been growing the share of young leaders in its staff, to refine the age structure company-wide. With external-
certificate obtainment and internal accreditation schemes rolling in full steam, it has been building duty-oriented expertise
for a workforce where one performs better and delivers more. Up and running are also its platforms for vocational training,
knowhow and experience exchanges, as engines of career fulfilment and contentment, hence more China Gasers of
excellence joining and staying.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In respect of remuneration policies, the Group takes into consideration the personal qualification and professional experience
of its employees, as well as the specific remuneration levels of industry peers and the local job market. In addition to basic
salaries and pension fund contributions, benefits such as discretionary bonuses, rewards, share options or share awards are
also granted to eligible employees based on the Group’s financial results and their performance.

For the Group, a firm always places outstanding employees at the heart of sustainable development for businesses, it will
continue to pay attention to employees’ development and establish more exchange platforms, incentive mechanisms and
training programmes to empower employees in achieving personal growth and improvement, thus injecting more doses of
contributions and wisdom into the Group’s story ahead.

Financial Review

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group’s turnover amounted to HK$81,410,133,000 (for the year ended 31
March 2023: HK$91,988,445,000), representing a year-on-year decrease of 11.5%. The gross profit amounted to
HK$11,304,123,000 (for the year ended 31 March 2023: HK$12,034,675,000), representing a year-on-year decrease of 6.1%.
The overall gross profit margin was 13.9% (for the year ended 31 March 2023: 13.1%). Profit attributable to owners of the
Company amounted to HK$3,184,939,000 (for the year ended 31 March 2023: HK$4,293,484,000), representing a year-on-
year decrease of 25.8%.

Earnings per share amounted to HK59 cents (for the year ended 31 March 2023: HK80 cents), representing a year-on-year
decrease of 25.8%.

Reconciliation of Non-HKFRS Measure to the Nearest HKFRS Measure

To supplement our consolidated results which were prepared and presented in accordance with HKFRS, the Group also uses
adjusted net profit as an additional financial measure, which is not required by, or presented in accordance with HKFRS. We
believe that this non-HKFRS measure facilitates comparisons of operating performance from period to period and company
to company by eliminating potential impacts of items that our management does not consider to be indicative of our
operating performance such as certain non-cash or one-off items and exchange losses. The use of this non-HKFRS measure
has limitations as an analytical tool, and one should not consider it in isolation from, or as a substitute for analysis of, our
results of operations of financial conditions as reported under HKFRS. In addition, this non-HKFRS measure may be defined
differently from similar terms used by other companies.

Adjusted net profit represents profit for the year adjusted to exclude (i) other gains and losses of the Group; and (ii) share of
exchange losses of Zhongyu Energy by the Group for the reporting period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The following tables set forth the reconciliation of our non-HKFRS measure for the year ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 to
the nearest measures prepared in accordance with HKFRS:

31 March 2024 31 March 2023

HK$’000 HK$'000
Profit for the year (i.e. nearest HKFRS Measure)
attributable to owners of the Company 3,184,939 4,293,484
Add (less): other gains and losses of the Group 763,954 (344,502)
Add: share of exchange losses of Zhongyu Energy by the Group 16,621 195,070
Adjusted net profit (i.e. non-HKFRS measure)
attributable to owners of the Company 3,965,514 4,144,052

Finance Costs

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the finance costs increased by 14.4% to approximately HK$2,121,753,000 from
approximately HK$1,855,358,000 last year. The rise in finance costs for the year was mainly due to the increase in the
average financing costs of US dollar and Hong Kong dollar debt.

Share of Results of Associates

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the share of results of associates amounted to HK$297,253,000 (for the year ended 31
March 2023: HK$344,838,000).

Share of Results of Joint Ventures

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the share of results of joint ventures amounted to approximately HK$398,389,000 (for
the year ended 31 March 2023: loss of approximately HK$100,983,000).

Income Tax Expenses

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the income tax expenses decreased by 17.8% to HK$759,558,000 (for the year ended
31 March 2023: HK$923,578,000).

Free Cash Flow

During the year, the Group had a net operating cash flow of HK$11,340,195,000 (for the year ended 31 March 2023:
HK$10,027,284,000) and a free cash flow of HK$4,288,773,000 (for the year ended 31 March 2023: HK$2,519,991,000),
by effectively controlling CAPEX and boosting capital recovery.

Liquidity
The Group’s primary business generates cash flow in a steadily growing manner. Coupled with an effective and well-

established capital management system, the Group has maintained sound business development and healthy cash flow,
despite uncertainties in the macro-economy and capital market.

Annual Report 2023/24

33



34

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As of 31 March 2024, the Group's total assets amounted to HK$148,697,724,000 (31 March 2023: HK$157,291,209,000).
Bank balances and cash amounted to HK$8,280,335,000 (31 March 2023: HK$10,617,686,000). The Group had a current
ratio of 0.90 (31 March 2023: 1.01). The net gearing ratio was 0.79 (31 March 2023: 0.76), as calculated on the basis of
net borrowings of HK$48,253,194,000 (total borrowings of HK$59,065,355,000 less the short term trade-related facility
of HK$2,531,826,000 and bank balances and cash of HK$8,280,335,000) and net assets of HK$60,747,353,000 as of 31
March 2024.

The Group follows a prudent financial management policy, under which the majority of its available cash is deposited in
reputable banks as current and fixed deposits.

Financial Resources

The Group has actively built lasting ties with Chinese (including Hong Kong) and overseas banks. As the principal banks
partnering with the Group Industrial and Commercial Bank of China, Bank of Communications, China Construction Bank,
Agricultural Bank of China, Industrial Bank and Postal Savings Bank of China have granted the Group with medium-to-
long-term credit facilities of over RMB70 billion under a maximum term of 15 years. Other major domestic and overseas
banks, such as Bank of China, Shanghai Pudong Development Bank, China CITIC Bank, Asian Development Bank (ADB),
HSBC, Mitsubishi UFJ Financial Group (MUFG), Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation (SMBC), as well as Australia and
New Zealand Banking Group (ANZ) have also granted long-term credits to the Group. As of 31 March 2024, over 40 banks
offered composite facilities to the Group, such as credit facilities, project loans, syndicated loans, supply chain financing,
trade facilities and bond underwriting. Such bank loans are generally applied to finance the Group’s operations and project
investments and construction.

The Company, acting as an overseas issuer, and the Group’s wholly-owned subsidiaries incorporated in China are all active in
issuing RMB bonds on stock exchanges and interbank bond markets in China. As of 31 March 2024, the remaining balance
of the RMB corporate bonds and medium-term RMB notes issued by the Group amounted to RMB7.70 billion.

As of 31 March 2024, the Group's total bank loans and other loans amounted to HK$59,065,355,000, of which the short
term trade-related facility was HK$2,531,826,000.

The Group's operating and CAPEX has been financed by operating cash flow, indebtedness, and equity financing. The Group
has maintained a sufficient source of funds to fulfil its future CAPEX and working capital requirements.

Foreign Exchange and Interest Rate

With a focus placed on risk management and control, the Group closely monitors the trends of market interest rates and
foreign exchange rates, adjusts its debt structure in a timely and reasonable manner for the purpose of effective risk aversion.
In particular, the Group, operates strict exchange rate policies, adjusts domestic (RMB) and foreign currency debt structures
flexibly and offsets risks from a small portion of foreign currency debt by leveraging exchange rate and interest rate hedging
and other derivatives, in order to significantly reduce potential exchange rate risk. In addition, the Group implements rigorous
foreign currency debt control measures, which mitigate the effect of exchange rates on its performance to a large extent.
These measures have ensured the Group’s healthy development under exchange rate fluctuations and bolstered its risk
management.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Cash Flows, Contract Assets/Liabilities, Trade Receivables, and Trade and Bill Payables

As of 31 March 2024, the Group had contract assets of HK$10,260,982,000 (31 March 2023: HK$12,706,697,000), contract
liabilities of HK$8,568,261,000 (31 March 2023: HK$9,080,132,000), trade receivables of HK$5,623,799,000 (31 March
2023: HK$6,282,627,000), and trade and bill payables of HK$12,969,934,000 (31 March 2023: HK$14,647,872,000).

During the year, the Group further managed investments with prudence by controlling the growth of contract assets and
trade receivables while managing its operating and free cash flows effectively to continue to improve its free cash flows
throughout the year.

Charge on Assets

As of 31 March 2024, the Group pledged property, plant and equipment and investment properties of HK$8,562,336,000 (31
March 2023: HK$5,907,983,000) and pledged bank deposits of HK$185,999,000 (31 March 2023: HK$178,696,000), and
certain subsidiaries pledged their equity investments to banks to secure loan facilities.

Capital Commitments

As of 31 March 2024, the Group had capital commitments in respect of the acquisition of property, plant and equipment,
construction materials for property, plant and equipment and properties under development contracted for but not provided
in the consolidated financial statements amounting to HK$132,262,000 (31 March 2023: HK$179,574,000), HK$85,156,000
(31 March 2023: HK$134,206,000) and HK$171,213,000 (31 March 2023: HK$235,176,000), respectively, which would
require the utilisation of the Group’s cash on hand and external financing. It had undertaken to acquire shares of certain
Chinese enterprises and set up joint ventures in China.

Contingent Liabilities
As of 31 March 2024, the Group did not have any material contingent liabilities (31 March 2023: nil).
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. LIU Ming Hui, aged 61, is currently the chairman of the Board of the Company and the president of the Group. He
is also the chairman of the Executive Committee and the Nomination Committee, a vice chairman of the Sustainability
Committee and a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. LIU was appointed as a non-executive Director of the
Company in August 2012 and was elected as an executive Director of the Company in September 2012. Mr. LIU was a non-
executive Director of the Company from April 2002 to July 2002, an executive Director of the Company from July 2002
to April 2011 and the managing director of the Company from July 2002 to January 2011. He was re-appointed as the
managing director and president of the Company in August 2012. Mr. LIU is the founder of the Group. He is responsible
for the overall strategic planning and development of new business and leading the works in respect of sustainability. Mr.
LIU received a bachelor’s degree in science from Hebei Normal University in 1984, a master’s degree in political economics
from the Graduate School of Renmin University of China in 1999 and completed the education of DBA (Doctor of Business
Administration) programme from the Shenzhen Research Institute of Renmin University of China in 2006. He has substantial
experience in the infrastructure and energy industry in China. He is the elder brother of Mr. LIU Mingxing, a non-executive
Director of the Company, and the father of Ms. LIU Chang, an executive Director of the Company. Mr. LIU is the director of
China Gas Group Limited, which has discloseable interests in the shares and underlying shares of the Company under the
provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, relevant information of which is disclosed in the Directors’ Report.

Mr. HUANG Yong, aged 61, is currently the executive president of the Group and a member of each of the Executive
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. HUANG was appointed as an executive Director of the Company in June 2013. He is the founder of the Group and has
been the executive president of the Company since joining the Company in 2002. He is responsible for the formulation and
implementation of the Group’s overall strategies and plans, investment and research on the new business and supervision
of risk controls of the Group. Prior to joining the Company, he worked at Shenzhen Nanyou (Holdings) Ltd. and Asia
Environmental Development Company Limited. Mr. HUANG received a bachelor’s degree and a master’s degree in law from
Wuhan University in 1985 and 1988 respectively. He has extensive experience in legal affairs and corporate management.

Mr. ZHU Weiwei, aged 51, is currently the chief operating officer of the Group. He is also a member of the Executive
Committee and a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. ZHU was appointed as an executive Director of
the Company in September 2002. He is responsible for the daily operation of the Group, including financing, capital
management, tendering, procurement, supply chain, management of regional operation centres, investment, strategy
development and corporate management. Mr. ZHU received a bachelor’s degree and a master’s degree in economics from
Zhongnan University of Economics and Law in 1993 and 1996 respectively. He has substantial experience in capital and
corporate management.

Ms. LI Ching, aged 66, is currently a member of the Executive Committee and a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company. Ms. LI was appointed as an executive Director of the Company in January 2014. She is responsible for business
management and operation of gas supply and infrastructure projects in China. Since 1998, she has been an executive
director of Fortune Oil Limited (formerly known as Fortune Oil PLC and was listed on the London Stock Exchange) which has
discloseable interest in the shares and underlying shares of the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO, the relevant information of which is disclosed in the Directors’ Report. She has been working in Fortune Oil
Limited for more than 15 years. Prior to joining Fortune Qil Limited, Ms. LI worked in China North Industries Corporation for
15 years and was in charge of finance and audit departments. Ms. LI received a bachelor’s degree in economics from Central
University of Finance and Economics in 1982. She has extensive experience in finance and corporate management.
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Ms. LIU Chang, aged 35, is currently a vice president of the Group and a member of the Executive Committee of the
Company. She is also the deputy general manager of Capital Management Centre (corporate finance and investor relations),
the deputy general manager of the Office of the Board and Company Secretarial Department of the Company and the
chairperson of Yipin Smart Living Technology Limited* (Em=4 EEHE AR A A]), a subsidiary of the Company, and a
director of Electronic Business Development Company Limited and certain subsidiaries. Ms. LIU is a director of China Gas
Group Limited which has discloseable interest in the shares and underlying shares of the Company under the provisions
of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and the relevant information is disclosed in the Directors’ Report. Ms. LIU was
appointed as an executive Director of the Company in April 2020. Before such appointment, she was an alternate director
to Mr. LIU Mingxing, a non-executive director of the Company, and his alternate member of the Corporate Governance and
Risks Control Committee (“CGRC Committee”) from November 2017 to April 2020. Ms. LIU is in charge of value-added
services business, digitalization development business, electricity and new energy business and also responsible for legal
affairs and corporate finance and investor relations of the Group. From 2016 to 2017, Ms. LIU served as a legal associate at
the office of Vitol Inc. in Houston, the USA. She has been admitted to practise law in New York State, the USA. Ms. LIU has
obtained the qualification of Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) and the certification for Cyber Security Competence awarded
by the National Internet Emergency Center. Ms. LIU received a bachelor’s degree in economics and finance and a master’s
degree in economics from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in 2011 and 2012 respectively and a juris
doctor degree in law from Cornell Law School in 2016. She has extensive experience in legal affairs, investor relations and
operation and management of business. Ms. LIU is the daughter of Mr. LIU Ming Hui, an executive Director of the Company,
and the niece of Mr. LIU Mingxing, a non-executive Director of the Company.

Mr. ZHAO Kun, aged 47, is currently a vice president, a chief compliance officer and the executive officer of Work Safety
Committee of the Group. He was appointed as the executive Director of the Company and a member of the Executive
Committee in August 2021. He is responsible for safety management of the Group and in charge of the Production Safety
Committee, Safety Supervision Department, Design Institute and Customer Service Department. Mr. ZHAO joined Beijing
Gas Engineering Co., Ltd.* (At ETER TG 7)) in 2000 and served as the secretary to the party committee and the
chairman, and joined Beijing Enterprises Energy Investment Co., Ltd.* (b 5RLIEREIRIEE B PR A A)) (“Beijing Enterprises
Energy”) in 2013 until June 2021 and served as the deputy secretary of the general party branch, the chairman of labour
union and employee representative director. Beijing Enterprises Energy is a subsidiary of Beijing Enterprises Group Company
Limited (“Beijing Enterprises Group”). Beijing Enterprises Group has discloseable interests in the shares and underlying shares
of the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and the relevant information is disclosed in
the Directors’ Report. Mr. ZHAO received an equivalent of bachelor’s degree in city gas engineering of urban construction
engineering at Beijing University of Civil Engineering and Architecture (formerly known as Beijing Institute of Civil Engineering
and Architecture) in 2000, and a master’s degree in architecture and civil engineering at Beijing University of Civil Engineering
and Architecture in 2015, respectively. He has extensive experience in operation and management of natural gas business.
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Non-executive Directors

Mr. XIONG Bin, aged 57, is currently a member of CGRC Committee of the Company. Mr. XIONG was appointed as the
vice chairman of the Board and a non-executive Director of the Company in March 2022. He is currently an executive director
and the chief executive officer of Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited (“Beijing Enterprises Holdings”) (The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (”Stock Exchange”) (Stock Exchange Stock Code: 392) and also serves as an executive director, the
chairman of the board and the chairman of the nomination committee of Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited (“Beijing
Enterprises Water"”) (Stock Exchange Stock Code: 371), the assistant to the general manager of Beijing Enterprises Group
Company Limited (“Beijing Enterprises Group”) and a director of Beijing Gas Group Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Gas Group”). Mr.
XIONG joined Beijing Gas Group in 1999, Beijing Enterprises Group in 2011 and Beijing Enterprises Holdings in 2021. Both
Beijing Enterprises Holdings and Beijing Enterprises Group have discloseable interests in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and the relevant information is disclosed in the
Directors’ Report. Mr. XIONG is a PRC engineer. He graduated from the department of thermal engineering of the School
of Mechanical Engineering of Tongji University in 1989 and received an EMBA degree from the School of Economics and
Management of the Tsinghua University in 1998. He has substantial experience in public infrastructure facilities management
and in strategic and investment management.

Mr. LIU Mingxing, aged 51, is currently a member of the CGRC Committee of the Company. Mr. LIU was appointed as a
non-executive Director of the Company in July 2014. He is currently a professor of Economics and deputy president of China
Institute for Educational Finance Research, Peking University, and an adjunct professor of Political Economy at Shanghai
Jiao Tong University. He was an associate professor of Economics of China Institute for Educational Finance Research,
Peking University from January 2008 to July 2013, and a lecturer and an associate professor of Economics of the School of
Government, Peking University from September 2003 to December 2007. From 2001 to 2003, he did postdoctoral research
at The National Bureau of Economic Research in the United States. Mr. LIU acted as a consultant and provided policy advisory
services to the Ministry of Finance and the Ministry of Education of China, the World Bank, the Organization for Economic
Co-operation and Development (OECD), the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization and the
Department for International Development of the United Kingdom on various occasions. Mr. LIU published a large number
of academic papers and books in respect of economics and finance in China and worldwide. He received a bachelor’s degree
and a master’s degree in economics from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law in 1994 and 1997 respectively and a
doctorate degree in economics from Peking University in 2001. He has substantial experience in finance and economics. Mr.
LIU Mingxing is the younger brother of Mr. LIU Ming Hui (an executive Director of the Company) and the uncle of Ms. LIU
Chang (an executive Director of the Company).

Mr. JIANG Xinhao, aged 59, is currently the chairman of the CGRC Committee of the Company. Mr. JJANG was appointed as
a non-executive Director of the Company in June 2015. He is a chief senior economist and currently an executive director and
vice chairman of Beijing Enterprises Holdings (Stock Exchange Stock Code: 392). He also serves as a vice general manager of
Beijing Enterprises Group and an executive director of Beijing Enterprises Water (Stock Exchange Stock Code: 371). Mr. JIANG
served as a policy analyst of the Chinese State Commission of Restructuring Economic System from 1987 to 1989. He was
a lecturer at Peking University between 1992 and 1994. From 1995 to 1997, Mr. JIANG was a deputy general manager of
Jingtai Finance Company in Hong Kong, and a director and vice president of BHL Industrial Investment Company. From 1997
to February 2005, Mr. JIANG was a director and the chief executive officer of Tramford International Limited, a company
listed on Nasdag. Mr. JIJANG was a manager of the investment development department of Beijing Holdings Limited and
a general manager of Beijing BHL Investment Center between May 2000 and February 2005. From January 2011 to June
2016, Mr. JIANG was an executive director of Beijing Properties (Holdings) Limited (Stock Exchange Stock Code: 925). Both
Beijing Enterprises Holdings and Beijing Enterprises Group have discloseable interests in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and the relevant information is disclosed in the
Directors’ Report. Mr. JIANG received a bachelor’s degree and a master’s degree in law from Fudan University in 1987 and
1992 respectively. He has extensive experience in economics, finance and corporate management.
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Mr. Ayush GUPTA, aged 53, is currently a member of the CGRC Committee of the Company. Mr. GUPTA was appointed as
a non-executive Director of the Company in December 2023. He is currently a full time director of GAIL (India) Limited (“GAIL")
which is a company listed on the National Stock Exchange of India Limited (stock code: GAIL) and BSE Limited, Bombay (stock
code: 532155), the chairman of GAIL Mangalore Petrochemicals Limited and a director of GAIL Gas Limited, both being
wholly-owned subsidiaries of GAIL. He is also a director of ONGC Tripura Power Company Limited. Mr. GUPTA has joined
GAIL in May 1998 and is currently responsible for human resources operations of GAIL. Mr. GUPTA received a bachelor’s
degree in electrical engineering from University of Roorkee, India in 1992, a master’'s degree in business administration
in 2003 and a post-graduate diploma in human resources management in 2023, both from Indira Gandhi National Open
University. He has also completed the Chevening Rolls-Royce Science, Innovation & Policy Leadership Programme from Said
Business School of University of Oxford in 2013. He has over 32 years of rich experience in human resources management,
project management and operations as well as maintenance in oil and gas and process industry.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. ZHAO Yuhua, aged 56, is currently the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of each of the Nomination
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the CGRC Committee of the Company. Mr. ZHAO was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company in November 2002. He has been engaging in corporate financing and
financial advisory business since 1993. Mr. ZHAO received a bachelor’s degree and a master’s degree in economics from
Nankai University in 1989 and 1993 respectively. He has substantial experience in finance.

Dr. MAO Erwan, aged 61, is currently the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of each of the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the CGRC Committee of the Company. Dr. MAO was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company in January 2003. He is currently an executive director of the China
Mathematics, Mechanics and Physics High-Tech Interdisciplinary Research Society (Fb Bl £ £2 ) 2478 £ 5 5 1 i1 52 XA
7TE2) and a standing member and a deputy director of Financial Quantity Analysis and Computation Committee (<& gt
SO MEFEEEZES). He was a deputy professor of the International Business School of Beijing Foreign Studies
University, Deputy Director of Institute of Finance and Securities, Beijing Foreign Studies University and a committee member
of China Institute of Finance, Financial Engineering. He was a senior economist of Da Cheng Fund Management Co. Ltd.
Dr. MAO received a bachelor’s degree in science from Hebei Normal University in 1984, a master’s degree in science from
Sichuan University in 1989 and a doctorate degree in science from Chinese Academy of Sciences in 1998. He has substantial
experience in finance.

Ms. CHEN Yanyan, aged 61, is currently a member of each of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the CGRC Committee of the Company. Ms. CHEN was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company in December 2012. She is an economist, senior political engineer, and a member of
the Logistics and Supply Chain of Science and Technology Expert Committee of Shenzhen Municipal Government. She is
also a research fellow of the Chinese Logistics Society and a representative of the 11th Women'’s Congress of Guangdong
Province. Ms. CHEN is currently an independent director of Shenzhen Woer Heat-Shrinkable Material Co., Ltd. (Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (“SZSE”) Stock Code: 2130) (She was an independent director of the company from 2010 to 2016) and
Shenzhen Manst Technology Co., Ltd. (SZSE Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM") Stock Code: 301325). Ms. CHEN was
an independent director of Shenzhen Cheng Chung Design Co., Ltd. (SZSE Stock Code: 2811) from September 2018 to
February 2024. She has also been appointed as a member of the MBA Expert Advisory Committee of the Renmin University
of China Business School since May 2019, and the vice convenor of the 100 Scholars of Shenzhen Ma Hong Foundation for
the Economic Improvement Research in 2021. Ms. CHEN received a post-graduate education in Economics from Guangdong
Provisional Committee Party School of the Communist Party of China in 1999 and “Second Prize of Technological Progress by
the China Federation of Logistic and Purchasing” in 2008 and 2009 and the outstanding delegate of the “20th Anniversary
of China Logistics Entrepreneurs Annual Conference” in 2022. She has substantial experience in logistics and supply chain
management, including experience in gas-related logistics.
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Mr. ZHANG Ling, aged 68, is currently a member of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
CGRC Committee of the Company. Mr. ZHANG was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the Company
in November 2017. He is currently a lawyer of Beijing DeHeng Law Offices and a senior academic advisor of the Chinese
Society of Criminology. He was a professor and a mentor of doctoral students at the China University of Political Science
and Law, a director of the China Law Society, an executive vice president and a legal representative of the Chinese Society
of Criminology*, the head of the Professional Committee of Crime Victimology* and an officer of the Asian Law (East Asia)
Research Institution of the China University of Political Science and Law and a committee member of the expert consultation
committee of the Forth Court of Beijing People’s Procuratorate (Railway Inspections)*. Mr. ZHANG served as an independent
director of Huadian Energy Company Limited (Shanghai Stock Exchange (“SSE”) Stock Code: 600726) from April 2008 to
April 2014, Luzhou Laojiao Co., Ltd. (SZSE Stock Code: 000568) from May 2012 to May 2018 and Zhengzhou Sino-Crystal
Diamond Co., Ltd. (SZSE GEM Stock Code: 300064) (delisted in June 2022) from June 2014 to May 2020. In 1999, Mr.
ZHANG was an external lecturer in the law department of Aichi University in Japan. From 2000 to 2002, Mr. ZHANG was a
foreign researcher in the law research centre of Waseda University in Japan. Subsequently, Mr. ZHANG served as the deputy
chief procurator and a member of the Procuratorial Committee of Beijing Chaoyang People’s Procuratorate* during 2004 to
2010. Mr. ZHANG received a master’s degree in law from Jilin University in 1987, a doctorate degree in law from the same
university in 1995 and a doctorate degree in law from Waseda University in Japan in 2002. He has substantial experience in
law and legal affairs, as well as risk management.

Dr. MA Weihua, aged 76, is currently the chairman of the Sustainability Committee, a member of each of the Audit
Committee and the CGRC Committee of the Company. Dr. MA was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
of the Company in February 2022. He is responsible for leading and steering the Group’s work on sustainability and ESG
governance. He is an independent non-executive director of Legend Holdings Corporation (Stock Exchange Stock Code:
3396) and Haidilao International Holding Ltd. (Stock Exchange Stock Code: 6862), the chairman of National Fund for
Technology Transfer and Commercialization, chairman of the board of China Global Philanthropy Institute, chairman of
China Alliance of Social Value Investment, the director-general of One Foundation and held positions including adjunct
professor in various higher education institutes such as Peking University and Tsinghua University. Dr. MA previously served
as the executive director, president and chief executive officer of China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. (Stock Exchange Stock
Code: 3968, SSE Stock Code: 600036), the chairman of the board of CMB Wing Lung Bank Limited (formerly known as
Wing Lung Bank Limited), CIGNA and CMC Life Insurance Company Ltd. and China Merchants Fund Management Co., Ltd.,
an independent non-executive director of Postal Savings Bank of China Co., Ltd. (Stock Exchange Stock Code: 1658) and
China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited (Stock Exchange Stock Code: 670, SSE Stock Code: 600115), and an independent
director of China World Trade Center Co. Ltd. (SSE Stock Code: 600007) and Guangdong Qunxing Toys Joint Stock Co.,
Ltd.* (BREEIT BN AR A 7)) (SZSE Stock Code: 002575), the chairman and a non-executive director of Bison Finance
Group Limited (Stock Exchange Stock Code: 888), as well as the deputy of the 10th National People’s Congress and the
member of the 11th and 12th National Committee of the China People’s Political Consultative Conference. He was appointed
as Special Advisor by United Nations Development Programme in China and chairman of SDG Financing Advisory Committee
in March 2019, and was appointed as a member of SDG Impact Steering Group* (RAI#FEHRFENRELKIEELZE )
by the United Nations Development Programme in April of the same year. Dr. MA received a bachelor’s degree in economics
from Jilin University in 1982, and a doctor of philosophy degree in economics from Southwest Finance and Economics
University in 1999. He has substantial experience in bank credit risk management, corporate management, risk management
and sustainability.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHEN Youmin, aged 54, is currently a vice president and a general manager of natural gas centre of excellence of
the Group. Mr. CHEN has joined the Company since December 2002. He is responsible for natural gas business. Mr. CHEN
received a bachelor’s degree in internal combustion engine from College of Automotive Engineering, Jilin University of
Technology in 1992 and a master’s degree in internal combustion engine from Department of Automotive Engineering,
Jiangsu University (formerly known as Jiangsu University of Technology) in 1995. He has substantial experience in project
investment and operation management.

Ms. GUO Juan, aged 49, is currently a chief risk officer of the Group. Ms. GUO has joined the Company since July 2005. She is
responsible for risk control management of the Group in the risk control centre. She is a PRC qualified lawyer, an investment
project analyst and a registered risk manager. Ms. GUO received a master’s degree in law from Wuhan University in 2011.
She has substantial experience in legal affairs.

Mr. GAO Zhiyuan, aged 49, is currently the chief financial officer of the Group. Mr. GAO has joined the Company since
September 2019. He is responsible for capital and finance management, the group’s administration sharing centre and
the business of China Gas Real Estate Development (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.*. Mr. GAO received a bachelor’s degree from
Department of Investment and Economics, Central University of Finance and Economics in 1997. He has substantial
experience in investment and economics.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company is committed to maintaining high standard of corporate governance. The board of Directors of the Company
("Board"”) believes that good corporate governance is essential for sustainable development and growth of the Company and
enhancement of shareholders’ value and is therefore in the long-term interests of the Company and its shareholders.

The Company has applied the principles and complied with the code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) and, where
applicable, the recommended best practices of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”), as set out in Appendix C1
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) throughout the year ended 31 March 2024, save and except Code Provision C.2.1, the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and performed by different individuals, details of which are explained in the paragraph
headed “Chairman and President”.

THE BOARD

The Company is headed by the Board, which assumes responsibility for leadership and control of the Group. The Directors
are collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Group by directing and supervising its affairs in an effective
manner. The Board is responsible for all major aspects of the Group'’s affairs, including setting overall strategies and priorities,
identifying and assessing the opportunities and challenges that the Group might face, approving annual budgets, ensuring
that sound internal control and risk management systems are in place, monitoring the performance of the management and
other significant financial and operational matters. All operational decisions are delegated to the Executive Committee, which
comprises six executive Directors of the Company. Details of the committee are set out in the paragraph headed “Executive
Committee” below. All Directors are kept informed on a timely basis of major development of the Group’s businesses. The
daily management, administration and operation of the Group are delegated to the senior management. The delegated
functions and responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board.

The Board meets regularly at least four times each year and additional meetings are arranged if and when required. The
Company schedules regular Board meetings in advance to give Directors the opportunity to participate actively.

Directors receive written notices of the regular Board meetings at least 14 days in advance and an agenda with supporting
board papers no less than three days prior to the meeting. All Directors are consulted for matters to be included in the
agenda for regular Board meetings. For non-regular Board meetings, reasonable notices will be given. Special Board meetings
are convened as and when needed. Minutes of meetings of the Board, Board committees and general meetings are kept by
the company secretary and are made available and circulated to all Directors periodically. Directors have full and timely access
to all relevant information as well as the advice and services of the company secretary, with a view to ensuring that Board
procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are followed. Management has an obligation to supply to the Board and
its committees adequate, complete and reliable information in a timely manner to enable them to make informed decisions.
Each Director also has separate and independent access to the management.

Except for those circumstances permitted by the Bye-laws of the Company (“Bye-laws”) and the Listing Rules, Directors are
required to declare their interests (if any) in any business proposals discussed by the Board, and, where appropriate, they
are required to abstain from voting. If a substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be
considered by the Board which the Board has determined to be material, the matter will be dealt with in accordance with
applicable rules and regulations and, if appropriate, an independent Board committee will be set up to deal with the matter.
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In the financial year ended 31 March 2024, the Company held 12 Board meetings. The attendance record is set out below:

Number of meetings
Name of Director attended/held

Executive Directors

Mr. LIU Ming Hui 11/12
Mr. HUANG Yong 10/12
Mr. ZHU Weiwei 12/12
Ms. LI Ching 12/12
Ms. LIU Chang 11/12
Mr. ZHAO Kun 12/12

Non-executive Directors

Mr. XIONG Bin 8/12
Mr. LIU Mingxing 11/12
Mr. JIJANG Xinhao 9/12
Mr. Mahesh Vishwanathan IYER (resigned with effect from 1 December 2023) 2/6
Mr. Ayush GUPTA (appointed with effect from 1 December 2023) 5/6

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. ZHAO Yuhua 12/12
Dr. MAO Erwan 12/12
Ms. CHEN Yanyan 12/12
Mr. ZHANG Ling 12/12
Dr. MA Weihua 9/12

Apart from Board meetings, the Chairman also held a meeting with the independent non-executive Directors without the
presence of the other executive Directors and non-executive Directors during the year ended 31 March 2024.

Board Composition

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises 15 Directors, including six executive Directors, four non-executive
Directors and five independent non-executive Directors. The names and biographical details of the Directors are set out on
pages 37 to 41. The list of Directors and their roles and function is also available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

Board Diversity Policy

A board diversity policy has been adopted by the Company since 2013 so as to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Group’s business. The diverse backgrounds of
the Board members ensure that they can fully represent the interests of all shareholders of the Company and to enhance the
effectiveness of the Board and corporate governance. The Company believes that the active involvement of the non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors in the management and decision making of the Board and its committees
strengthens the objectivity and independence of the Board. Further details relating to the diversity of the Board are set out in
the paragraph headed “Nomination Committee” below.

Annual Report 2023/24

43



44

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management”, there is no financial, business,
family and other material or relevant relationships among members of the Board and, in particular, between the chairman
and chief executive.

The Company has received annual confirmations from all of the independent non-executive Directors acknowledging full
compliance with the relevant requirements in respect of their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company is therefore of the view that all of the independent non-executive Directors are independent.

Chairman and President

The roles of the chairman as well as the president of the Company were taken by Mr. LIU Ming Hui. Under the current
organization structure of the Company, the functions of chief executive officer are also performed by Mr. LIU Ming Hui. Mr.
LIU provides leadership for the Board and undertakes the management of the Group’s business and overall operation, with
the support from other executive Directors, vice presidents and senior management. This structure constitutes a deviation
from Code Provision C.2.1 of CG Code that the roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and performed by
different individuals. Nevertheless, the Board considers that this structure will not impair the balance of power and authority
between the Board and the management of the Company, and has been effective in discharging its functions satisfactorily.
The Board will review the reasonableness and effectiveness of the structure from time to time.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

The procedures and processes of appointment, re-election and removal of Directors are laid down in the Bye-laws. The
Board, with the recommendation of the Nomination Committee, is responsible for developing and formulating the relevant
procedures for nomination and appointment of Directors, monitoring the appointment and succession of Directors and
assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors.

Pursuant to bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-laws, the Board may appoint a director either to fill a casual vacancy or, subject to the
authorization by the shareholders of the Company in a general meeting, as an addition to the existing Board from time to
time during the year. Any director so appointed shall hold until the first annual general meeting of the Company after his/
her appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election at that meeting. Pursuant to bye-law 87(1) of the Bye-laws, at
each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation, provided that every Director shall be subject
to retirement at least once every three years.

Other than Mr. Ayush GUPTA who was appointed for a term of three years with effect from 1 December 2023, none of the
existing non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors were appointed with specific term, but are subject
to the aforesaid rotation requirements in the Bye-laws. All Directors have retired from the office by rotation and have been
re-elected in the past three years. The rotating directors who are subject to retirement and re-election at forthcoming 2024
annual general meeting are set out on page 62 in Directors’ Report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has delegated authority to five committees, namely the Executive Committee, the Audit Committee, the
Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee, and the Corporate Governance and Risk Control Committee (“CGRC
Committee”) to deal with specific matters as defined under the terms of reference. Sufficient resources, including advice
of the external auditor and independent professional advisers, are provided to the Board committees to enable them to
discharge their duties.

China Gas Holdings Limited



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Executive Committee

The Board has delegated the power, authorities and discretions for the management of the Group’s operations and activities
to a formally established Executive Committee, which currently comprises six executive Directors of the Company, namely Mr.
LIU Ming Hui (Chairman), Mr. HUANG Yong, Mr. ZHU Weiwei, Ms. LI Ching, Ms. LIU Chang and Mr. ZHAO Kun.

The major responsibilities and authorities of the Executive Committee are:

o advising the Board in formulating policies and strategies in relation to the management and business operation of the
Company and supervising the management in implementing such policies and strategies;

o supervising and directing the management on the conduct of the business operations of the Company;

o preparing monthly management reports and annual business plans and budgets of the Company;

o formulating and implementing remuneration policies for the staff of the Group below the level of vice president;

o approving the appointment and removal of the staff of the Group below the level of vice president;

o approving the appointment of directors of the Group’s subsidiaries and joint venture companies;

o approving loan facilities or debt financing, each with a principal amount (or, in respect of the same series of loan
facilities or debt financing, an aggregate principal amount) representing not more than 5% of the total banks and
other borrowings of the Company as stated in, whichever is more recent: (A) the most recently published audited
consolidated statement of financial position of the Company for a full financial year, or (B) the most recently published
interim condensed consolidated statement of financial position of the Company; and

o execute any exercise of options which were issued by the Company pursuant to its share option scheme.

Certain matters including matters which are subject to disclosure and/or shareholders’ approval requirements, and fund
raising above certain predetermined thresholds are specifically reserved for approval by the Board.

In respect of the decision-making process, the management, pursuant to the levels of authority formally approved by the
Executive Committee, submits written proposals with detailed analysis and recommendations to the Executive Committee
for consideration and approval. Where the subject matter exceeds the authority of the Executive Committee or relates to any
matters specifically reserved to the Board as aforesaid, it would be submitted to the Board for approval.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Executive Committee considered and approved, among others, projects, policies,
loan facilities of the Company and its subsidiaries, acquisition and investments.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises five independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. ZHAO Yuhua (Chairman), Dr.
MAO Erwan, Ms. CHEN Yanyan, Mr. ZHANG Ling and Dr. MA Weihua.

The Audit Committee is accountable to the Board and assists the Board to oversee the Company’s financial reporting
process and to review the Group’s interim and annual consolidated financial statements. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Attendance of members at Audit Committee meetings for the year ended 31 March 2024 is set out below:

Number of meetings

Name of member attended/held
Mr. ZHAO Yuhua (Chairman) 3/3
Dr. MAO Erwan 3/3
Ms. CHEN Yanyan 3/3
Mr. ZHANG Ling 3/3
Dr. MA Weihua 1/3

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the principal work performed by the Audit Committee included:

o review of the Company’s interim and annual financial statements and making recommendation to the Board for
approval;

o making recommendation to the Board to re-appoint Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as external auditors of the Company for
the 2023/24 financial year subject to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting (“AGM");

o review of audit plan of the external auditors for the year ended 31 March 2024;

o review of the external auditor’s independence and engagement of non-audit services;
o approval of the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors;

o approval of the annual audit fee;

o review of the report and the management letter submitted by the external auditors for the matters arising from their
audit on the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024,

o review of the Group’s external auditors’ significant findings and recommendations, and monitoring of the subsequent
implementation;

o review of the Group’s financial information, financial reporting procedures and financial and accounting policies and
practices;
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o review of the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting and financial
reporting functions and related issues; and

o meeting with the external auditors in the absence of executive Directors and management.

A summary of remuneration paid and payable in connection with the services provided by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, the
Company’s auditors, for the year ended 31 March 2024, is as follows:

Audit services Amount HK$
Annual audit for the year ended 31 March 2024 10,200,000
Other audit services 5,300,000
Non-audit services Amount HK$

Internal control, IT and data and tax advisory services, assurance and other services
related to transactions 1,475,000

There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee on the selection, appointment, resignation or
dismissal of the external auditor.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises two executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. LIU Ming Hui (Chairman), Mr. HUANG Yong, Mr. ZHAQO Yuhua, Dr. MAO Erwan, and Ms. CHEN Yanyan.

In reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board and making recommendations on any proposed changes, the
Nomination Committee is mindful of the principle of achieving a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Company recognises the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance. The Board has
adopted a board diversity policy upon the recommendation of the Nomination Committee to set out the approach to achieve
diversity of the Board members. When recommending nominations to the Board for approval, the Nomination Committee
will consider the merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board, having due regard for a range of
diversity perspectives (including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service) as set out in the board diversity policy.

During the year, the Nomination Committee reviewed the existing composition of the Board and considered the existing
diversity policy was effective.
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Nomination Policy

The Board adopted a nomination policy which aims to identify and nominate suitable candidates to the Board from time to
time to enhance and strengthen the management quality of the Board.

Pursuant to the nomination policy, the Nomination Committee shall consider the following criteria in evaluating and selecting
candidates for directorships:

reputation for integrity;

accomplishment and experience in the industry and scope of businesses of the Company;
time commitment;

the diversity policy of the Company;

requirements of the memorandum of association and the Bye-laws of the Company, and the laws and regulations of
Bermuda, Hong Kong and other applicable laws and regulations; and

any other factors which the Nomination Committee considers relevant.

In selecting and recommending candidates for directorship, the Nomination Committee shall follow the procedures below:

The company secretary shall convene a meeting of the Nomination Committee, and provide information of candidates
for the Committee’s consideration prior to its meeting;

candidates will be asked to submit the necessary personal information, together with their written consent to be
appointed as Directors and to the public disclosure of their personal data on any relevant documents or relevant
websites for the purpose of or in relation to their standing for election as Directors according to applicable regulations;

members of the Nomination Committee shall resolve on whether the candidates are suitable for becoming directors of
the Company. After making such resolutions, the Nomination Committee shall relay the comments and suggestions of
the Nomination Committee to the Board. If the Board accepts its suggestions, and appoints a candidate as a director of
the Company, the candidate will be duly appointed as a director of the Company, subject to any required shareholders’
approval. The company secretary will make disclosure in accordance with applicable regulations. The newly appointed
director shall be subject to retirement and re-election at a general meeting in accordance with the Bye-laws;

if a shareholder of the Company wishes to nominate a person to be elected as a Director, he/she has to serve a notice
in accordance with the procedures set out in the Bye-laws of the Company;

in order to provide information of a candidate nominated by the Board to stand for election at a general meeting,
and to invite nominations from shareholders of the Company, the Company will send a circular to its shareholders.
The circular will set out the lodgment period for shareholders of the Company to make the nominations. The names,
biographies (including qualifications and relevant experience), independence, proposed remuneration and any other
information, as required pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and regulations, of the proposed candidate will be
included in such circular; and
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o the Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to its recommendation of candidates to stand for election
at any general meeting.

The Committee will review the nomination policy from time to time to ensure the effectiveness of the same. Should the
need arise, it will propose amendment to the Board for approval. The Board shall have the responsibility of selecting and
appointing Directors.

Having due regard to the board diversity policy and the nomination policy, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations to the Board when it identifies an individual who is suitable for becoming directors of the Company. The
Board shall consider the recommendation and make decision for the appointment.

The composition, structure and size of the Board are reviewed annually by the Nomination Committee to ensure that it has a
balance of appropriate skills, experience and diversity of perspectives to meet the business needs of the Group. Members of
the Board have a diverse range of business, financial and professional expertise. Brief biographical details of the Directors are
set out in the section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management”.

As of 31 March 2024, an analysis of the current Board composition based on measurable objectives under the board diversity
policy is set out in the following chart:

Number of Directors

By Gender
Female 3
Male 12
By Ethnicity
Chinese 14
Non-Chinese 1
By Age
Under 40 1
41-50 1
51-60 6
Over 60 7
By Length of services
1-10 years 8
Over 10 years 7

Both the Nomination Committee and the Board recognise the importance and benefits of gender diversity at the Board level
and shall continue to take initiatives to identify female candidates to maintain the gender diversity at the Board level where
necessary. To ensure gender diversity of the Board in a long run, the Group will seek to identify and select several female
individuals with a diverse range of skills, experience and knowledge in the field of the Group’s business from time to time,
and maintain a list of such female individuals who possess qualities to become the Board members in order to develop a
pipeline of potential successors to the Board to promote gender diversity of the Board.

The Nomination Committee concluded that the board diversity policy was implemented effectively during the financial year.
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The Board also recognises the importance of diversity in the workforce (including senior management). The workforce of the
Group (including its senior management) comprised approximately 62.5% male employees and 37.5% female employees as
at 31 March 2024. The Group employs our staff based on meritocracy and we respect our staff's personal choices, regardless
of gender, age, religion, nationality etc.

Our Directors also have a balance mix of knowledge and skills and obtained degrees in various majors. We have five
independent non-executive Directors with diverse industry and knowledge backgrounds. Taking into account of our business
model and needs, as well as the diverse backgrounds of our Directors, the Nomination Committee and the Board are of the
view that the composition of our Board satisfy the board diversity policy.

Attendance of members at Nomination Committee meetings for the year ended 31 March 2024 is set out below:

Number of meetings

Name of member attended/held
Mr. LIU Ming Hui (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. HUANG Yong 2/2
Mr. ZHAO Yuhua 2/2
Dr. MAO Erwan 2/2
Ms. CHEN Yanyan 2/2

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the principal work performed by the Nomination Committee included:

o review of the structure, size and composition of the Board taking into account a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural background, educational background, skills, knowledge, professional experience and/or
length of service;

o review of the board diversity policy and the measurable objectives for implementing diversity on the Board;

o review of the nomination policy;

. assessment of succession plan of the Board;

o assessment of independence of the independent non-executive Directors;

° determination of the rotation and re-election of the Directors for the forthcoming AGM; and

o making recommendation to the Board relating to the appointment of a non-executive Director.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises four independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr. MAO Erwan
(Chairman), Mr. ZHAQO Yuhua, Ms. CHEN Yanyan and Mr. ZHANG Ling.

The Remuneration Committee is delegated with the authority of determining and reviewing remuneration packages of the
Directors and senior management with a view to attracting, retaining and motivating Directors and senior management of
the quality required to run the Company successfully. The Remuneration Committee determines remuneration of all executive
Directors and senior management and make recommendation to the Board of the remuneration of non-executive Directors.
The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

The objective of the Company’s remuneration policy for the Directors and senior management is to attract, motivate and
retain talented employees to achieve the Group’s long-term corporate goals and objectives. The remuneration of the
Directors and senior management is determined with reference to the performance and responsibilities of the individuals, the
performance of the Company, prevailing market conditions and remuneration benchmarks from comparable companies. No
individual Director or senior management of the Company is permitted to determine his’/her own remuneration. Details of
the remuneration, as well as the share option benefits of Directors, for the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in notes 11
and 12 of the 2023/24 Financial Report.

Attendance of members at Remuneration Committee meetings for the year ended 31 March 2024 is set out below:

Number of meetings

Name of member attended/held
Dr. MAO Erwan (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. ZHAO Yuhua 2/2
Ms. CHEN Yanyan 2/2
Mr. ZHANG Ling 2/2

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the principal work performed by the Remuneration Committee included:

o review and approval of remuneration adjustment of executive Directors and employees ranking vice president and
above;

o review and approval of payment of bonus to executive Directors and employees ranking vice president and above;

o review and making recommendation on payment of bonus to all non-executive and independent non-executive
directors;

o review emolument policy; and

° review performance of executive Directors.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024, the annual remuneration of the senior management who are not Directors was within
the following band:

Number of
senior management

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 3

Corporate Governance and Risk Control Committee

The CGRC Committee currently comprises all the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. JIANG Xinhao (Chairman), Mr. XIONG Bin, Mr. LIU Mingxing, Mr. Ayush GUPTA, Mr. ZHAO Yuhua, Dr. MAQO Erwan, Ms.
CHEN Yanyan, Mr. ZHANG Ling and Dr. MA Weihua.

The CGRC Committee is accountable to the Board and assists the Board to oversee the corporate governance and risk
control on business operations and financial management of the Group. The terms of reference of the CGRC Committee are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Attendance of members at CGRC Committee meetings for the year ended 31 March 2024 is set out below:

Number of meetings

Name of member attended/held
Mr. JIANG Xinhao (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. XIONG Bin 1/2
Mr. LIU Mingxing 2/2
Mr. Mahesh Vishwanathan IYER (resigned with effect from 1 December 2023) 0/2
Mr. Ayush GUPTA (appointed with effect from 1 December 2023) N/A
Mr. ZHAO Yuhua 2/2
Dr. MAO Erwan 2/2
Ms. CHEN Yanyan 2/2
Mr. ZHANG Ling 2/2
Dr. MA Weihua 1/2
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During the year ended 31 March 2024, the principal work performed by the CGRC Committee included:

o review of interim and annual reports of the Group'’s corporate governance and risk management and internal audit;
o review of and advising on general corporate governance and risk control policy and procedures of the Group;

o review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and risk management system;

o review of the Group's internal audit and the internal audit plan;

o review of the effectiveness of internal audit function of the Group; and

o review of the Group's legal compliance and the work of safety supervision.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company provides support to the Board by ensuring timely flow of information to the Board
and Board policy and procedures are followed. The company secretary is responsible for taking minutes of all Board and
committee meetings and ensuring that sufficient details of the matters considered and decisions reached have been recorded.
The company secretary is also responsible for advising the Board through the chairman and/or the Executive Committee on
corporate governance matters and should facilitate induction and professional development of Directors.

The company secretary is an employee of the Company. The company secretary confirmed that she undertook no less than

15 hours of relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 March
2024.
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INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Every Director must always know his/her responsibilities as a director of a listed company and its conduct, business activities
and development. Each newly appointed Director receives a comprehensive induction on the first occasion of his/her
appointment so as to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the Group’s operations and business and his/her
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and the relevant regulatory requirements. In addition, all Directors are
advised to participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

The Company also continues its effort in providing updates on the changes in the relevant regulatory requirements applicable
to the Group from time to time and recommending and organizing relevant seminars and trainings to the Directors as and
when appropriate.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, Mr. Ayush GUPTA was appointed as a non-executive Director of the Company. He
has obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 1 December 2023 and confirmed that he
understood his obligations as a director of the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company organized an in-house seminar for the Directors and provided reading
materials on relevant topics to Directors where appropriate. Details of trainings received by each Director is set out below:

Reading Attending
Name of Director materials seminars
Executive Directors
Mr. LIU Ming Hui \ N
Mr. HUANG Yong N N
Mr. ZHU Weiwei Vv Vv
Ms. LI Ching Vv Vv
Ms. LIU Chang N \
Mr. ZHAO Kun N N
Non-executive Directors
Mr. XIONG Bin \ \
Mr. LIU Mingxing \V \
Mr. JJANG Xinhao N \
Mr. Mahesh Vishwanathan IYER (resigned with effect from 1 December 2023) \
Mr. Ayush GUPTA (appointed with effect from 1 December 2023) N N
Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. ZHAO Yuhua N N
Dr. MAO Erwan N \
Ms. CHEN Yanyan Vv Vv
Mr. ZHANG Ling N N
Dr. MA Weihua N N

The Directors acknowledge the need for continuous professional development, and the Company provides support whenever
relevant and necessary. All Directors are required to provide the Company with the records of the training they received
annually.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges its responsibilities for presenting a balanced, clear and comprehensible assessment in respect of
annual and interim reports, announcements of inside information and other disclosures required under the Listing Rules and
other regulatory requirements. The Directors also acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial statements of
the Company for each financial period.

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
which may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the Directors have
prepared the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

THE MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code").

Following the specific enquiries by the Company, all Directors confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code
throughout the financial year ended 31 March 2024.

Formal notifications were sent by the Company to all Directors and relevant employees reminding them that they should not
deal in the securities of the Company during the black-out periods specified in the Model Code.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is committed to implementing effective and sound internal control system to safeguard the interest of shareholders
of the Company and the Group’s assets. The internal control system includes a well-defined management structure with
limits of authority, clear and written policies, standard operation procedures, and risk control self-assessment conducted for
all major operating units of the Group. The system is designed to provide reasonable assurance of no material misstatement
or loss and to manage risks failure in operational systems and achievement of the Group’s objectives.

The CGRC Committee, via internal audit which is independent of the Group’s management, has reviewed and evaluated
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system put in place by management covering financial, operational and
compliance controls. Internal audit function provides independent assurance to the Board and executive management as
to the adequacy and effectiveness of internal compliance for the Group on an ongoing basis, which is carried out by the
Company'’s audit and supervisory department. The internal audit team has free access to review all aspects of the Group’s
activities and systems.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the audit and supervisory department performed operational and financial reviews
with objectives to ensure that all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions are in place and functioning effectively. The audit and supervisory department focused on review
on the code of conduct and anti-fraud issues such as bribery and corruption, conflicts of interests and fair dealing. The
department emphasized on whistleblowing policy which provided a reporting channels and guidance for employees and other
parties who deal with the Group such as contractors and suppliers to report possible improprieties in matters of financial
reporting and other matters. The team summarised audit findings and control weaknesses, analyzed causes for errors and
irregularities, followed up procedures on corrective actions, provided consulting and advisory services on control and related
matters, conducted independent investigations of situations raised by whistleblowers and provided learning materials for staff
training. The audit and supervisory department reported directly to the CGRC Committee on a semi-annual basis. The CGRC
Committee considered the internal control system of the Company was effective and adequate in all material respects.
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In addition to the Company’s audit and supervisory department and the CGRC Committee, with the assistance of the legal
and compliance department of the Company, also assists the Board to review the adequacy and effectiveness of corporate
governance and risk management. During the year ended 31 March 2024, the legal and compliance department upgraded
the controlling and compliance system with the assistance of external professional consultant company to prevent the
happening of irregularities, strengthened the control of safety production and operation, financial management, strengthened
the supervision of contracts management and procurement of goods in different regions and provided seminars and trainings
on anti-briberies. The project companies were encouraged to obtain certification to recognize their work on compliance. The
legal and compliance department submitted reports to the CGRC Committee on a semi-annual basis. The CGRC Committee
considered that all material risks are identified and appropriately managed and the risk management system of the Company
was effective.

Further, the safety supervision department of the Company also assisted the CGRC Committee and the Board to review the
current situation of site safety of different projects in different areas. They mainly focused on the audit of operation safety
and compliance of the sites. The department also submitted reports to the CGRC Committee on a semi-annual basis.

The Company has adopted a whistleblowing policy for employees with guidelines and channels to raise employees’ concerns
about malpractice or misconduct to the Group to strengthen the governance and internal control of the Company. The aim
is to prevent and control corruption, reduce operational risk, regulate occupational conduct of employees and safeguard
the legitimate rights and interests of the Group and its shareholders. If employees become aware of any actual or suspected
impropriety, misconduct or malpractice, he/she must report in accordance with the whistleblowing channels and procedures.
Employees are encouraged to report any concerns about corruption. The Audit and Supervisory Department would investigate
upon receipt of report and take appropriate actions. The information of whistleblowers is strictly protected.

Other than the whistleblowing policy, the Company also has adopted anti-bribery and anti-corruption policy. The objective
is to regulate the conduct of employees of the Group, especially the middle and senior management and employees in key
positions and to build up an honest, diligent and dedicated work style with professional ethics.

For the financial year ended 31 March 2024, neither the audit and supervisory department nor the legal and compliance
department was aware of any material internal control issues that would have been a material adverse effect on the financial
position or operations of the Group. The Board, through the review of the CGRC Committee, considered the internal control
system of the Group effective and adequate in all material respects.

INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company is aware of the obligations under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (“SFO"), the applicable Listing Rules and other statutory regulations with regard to the timely and proper disclosure
of inside information, announcements and financial disclosures and authorizes the publication. It follows the relevant Listing
Rules and code for securities dealing for governing the securities transactions of those employees are likely to have access to
confidential or inside information. The Company has identified and authorized senior management to act as the Company’s
spokespersons and respond to external enquiries.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board places considerable importance on communication with shareholders of the Company and recognises the
significance of transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information, which enables shareholders and investors of the
Company to make the most informed investment decisions.

Information in relation to the Group is disseminated to shareholders in a timely manner through a number of formal channels,
which include interim and annual reports, announcements and circulars published in accordance with the Listing Rules. Such
published documents, together with the latest corporate information and news, are also available on the Company’s website.

The Company holds press conferences and analyst briefings at least twice a year following the release of interim and
annual results announcements. During the year ended 31 March 2024, the capital management centre (corporate finance
and investor relations) of the Company, carried out various functions, such as more than 500 meetings with analysts and
investors, 2 analyst and investor briefings, more than 30 international investors forums and road shows. The Company has
made available its contact details, such as telephone hotline, postal address and email address, on the Company’s website, in
order to enable shareholders to make any queries or comments that they may have with respect to the Company at any time.

The Board considers that there are sufficient communication channels for the shareholders of the Company to communicate
with the Company.

The AGM also provides a valuable forum for the Board to communicate directly with the shareholders of the Company every
year. The chairman of the Company attended the annual general meeting to answer any questions from the shareholders of
the Company. In addition, the chairmen of the various Board committees, or in their absence, other members of the relevant
committees and the Company’s external auditor are available to answer questions at the meeting.

Mr. LIU Ming Hui and Directors, the senior management and the auditors attended the 2023 AGM physically and

electronically. Shareholders of the Company were encouraged to appoint the chairman of the 2023 AGM as their proxy to
vote on the resolutions instead of attending the meeting in person.
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Attendance of Directors at general meetings of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2024 is set out below:

Number of meetings
Name of Director attended/held

Executive Directors

Mr. LIU Ming Hui 11
Mr. HUANG Yong 17l
Mr. ZHU Weiwei 11
Ms. LI Ching 11
Ms. LIU Chang 171
Mr. ZHAO Kun 11

Non-executive Directors

Mr. XIONG Bin 11
Mr. LIU Mingxing 7
Mr. JIANG Xinhao 171
Mr. Mahesh Vishwanathan IYER (resigned with effect from 1 December 2023) 01
Mr. Ayush GUPTA (appointed with effect from 1 December 2023) N/A

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. ZHAO Yuhua 171
Dr. MAO Erwan N1
Ms. CHEN Yanyan 1Al
Mr. ZHANG Ling 11
Dr. MA Weihua 0/1

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Board and the management shall ensure that all shareholders of the Company are treated equitably and fairly. Pursuant
to the Bye-laws, any shareholder of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a general meeting of the Company is entitled
to appoint another person as his/her proxy to attend and vote instead of him/her. Shareholders of the Company holding not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
on a one vote per share basis shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the company secretary, to
require a special general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business or resolution specified in such
requisition. In addition, according to the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, shareholders holding not less than one-twentieth of
the total voting rights or not less than 100 shareholders may submit a written request to the company stating the resolution
intended to be proceeded at the annual general meeting.

Any vote of the shareholders of the Company at a general meeting must be taken by poll (other than procedural matters).
Voting results are posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange on the day of the general meeting.
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Detailed procedures for the shareholders of the Company to convene a special general meeting, putting forward proposals at
a general meeting and proposing a person for election as a Director are also available on the website of the Company.

Shareholders of the Company may send their enquiries or proposals to the Company for putting forward such enquiries and
concerns to the Board at any time. Contact details are as follows:

Address: Room 1601, 16th Floor, Capital Centre, 151 Gloucester Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong
Email: investor@chinagasholdings.com.hk

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS OF THE COMPANY

During the year ended 31 March 2024, there were no changes in the Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws of the
Company.

The Company proposes to seek the approval from the shareholders of the Company for certain amendments in respect of
the electronic dissemination of corporate communications and treasury shares to the Bye-laws at the forthcoming AGM.
Please refer to the circular of the Company dated 26 July 2024 for details of the proposed amendments. If approved by the
shareholders of the Company, the updated version of the memorandum of association and Bye-laws of the Company will be
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy with an aim to giving reasonable returns on investment to investors and
shareholders of the Company and, at the same time, to maintain the long-term sustainable development of the Company.

The Company expects to distribute dividends to its shareholders twice a year (an interim dividend and a final dividend). The
dividend is payable in cash or scrip or in cash and scrip or other means permitted by the law to shareholders. In proposing any
dividend payout, the Board shall take into account, among others, the Group's current and future operations, profitability,
level of liquidity, capital requirements, and the overall financial position etc. The Board in its sole discretion makes suggestions
and decisions in relation to dividend distribution, and obtains shareholders’ approval (if applicable).

SUSTAINABILITY

For further details of the Group's sustainability and ESG matters, please refer to the Company’s Sustainability Report 2023/24
which will be published on the website of the Stock Exchange and the Company at the same time as this annual report is
published.
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The Directors present this annual report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2024 (the “2023/24 Financial Report”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is one of the largest trans-regional integrated energy suppliers and service providers in China. Focusing on the
home country, it predominantly specialises in the investment, construction and operation of city and township gas pipelines,
gas terminals, storage and transport facilities and logistics systems, delivering natural gas and liquified petroleum gas (LPG) to
residential, industrial, and commercial users. The Group also builds and operates compressed natural gas (CNG) and liquefied
natural gas (LNG) fuelling stations while developing and applying natural gas and LPG technologies. At China Gas, over two
decades of exploration and growth were translated into a full-fledged business portfolio centred around piped gas, stretching
across LPG, LNG, integrated energy services and grid-based new retail in the private domain backed by stores. Details of
the Group's principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates as at 31 March 2024 are set out in notes 46, 19 and 18
respectively to the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 as required pursuant to Schedule 5 to the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), comprising analysis of the Group’s performance during the year,
description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, important events affecting the Company that have
occurred since 1 April 2024, an indication of likely future development in the Group's business, a discussion on the Group’s
environmental policies and performance, the Group’s compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group and an account of the Group’s key relationships of the Group and its stakeholders, is set out
in the sections headed “Financial Highlights”, “Operational Highlights”, “Natural Gas”, “Operational Locations of Natural
Gas”, "Liquefied Petroleum Gas”, “Operational Locations of Liquefied Petroleum Gas”, “Value-Added Services”, “Integrated
Energy”, “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management Discussion and Analysis”, “Corporate Governance Report”, and “2023/24
Financial Report” of this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income of the 2023/24 Financial Report.

The interim dividend of HK15 cents per share for the six months ended 30 September 2023 (2022/23: HK10 cents) was paid
on 2 February 2024.

The Board resolved to recommend payment of a final dividend of HK35 cents per share for the year ended 31 March
2024 (2022/23: HK40 cents) to the holders of shares of the Company whose names appear on the register of members
of the Company on 29 August 2024 amounting to approximately HK$1,902,450,000 subject to shareholders’ approval
at the forthcoming annual general meeting (“AGM"). The Board also proposed to offer a scrip dividend option to allow
shareholders to elect to receive the final dividend wholly or partly in the form of new and fully paid shares in lieu of cash.

The final dividend, if approved by the shareholders, is expected to be payable on or around 4 October 2024 (Friday).

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of the bank and other borrowings of the Group are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements of the
2023/24 Financial Report.
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DEBENTURE ISSUED DURING THE YEAR

During the year, the Company has issued the following notes:

1. On 6 September 2023, the Company issued medium terms notes of RMB1.5 billion with the maturity date on 6
September 2028 and coupon rate at 3.15% on 6 September 2026 (as the next exercise date) at the National Association
of Financial Market Institutional Investors (“NFMII"), the proceeds of which have been used for the construction of the
project of domestic subsidiary of the Company corresponding to the rural gas-to-coal project in Leting County, the City
of Tangshan, Hebei Province, and for the repayment of interest-bearing debts of domestic subsidiary of the Company.
The notes were listed on the interbank market on 7 September 2023 (Bond Code: 102382382.IB); and

2. On 18 October 2023, the Company issued medium terms notes of RMB1.5 billion with the maturity date on 18 October
2028 and coupon rate at 3.20% on 18 October 2026 (as the next exercise date) at the NFMII, the proceeds of which
have been used for repayment of the interest-bearing debts of subsidiaries’ of the Company overseas. The notes were
listed on the interbank market on 19 October 2023 (Bond Code: 102382721.1B).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the past five financial years is set out on page 219

of the 2023/24 Financial Report.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The Group revalued all of its investment properties at the end of the financial year ended 31 March 2024. The net decrease
in fair value of investment properties in the amount of HK$94,639,000 has been debited to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

Details of movements during the year in investment properties and property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in
notes 15 and 16 to the consolidated financial statements of the 2023/24 Financial Report respectively.

MAJOR PROPERTIES

Details of the major properties of the Group as at 31 March 2024 are set out on page 220 of the 2023/24 Financial Report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements of the 2023/24 Financial Report.

RESERVES

The Company'’s reserves, comprising the accumulated profits, available for distribution to shareholders as at 31 March 2024
amounted to approximately HK$7,074,324,000.

Movements in the reserves of the Company during the year are set out in the movement in the Company’s reserves on page
219 of the 2023/24 Financial Report.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. LIU Ming Hui
Mr. HUANG Yong
Mr. ZHU Weiwei
Ms. LI Ching

Ms. LIU Chang
Mr. ZHAO Kun

Non-executive Directors

Mr. XIONG Bin

Mr. LIU Mingxing

Mr. JJANG Xinhao

Mr. Mahesh Vishwanathan IYER (resigned with effect from 1 December 2023)
Mr. Ayush GUPTA (appointed with effect from 1 December 2023)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. ZHAO Yuhua
Dr. MAO Erwan
Ms. CHEN Yanyan
Mr. ZHANG Ling
Dr. MA Weihua

Pursuant to Bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-laws, Mr. Ayush GUPTA will retire, and being eligible, will offer himself for re-election at
the forthcoming AGM.

Pursuant to Bye-law 87(1) of the Bye-laws and the Code Provision B.2.2, Mr. HUANG Yong, Ms. LI Ching, Mr. ZHAO Kun,

Mr. LIU Mingxing and Dr. MA Weihua will retire by rotation, and they, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at
the forthcoming AGM.
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DISCLOSURE UNDER RULE 13.51B (1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed below, there is no change in the information of the Directors required to be disclosed in this annual report
pursuant to Rule 13.51B (1) of the Listing Rules:

1. Mr. XIONG Bin waived all the emoluments, allowances and discretionary bonus as a Director, a member of the CGRC
Committee and a Vice Chairman of the Board.

2. Mr. JIANG Xinhao waived all the emoluments, allowances and discretionary bonus as a Director and a chairman of the
CGRC Committee.

3. On 23 June 2024, the Remuneration Committee of the Company (1) approved (a) payment of bonus equivalent to
5 months’ salary to be made to each of Mr. LIU Ming Hui, Mr. HUANG Yong and Mr. ZHU Weiwei; (b) payment of
bonus equivalent to 4 months’ salary to be made to Ms. LI Ching; and () payment of bonus equivalent to 5 months’
salary to be made to Ms. LIU Chang and Mr. ZHAO Kun; and (2) resolved to make recommendation to the Board of
Directors of the Company payment of bonus equivalent to 3 months’ salary to be made to each of Mr. LIU Mingxing,
Mr. ZHAO Yuhua, Dr. MAO Erwan, Ms. CHEN Yanyan, Mr. ZHANG Ling and Dr. MA Weihua for the year ended 31
March 2024. On 24 June 2024, the Board of the Company confirmed and approved the above bonus payment.

4. Dr. MA Weihua resigned from his roles as the chairman and a non-executive director of Bison Finance Group Limited
(Stock Exchange Stock Code: 888) with effect from 1 September 2023 and an independent director of Guangdong
Qunxing Toys Joint Stock Co., Ltd.* (ERAEITAR KB BRAF]) (SZSE Stock Code: 002575) with effect from 1
November 2022.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Other than Mr. LIU Ming Hui, Mr. HUANG Yong and Mr. ZHU Weiwei, none of the Directors has entered into any service
contract with the Group which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation). Each of Mr. LIU Ming Hui, Mr. HUANG Yong and Mr. ZHU Weiwei has entered into a term of
10-year senior executive employment contract with the Company. The employment contracts of Mr. LIU Ming Hui and Mr.
HUANG Yong were approved by shareholders in the 2018 annual general meeting and the employment contract of Mr. ZHU
Weiwei was approved by shareholders in the 2017 annual general meeting. The details were disclosed in the circulars of the
Company dated 20 July 2018 and 11 July 2017.
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Details of the Group’s retirement benefits schemes are set out in note 43 to the consolidated financial statements set out in
the 2023/24 Financial Report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were required (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or
(b) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

(a) Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company (the “Shares”)

Approximate
percentage of
total issued Shares
of the Company

Name of Director Nature of interest Number of Shares held (%) (note 1)
Mr. LIU Ming Hui (“Mr. LIU")  Personal and corporate 977,733,428 (note 2) 17.99
Mr. HUANG Yong Personal 168,783,200 (note 3) 3.1
Mr. ZHU Weiwei Personal 6,000,000 (note 4) 0.11
Ms. LI Ching Personal 2,000,000 (note 5) 0.04
Mr. LIU Mingxing Personal 800,000 (note 6) 0.01
Mr. ZHAO Yuhua Personal 2,400,000 (note 7) 0.04
Dr. MAO Erwan Personal 2,200,000 (note 8) 0.04
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(b) Ordinary shares of HK$1.00 each of China Gas Fortune Marine Transportation Limited

(@

(“China Gas Fortune Marine”) (an associated corporation of the Company)

Approximate

percentage of

total issued shares

of the company

Name of Director Nature of interest Number of shares held (%) (note 9)

Mr. LIU Corporate 189,356,089 (note 10) 60.00

Ordinary shares of US$1.00 each of Electronic Business Development Company Limited
(“Electronic Business”) (a subsidiary of the Company)

Approximate

percentage of

total issued shares

of the company

Name of Director Nature of interest Number of shares held (%) (note 11)

Mr. LIU Personal 29 (note 12) 29

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none of the Directors nor the chief executives of the Company had or
was deemed to have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required (a) to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.
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SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION SCHEMES

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 20 August 2013 (“2013 Share Option Scheme”) (which was terminated on
23 August 2023), a share award scheme on 27 November 2020 (“Share Award Scheme”) and a share option scheme on 23
August 2023 (the “2023 Share Option Scheme”). Please refer to the circular of the Company dated 20 July 2023 for details.

(A) 2013 Share Option Scheme
The 2013 Share Option Scheme was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 20 August 2013 and expired on 20
August 2023 (the “Scheme Expiration”). The purpose of the 2013 Share Option Scheme was to grant share options to
eligible persons as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group.
The eligible persons as defined in the 2013 Share Option Scheme are individuals or entities who or which may
participate in the 2013 Share Option Scheme (“Eligible Persons”). The following individuals or entities who in the
absolute discretion of the board of directors of the Company have contributed to the Group on the basis of their
contribution to the development and growth of the Group may participate in the 2013 Share Option Scheme:
(i) an eligible employee;
(i) anon-executive director and an independent non-executive director of any member of the Group;
(i) an agent or a consultant of any member of the Group;
(iv)  asupplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or any director or employee of such supplier;

(v)  acustomer of any member of the Group or any director or employee of such customer;

(vi)  person or entity that provides research, development or other technological support or any advisory, consultancy
or professional services to any member of the Group or any director or employee of any such entity;

(vii)  a subsidiary of the Company; and

(viii) a company in which the Company holds, either directly or indirectly, 20% or more of its equity interest.
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The 2013 Share Option Scheme has expired. Therefore, no further share options shall be granted by the Company
pursuant to the 2013 Share Option Scheme. 3,000,000 share options had been granted by the Company under the
2013 Share Option Scheme which remain unvested up to the date of this annual report. Therefore, the number of
Shares available for issue under the 2013 Share Option Scheme is 3,000,000 Shares, representing approximately 0.06%
of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this annual report.

Options granted under the 2013 Share Option Scheme must be taken up within 20 business days of the date of grant
and pay the Company the amount payable, if any, on acceptance of the option. Any option under the 2013 Share
Option Scheme which has vested, in respect of which all conditions attaching to it have satisfied and which has not
lapsed may be exercised at any time, but no option may be exercised if such exercise would, in the opinion of the board
of directors of the Company, be in breach of the 2013 Share Option Scheme, any applicable law, rule or regulation or
the terms and conditions of the relevant option granted under the 2013 Share Option Scheme.

During the term of the 2013 Share Option Scheme in force and until the Scheme Expiration, the exercise price was
determined by the directors of the Company, and would not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the
Company's shares on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the shares for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, 3,000,000 share options were granted under the 2013 Share Option Scheme.
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Particulars of the 2013 Share Option Scheme and details of movements in the share options under the 2013 Share
Option Scheme during the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements
of the 2023/24 Financial Report and summarized as below:

Number of share options
Lapsed/
Balance as at Granted Exercised cancelled  Balance as at
Name or category Exercise 1 April during the during the during the 31 March
of grantee Date of grant Exercise period price (HKS) 2023 period period period 2024
Directors
Mr. LU 23 April 2020 15 October 2022 to 23.80 50,000,000 - — (50,000,000) -
31 December 2026 (note 16)
Mr. HUANG Yong 23 April 2020 15 October 2022 to 2380 45,000,000 - —  (45,000,000) —
31 December 2026 (note 16)
Mr. Zhu Weiwei 23 April 2020 15 October 2022 to 23.80 4,000,000 - - (4,000,000) -
31 December 2026 (note 16)
Ms. LI Ching 23 April 2020 15 October 2022 to 2380 2,000,000 - - (2,000,000) —
31 December 2026 (note 16)
Ms. LIU Chang 23 April 2020 15 October 2022 to 23.80 2,000,000 - - (2,000,000) -
31 December 2026 (note 16)
Mr. LIU Mingxing 23 April 2020 15 October 2022 to 2380 1,000,000 — - (1,000,000) -
31 December 2026 (note 16)
Mr. ZHAQ Yuhua 23 April 2020 15 October 2022 to 23.80 1,000,000 - - (1,000,000) -
31 December 2026 (note 16)
Dr. MAQ Erwan 23 April 2020 15 October 2022 to 2380 1,000,000 — — (1,000,000) —
31 December 2026 (note 16)
Ms. CHEN Yanyan 23 April 2020 15 October 2022 to 2380 1,000,000 - - (1,000,000) -
31 December 2026 (note 16)
Mr. ZHANG Ling 23 April 2020 15 October 2022 to 2380 1,000,000 — — (1,000,000) -
31 December 2026 (note 16)
Sub-total 108,000,000 — — (108,000,000) —
Eligible employees 23 April 2020 15 October 2022 to 2380 133,952,000 - — (133,952,000) -
(note 13) 31 December 2026 (note 16)
Consultants (former directors 23 April 2020 15 October 2022 to 2380 3,065,600 - - (3,065,600) -
and former employees) 31 December 2026 (note 16)
(note 14)
Sub-total 137,017,600 — —  (137,017,600) —
Service Providers (note 15) 24 May 2023 24 May 2023 to 10.50 - 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000
23 May 2025 (note 17)
Sub-total — 3,000,000 — — 3,000,000
Total 245,017,600 3,000,000 —  (245,017,600) 3,000,000
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The percentage was calculated based on 5,435,573,172 Shares in issue as at 31 March 2024.
Mr. LIU was deemed to be interested in a total of 977,733,428 Shares, comprising:
(i) 338,471,228 Shares beneficially owned by Mr. LIU;

(ii) 70,000,000 Shares beneficially owned by Joint Coast Alliance Market Development Limited (“Joint Coast”), a company wholly-owned by
Mr. LIU; and

(iii) 569,262,200 Shares beneficially owned by China Gas Group Limited. China Gas Group Limited (incorporated in Hong Kong) (“CGGL"),
which was owned as to 50% by Joint Coast which, in turn, is wholly-owned by Mr. LIU.

Mr. HUANG was deemed to be interested in a total of 168,783,200 Shares, comprising:

(i) 168,013,200 Shares beneficially owned by Mr. HUANG; and

(i) 770,000 Shares held by Ms. ZHAO Xiaoyu, the spouse of Mr. HUANG.

Mr. ZHU beneficially owned a total of 6,000,000 Shares.

Ms. LI beneficially owned a total of 2,000,000 Shares.

Mr. LIU Mingxing beneficially owned a total of 800,000 Shares.

Mr. ZHAO beneficially owned a total of 2,400,000 Shares.

Dr. MAO beneficially owned a total of 2,200,000 Shares.

The percentage was calculated based on 315,593,482 shares of China Gas Fortune Marine in issue as at 31 March 2024.

Mr. LIU was deemed to be interested in 189,356,089 shares of China Gas Fortune Marine Transportation Limited beneficially owned by China Gas
Group Limited (incorporated in Anguilla) which was owned as to 50% by Joint Coast which, in turn, is wholly-owned by Mr. LIU.

The percentage was calculated based on 100 shares of Electronic Business in issue as at 31 March 2024.

Mr. LIU held as to 29% interest and the Company held as to 71% in Electronic Business respectively, a subsidiary of the Company. Among 29%
interest held by Mr. LIU, 5.5% of which was intended to be allocated to the eligible individuals who contribute to the growth and development of
Electronic Business.

Such share options were granted to eligible employees pursuant to the 2013 Share Option Scheme and have subsequently lapsed/been cancelled
during the reporting period.

Such share options were granted to director and eligible employees who subsequently ceased to be the Group’s director and employees but were
retained by the Group as consultants pursuant to the 2013 Share Option Scheme and have subsequently lapsed/been cancelled during the reporting
period.

Such share options were granted to a service provider under the 2013 Share Option Scheme who provides services to the Company on a continuing
basis that are conducive to the long term development of the Company’s ordinary and usual course of business, and the scope of services mainly
include providing professional analysis and advice in respect of the Company’s corporate communications, positioning and strengths in the industry
and capital market, with a view to enhancing the competitiveness of the Company in the above matters. The share options shall be vested within
two years from the date of grant, i.e. 24 May 2023 to 23 May 2025. The exercise of the share options is subject to the conditions of performance
targets to be determined by the Company from time to time, and the Company will determine whether the grantee meets such performance targets
based on the performance appraisal results and taking into account factors such as the grantee’s contributions towards the long-term development
of the Company. The Company has established an appraisal mechanism to assess the fulfilment of performance targets by its employees, which are
linked to the Company'’s strategic goals and values. The appraisal mechanism uses a scoring system based on a matrix of qualitative and quantitative
indicators that vary according to the roles and responsibilities of the relevant employees. The indicators include, but are not limited to, measures of
work quality, efficiency, collaboration, management and strategy. The scoring system evaluates both the employee’s regular duties and the strategic
objectives or tasks assigned for the appraisal period. The Company intends to make reference to this appraisal mechanism to set and review the
performance targets of the grantee periodically. Exercise of the options is also subject to the condition that the grantee shall remain as an external
consultant of the Company at the time of exercise of share options. While the share options do not have a minimum vesting period of 12 months,
the Company considers that the grant of share options to the grantee is subject to the performance targets and the other conditions as mentioned
above, and could effectively incentivize the grantee to contribute to the long-term development and growth of the Group.

The closing price of the shares of the Company immediately before the date on which the options were granted was HK$23.2 per share.

The closing price of the shares immediately before the date 24 May 2023 on which the options were granted was HK$9.55 per share. The
aggregate fair value of such 3,000,000 share options at the grant date amounted to approximately HK$5,796,000. The fair value of equity-settled
share options granted was estimated as at the date of grant based on 24 May 2023. For further details of the accounting policy adopted for the
fair value of the share options, please refer to note 3.2 of the Group’s audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023.

Save as disclosed above, no share options were granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled under the 2013 Share Option
Scheme during the year ended 31 March 2024.

As at 31 March 2024, the 2013 Share Option Scheme has expired. No further share options may be granted under the
2013 Share Option Scheme.
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(B) 2023 Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the 2023 Share Option Scheme is to (a) recognise and reward the contribution of certain eligible
participants to the growth and development of the Group and to give incentives thereto in order to retain them for the
continual operation and development of the Group; and (b) to attract suitable personnel for further development of the
Group.

The 2023 Share Option Scheme shall remain in force for a period of 10 years commencing on 23 August 2023.

The Board believes that the authority given to the Board under the 2023 Share Option Scheme to specify any minimum
holding period and/or performance targets as conditions in any Option granted as well as the authority to select the
appropriate eligible participants as prescribed by the rules of the 2023 Share Option Scheme will serve to protect the
value of the Company and to achieve such purpose of retaining and motivating personnel to contribute to the Group.

The eligible participants of the 2023 Share Option Scheme include the Employee Participants, the Service Providers and
the Related Entity Participants (each, an “Eligible Participant”, as defined below).

"Employee Participants” include any director and employee of the Group.

“Service Providers” include any person who provide services to the Group on a continuing or recurring basis in its
ordinary and usual course of business which are in the interests of the long-term growth of the Group, including the
following persons:

(i)  consultants providing business consulting services to the Group, in relation to the Company’s principal business
activities involving sale of natural gas, gas connection, engineering design and construction, sale of LPG and
value-added services (which include the sale of kitchen-focused household products and services, value-added
services provided to corporate customers, customer pipeline maintenance and the sale of value-added products
and services for government-led projects) and any other principal business activities the Company may engage in
from time to time; and

(i) persons or entities that provide marketing, public relations, investor relations and corporate communications-
related and other professional services to any member of the Group.

For the avoidance of doubt, Service Providers may not include placing agents or financial advisers providing advisory
services for fundraising, mergers or acquisitions, as well as professional service providers such as auditors or valuers who
provide assurance or are required to perform their services with impartiality and objectivity.

For each category of Service Providers, assessing factors include (where applicable): the individual performance,
experience or qualification of the relevant Service Provider, the length of business relationship with the Group, the
materiality and nature of the business relationship with the Group, track record in the quality of services and/or
cooperation and the actual or expected improvement to the Group which is or may be attributable to the Service
Providers. In assessing whether the Service Provider provides services to the Group on a continuing and recurring basis
and in its ordinary and usual course of business, the Board shall take into consideration the length and type of services
provided/to be provided and the recurrences and regularity of such services, and (where applicable) will benchmark
such metrics against the performance of the relevant employees, officers and directors of the Group to whom the
Group provides equity incentives, while taking into account the purpose of the 2023 Share Option Scheme and the
objectives in engaging the Service Provider, the nature of the services provided/to be provided to the Group by the
Service Provider, and whether such services form part of or are necessary or ancillary to the businesses conducted by
the Group from time to time.

“Related Entity Participants” include the directors, chief executive and employees of the holding companies, fellow
subsidiaries or associated companies of the Company, provided that the board of directors shall have absolute
discretion to determine whether or not one falls within such category.

Pursuant to the limit stipulated under the 2023 Share Option Scheme, as of 31 March 2024, the maximum number of
share options permitted to be granted thereunder was 544,033,577, representing approximately 10.0% of the number
of total issued shares of the Company as of 31 March 2024. The maximum number of share options permitted to be
granted to service providers was 54,403,357, representing 1.00% of the number of total issued shares of the Company
as of 31 March 2024.
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Regarding the maximum entitlement of each eligible participants under the 2023 Share Option Scheme, unless
shareholders’ approval is obtained in accordance with the Listing Rules, the Board cannot grant any option (“Triggering
Option”) to any eligible participant which, if exercised, would result in that eligible participant becoming entitled to
subscribe for such number of Shares as, when aggregated with the total number of Shares already issued or to be issued
to him upon exercise of all options granted to him under the 2023 Share Option Scheme or any other share option
scheme in the 12-month period immediately preceding the grant date of the Triggering Option to exceed one per cent
of the number of shares of the Company in issue as at that grant date.

Options for the time being outstanding may be exercised in whole or in part at any time during the option period. In
order for the exercise of an option to be effective, the Company must, prior to the expiry of the option period, have
received: (i) a written notice from the option holder exercising the option, signed by or on behalf of such holder and
specifying the number of shares of the Company in respect of which the option is being exercised; and (i) payment in
full of an amount equal to the exercise price multiplied by the relevant number of shares of the Company in respect of
which such option is exercised.

Notwithstanding anything in provisions under the 2023 Share Option Scheme to the contrary, the option period
shall not be extended and, on the expiry of the option period, all rights in respect of an option for the time being
outstanding shall terminate, except in so far as there has been an effective exercise of that option prior thereto and the
Company has not discharged all its obligations under the 2023 Share Option Scheme in relation to such exercise.

The vesting period for share options granted under the 2023 Share Option Scheme shall not be less than twelve (12)
months, save for instances where the Board and the Remuneration Committee of the Company are of the view that a
strict twelve (12)-month vesting requirement would not work or would not be fair to the option holder, as prescribed in
the 2023 Share Option Scheme.

To accept an offer to grant an option, an amount of HK$10.00 per option shall be payable by the Eligible Participant
within ten (10) business days from the date of grant.

The exercise price shall be a price determined by the Board on the date of grant at the absolute discretion of the board
of directors of the Company as an amount per share which shall not be less than the highest of (a) the closing price of
the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant, which must be
a business day; (b) the average of the closing prices of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the five (5) business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (c) the nominal value of the
shares of the Company on the date of grant.

The 2023 Share Option Scheme was adopted on 23 August 2023 and is valid and effective for a period of 10 years
from the date of its adoption, expiring on 23 August 2033, with a remaining life of about 9.5 years as of 31 March
2024.

As at 31 March 2024, there is no outstanding share options exercisable under the 2023 Share Option Scheme.
No share options were granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled under the 2023 Share Option Scheme during the 12
months ended 31 March 2024. The maximum number of share options available for grant under the scheme mandate and

service provider sub-limit of the 2023 Share Option Scheme as at the end of the period is 544,033,577 and 54,403,357,
representing approximately 10% and 1% of the total issued shares of the Company as at 31 March 2024 respectively.
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(©) Share Award Scheme

The Company adopted the Share Award Scheme on 27 November 2020 and amended and restated by the Board with
effect from 23 August 2023 such that only grant of awards involving existing shares may be made hereunder and
no further grant of awards involving new shares may be made under amended and restated Share Award Scheme.
Pursuant to the Share Award Scheme, the Board may from time to time at its absolute discretion select eligible persons
including the directors, senior management and consultant of any member of the Group and employee of any member
of the Group to participate in the Share Award Scheme and determine the shares to be awarded. The Scheme shall be
valid and effective for a term of 10 years commencing on the adoption date. The remaining life of the Share Award
Scheme is approximately 6.5 years as of 31 March 2024.

The Board shall not make any further award of shares under the Share Award Scheme which will result in the total
nominal value of the aggregate of Shares awarded by the Board under the scheme exceeding 5% of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time. For avoidance of doubt, the awards lapsed in accordance with the terms
of the Share Award Scheme will not be counted for the purpose of calculating the limit of the scheme. The maximum
number of shares which may be awarded to a selected participant under the Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the issued
share capital of the Company in any 12-month period.

Tricor Trust (Hong Kong) Limited was appointed as a trustee of the Share Award Scheme and may utilise the trust fund
of the trust to purchase the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange, or offmarket or by subscription (as the case may
be), in such manner as the Board may determine from time to time, and shall hold such shares until they are vested in
accordance with the rules of the Share Award Scheme.

The vesting period shall, in any event, be no longer than ten years. A share award may be exercised in accordance with
the required conditions (such as performance targets, as the case may be) and vesting period set out in the grant letters
and the terms of the Share Award Scheme at any time during a period as determined by the Board and not exceeding
10 years from the date of the grant.

It is intended that the awarded shares under the Share Award Scheme will be offered to the selected grantees to take
up the relevant awarded shares for no consideration subject to the compliance with the relevant laws and regulations,
and certain conditions to be decided by the Board at the time of grant of the awarded shares under the Share Award
Scheme. Award shall be deemed to be accepted by the selected grantee when the Company receives a duplicate of the
grant notice signed by such selected grantee within five business days after the date of granting. No amount is payable
on acceptance of the award. Awarded shares held by the Trustee upon the trust and which are referable to a selected
grantee shall vest to that selected grantee in accordance with a vesting schedule determined at the discretion of the
Board, provided that the selected grantee remains at all times after the reference date (the date of final approval by the
Board of the total number of shares to be awarded to the selected grantees in a single occasion pursuant to the Share
Award Scheme or the date of an award by the Trustee pursuant to the trust deed) and on each relevant vesting date(s)
an eligible person. The Board may also, in its absolute discretion, determine the performance, operating and financial
targets and other criteria, if any, to be satisfied by the selected grantee before the awarded shares can vest. While
the Board may, at its absolute discretion, determine the terms and conditions of an award, the selected grantee shall
generally not be required to pay any purchase price upon vesting of the awarded shares.
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There were performance targets attached to the award of shares to the grantee. The grantee had to achieve a
certain rating in the annual performance appraisal of the department and the Group. The Company has established
an appraisal mechanism to assess the fulfilment of performance targets by its employees, which are linked to the
Company's strategic goals and values. The appraisal mechanism uses a scoring system based on a matrix of qualitative
and guantitative indicators that vary according to the roles and responsibilities of the relevant employees. The indicators
include, but are not limited to, measures of work quality, efficiency, collaboration, management and strategy. The
scoring system evaluates both the employee’s regular duties and the strategic objectives or tasks assigned for the
appraisal period.

The grantee is not required to pay any purchase price upon vesting of the awarded share.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2024, Trustee did not purchase Shares of the Company and no Share was
awarded by the Company under the Share Award Scheme but 15,000 shares granted on 1 April 2022 were vested
during the period. The closing price of the shares of the Company immediately before the date on which the shares
were granted under the Share Award Scheme was HK$10.04 per share. Please refer to note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements below for further details in relation to the Share Award Scheme.

Details of the movements in the awarded shares of the Company during the year are set out as follows:

Vested

Balance as at Granted during Lapsed Cancelled  Balance as at
Name of category 1 April during the year during during 31 March
or grantees 2023 the year  Vesting period (note 1) the year the year 2024
Employees 30,000 0 18 September 2022 to 15,000 — — 15,000

18 June 2024

Total 30,000 0 15,000 — - 15,000
Note:
1. 15,000 awards were vested on 18 June 2023. The weighted average closing price of the Shares immediately before the dates on which the

awarded shares were vested was HK$9.37. The grantees were not required to pay any purchase price upon vesting of the awarded shares.

Further details of the Share Award Scheme are set out in note 35 to the financial statements.

The number of shares available for grant under the scheme mandate of the Share Award Scheme at the beginning and
the end of the financial year ended 31 March 2024 are 271,971,788 and 271,971,788 Shares respectively, representing
approximately 5.00% and 5.00% of the total issued shares of the Company as at the date of this report.

The awarded shares will be satisfied by existing shares purchased by the Trustee and therefore there are no shares that
may be issued in respect of awards granted under the Share Award Scheme.

Pursuant to the amendments to the Listing Rules on 1 January 2023, share award schemes which are previously not
governed by Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules will also be subject to the same requirements as other share schemes under
the relevant rules. The Board of Directors amended the Share Award Scheme such that only grant of awards involving
existing shares may be made thereunder and no further grant of awards involving new shares may be made under the
amended and restated Share Award Scheme.

The number of Shares that may be issued in respect of the options and awards granted under all schemes of the
Company during the year divided by the weighted average number of shares of the relevant class in issue for 31 March

2024 is approximately 0.06%.
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INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER PERSONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2024, so far as was known to the Directors and chief executive of the Company, the interests or short
positions of substantial shareholders and other persons of the Company (other than a Director or chief executive of the
Company), in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under section
336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company, were as follows:

Approximate
percentage of total
issued Shares of the

Number of Company (%)
Name Capacity Shares held (note 1)
Beijing Enterprises Group Company Limited Interest of controlled corporation 1,285,908,343 23.66
("BE Group”) (note 2)
Beijing Enterprises Group (BVI) Company Interest of controlled corporation 1,282,358,343 23.59
Limited (“BE Group BVI") (note 2)
Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited Beneficial owner and interest of 1,282,358,343 23.59
("Beijing Enterprises”) controlled corporation (note 2)
Hong Mao Developments Limited Beneficial owner 1,164,911,143 21.43
("Hong Mao”) (note 2)
Mr. LIU Beneficial owner and interest of 977,733,428 17.99
controlled corporation (note 3)
Joint Coast Interest of controlled corporation 639,262,200 11.76
(note 4)
China Gas Group Limited Beneficial owner 569,262,200 10.47
("CGGL") (note 5)
Mr. CHIU Tat Jung Daniel Interest of controlled corporation 894,077,635 16.45
("Mr. CHIU") (note 6)
First Level Holdings Limited Beneficial owner and interest of 894,077,635 16.45
("First Level”) controlled corporation (note 6)
Fortune Dynasty Holdings Limited Interest of controlled corporation 893,077,635 16.43
("Fortune Dynasty"”) (note 6)
Fortune Oil Limited Interest of controlled corporation 893,077,635 16.43
("Fortune Qil") (note 6)
Fortune Qil PRC Holdings Limited Beneficial owner and interest of 825,763,744 15.19
("Fortune Qil PRC") controlled corporation (note 6)
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Notes:

1. The percentage was calculated on the basis of 5,435,573,172 Shares in issue as at 31 March 2024.

2. BE Group was deemed to be interested in 1,285,908,343 Shares, 3,550,000 of which were directly and beneficially owned by Beijing Holdings Limited,
and 1,282,358,343 of which were beneficially owned by Beijing Enterprises, and of which 1,164,911,143 were directly and beneficially owned by Hong
Mao. Hong Mao was wholly-owned by Beijing Enterprises which was owned as to 0.37% by Beijing Holdings Limited, 41.12% by BE Group BVI, 7.94%
by Modern Orient Limited (“Modern Orient”) and 12.99% by Beijing Enterprises Investments Limited (“Beijing Enterprises Investments”). Modern Orient
was wholly-owned by Beijing Enterprises Investments which was owned as to 72.72% by BE Group BVI. BE Group BVI and Beijing Holdings Limited were
both wholly-owned by BE Group.

3. Mr. LIU was deemed to be interested in a total of 977,733,428 Shares, comprising:
(i) 338,471,228 Shares beneficially owned by Mr. LIU;
(i) 70,000,000 Shares beneficially owned by Joint Coast, a company wholly-owned by Mr. LIU; and

(iii) 569,262,200 Shares beneficially owned by CGGL. CGGL was owned as to 50% by Joint Coast which, in turn, its wholly-owned by Mr. LIU.

4. Joint Coast was deemed to be interested in a total of 639,262,200 Shares, 70,000,000 Shares of which were directly and beneficially owned and
569,262,200 Shares were directly and beneficially owned by CGGL which was owned as to 50% by Joint Coast which, in turn, was wholly-owned by Mr.

LIU.
5. 569,262,200 Shares were beneficially owned by CGGL. CGGL was owned as to 50% by Joint Coast which, in turn, was wholly-owned by Mr. LIU.
6. Each of Mr. CHIU and First Level was deemed to be interested in a total of 894,077,635 Shares, comprising:

(i) 569,262,200 Shares beneficially owned by CGGL. CGGL was owned as to 50% by Fortune Oil PRC;

(ii) 825,763,744 Shares owned by Fortune Oil PRC, 569,262,200 of which were deemed to be interested through CGGL and 256,501,544 Shares
were beneficially owned. Fortune Oil PRC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Fortune Oil. Fortune Qil is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Fortune Dynasty
which is owned as to 70% by First Level;

(iii) 27,617,919 Shares beneficially owned by First Marvel Investment Limited which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Fortune QOil;

(iv) 39,695,972 Shares beneficially owned by Fortune Oil Holdings Limited which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Fortune Oil; and

(v) 1,000,000 Shares beneficially owned by First Level which, in turn, is owned as to 99% by Mr. CHIU.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, there was no other person (other than directors or chief executive of the

Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

On 8 October 2021, China Gas Capital Management Limited (“CGCM"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into the total return swap transaction (“TRS Transaction”) with Nomura Singapore Limited (“TRS Counterparty”) in
order to hedge its exposure to future Share price appreciation in connection with the Share Award Scheme. The maximum
equity notional amount of the TRS Transaction is HK$780 million and the maximum number of Shares underlying the TRS
Transaction is 37,000,000 Shares, representing approximately 0.66% of the Company’s issued share capital as of the date of
the TRS Transaction. The TRS Transaction has a term of approximately 12 months. Upon the expiry of such term or at an early
termination of the TRS Transaction by CGCM, the TRS Counterparty should pay CGCM an amount in cash determined by
reference to the final price. The term of the TRS Transaction expired and was extended for one year by way of an extension
agreement dated 27 September 2023, other terms and conditions of the TRS Transaction remaining unchanged.

Other than the TRS Transaction, the 2013 Share Option Scheme, the 2023 Share Option Scheme and the Share Award
Scheme of the Company as disclosed in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into by the Company during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

ADOPTION OF AMENDED AND RESTATED BYE-LAWS

The Company proposed to amend its Bye-laws in order to: (i) bring the existing Bye-laws up to date and in line with the
revised requirements under the Listing Rules in relation to electronic dissemination of corporate communications and treasury
shares as well as the applicable laws of Bermuda; and (ii) incorporate certain housekeeping amendments, to be approved by
the shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting to be held on 21 August 2024 where a special
resolution is proposed to adopt the second amended and restated Bye-laws.

ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than the 2013 Share Option Scheme, the 2023 Share Option Scheme and the Share Award Scheme as mentioned
above, at no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements which enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of the Shares in, or debenture of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Continuing Connected Transaction

On 28 August 2022, the Company and Electronic Business entered into (i) a value-added products purchase agreement,
pursuant to which Electronic Business and its subsidiaries (together referred to as “Electronic Business Group”) agreed to
supply value-added products to the Group; (i) a safety inspection service agreement, pursuant to which Electronic Business
Group agreed to provide the Group with safety inspection services for the Group's customers; (iii) an loT service agreement,
pursuant to which Electronic Business Group agreed to provide loT services to the Group; (iv) an electronic payment and
software development service agreement, pursuant to which Electronic Business Group agreed to provide the Group with
payment, settlement and other related services on its electronic payment platform and software development services, for a
term commencing from 1 August 2022 to 31 March 2025.

Mr. LIU is the chairman and an executive Director and a substantial shareholder of the Company. Accordingly, Mr. LIU is a

connected person of the Company. As Electronic Business is owned as to 71% indirectly by the Company and 29% by Mr.
LIU, it is a connected subsidiary of the Company.
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Given that one or more of the applicable percentage ratios (as defined in the Listing Rules) calculated with reference to the
respective annual caps of each continuing connected transaction, the loT Service Agreement and the Electronic Payment and
Software Development Service Agreement are exempt continuing connected transactions while the value-added products
purchase agreement and the safety inspection service agreement are continuing connected transactions subject to the
reporting and announcement requirements but exempt from independent shareholder’s approval requirement under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

In view of the introduction of favourable policies for economic recovery, the accelerating pace of pipeline renovation projects
and the increase in users’ demand gas-related security products, the annual caps of the value-added products purchase
agreement were subsequently revised on 17 March 2023 for the year ending 31 March 2023, 31 March 2024 and 31 March
2025 respectively (the below table shows the revised figures). All other terms and conditions remained unchanged. For
further details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 28 August 2022, 5 September 2022 and 17 March
2023 on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Agreements provide the annual caps for the services for the financial years as follows:

Annual caps for Annual caps for Annual caps for
the year ended the year ended the year ended
31 March 2023 31 March 2024 31 March 2025

(RMB million) (RMB million) (RMB million)

Value-added products purchase agreement 900.4 995.0 975.1

Safety inspection service agreement 109.8 244.4 373.7

loT service agreement 11.6 25.1 37.7
Electronic payment and software development

service agreement 23.9 27.5 31.6

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the aggregate amounts of the transaction under the value-added products purchase
agreement and safety inspection service agreement amounted to approximately RMB912.3 million and RMB81.0 million
respectively, which are within the annual caps of the relevant agreements.

The above continuing connected transactions during the year have been reviewed by the Independent Non-executive
Directors of the Company in accordance with Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules who have confirmed that the transactions have
been entered into:

0) in the ordinary course and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms;

(iiiy  in accordance with the terms of the relevant agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in
the interest of the shareholders of the Company as a whole; and

(iv)  within the caps as set out in the relevant announcements.

The Company has engaged the auditor of the Company to report the continuing connected transactions of the Group in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other than Audits
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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The auditor of the Company has issued an unmodified letter to the Company confirming in accordance with rule 14A.56 of
the Listing Rules that nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe the continuing connected transactions:
(i) have not been approved by the Board; (ii) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of
the Group; (iii) were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such
transactions; and (iv) have exceeded the annual cap set by the Company.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules for the year ended 31 March 2024.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION
Termination of Time Charter Contracts

On 27 February 2024, Zhongran Energy Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a termination deed
with each of China Gas Fortune Legend Limited (“CG Fortune Legend”) and China Gas Fortune Glory Limited (“CG Fortune
Glory") (each as respective owner of two vessels, CHINAGAS LEGEND and CHINAGAS GLORY), pursuant to which the parties
agreed to the early termination of the respective time charter contracts dated 27 March 2020 and 27 February 2024 with
effect from on or about 31 July 2024. All rights and obligations under the aforesaid time charter contracts shall cease on the
respective termination effective date.

The termination of the two aforesaid time charter contracts will result in a decrease in the amount of right-of-use assets
recognized by the Group, and thus be regarded as disposal of asset for the purpose of the Listing Rules.

CG Fortune Legend and CG Fortune Glory are wholly-owned subsidiaries of CG Fortune Marine, which is owned by China
Gas Group Limited (incorporated in Anguilla) (“CGGLA") and Proud Keen Limited as to 60% and 40% respectively. Mr. LIU
holds 100% equity interests in Joint Coast, which in turn holds 50% equity interests in CGGLA. Mr. LIU, as an executive
Director, is a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules. Accordingly, each of CG Fortune Legend and CG
Fortune Glory is an associate of Mr. LIU under the Listing Rules. The transactions contemplated under each of the termination
deeds in relation to the two aforesaid time charter contracts thus constitute connected transactions of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For further details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 27 March 2020 and 27 February 2024 on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group entered into certain related party transactions which are disclosed in note
44 to the consolidated financial statement of the 2023/24 Financial Report. The related party transactions as disclosed in note
44 (jii) was connected transactions of the Company discloseable under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Other related party
transactions disclosed in note 44 did not constitute connected transactions of the Company discloseable under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules for the year ended 31 March 2024.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed, as at 31 March 2024 or during the year, none of the Directors had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, save as disclosed below, none of the Directors had any interest in any business,
apart from the Company’s business, which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Company’s
business:

Nature of
Director Name of Company Interest in the competing business competing business
Mr. XIONG Bin Beijing Enterprises Executive director and chief executive officer Gas
BE Group Assistant to the general manager Gas
Mr. JIANG Xinhao Beijing Enterprises Executive director and vice chairman Gas
BE Group Vice general manager Gas

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the aggregate amount of turnover attributable to the Group’s five largest customers
was less than 30% (being the Listing Rules disclosure threshold) of total turnover of the Group. The amount of purchases
attributable to the Group's five largest suppliers and the largest supplier were approximately 27.4% and approximately
15.6% respectively, of the total purchases of the Group.

To the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, their close associates, or any shareholders (which to the knowledge

of the Directors own 5% or more of the issued shares of the Company) had any interest in the major suppliers mentioned
above.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY'S SHARES

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company or its subsidiaries repurchased a total of 4,762,600 Shares of the Company
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited at an aggregate repurchase costs of HK$43,911,086, inclusive of total
consideration paid of HK$43,723,460 and related transaction costs of HK$187,626.

Details of the repurchased by the Company are set out below:

Total number of Price per Share Aggregate

Month Shares repurchased Highest Lowest consideration paid
HK$ HK$ HK$

May 2023 4,762,600 9.31 9.01 43,723,460
Total 4,762,600 43,723,460

All the above repurchased shares had been cancelled. The repurchase aimed to increase the net assets per share and earnings
per share.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
securities listed on the Stock Exchange during the year.

FUND RAISING AND USE OF PROCEEDS

On 22 April 2021, the Company entered into a placing agreement with Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited and China
Gas Group Limited (the “Vendors”) and UBS AG Hong Kong Branch, Goldman Sachs (Asia) L.L.C. and The Hongkong
and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited for placing of 392,000,000 Shares (the “Placing Shares”) at the placing price
of HK$29.75 each to not less than six placees (the “Placing”). To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and
belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, such placees and their respective ultimate beneficial owners were third parties
independent of the Company and its connected persons. On the same date, the Company also entered into a subscription
agreement with the Vendors in relation to the subscription of a total of 392,000,000 new Shares (the “Subscription Shares”)
by the Vendors (the “Subscription”), which represents the same number of Placing Shares. The subscription price was
HK$29.75 per Subscription Share (which was the same as the placing price under the Placing) and the net price for the
Subscription after deduction of such expenses was approximately HK$29.60 per Subscription Share. The closing price per
Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange was HK$32.70 on 21 April 2021, being the day prior to the date of the placing
agreement and the subscription agreement. The number of Subscription Shares represented approximately 6.99% of the
then enlarged issued shares upon completion of the Subscription. Please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 22
April 2021 and 30 April 2021 for further details of the Placing and Subscription.

The Placing and the Subscription were completed on 26 April 2021 and 30 April 2021 respectively. The gross proceeds from
the Placing and the Subscription amounted to approximately HK$11,662 million and the net proceeds (after deducting all
applicable costs and expenses in relation to the Placing and the Subscription, including commission and levies) amounted to
approximately HK$11,602 million.

China Gas Holdings Limited



DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The net proceeds were intended to be used for acquisition of gas projects, expansion of new business and general working
capital of the Group. A summary of the use of proceeds up to 31 March 2024 is as follows:

Approximate

amount for the
intended use of Previously disclosed  Current expected
net proceeds (and Approximate Approximate timeline for the timeline for the
the approximate amount unutilized intended use of intended use of

Purpose portion thereof) utilized amount net proceeds net proceeds

HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
Acquisition of city gas projects in China 4,641 (40%) (4,641) — — —
Expansion of LPG Smart MicroGrid business 2,901 (25%) (108) 2,793 On or before On or before
31 March 2026 31 March 2026
(note 1) (note 1)
Development of distributed heating business 2,901 (25%) (2,588) 313 On or before On or before
30 September 2024 30 September 2024
(note 1) (note 1)

General working capital 1,160 (10%) (1,160) — — —

Note:

1. As previously disclosed in the 2023/24 interim report of the Company (the “2023/24 Interim Report”), the latest expected timeline for the use of
proceeds for the expansion of LPG Smart MicroGrid business is on or before 31 March 2026, and the expected timeline for the use of proceeds for
the development of distributed heating business is on or before 30 September 2024. The Group endeavours to adhere to the implementation plan
and timeline for the use of proceeds as disclosed in the 2023/24 Interim Report. Accordingly, the current expected timeline for the intended use of net
proceeds is not expected to deviate from the timeline as disclosed in the 2023/24 Interim Report. The Board will continuously assess and monitor on the
plan and timeline for the use of the net proceeds.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Company’s emolument policy is to maintain fair and competitive packages with reference to industry standards and
prevailing market conditions. The Board is mindful that levels of remuneration must be sufficient to attract and retain
Directors and senior management to run the Company successfully, but at the same time, the Company should avoid setting
remunerations which are in excess of those necessary for this purpose.

The emoluments of the executive Directors and employees ranking vice president or above are decided by the Remuneration
Committee while the remuneration of the non-executive Directors and other senior management are determined by the
Board, having regard to the Company’s results, individual performance and prevailing market conditions.

The Company has adopted the 2013 Share Option Scheme on 20 August 2013 (which was terminated on 23 August 2023),
a Share Award Scheme on 27 November 2020 and the 2023 Share Option Scheme on 23 August 2023 providing incentives
to Directors and eligible employees and persons, details of the scheme are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements of the 2023/24 Financial Report.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which oblige the Company to offer
new shares to the existing shareholders on a pro-rata basis.

DONATIONS
During the year ended 31 March 2024, donations made by the Group were approximately HK$2,097,000.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Director an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considered all of them to be independent.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company maintained
sufficient amount of public float under the Listing Rules as at the date of this annual report.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

No significant event occurred after the date of the balance sheet.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract, other than employment contracts, concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the Company’s business was entered into or existed during the year ended 31 March 2024.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws, the Directors shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits
of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which any of them shall or may
incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duties in their
offices.

Such permitted indemnity provision has been in force throughout the year and is still in force. In addition, the Company has
arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the directors and officers of the Group.

AUDITORS

A resolution will be proposed in the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditors of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board

China Gas Holdings Limited
LIU Ming Hui

Chairman and President

24 June 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BEN RS

Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Gas
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 9 to 218, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2024,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy
information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

ﬁ :FI B ﬁ?\\ﬁjz"ﬂg E ;E//—\ H]Hﬁi
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FZA=T—HOEAMHIRAKREREZA
LHFEENGERHZLEMEHARARE « £4
RuEPRNGRRTRER - WREAMS
HERME  BREASHBREN A MEE

BMRE  ZERAYEBRREBREDT BT
MAg(((EBGAEL)]) BHRACESH
EREERN BB FREER D EE M
BitkMT EEER-_ZT-_NF=ZA=+—
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BV I 58 B 5K 7 A o

RRVEM

BPEREBESHMASRMO(EEET
ERDN(CEABERD ) ETE - BFIE
ZEEUTAENEECEAREZHEH®
B A M B MRAENEEISOPIEE—
FE - REBEEBSTMASRMAIEES
sHEBIEST A (AT M 7RI - HAfIBL
R BEEE - YERETTRRNEMERERE
B - HAEE - RAPAEGHEREER
RIEEWSBAIMET B RRHER -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B B ERE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter
AREITEE

BARETTSER

RETFEESRBERMNERAE - BRY
ARG EMBRERNETRREENER 5
LEEITERMBABBEAMBHRRILA
BRARETEREN - BMATSHELEHEHR
BRNESR -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BRNEFTOAHBRETERETRE

Impairment assessment of goodwill

BT el (1

We identified impairment assessment of goodwill as a key
audit matter due to the involvement of significant judgments
and assumptions in determining the recoverable amounts of
cash-generating units (“CGUs") to which goodwill has been
allocated, which are derived from value in use calculations
using discounted cash flow models.

BAEHAEEREFEREREFTR  ARRNETE
DERENRSEABM([REELEM]) 2T E KSR
(HMRBRSAERAABEREEES) KPP REXHE
R fRRR e

At 31 March 2024, the Group has goodwill of approximately
HK$3,078,353,000 relating to CGUs principally engaged
in the sales of natural gas and gas pipeline construction
business, sales of liquefied petroleum gas business and
provision of value-added services in the People’s Republic of
China which are subject to annual impairment assessment.
Details are disclosed in notes 4 and 21 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RZZE-_ME=ZA=+—HB  BEEEZAZEHA
3,078,353,000/8 7T + W EHEEEFREARKMBRE
RKARBERMREBERES  RIEABRBEEBR
REEERBSHNECELSBUEYN - ZBEFHTTFER
EFHE - FFBEERRA T IEHRERMFAR21HE -

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment of
goodwill of the identified CGUs included:

BPSEBR e EL BB ERENGNEFBFE

° Understanding the Group’s impairment assessment
process, including the impairment model and the
preparation of the cash flow projections;

o  TH BESEREEHNBIZ(E
METRRMRE)

BIEAERE MRS
o Evaluating the appropriateness of the impairment
model applied by the management;

o  HMEEEEERREERMRENE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B B ERE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
AREITSEHE

FARETEE )

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BRNEFTOAHBRETERETRE

During the process of impairment assessment of goodwill,
the management of the Group considered the assessment
of certain CGUs is highly judgmental and is dependent
on certain significant inputs including the discount rates
and growth rates. The carrying amount of goodwill of
the identified CGUs at 31 March 2024 amounted to
HK$1,814,146,000. During the year ended 31 March 2024,
no impairment of goodwill has been recognised.

RIHEEREBRRET - EXEEREERAETHSEL
BURFHEY e EHE - mMZABERRE TEREA
HIE BREMREERIERE - BHBREELEMR T
ZHE=ZA=+ B EKRAER1,814,146,0008 T °
HE_Z-_WWF=ZA=1+—HIFE  TEERDERE -

o Evaluating the basis of the management’s cash flow
forecasts by comparing the actual results of identified
CGUs to the previously forecasted results;

o EBRCRMNRSELBMMNERERMLL AT E
RETHEAFHEREERSRETANEAE

o Engaging our internal valuation experts to assess the
appropriateness of discount rates used; and

o  EARMNABGHEEERFEMARBAXRNEE N
4

o Assessing the reasonableness of growth rates applied
in the forecast based on historical experiences and
trends for identified CGUs.

o HERRRESELBM  ERBAELRLBENETE
RIFTERIERENEIENE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B BEN RS

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BEN RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

BB ET RS U WRAEN
BfE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BEN RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BEN RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Tsang Yiu Chung.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

24 June 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mERSRHMAZEBRARR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-mE —EC=F
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
B sE FET FAT
Revenue 1 @N 5 81,410,133 91,988,445
Cost of sales SHER AR (70,106,010) (79,953,770)
Gross profit EF 11,304,123 12,034,675
Other income EUgA 6 1,212,899 1,373,913
Other gains and losses HE e & &8 7 (763,954) 344,502
Selling and distribution costs HHE R HAA (2,551,377) (2,950,007)
Administrative expenses TR X (3,163,135) (3,153,578)
Finance costs WEER 8 (2,121,753) (1,855,358)
Share of results of associates FE(REEE A 297,253 344,838
Share of results of joint ventures TELEB AR ZEE 398,389 (100,983)
Profit before taxation BRA A 4,612,445 6,038,002
Taxation I8 9 (759,558) (923,578)
Profit for the year FE A 10 3,852,887 5,114,424
Other comprehensive (expense) income HitZ2E(BIx) WA
Items that will not be reclassified to TEEMHEZEm B
profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on translation — #&EA4 7 [E i =58 (4,424,886) (6,858,730)
Decrease in fair value of investments in BN EF A RS2 EWA
equity instruments at fair value through ZRAT BIRENTE
other comprehensive income R (169,551) (84,144)
Gain on revaluation of properties, net of e el G
deferred tax EXERIA = 73,137
(4,594,437) (6,869,737)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mERBREMESEBARSE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt FExT FET
[tems that may be reclassified subsequently ~ E1&ZR[fEEF I E 1872
to profit or loss: HE -
Fair value gain on hedging instruments BEARSREL T2
designated as cash flow hedge Hip T AR EWKS 32,936 —
Reclassification to profit or loss on REREL N BEREH
realisation of cash flow hedge NEEEZ (25,181) —
7,755 —
Other comprehensive expense for the year — FEH b2 EAY (4,586,682) (6,869,737)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FERETAEMY (733,795) (1,755,313)
Profit for the year attributable to: FRRNERS -
Owners of the Company ZiN/NEIE PN 3,184,939 4,293,484
Non-controlling interests IR 667,948 820,940
3,852,887 5,114,424
Total comprehensive (expense) income for — FE 2@ (F X )UA
the year attributable to: RERE
Owners of the Company NANBER A (1,000,398) (1,890,761)
Non-controlling interests JEIEALRE S 266,603 135,448
(733,795) (1,755,313)
Earnings per share BREF 14
Basic LN HK$ 7% 7t0.59 HK$77C0.80
Diluted i3] HK$3% 700.59 HK$;#7C0.80
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Se PR R

At 31 March 2024 R=—ZE—MF=H=+—~

2024 2023
—EMF —TE-=F
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5T FET FET
Non-current assets IEmENEE
Investment properties LEYE 15 2,596,454 2,881,831
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB RRE 16 67,521,253 66,891,255
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17 2,420,802 3,792,673
Investments in associates REENRIZ2IKE 18 10,005,754 10,245,589
Investments in joint ventures REERRIZEK’E 19 12,033,619 12,045,110
Equity instruments at fair value through BAEFAEMEE
other comprehensive income WA ZBARTE 20 753,585 922,498
Goodwill kS 21 3,078,353 3,230,141
Other intangible assets HEihEmpEE 22 3,244,551 3,601,304
Deposits for acquisition of property, plant WHEE - BB &
and equipment wiEES 240,822 342,457
Deposits for acquisition of subsidiaries, W B AR - 8& AR &
joint ventures and associates and other Gl TZH{@J},{&
deposits Hitizs 96,315 105,643
Deferred tax assets ;Eﬁfrﬁlﬁéfﬁ 34 1,459,037 1,012,269
103,450,545 105,070,770
Current assets MENEE
Inventories FE 23 4,731,280 5,655,445
Contract assets BHEE 24 10,260,982 12,706,697
Trade and other receivables E%E%HQEEIE&E@
JEYBRTE 25 15,519,598 16,702,411
Amounts due from associates JEH il SN IE 26 76,172 474,088
Amounts due from joint ventures BEER ,T,)\ 26 6,314,715 5,959,576
Derivative financial instruments PTHESRT A 27 36,512 —
Held-for-trading investments FEEERE 28 27,585 104,536
Pledged bank deposits BIREIRITT 29 185,999 178,696
Cash and cash equivalents Re NIBSEEIER 29 8,094,336 10,438,990
45,247,179 52,220,439
Current liabilities mEaE
Trade and other payables H 5 e IRIA K B Ath
FETBRIB 30 17,628,751 19,557,328
Amounts due to associates FESER A T) IE 26 81,760 72,050
Amounts due to joint ventures JEH/\Q m)\ 26 366,502 156,108
Contract liabilities axaE 24 8,568,261 9,080,132
Derivative financial instruments ?ﬁiﬁ%ﬁilﬂ 27 28,757 —
Tax payable FERF{IE 606,660 806,268
Lease liabilities HEBE 31 58,146 200,709
Bank and other borrowings — due within ~ $R47 RE A {EE —
one year MR—FEREF|H] 32 23,043,420 21,907,608
50,382,257 51,780,203
Net current (liabilities) assets SE(BETERE)EEEE (5,135,078) 440,236
Total assets less current liabilities BEERTHAE 98,315,467 105,511,006
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
ara R R

At 31 March 2024 R=—ZE—MF=H=+—~

2024 2023
—EMF —TE-=F
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
P aE T T
Equity s
Share capital P& 33 54,356 54,403
Reserves i 53,873,299 57,846,181
Equity attributable to owners of BEANREBEAZ
the Company R 53,927,655 57,900,584
Non-controlling interests IR 6,819,698 6,889,795
Total equity MR 4BTE 60,747,353 64,790,379
Non-current liabilities EMBEE
Bank and other borrowings — due after WITREMEE —
one year A —E & 5 E 32 36,021,935 38,103,193
Lease liabilities HERE 31 114,904 1,175,335
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIEB A 34 1,431,275 1,442,099
37,568,114 40,720,627
98,315,467 105,511,006

The consolidated financial statements on pages 9 to 218 were approved  $9E218B VA M EMEAD R - —PUE S
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 24 June 2024 and A =+ IR ZEE@REWERETIE - WHMA

are signed on its behalf by: TATKREKESEZ
LIU MING HUI ZHU WEIWEI
2IeA1E KEE
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EE EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

mEREBER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FRALTRAA
Employee
Investment  Properties Treasury  share-based Capital Non-
Share Share  Translation revaluation revaluation  Hedging Special shares  compensation Capital ~ redemption ~ Statutory  Accumulated controling
capial  premium fesene  fesene fesenve resene resenve fesene  resene fesenve resene funds pofts — Subtotal  interests Total
REERE  MEER EHRE  ERRH E1ER
e RIGEE  EXEE ) B HAER  BER fE  BMEE AKER B kEEE  ZaER Nt HERES 3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TFhn FEr A T Fhx TFhR TR T AL TiEn T TR T TEL Fin T
(Notei) ~ (Notel) (Note i) (Note i)
(ah) (k) (Hi3i) (PsEi)
At1 April 2022 R-E--FmA-A 54403 20275595 3747608 (323,125) 1,601 - 1,602 (1,085,120) —  (3043277) 3435 3385440 40559731 63577,893 8491260 72,069,153
Profit for the year FRER - - - - - - - - - - - — 4293484 4293484 820940 5114424
Other comprehensive (expense) EREMEE
income for the year (BMA - — 63 el T30 - - - - - - - — (618425)  (685492) (6,869,737)
Total comprehensive (expense) EREARR)
incomefor the year bAgE - — 6B e B - - - - - - — 4048 (1890761 1348 (175313
Acquisiton of additional interestof IR AT
subsidiaries (note 36) (36 - - - - - - - - — (794,708) - - —  (794708) (1,237350) (2,032,058
Disposal and winding up of LEHBRAR
subsidiaries HEAAER - — - - - - — - - — - — - - (6,903) (6,903)
Capital contribution from WRAFEER
non-controlling interests of EELE
subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 162,697 162,697
Recognition of equity-settled ERRAEERR
share-based payments RERNRR - - - - - - - - 345 - - - - 345 - 345
Shares vested under the share iy mEtE
award scheme EEERA - - - - - - - 30 (17 - - - (209) - - -
Dividends paid by subsidiariesto PR AERHEAR
non-controlling interests Baie - - - - - - - - - - - - - — (655357 (655,357)
Dividends recognised as distributions B AR EZHE
(note 13) (B3E13) - - - — - - - - - - - — (2992185 (2992,185) — (299,185
Disposal of an equity instrumentat ~ HERATESA
fair value through other Ef2ERAL
comprehensive income RATE - - - 67,869 - - - - - - - — (67869 - - -
Transfer @ — — — — — — — — — — — W (NN — — —
At31 March 2023
54403 20275595  (2425630)  (339,400) 4738 - 1,602 (1,084,740) 174 (3,837,985 3435 3757312 41,421,080 57,900,584 6,889,795 64,790,379
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEEREER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

BRADTFRA
Employee
Investment  Properties Treasury  share-based Capital Non-
Share Share  Translation revaluation revaluation Hedging Special shares  compensation Capital ~ redemption  Statutory  Accumulated controlling
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve feserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve funds profits  Subtotal interests Total
REEH  HXER EHRS | EAEE
Bx  ROEE  EXRRE Fi BE  HMER  KRER i ] e ERER i EEEE ZiteA Mt FERES &t
HKSOO0  HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSO00 HKSOO0  HKSODD  HKSO0  HKSOD0  HKSOOD  HKSO0  HKSOOD  HKSOMD
TR fE A TR TEi TR T TR TR TRL TR TR TR TA TR TER
(Note ) (Note iv) (Noteii) (Note i)
(&) (Kiv) (Riatii) (Hitii)

A1 Apil 203 ROBCSEMA-B M 2555 (A6 (A0 7478 - 1602 (1084740) 7 @IS 385 3TN M40 ST00SB 688975 6479037

Profitfor the year EEET - - - - - - - - - - - - 3184939 3,184,939 667948 3,852,887

Other comprehensive (expense]income - EZH2E

fortheyear (BRMA - — (bo3sH)  (f695s) = 1755 = - - = = - — (A1) (013) (458668

Total comprehensive (expense) FERARY)

income forthe yer hASE - —(a3sH) (169550 = 7755 = = = = = — LA (10003%) 26603 (1337%)
Acquiton of additional interest o~ WEHBATEN
subsidary (note 36) Eh(30) - - - - - - - - - 60,037 - - — 00T (97093) (37,056
Disposal and winding up of subsidiaries i EHBATR
HEATES - = - = = - = - - = = - = - (B4 (134)
Capital contrbuton fiom HELTHER
non-controling interests of subsidaries €% 7 4% - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 13548 13,548
Recogniton of equitysettled ERALE NG
share-based payments RERIR - - - - - - - - 2813 - - - - 281 - 2813
Repurchase of shares BERR (a1 (43864) - - - - - - - - - - - () - (#3911
Shares vested under the share Trip il
award scheme BERRH - - - - - - - 380 (1m) - = = (209) = = =
Dividends paid by subsiciris to HBATRAFAR
non-controling interests ERziRE - - - - - - - - - - - - - —  (299688) (299,688)
Dividends recognised as distibutions ~ EZAEZRE
(e 13 (Ha13) = = = = = = = = = = = — ) 891470 — (94m)
Transfer e - - - - - - - - - - - W8 (143,183) - - -
431 Match 2024 3
ZEZt-F 3% NBLB GO (0B 7478 1755 1602 (1084360 286 BTG 343 30045 ALATLIST SIOTE G068 6074135

Notes: M5

(i) The special reserve of the Group represents the difference between the (i) AERZFRIFEBHEARRAMKERB AR 2
nominal value of the shares of the acquired subsidiaries and the nominal value RNDEEERARRODR—NNEF LHIER
of the Company's shares issued for the acquisition at the time of the group SRR TREMBITAR TR EBECERE
reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s shares in 1995.

(i) Capital reserve represents the effect of changes in the ownership interests in (i) ~ BEANFEEERKEIEERERE - WEBARME
subsidiaries on the equity attributable to owners of the Company upon the BEREREEEHARNTERE AELERTE -
acquisition of non-controlling interests.

(i) In accordance with statutory requirements in the People’s Republic of China, (i) RIEFEARLMBRE([HE]  TEEES)HE
other than Hong Kong (the “PRC"), subsidiaries registered in the PRC are required ERE - NP MM E A RER R ERK
to transfer a certain percentage of the annual net income from accumulated HFEFRAETEDLBTEZEES  BEEE
profits to the statutory funds, until the statutory funds are accumulated up to EESEREFMERS 0% AL - E—RIBER
50% of its registered capital. Under normal circumstances, the statutory funds T EEESTEDIRTZMERTRRIERR
are not allowed to be distributed to the subsidiaries’ shareholders as dividends. B AEECENBEBRHERE EXNMEEHA
The statutory funds shall only be used for making good losses, capitalisation into BARRIEREEREE -
paid-in capital and expansion of its production and operations.

(iv)  Treasury shares reserve comprises the consideration paid for the repurchase of  (iv)  [EFRHFHEESELBIEMNTISHEENAQ TR

the Company’s shares for treasury shares held under the share award scheme of
the Company as disclosed in note 35 and transaction costs thereon.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GERTRER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—S-NE TEC=4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES EEED)
Profit before taxation B F B A 4,612,445 6,038,002
Adjustments for: AT FEE -
Changes in fair value of investment properties & ME AT EES) 94,639 (133,850)
Gain on transfer from inventories to HEEEBRERE
investment properties el = (254,020)
Impairment losses recognised (reversed) for e S EWERIE R AL EEER
trade receivables and contract assets, net (M) 2 RERIB TR 685,598 (32,084)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment %1% - E &REZITE 2,430,372 2,283,191
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREESEZITE 298,720 339,565
Amortisation of intangible assets A E 181,405 189,408
Changes in fair value of held-for-trading BIEEERE Y
investments NEES) 76,951 102
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, LEDE - BERREZ
plant and equipment (Yezs) 18 (20,827) 13,281
Finance costs WEER 2,121,753 1,855,358
Share of results of associates JEIGEEE AR 2 SR (297,253) (344,838)
Share of results of joint ventures EIEEEBRR 2 EE (398,389) 100,983
Interest income R B U A (381,327) (301,294)
Net foreign exchange gain b 5 Uk 2 58 (78,444) (20,855)
Loss on disposal and winding up of HEHBARRHEAR
subsidiaries f- PAi=EN 14,282 5,370
Gain on disposal of interests/partial interests A H N AR EB ) AR R
in associates and deemed acquisition of BB B & N E) 2 BN
additional interests in an associate A% 2 W s (187,831) —
Loss on derecognition of financial assets BRI SER N ET 21
measured at amortised cost SREEZIBX 237,601 367,212
Gain on loss of significant influence in an KEHENRERNTEM
associate R 2 Was — (320,217)
Gain on disposal of investment properties HEREYE 7N — (10,639)
Gain arising on lease modification MEBFTEE W (83,616) —
Share-based payment expense LARGD 2 S 3R B =2 2,813 345
Operating cash flows before movements in EEE S EBP 2 EET
working capital WEhe 9,308,892 9,775,020
Decrease (increase) in inventories ZERDOEM) 751,310 (562,751)
Decrease in contract assets EBHEERD 1,640,986 3,251,362
Decrease (increase) in trade and other B 5 e R IA I B Ath FE LUK
receivables ARIER > (38 00) 314,996 (1,630,179)
Decrease in amounts due from associates JE U HS: I B SRR R 36,148 23,083
Decrease in amounts due from joint ventures A E R EIFIERL 1,740,906 627,567
Decrease in trade and other payables B 5 e BRIE N EL b FE (< BR TERL (1,157,624) (279,038)
Increase in amounts due to joint ventures FEREE QT FIBE N 32,232 91,948
Increase in amounts due to associates PR N B FRIBE N 13,392 6,051
Increase in contract liabilities AHBEEEN 11,750 338,137
Cash generated from operations RS ATSIR S 12,692,988 11,641,200
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid BB EMET (1,352,793) (1,613,916)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEBMSIREIFRR 11,340,195 10,027,284
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GERTRER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E_NEF —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THExT FHT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEY
Interest received 2R 381,327 301,294
Deposits refunded (paid) for acquisition of WEEIB AR - AELQR K
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates NEIEREBEMES 6,630 (6,857)
Placement of pledged bank deposits FABRERRITIFR (299,090) (435,231)
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits REEEARITFR 282,781 421,283
Additions of investment properties NEREYE (19,163) —
Additions of and deposits paid for acquisition of KREWE - ME L& E Rt W E
property, plant and equipment W -« WEMEHED TR (6,001,223) (5,878,633)
Additions of right-of-use assets NEFREEE (59,847) (81,661)
Additions of equity instrument at fair value AERAFEFAEMEZE
through other comprehensive income WAZ AT A (28,180) —
Additions of other intangible assets NEEMEREE (783) —
Proceeds from disposal/partial disposal of e EHH ﬁ%ﬂ?ﬁ%ﬁﬁjﬁééz
interests in associates FiS s 242,901 —
Proceeds from disposal of/capital return from Hj’%/\é T/Aﬁ”&ﬁj?&i%
joint ventures BARZ TS 5RIE 412,158 —
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEME BELREBZ
equipment s e 240,010 146,635
Proceeds from disposal of right-of-use assets HEFREEEZFTERUE 36,484 —
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties H&E&E WS 2 FTSR0E — 154,639
Proceeds from disposal and winding up of HERBARIRMBARER
subsidiaries FriS70a 71,266 22,628
Proceeds from disposal of equity instruments at ~ H &R A FEF AEMEEUA
fair value through other comprehensive income 2 &R T B 2 FriSF0E 6,551 3,521
Net cash and cash equivalents acquired on WEEH B AR 2 FT5IR e &
acquisition of subsidiaries ReFEIARFE = 5,443
Additions of investments in joint ventures RERBERRIZ®RE (719,282) (711,100)
Additions of investments in associates REREE AT ZIRE (176,904) (335,094)
Repayment from (advances to) non-controlling  FI/E@ A B FEIE A #Ez 5}’5&(
interests of subsidiaries (BT 8 2 B EFE AR 2 2K 60,302 (33,657)
Repayment from associates N TIEN 344,790 4,215
Advances to joint ventures BN WNSE-EN (2,212,466) (1,493,915)
Dividend received from associates 2 U E A RIRE 144,298 255,180
Dividend received from joint ventures BUAEBEARIILE 236,018 154,017
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEETAE (7,051,422) (7,507,293)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GERTRER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-NE —EB-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THExT FHT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MERD
Interest paid BEAFIE (2,752,442) (2,477,891)
Payment on repurchase of ordinary shares [0 % @ A IR (43,911) —
Dividends paid BEARIRE (2,991,470) (2,992,185)
New bank and other borrowings raised HESBITREMEES 31,949,665 37,138,674
Repayments of bank and other borrowings BERITREMES (31,560,768) (30,218,851)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHERE (205,399) (212,183)
Advance from (repayment to) non-controlling BB A B IR AR i Z BN
interests of subsidiaries (BT 2 B 3EIE AR 2 B K 3,275 (90,595)
Acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries  UgE& I B~ B RESME R (37,056) (1,953,148)
Repayment of consideration payables ERREER — (114,973)
Capital contribution from non-controlling N EENEIE 22 g
interests of subsidiaries ZHE 73,548 162,697
Dividends paid by subsidiaries to non-controlling P& 2 &R FEFE AL
interests s 2 IS (299,688) (655,357)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES BB EBIFT AR 5 (5,864,246) (1,413,812)
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND RekReFEEEB Z08D)
CASH EQUIVALENTS HHNFERR (1,575,473) 1,106,179
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING F¥]zIR& MIRE
OF THE YEAR ZEIBHE 10,438,990 10,010,518
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES [ R &) » §/ £ (769,181) (677,707)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END FreBRekReFEER
OF THE YEAR 8,094,336 10,438,990
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Gas Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a public limited
company incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with
limited liability and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of its
registered office and principal place of business are disclosed in the
section headed “Corporate Information” of the Group’s annual
report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities
of its principal subsidiaries (together with the Company referred to
as the "Group”) and its associates and joint ventures are set out in
notes 46, 18 and 19 respectively.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$") and the functional currency of the Company and
majority of its subsidiaries is Renminbi (“RMB"). As the Company
is a listed entity in Hong Kong, the directors of the Company
consider that it is appropriate to present the consolidated financial
statements in HK$.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period
beginning on or after 1 April 2023 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including
the October 2020 and
February 2022
Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction

International Tax Reform — Pillar
Two Model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Except as described below, the application of the amendments
to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the
Group's financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.

ERAEEUHRBEEAN(ER
BrissR 2R |) #re] E R R 12
EIRS

AEEERAFEERERATHELE
SEtEI A S ([HFESAE ) EMH
ERMBHE LR Z AT LR RAEFT
K BREARAKREE_T_=FN
A— B2 &5 FE IR &
B ARRBUR A BITSER

BRI REZER REBEH
F7HR(BEZEZ
FHARZZEZ=F
Z ABEBY SRS %R
FNTHRUEETA))

BB YR ERIES SEHERT 2
(B3TA) EFE
BB GEHERIE 125 HE—5
(BRI ) FTEEZ
BERE
BEHEZ
IRIERLTE

BB GFERIE 1258 BFRFRL TS
(&3TA) WE —

=
IRANE A
BREGEERIFE 1R R SRR

EEVHMEEMNER B
WEF —FRUERTA)

BRI ES - AEERBEEV RS
BAETAHAEEAFRE BEFE
W BIRR R EE R SR A M ERER
PAREELBEATE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

2.

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2023/24 FEMTIZERAR AT 2023240 7 8RE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2
“Disclosure of Accounting Policies”

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year. HKAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” is
amended to replace all instances of the term “significant accounting
policies” with “material accounting policy information”. Accounting
policy information is material if, when considered together with
other information included in an entity’s financial statements, it can
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users
of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information
may be material because of the nature of the related transactions,
other events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial.
However, not all accounting policy information relating to material
transactions, other events or conditions is itself material. If an entity
chooses to disclose immaterial accounting policy information,
such information must not obscure material accounting policy
information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Making Materiality Judgements” (the
“Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an entity
applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about an accounting
policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance and examples
are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no material impact on
the Group's financial positions and performance but has affected
the disclosure of the Group’s accounting policies set out in note 3
to the consolidated financial statements.

EREAEMBHREEDN(EFE
R EER |) Fe]ERRIE
HE:NEY))

ERENENEIRREBUBRSE
HUABHHREE - RUST )5
BURHEE |

AEBERANFREEREALZFEIA
BFEGTERBE IR M HERENERIC
E7] - MIEREFTHREM BRI EE
SEBR]—ANMARRL - EERER
MBREANEMEN —HEE » 5K
REMA NG ERNSZERAM TR
ROETBERERBREZMBERERAAE
HEPRE  RIX ST BERERBERX

ZEBRIARINES - B S RFRIRL T
EX - BEREERSMEE - EtbEIR
HIEN - SAFBREFHLDAIBERKN - A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as

Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants?
Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements?
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or 1 January 2024

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or 1 January 2025

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the
directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all
other amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

2.

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2023/24 FEMTIZERAR AT 2023240 7 8RE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current” and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-
current Liabilities with Covenants” (the 2022
Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least
twelve months from reporting date for classification of liabilities as
current or non-current, which:

o clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of
the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer of the
entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do not affect
its classification as current or non-current only if the entity
recognises the option separately as an equity instrument
applying HKAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Presentation”.

o specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-
current should be based on rights that are in existence at the
end of the reporting period. Specifically, the amendments
clarify that the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle the liability
within 12 months.

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date which are conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the requirements introduced by the 2020 Amendments
have been modified by the 2022 Amendments. The 2022
Amendments specify that only covenants with which an entity
is required to comply with on or before the end of the reporting
period affect the entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability for
at least twelve months after the reporting date. Covenants which
are required to comply with only after the reporting period do not
affect whether that right exists at the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current” and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-
current Liabilities with Covenants” (the 2022
Amendments") (Continued)

In addition, the 2022 Amendments specify the disclosure
requirements about information that enables users of financial
statements to understand the risk that the liabilities could become
repayable within twelve months after the reporting period, if the
entity classify liabilities arising from loan arrangements as non-
current when the entity’s right to defer settlement of those liabilities
is subject to the entity complying with covenants within twelve
months after the reporting period.

The 2022 Amendments also defer the effective date of applying
the 2020 Amendments to annual reporting periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2024. The 2022 Amendments, together with the
2020 Amendments, are effective for the Group’s annual reporting
period beginning on 1 April 2024.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group's right to defer settlement
for certain borrowings are subject to compliance with certain
financial ratios only after the reporting period. Such borrowings
were classified as non-current as the Group met such ratios at 31
March 2024. Upon the application of the 2022 Amendments, such
borrowings will still be classified as non-current as the covenants
which the Group is required to comply with only after the reporting
period do not affect whether that right exists at the end of the
reporting date and such borrowing will still be classified as non-
current.

Except as described above, the application of the 2020
Amendments and the 2022 Amendments will not affect the
classification of the Group’s other liabilities as at 31 March 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s net current liabilities
amounted to HK$5,135,078,000. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis
because the directors of the Company believe that the
Group has sufficient funds to finance its current working
capital requirements taking account of the cash flows from
operations and assuming the continuing ability to utilise the
available bank facilities. As at 31 March 2024, the Group had
available unutilised bank facilities of HK$91,255,455,000.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for investment properties
and certain financial instruments that are measured at fair
values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment” (“HKFRS
2"), leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16 “Leases” ("HKFRS 16"), and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value,
such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value
in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” (“HKAS 36").

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which
are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs are to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated
so that at initial recognition the results of the valuation
technique equals the transaction price.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

. has power over the investee;
° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

3.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts
of the Group’s relevant components of equity and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in
their relative interests in the subsidiaries according to the
Group’s and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if
any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss and is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interests; and (ii) the carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company.
All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as
if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9
“Financial Instruments” (“HKFRS 9") or, when applicable, the
cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or
a joint venture.

RAEGREUBRRCEERE
REFABRER ()

FERBEEE(E)
AEERBAT 2 2%

A B B ) 2 S O 8 5
G CER T PN a2
EPAEARERS - AREAH
AR S B T R SR IR
BB AR B R IR IR
H IR R B AT 2 A
BREED -

PIEEE B St e Fao kLR T N )
BRREAFEZRZEMERE
BN ERRAARREEAD
(=

BAREEKRELHIE LR 2R HE
B BEMBARZEERABBIA
K FRiE i as (WA ) K IETER -
WamkEReRNBah R X
BATERZBENEZRFEND W
REAFEZ QRN EMREER
RFE  R()FEBRARBEE A
HBLAREE(BEREB)RAE
ARE(E - ERTNBRZMBARZ
Hip 2R AR ZFIBRE - #
RREMASEEER L EN B QR
ZHMEEXRABEARCMZER
BRMBHMELNZRERFFE
MOBERERERES —#al
) o MREEBIEE B ATHIE
REMRE 2 EHRE 2 A HERR
BEBMBREENFORI ST
A ([ &HAPBHREERESR R
Hg ABREFRIE SR Z A F
B H(ER) IS ERREE R
AIEELEZEZMA »



For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Goodwiill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGUs") (or
group of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which
the goodwill is amortised for internal management purposes
and not larger than an operating segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more frequently
when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired.
For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period,
the CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that
reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less than its
carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the
unit and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group of
CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within
the group of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is
included in the determination of the amount of profit or loss
on disposal. When the Group disposes of an operation within
the CGU (or a CGU within a group of CGUs), the amount of
goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis of the relative
values of the operation (or the CGU) disposed of and the
portion of the CGU (or the group of CGUs) retained.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of
an associate and a joint venture is described in below.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The
financial statements of associates and joint ventures used
for equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions
and events in similar circumstances. For associates and joint
ventures that use accounting policies that differ from those
of the Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances, appropriate adjustments have been made to
conform the associate’s and the joint venture’'s accounting
policies to those of the Group. Under the equity method,
an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share
of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate or joint venture. When the Group’s share of losses
of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the Group's interest
in that associate or joint venture (which includes any long-
term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's
net investment in the associate or joint venture), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the associate or joint venture.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On
acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint
venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which
is included within the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the
investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately
in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is
acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate or a joint venture may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to
any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment
loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent
that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When
the Group retains an interest in the former associate or joint
venture and the retained interest is a financial asset within the
scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained interest
at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its
fair value on initial recognition. The difference between the
carrying amount of the associate or joint venture and the
fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from
disposing of the relevant interest in the associate or joint
venture is included in the determination of the gain or loss
on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition,
the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to that associate or
joint venture on the same basis as would be required if that
associate or joint venture had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate
or joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on
the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of
the relevant associate or joint venture.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised
in the consolidated financial statements only to the extent of
interests in the associate or joint venture that are not related
to the Group.

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2023/24 FEMTIZERAR AT 2023240 7 8RE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

RAEGECHBEBRR2EERE
REFBERER #

4
&
T
5
ll

REERAZRE

EASEEBENRTBEEAY
ERHEERFTHEHREHIE
B RIABRSI R EZ KT E AR
ZEEER  ELZKmsER
R AFERR o fisl 25 5 B4R B2 A Bk
BRRINEEARELS - MATRE
BESeREENBTBYHRE
EAFSRBERN) - AIXAKEE
BE B2 AV EEMRE#ELS
W # %A FERBI IR ZRF
B REEHEZMERRRAE
NEZWERAEIER - SR ARE
NAHAE R AR B E E R TR PT
REEZRNFEZEOERE UK
HEBEARHAEARIHMER
PRS2 ERIPTISFIE  BEOh - A&
S ST AT E A 2 E A G B
RAKEERAEBZMBEEEA
B BREEMNZBEARRBER
AEERLENEEERBERMR
FE2EEMR - B - fBE R
AABRALERNNEMEEKA
Rz Wan sk B IR I EAERE A
EXBEREFOSBERS - Al
&/ Ao HERERERRRAE
NAEIR - NEE K E R mE
SEM NP BEERa(FREHNE

B/E) -

i o 55 B R B AR SR 3 g
BERAIR S - EEBER
BRARGESXZ BE
ZBERRHAEREZHE
SEEBENBLT  T8%E
MR IER -

b Bk I o3

il TR
g Hxoy

2



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GFRGABMEBREZEERSE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL KEHBEER &)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

Changes in the Group’s investments in associates and
joint ventures

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair
value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate
or a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion
of the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in
other comprehensive income relating to that reduction in
ownership interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to
profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When the Group increases its ownership interest in an
associate or a joint venture but the Group continues to use
the equity method, goodwill is recognised at acquisition date
if there is excess of the consideration paid over the share of
carrying amount of net assets attributable to the additional
interests in associates or joint ventures acquired. Any excess
of share of carrying amount of net assets attributable to the
additional interests in associates or joint ventures acquired
over the consideration paid are recognised in the profit or loss
in the period in which the additional interest are acquired.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Information about the Group’s accounting policies related to
contracts with customers is provided in notes 5 and 24.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

3.

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2023/24 FEMTIZERAR AT 2023240 7 8RE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed. As a practical expedient, leases with similar
characteristics are accounted on a portfolio basis when the
Group reasonably expects that the effects on the consolidated
financial statements would not differ materially from
individual leases within the portfolio.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GFRGABMEBREZEERSE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL REFTHERER 5
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease, if any.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable.
After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by

interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of
the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based
on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group accounts for the remeasurement
of the lease liability by decreasing the carrying amount of the
right-of-use asset to reflect the partial or full termination of
the lease for lease modifications that decrease the scope of
the lease. The lessee shall recognise in profit or loss any gain
or loss relating to the partial or full termination of the lease.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-
of-use asset.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case
the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

Exchange differences arising from the translation of the
Group's net assets in RMB to the Group’s presentation
currency in HK$ are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve. Such exchange differences
accumulated in translation reserve will not be reclassified to
profit or loss subsequently.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction on production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost
of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remains outstanding after the
related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included
in the general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation
rate on general borrowings. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, government
grants whose primary condition is that the Group should
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets
are recognised as a deferred income in the consolidated
statement of financial position and transferred to profit or
loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of
the related assets.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Government grants (Continued)

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under “other income”.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans
are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit
in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
after deducting any amount already paid.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Taxation

Taxation represents the sum of current and deferred income
tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit (loss) before tax
because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit and at the time of the transaction does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arise from the initial
recognition of goodwvill.

3.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates and joint ventures, except where the Group is able
to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there
will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected
to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability
is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
“Income Taxes” requirements to the lease liabilities and the
related assets separately. The Group recognises a deferred
tax asset related to lease liabilities to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary difference can be utilised and a
deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes (other than construction in
progress as described below). Property, plant and equipment
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Construction in progress is carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly attributable
to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary
for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended
by management and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the
allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably,
interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets”
in the consolidated statement of financial position except
for those that are classified and accounted for as investment
properties under the fair value model. When the consideration
cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease building
element and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold
land, the entire properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment.

3.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets,
other than properties under construction, less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from continued use of the asset. Any gain
or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation (including properties under
construction for such purposes).

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair
values, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating
lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment property are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Investment properties (Continued)

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of
the investment properties under construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from
its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is
regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired
in a business combination with finite useful lives are reported
at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses on the same basis as intangible assets
that are acquired separately. Intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with indefinite useful lives are carried at
cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an
intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful life to
determine whether there is any indication that these assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are
allocated to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established.
The recoverable amount is determined for the CGU or
group of CGUs to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant CGU or
group of CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to
a CGU, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group
of CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group of
CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs
of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro
rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or CGU or a group of CGUs) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or a CGU or a group
of CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

. cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and

o cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash
equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-
term cash commitments rather than for investment or
other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents
as defined above.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost of inventories are determined on a weighted
average method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs
of completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs
necessary to make the sale include incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the
Group must incur to make the sale.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value
of money is material).

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All reqgular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”
("HKFRS 15"). Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at initial recognition of a financial asset the
Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for trading
nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer
in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 “Business
Combinations” applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term;

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets (Continued)

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that is required to be measured at the amortised cost
as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(i) Equity instruments designated as at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI")

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and
losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve; and are not subject to
impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss
will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal
of the equity investments, and will be transferred to
accumulated profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments
are recognised in profit or loss when the Group's
right to receive the dividends is established, unless the
dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost
of the investment. Dividends are included in the “other
income” line item in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GEGAERERIEHERST
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL KEHBEER &)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(iii)  Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or designated as FVTOCI
are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend
or interest earned on the financial asset and is included
in the “other gains and losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables, amounts due from
non-controlling interests of subsidiaries, amounts due from
associates and joint ventures, pledged bank deposits and
bank balances) and other items (contract assets and financial
guarantee contracts) which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessments are done based on the
Group'’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and contract assets.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in
which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; or

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the
Group becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment
is considered to be the date of initial recognition for the
purposes of assessing impairment. In assessing whether
there has been a significant increase in the credit risk
since initial recognition of financial guarantee contracts,
the Group considers the changes in the risk that the
specified debtor will default on the contract.

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2023/24 FEMTIZERAR AT 2023240 7 8RE

RAGEMBBRR2EERE
REFBERER #

TR
TREEE)

REEBUBREENEINAE
TREFGENEMEERAMWER
ZmAE ()

() (EERBRBEZEME)
s BERAREEEBERRK
B ERL X

s BEBAMEE  KEX
RATRIRE BRI
MEANFEE  E2
BEHABEEERGE
BETRE-

Tam R A R - i
AHNFEBEBIRBE308 - K
SEYBRZEEERRKRA Y
WHERLARAEZE EF - BRIE
NEBMBELERETHHEN
BRI SR -

M BRREOME - A&
B AT HMEARE-TE
B B4 AR S h T (A R E 1T
VIHHERZBH - REHEE
ERk B NP ERMBER
BHRATBEENE - K
SEETE/FEEHAKE
RELHZEBRE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iii)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
or

the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL
The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights. The Group uses a practical expedient in
estimating ECL on trade receivables using a provision
matrix taking into consideration historical credit loss
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required
to make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument
that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the ECL is the present
value of the expected payments to reimburse the holder
for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the
Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor
or any other party. For ECL on financial guarantee
contracts for which the effective interest rate cannot
be determined, the Group will apply a discount rate
that reflects the current market assessment of the
time value of money and the risks that are specific to
the cash flows but only if, and to the extent that, the
risks are taken into account by adjusting the discount
rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being
discounted.

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables and contract
assets are considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant credit
information such as forward looking macroeconomic
information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

. Past-due status;

. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade receivables and
contract assets where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are denominated
in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency
and translated at the spot rate at the end of each reporting
period. Specifically:

For financial assets measured at amortised cost that are
not part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange
differences are recognised in profit or loss in the “other
gains and losses” line item as part of the net foreign
exchange gain;

For equity instruments measured at FVTOCI, exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income in the investment revaluation reserve.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which
the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at
FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in
the investment revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit
or loss, but is transferred to accumulated profits.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GEGAERERIEHERST
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL REFTHERER 5
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued) TR
Financial Liabilities TRIAE

All liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
amounts due to associates and joint ventures, amounts due to
non-controlling interests of subsidiaries and bank and other
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to
make payments when due in accordance with the terms of
a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contract liabilities
are measured initially at their fair values. It is subsequently
measured at the higher of:

° the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

o the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee
period.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign
currency and are measured at amortised cost at the end
of each reporting period, the foreign exchange gains and
losses are determined based on the amortised cost of the
instruments. These foreign exchange gains and losses
are recognised in the “other gains and losses” line item
in profit or loss as part of net foreign exchange gain for
financial liabilities that are not part of a designated hedging
relationship.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognised financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required
to make estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated underlying assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE =T ZWF=A=+—HIEFE

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 4.

(Continued)

Revenue from gas connection and engineering design and
construction is measured based on the input method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs to
the satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to the total
expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Accordingly, any changes to the actual costs incurred and the
estimated budgeted costs may have material impact on the revenue
recognised in each accounting period over the contract term.
The management of the Group is required to exercise significant
judgments in the assessment of the progress of satisfaction of
performance obligation, including costs incurred to date and
budgeted costs to complete.

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the recoverable amount of the CGU to which goodwill has been
allocated, which is the higher of the value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal. The value in use calculation requires the Group to
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the CGU (or
a group of CGUs) and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value. Where the actual future cash flows are less
than expected, or changes in facts and circumstances which result
in downward revision of future cash flows or upward revision of
discount rate, a material impairment loss or further impairment loss
may arise.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group has goodwill of approximately
HK$3,078,353,000 (2023: HK$3,230,141,000). The impairment
assessment of certain CGUs is highly judgmental and is dependent
on certain significant inputs including the discount rates and growth
rates. During the year ended 31 March 2024, no impairment of
goodwill has been recognised (2023: Nil). Details of the recoverable
amount calculation are disclosed in note 21.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Revenue

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with

LONS -t

A
() FEFEHEADHT

customers
2024 2023
—ECmEF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Types of goods or services EmSiRgER
Sales of natural gas KARHE 52,444,694 57,550,916
Gas connection and engineering R A R
design and construction TR MM 5,552,166 6,776,066
Sales of LPG BB RRIEE 17,980,918 22,499,530
Value-added services (8 RS 3,654,898 3,455,031
Other businesses Hib 2 1,777,457 1,706,902
Total Hct 81,410,133 91,988,445
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with

customers and revenue recognition policies

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

. the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

5.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with

customers and revenue recognition policies

(Continued)

The Group recognises revenue from the following major
sources:

(a

Sales of goods

Revenue from the sales of natural gas is recognised
at a point in time when control of the natural gas
is transferred to the customers, being at the point
the natural gas is delivered to the customers. For
household customers, the Group generally requires
advance payment before the usage of the natural gas
through prepaid cards. The charge of the actual usage
of natural gas will be deducted directly to the balance
of the prepaid cards. The customers can only consume
the natural gas up to the balance of the prepaid cards.
For certain industrial and commercial customers, the
Group requires advance payment before the usage
of the natural gas, and bills any shortage against the
periodically actual charge for the actual usage of natural
gas. For other industrial and commercial customers,
the Group allows an average credit period of 30 to 180
days for amounts billed.

Revenue from the sales of LPG is recognised at a point
in time when the goods are delivered to the customers as
this represents the point in time at which the control of
the goods are transferred to the customers. The Group
would require advance payments from the customers
or allow an average credit period of 30 to 90 days to its
customers for invoices issued.

5.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE =T ZWF=A=+—HIEFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with
customers and revenue recognition policies
(Continued)

(@

Sales of goods (Continued)

Value-added services represent mainly the sales of gas-
related value-added products, including (i) kitchen
appliances such as gas stoves, gas water heaters and
gas wall-mounting heaters; (ii) safety products such
as corrugated pipes, valves and alarms; and (iii) other
daily consumer products such as food staples and
cooking ingredients. Revenue from sales of value-added
products is recognised at a point in time when the
goods are delivered to the customers as this represents
the point in time at which the control of the goods
are transferred to the customers. The Group would
require advance payments from the customers or allows
average credit period of 7 to 180 days.

Provision of services (including gas connection and
engineering design and construction)

The Group provides gas connection services under gas
pipeline construction contracts with its customers. Such
contracts are entered into before construction of the
gas pipeline begins. The Group centralises most of its
engineering design and construction functions by setting
up certain subsidiaries to carry out those functions (the
“Centralised EDC Subsidiaries”). Most engineering
design and construction works under those gas pipeline
construction contracts with the Group’s customers
are performed by the Centralised EDC Subsidiaries on
behalf of the group companies. The Centralised EDC
Subsidiaries also performs the engineering design and
construction works for the Group’s joint ventures and
associates for their gas pipeline construction contracts
with their own customers. The Group’s performance
creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls
as the Group performs. As such, revenue from gas
connection and engineering design and construction
services is recognised over time.

5.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with

customers and revenue recognition policies
(Continued)

(b)

Provision of services (including gas connection and
engineering design and construction) (Continued)

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on input
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction
of a performance obligation relative to the total
expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services. The directors
of the Company consider that input method is an
appropriate measure of the progress towards complete
satisfaction of these performance obligations under
HKFRS 15.

The Group requires certain customers to provide
upfront deposits before the commencement of the
construction which will give rise to contract liabilities
until the revenue recognised on the relevant contracts
exceeds the amount of the deposits received. The Group
recognises contract assets for any work performed
in excess of payment from customer for the same
contract. The Group is entitled to invoice customers for
gas pipeline construction services upon completion of
construction works and acceptance by the customers,
and any amount previously recognised as a contract
asset is reclassified to trade receivables. The Group
allows an average credit period of 30 to 180 days to its
customers for invoices issued.

Revenue from other businesses including the provision
of urban heating services, integrated energy services
and supply chain services is recognised over time as
the customer simultaneous receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs.

5.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

(iii) Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers

All the contracts are for original expected duration of one
year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction
price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

Information reported to the Group's chief operating decision maker
(“CODM"), being the Chairman and President of the Group, for
the purposes of resources allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on types of goods or services rendered, which
is also consistent with the basis of organisation of the Group.

The CODM reviews the results of Zhongyu Energy Holdings Limited
(“Zhongyu Energy”), an associate of the Group, being accounted
for under equity accounting separately and thus Zhongyu Energy is
presented as a single operating and reportable segment.

The Group’s operating and reportable segments under HKFRS 8
“Operating Segments” are as follows:

() Sales of natural gas;

(i) Gas connection;

(i) Engineering design and construction;
(iv)  Sales of LPG;

(v)  Value-added services;

(vi)  Other businesses; and

(vii)  Zhongyu Energy

Information regarding the above segments is presented below.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE=—F

5.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(Continued)

Segment information (Continued)

Segment revenues and results

“HE=ZA=T—HLFE

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by
operating and reportable segment.

For the year ended 31 March 2024

WA R D EBE R

2 EEH o

1\
DEBUA R R
AEBREERFAIZERD HE D 2 BA

REGEDITUE o

E-E_NFE=A=+—HILFE

Engineering
Sales of Gas  designand Salesof  Value-added Other Zhongyu Segment
natural gas  connection  construction LPG services  businesses Energy total
IBfR  WEARR
ARRHE MR I #E SE{EmR AR HHER AEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TEn TR TEn TEn TEn TEn Thn
Total seqment revenue HPRAEE 52444694 4014539 5217659 17,980,918 3654898 1,777,457 — 85,090,165
Inter-seqment revenue AHRERA - — (3,680,032 - - - — (3,680,032
External segment revenue RENFZPZATMA 5444694 4014539 1537627 17980918 3654898 1777457 — 81410133
Segment profit AR 3,062,678 681,461 622,741 120,064 1,582,032 426,410 215,837 6,711,223
Changes in fair value of investment RENEINTERD
properties (94,639)
Changes in fair value of RIEEERE 2D TEEY
held-for-trading investments (76,951)
Interest and other gains and losses ﬂ, ,Mﬁiﬁﬁ%{é&@é (119.407)
Unallocated corporate expenses N 5 (747.211)
Finance costs E]ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ (1,139,162)
Exchange gain on tranglation of BENEEEER A ES L
foreign currency monetary items E R s
into functional currency 30,033
Gain on disposal of interests/partial HEBLNTRE/ THRER
interests in associates and deemed BRlERE DA EoNRE
acquisition of additional interests )
in an associate 187,831
Loss on disposal and HENBARRMBARES
winding up of subsidiaries Bk (14,282)
Share of esults of associates EiEREAR 28
(other than Zhongyu Energy) (e aRsn) 81416
Share of results of joint ventures EEAERT 54 398,389
Share-based payment expense Mﬁx{n FANZRS (2813)
Gain arising on lease modifications U e 83,616
Impairment losses recognised on trade. 3B BENFARANEERET L
receivables and contract assets, net HEBETE (685,598)
Profit before taxation BanER 4,612,445




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE=—F

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5,

(Continued)

Segment revenues and results (Continued)

“HE=ZA=T—HLFE

WAR D EER (=

DEBRA R RA&E ()

For the year ended 31 March 2023 (restated) HE—T-_=F=A=+-HILFE
(&7))
Engineering
Sales of Gas  designand Salesof  Value-added Other Zhongyu Segment
natural gas  connection  construction LPG services businesses Energy total
TSR RERR
AREHE bt i HeE SRR LUES hikER AR
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TEn TER FEr TEn TER TEn TER
Total segment revenue PENAEE 57550916 5686604 6582647 22499530 3455031 1706902 — 97481630
Inter-seqment revenue AHRERA - - (5493,185) - - - — (5493185
External segment revenue RENFZPZATMA 57,550,916 5,686,604 1089462 22,499,530 3,455,031 1,706,902 — 91988445
Segment profit R 2919829 938,795 708,650 67,889 1,496,217 444,622 64,985 6,040,987
Changes in fair value of investment KENEINTERD
properties 133,850
Changes in fair value of RBIEEERE 7D TEEY
held-for-trading investments (102)
Gain on transfer from inventories to NFEERERENE NG
investment properties 254,020
Interest and other gains and losses HEMREfAERER (284721)
Unallocated corporate expenses FAERERT (481,342)
Finance costs BER (980,491)
Exchange gain on transltion of BENESBER A ER
foreign currency monetary items EflE
into functional currency 219,706
(Gain on loss of significant REHBENIEATEMER
influence in an associate pdi: 320,217
Loss on disposal and winding up of HENBRARRMBARES
subsidiaries Bk (5370)
(Gain on disposal of investment properties ﬂﬂxé%%Z%& 10,639
Share of results o associates (other than ~ FEEBHS A2 %4
Zhongyu Energy) (Wﬁ LRI 279853
Share of results of joint ventures EEAEAAZEE (100,983)
Share-based payment expense WRAFA AR (345)
Impairment losses reversed ontrade ~ SiESEREARANEEREY
receivables and contract assets, net HEEETE 32,084
Profit before taxation BanER 6,038,002
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE =T ZWF=A=+—HIEFE

5.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Segment revenues and results (Continued)

Inter-segment revenue is charged at prevailing market rates.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same
as the Group's accounting policies described in note 3. Except
for segment profit of Zhongyu Energy, segment profit for the
remaining reportable segments represents the profit earned by each
segment without allocation of changes in fair value of investment
properties, changes in fair value of held-for-trading investments,
gain on transfer from inventories to investment properties, certain
interest and other gains and losses, corporate expenses, gain on
disposal of interests/partial interests in associates and deemed
acquisition of additional interests in an associate, gain on loss of
significant influence in an associate, loss on disposal and winding
up of subsidiaries, gain on disposal of investment properties, share
of results of associates (other than Zhongyu Energy), share of results
of joint ventures, share-based payment expense, net impairment
losses (recognised) reversed on trade receivables and contract
assets, gain arising on lease modifications, certain exchange gain
on translation of foreign currency monetary items into functional
currency and certain finance costs. The segment profit of Zhongyu
Energy represents share of results of Zhongyu Energy. This is the
measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of resources
allocation and performance assessment.

Impairment losses on trade receivables and contract assets, net
are not allocated into segments when reporting to the CODM for
performance evaluation and resource allocation for the year ended
31 March 2024. Accordingly, the comparative information for the
year ended 31 March 2023 has been restated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE=—F

“HE=ZA=T—HLFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s segment assets and
segment liabilities that are regularly reviewed by the CODM:

At 31 March 2024

WA B D EBE R )

THEERAR

AT RAEERTELEREE CHR
AN EREERDFREDN

R-ZE-WNFE=A=1+—H

Engineering
Sales of Gas  designand Salesof  Value-added Other Zhongyu Segment
natural gas  connection  construction LPG services  businesses Energy total
IBfR  WEARR
ARRHE MR I HE SE{EmR AR HHER PRAR
HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TR TEn TR TEn TEn TEn TEn Thn
Assets &g
Segment assets AHEE 78220866 14,955,073 538,552 5,584,360 3,376,950 1,536,228 2,726,239 106,938,268
Investment properties RENE 2,596,454
Property, plant and equipment (for 0% BRRER(RE)
corporate) 1,284,651
Right-of-use assets (for corporate) E}ﬂ%ﬁﬁé( A 37,156
Investments in associates RBENAZRE 1,219,515
Investments i joint ventures ﬁéAﬁ AzRE 12,033,619
Equity instruments at fair value through ~ RATFEF AL 2ERALZ
other comprehensive income RATE 753,585
Deferred tax assets EtEEE 1,459,037
Derivative financial instruments fES@IA 36,512
Held-for-trading investments BEEERE 27,585
Other receivables (for corporate) A EUERE(AR) 1,580,120
Amounts due from associates ENBEnE 250 76,172
Amounts due from joint ventures BUAELNRZFE 6,314,715
Pledged bank deposits BEREAER 185,999
Cash and cash equivalents ReRALEEER 8,094,336
Consolidated total assets GRAENE 148,697,724
Liabilities &
Segment liabilities HBEE 7,434,764 8,466,534 2,925,203 4,362,193 2,415,729 467,521 — 26071944
Other payables (for corporate) EfERBE(RR) 298,118
Amounts due to associates ERBEL MIE 81,760
Amounts due to joint ventures ERAELT 366,502
Derivative financial instruments ’fﬁiﬁ?lﬁ 28757
Tax payable FERBR 606,660
Bank and other borrowings RREMEE 59,065,355
Deferred tax iabilities EEHERR 1,431,275
Consolidated total liabilities GABEES 87,950,371
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

At 31 March 2023

WARDEHER #)

THEERAEEGE)

Engineering
Sales of Gas  design and Salesof  Value-added Other Zhongyu Segment
natural gas  connection  construction PG services  businesses Energy total
TERR  REERR
RATHE ittt i e (e Eft#H hiRER it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn TEn Thn TEn Thn Thn TEn Thn
Assets BE
Segment assefs NHEE 78856512 18,748,363 792002 65M453% 355441 1653264 2722080 112872489
Investment properties RENE 2,881,831
Property, plant and equipment 0% BRREE
(for corporate) (A7) 1,308,745
Right-of-use assets (for corporate) FREEE(RR) 31,921
Investments in associates RBEREZRE 7,523,307
Investments in joint ventures RAEDAZRE 12,045,110
Equity instruments at fair value BATEFAEMEZERALZ
through other comprehensive income AT E 922,498
Deferred tax assefs EiEHEAE 1,012,269
Held-for-trading investments RIEEERA 104536
Other receivables (for corporate) EftEBE(DT) 1,537,153
Amounts due from associates i E AN A ] 474,088
Amounts due from joint ventures EWAERAZZE 5,959,576
Pledged bank deposits EERRTER 178,696
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBESEER 10,438,990
Consolidated total assets GRERENE 157,291,209
Liabilities =14
Segment liabilities e 8,169,130 11,263,615 3,773,293 4,698,703 1,509,140 388,002 — 29801883
Other payables (for corporate) EfERBE(AR) 211,621
Amounts due to associates ERBENAZZE 72,050
Amounts due to joint ventures EREELRZHE 156,108
Tax payable FEB0R 806,268
Bank and other borrowings PREMES 60,010,801
Deferred tax liabiities EltiEaE 1,442,099
Consolidated total liabilities LABRES 92,500,830
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

For the purposes of allocating resources and monitoring segment
performance between segments:

o All assets are allocated to operating segments, except for the
investment properties, property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets for corporate use, investments in associates
(other than Zhongyu Energy), investments in joint ventures,
equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, deferred tax assets, held-for-trading investments,
amounts due from associates and joint ventures, pledged
bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents of the Group,
and other corporate assets of the Group.

o All liabilities are allocated to operating segments, except for
amounts due to associates and joint ventures, tax payable,
bank and other borrowings, deferred tax liabilities, and other
corporate liabilities of the Group. The Group allocates certain
finance costs into operating segments without allocating
bank and other borrowings into the segments. This is the
measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of resources
allocation and performance assessment.

WARDEHER #)

RO HMEDEERRERDAERIRM

BIREYME  REERZYE - B
FEREHEAREREEE - N2
RE(TBEEFRER) ZRE R
BEARZKRE - RATFERAR
2R AZRATE  RIERIA
BE BFEERE  RBREZR
AINABERAFA CEMRITHF
RAEAEERE MREFEEB N
RAREBEMAREEI AR
EXNDEEEENE °

s RENBZERRRAEERTIE -
ERNBE - RITREMBEER BT
HAEABEMAKEEMBRRRE
v TBREBEHORELED -
AEEHHOMEERDOAEEEE
7Ep - L EMIRIT R EMERED
BEEDED - IR EBEERK
EE2RABETERD B RANT
HEYERE -

&
P2
R
5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5,

(Continued)

Other segment information

WARDEHER #)

Engineering
Sales of Gas  design and Salesof Value-added Other ~ Zhongyu  Segment
natural gas  connection ~ construction LPG services  businesses Energy total  Unallocated ~ Consolidated
IBRHR  RERER
RRGHE  MEEM B $E  BERE  HBEF  MMER  SPeE ESi &8
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TEn TEn Thn TEn TEn ThnL T TEn TEn
Amounts included in HAEARERAT
the measure of segment profit ~ HHEELILE :
or loss or segment assets:
For the year ended HE-Z-mE=R
31 March 2024 St-BIEER
Additions to property, RENE -
plant and equipment e 6,129,234 - mm 284279 B2 15258 — 676345 76906 6,840,356
Gain on disposal of property,  HEWE - BRER
plant and equipment BRAe - - - 20,827 - - - 20,827 - 20827
Amortisation of intangible B AEHEH
assets (177,988) - (897) - (2,494) - - (181,379) (26)  (181,405)
Depreciation of property, 0% KRR
plant and equipment REnE (2,183,428) - (19849) (1118100 (478200 (60,845 — (248752 (66200 (2,430,372
Share of resuts of associates  EIEBARE 728 - - - - - - A5®T A58 8146 297,283
For the year ended HE-Z-=F=]
31 March 2023 t-BIEEE
Additions to property, RENE  HER
plant and equipment #E 5,100,472 - 24629 1,196,044 45,68 290,852 — 6877639 1732 6879371
Loss on disposal of property,  ¥ENE - FBRER
plant and equipment FiEEE (13.281) - - - - - - (133 - (1328
Amortisation of intangible EEERY
assets (188,459) — (897) - - - - (189,356) (52) (189,408)
Depreciation of property, % BER
plant and equipment HEnE (2,001,792) - (17,132) (182,510) (8.442) (66,826) — (2216700 (6,489 (2,283,191)

Share of results of associates  EfREEE DT 7 £5

- 64,985 64,985 279,853 344,838
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

All of the Group’s revenue is contributed by and derived from
external customers in the PRC.

The following is the information about non-current assets
other than financial instruments and deferred tax assets by the
geographical areas in which the assets are located:

WARDEHER #)

AEEZBRARE KIR A £+ B
REP -

NTRREEMEMIIDNIERDEE
(R TANMREHEEERINOER :

2024 2023

—E-NEF —E=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

TExT T

Hong Kong BB 96,759 1,247,402
Singapore ESImIliE 10,891 —
PRC M 101,130,273 101,888,601
101,237,923 103,136,003

None of the customers contributed over 10% of total revenue of
the Group.

BEXPERMGEAEEAKANI10% A
EZWA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

6. OTHER INCOME

6. HWA

2024 2023

—E-IMEF —T=F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET

Interest income FEHA 381,327 301,294
Subsidies from PRC government authorities 77 Bl By fF#4 8 > % 85

(Note i) (5T 267,427 567,320

Tax refund (Note i) RB (M S 111,173 71,143

Income from leasing of a vessel (Note iii) H AR — M A AR A WA (B 5T 262,982 275,663

Others Hith 189,990 158,493

1,212,899 1,373,913

Notes: ks

(i) During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, subsidies are granted (i) BE-_Z-_NFER-_ZE-_=F=A=+—
by the relevant PRC government authorities to the Group in respect HIEFE  HERBEBEMAEES (X8
of, among others, support for the Group’s natural gas business, labour B)IRAEE2RARER  piERBT
support such as employment stability and training, costs incurred for the R gl E S Tk R m d g a4
construction of pipeline network into new urban areas, development of 4% ABEFEERERIEEERLEEE
new energy services and promotion of energy safety. BB AN T HE HURRG -

(i) The PRC government authorities have granted tax incentives to certain (i) FPEBFHECREHGERETFETHE
subsidiaries in the PRC by way of tax refund mainly for the natural gas WEAR  BIEBREAEPHLERAR
business and gas pipeline construction business operated in the PRC. EBRMREEEREH 2FIE -

(i) During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group subleased (i) HEZZ-_NFER-_ET-_=F=ZA=+—

a leased vessel under time charter from a joint venture (recognised as
right-of-use assets) to a third party for one year (2023: two years) and
generated fixed hire income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

7.

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 7. HitlhsmKREE
2024 2023
—E_mE B
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Changes in fair value of investment WEWE 2 ATEZE)
properties (94,639) 133,850
Changes in fair value of held-for-trading BIEEBEREZ AFEES)
investments (76,951) (102)
Gain on transfer from inventories to REEEREREME
investment properties pal & = 254,020
Gain on loss of significant influence in an KEEBE R R EATEM
associate (Note i) Sz Wk (MIRED) = 320,217
Gain on disposal of interests/partial R N AR5
interests in associates and deemed At o AR s B 2 A 7
acquisition of additional interests in Z BB AE 2 WEs
an associate 187,831 —
Loss on derecognition of financial assets IR S8 s DN i —sc )
measured at amortised cost (note 25) SREE 2 BR(E25) (237,601) (367,212)
Loss on disposal and winding up of HEMBARKEMBAREERZ
subsidiaries Bk (14,282) (5,370)
Net foreign exchange gain b 5 W T AR 78,444 230,282
Gain (loss) on disposal of property, HEDE  BENKEZ
plant and equipment Weas (E51E) 20,827 (13,281)
Gain on disposal of investment properties HEREMZE L W — 10,639
Gain arising on lease modification (Note i) FRE{&ET A 4 ~ Was (P EFii) 83,616 -
Impairment losses (recognised) reversed, LATIE B (RR) BB 2 RE
net, on: B ¢
— trade and other receivables — B EINERIAR
HibrEURBE IR (269,232) (66,387)
— contract assets — AKEE (416,366) 98,471
(685,598) 32,084
Others Efth (25,601) (250,625)
(763,954) 344,502
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

7.

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2023/24 FEMTIZERAR AT 2023240 7 8RE

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES (Continued)

Notes:

@

(i)

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recognised a gain
of HK$320,217,000 arising from the loss of significant influence in
the Group’s then associate, #MIE 2B EERRMHDERAT (“HNIE
£"). The Group originally held approximately 12% equity interests in
AIEVE. The investment in #TE(E was classified as an investment
in an associate as the Group had the right to appoint one out of four
executive directors in #TTEEZ and as such, the Group had the power
to participate in the financial and operating policies of #TT/E £ . During
the year ended 31 March 2023, #T)IEZ completed a private placing
and allotted 25,275,376 new shares to new investors. Accordingly, the
Group's equity interest in ¥ L2 was diluted from approximately 12%
to approximately 10%. Subsequently, the executive director appointed by
the Group had ceased to act as the director of }TTE £, and the Group
no longer exercised significant influence over AT TE{ 2. The gain on loss
of significant influence was measured as the difference between the
carrying amount of the associate and the fair value of the retained interest
on the date significant influence was lost. The Group retained the interest
in AMIEE and classified it as a financial asset at FVTOCI. Accordingly,
the fair value of the retained interest, being the market value of the listed
shares of /T2, was regarded as the fair value of the financial asset at
fair value through other comprehensive income at initial recognition.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group entered into
termination deeds with a joint venture, the lessor of each of the two
leased vessels, pursuant to which the relevant parties agreed to the early
termination of the time charter contracts for the lease of the two vessels.
On the date of lease modification, the Group derecognised right-of-use
assets of HK$993,427,000 and lease liabilities of HK$1,077,043,000, and
recognised a gain arising on lease modification of HK$83,616,000.

B = R EE @)

(ii)

REBEE_ZE_=ZF=ZA=Z1+—H1t#F
B AREBEERRKREYNEEE G
BRARMIBESEERROERAA
(THTIRE Dz ERFENMEE Z R
320,217,000/ 7T o 2N 5 B R #5841 B
EH12% B AR - HRAREBAERENA
IRENERTEEREIG—RES - )
PIBEZ R EN BARBE AR 2
& o A ANEBMEINIREN S RE
ERREEEAVE -REE-Z=_=F
“A=+—HLFE HIBEZKLA
fic &5 0 [A) 367 4% & & Bl 88 25,275,376 & #T %
7o Bt - REBERINTRE 2 BAEZ
RA12%WEEEZL10% - Hig - A%
EAmzHTEEMNBEDNIREZE
- MASETBEINIBEESEEAY
2o RERBAFEN 2 Wk & A RIR
AEERBEGNAREAFEZAZR
FEzEZBAE AEEREWINIEE
R WBESEARAFEAEM
EERAZESREE - At - REBERZ
AFEIDIHE EHRGH 2 TE @ HK
BVIRERZIE A FEFARMEERA
ZEMEEZATE-

REBE-Z-_MF=A=+—HItFE -
AEBHE-HAEQR(GZREHEMRME
A2 HBAA) R R IERIE - Fi - 18
FREBRAK IR EZWAE A2 8
AKX NIEBRAE  AEBKIERE
SR FA ML EE 993,427,000 T NFEE A
&1,077,043,000/8 7T » WHERHESRE
4 7 I03583,616,00058 7T °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

8.

FINANCE COSTS 8. HMBEAR
2024 2023
—E-NEF ZEC=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Interest on bank and other borrowings RITREMEEZFE 2,815,209 2,497,312
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEZFE 59,424 68,483
Total borrowing costs EERAERE 2,874,633 2,565,795
Interest capitalised to construction ERETRERMEZFE
in progress (752,880) (710,437)
2,121,753 1,855,358
Borrowing costs capitalised during the year arose on the general NEBERNEDERMELZEEKRANTIELER
borrowing pool and are calculated by applying a capitalisation rate —REEEHAE  KAREGEREERN
of 5.6% (2023: 4.8%) per annum to expenditure on qualifying Y 256%(ZFE =% :48% MEE
assets. EAMEEE o
TAXATION 9. BIE
2024 2023
—ECNE —E=F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
PRC Enterprise Income Tax PR EER 1,192,547 1,235,969
Deferred tax credit (note 34) RIETIEE 2 (F5E34) (432,989) (312,391)
759,558 923,578

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong Profits
Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity
will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be
taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat
rate of 16.5%. No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been
made in the consolidated financial statements as the Group had
no assessable profit arising in or derived from Hong Kong for both
years.

REZBFNEHZMNEHMASE A&
REEERE2008BTEMNNORER
8.25% - MiBiE2008 B T i) A 2 1 K
/316.5% > KT AMNEHMEH 2 REE
ERREMEE —RURE16.5%H - i
RARBRZMEFELERBEELE
FIREBFBNERTGH - B ARNE
BUMBREAEBNEHIELERME -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

9.

TAXATION (continued)

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law")
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of
the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years, except for certain PRC
subsidiaries that are subject to tax relief as explained below.

Certain PRC subsidiaries are entitled to the preferential tax rate
pursuant to the relevant regulations applicable to enterprises
situated in the western region of the PRC and high technology
enterprises. The applicable tax rate of those PRC subsidiaries is 15%
for both years.

The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the (loss) profit
before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as follows:

BIE 4w

BREFRECEMBSHEZ(TREMESH
EDRTCEMBSREBRIES - BT
METHEMBRARZERBEERIN
PRI B R R ME S E 2 Bl K B25% °

ETHEMBARBEZEREMEE
HERARURPERAISRCERSE
REEMEERE - 2EPBEKBAF
RREFENEBAREA15% o

FERBEFSBa NEME2EBAR
FAURBR AT (BB )8 A 2 SRR T -

Hong Kong PRC Total
5B H @t
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
SECNFE —T--F ZBONF —ZTC-F ZBONF —Z-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT  TET  TER  THET  TER AR

(Loss) profit before taxation BeFian (&2 )EH (1,533,386) (1,395,851) 6,145,831 7,433,853 4,612,445 6,038,002
Tax at the domestic income RBIRFTEHH &

tax rate (Note) AR BRI ) (253,009)  (230315) 1,536,458 1,858,463 1,283,449 1,628,148
Tax effect of share of results [EEmE N EEE

of associates ZTRRE — — (74,313) (86,209) (74,313) (86,209)
Tax effect of share of results EEEERNTIEE

of joint ventures LB E — — (99,597) 25,246 (99,597) 25,246
Tax effect of expenses not FEHIEM S A

deductible for tax purpose AxHEYE 14,076 2,261 65,855 17,470 79,931 19,731
Tax effect of income not taxable  FFIEM = BARH

for tax purpose WAZ HERE (69,026)  (50,899)  (313,430)  (645332)  (382,456)  (696,231)
Tax effect of estimated tax losses 3 MR Y (5118

not recognised BEHEYE 307,959 278,953 33,318 23,957 341,277 302,910
Tax effect of recognition of REBMAER WA

previously unrecognised BRI RETE

tax losses — — (219,030) — (219,030) —
Tax effect of income tax at REBTEFEMER

concessionary rate ZTER & — —  (169,703)  (270,017)  (169,703)  (270,017)
Taxation 8 — — 759,558 923,578 759,558 923,578

Note: The applicable tax rates for Hong Kong and PRC are 16.5% (2023:

Wik BEARPEZEABES R A165%(=

TZ=F 1 165%)R25% (=T == :
25%) ©

16.5%) and 25% (2023: 25%) respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

10. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

10. FEEF

2024 2023
—EmEF —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#ET FAT
Profit for the year has been arrived at FERF B GIA) TAFIE
after charging (crediting):
Auditor’s remuneration Z AT & 10,200 10,500
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BMEKMEEZ
equipment e 2,430,372 2,283,191
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZITE 298,720 339,565
Amortisation of intangible assets A R 181,405 189,408
Staff costs: ST :
Directors’ emoluments (note 11) EE T CIESRD) 44,630 47,908
Salaries and allowances of other staff E B T2 5 K28k 3,708,172 3,703,792
Contributions to retirement benefits AE A B T ARARIEF
scheme of other staff sHEHE 771,035 798,012
Less: Amount capitalised in construction W EEIRENMEZ
in progress ©F (203,746) (215,881)
4,320,091 4,333,831
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses  FtIATIBE BHR AT 2
in respect of: FERA
Sales of natural gas RANRIHE 48,566,902 53,712,798
Sales of LPG BALBHRIHE 16,486,338 21,067,761
Contract costs recognised as expense ARIEE AN TIZRET &
in respect of gas connection and ML & KRR R
engineering design and construction BRI R EAth
contracts and others 2,676,392 3,398,052
67,729,632 78,178,611
Rental income from investment properties (@& EE S WA
less outgoings of HK$5,333,000 sz $85,333,000/ 7T
(2023: HK$1,327,000) (ZEZ=% 1,327,000 1) (28,091) (22,985)

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2023/24 FEMTIZERARAT 2023240 %R E

87



88

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHAIRMAN'’S EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors and the
Chief Executive disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules

1. EERTFEME

RIBER EH AR REE R AR RE
ZENSENEESERITRAR ZME

and Hong Kong Companies Ordinance were as follows: PR
Contributions
Salaries to retirement
Directors' and other benefits Total
fees benefits scheme emoluments
REER
EEHe HeREMER SRR Mems
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR AT AT A7
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Liu Ming Hui Z\BgE — 14,004 18 14,022
Mr. Huang Yong "AELE — 11,792 18 11,810
Mr. Zhu Weiwei KEREE — 5,908 18 5,926
Ms. Li Ching EX Y — 1,232 — 1,232
Ms. Liu Chang gHat — 3,400 18 3,418
Mr. Zhao Kun HIREL — 3,507 - 3,507
Non-executive directors IHiTEE
Mr. Liu Mingxing 2| BE 45 A 413 _ _ 413
Mr. Jiang Xinhao ES vk — — — -
Mr. Mahesh Vishwanathan IYER Mahesh Vishwanathan IYER
(Note i) % 4 (PrEE) 220 - - 220
Mr. Shri Ayush Gupta (Note i) Shri Ayush Gupta’t &£
(Btii) 110 — — 110
Mr. Xiong Bin R R = - - -
Independent non-executive directors B U F#7TEE
Mr. Zhao Yuhua HEELE 742 — = 742
Dr. Mao Erwan E_EfEL 742 — — 742
Ms. Chen Yanyan G e 660 — _ 660
Mr. Zhang Ling RESLE 578 — - 578
Dr. Ma Weihua SHERT 1,250 - - 1,250
4,715 39,843 72 44,630
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHAIRMAN'’S EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)

1. EBREEME )

Contributions
Salaries to retirement
Directors’ and other benefits Total
fees benefits scheme emoluments
RIER
BEEHe  HaREMER STEMER g 128
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T TR
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Liu Ming Hui BELE — 15,517 18 15,535
Mr. Huang Yong HREEE — 13,179 18 13,197
Mr. Zhu Weiwei KEEEE — 6,626 18 6,644
Ms. Li Ching FRTL — 1,309 — 1,309
Ms. Liu Chang 2Eat — 3,600 18 3,618
Mr. Zhao Kun fichizy e — 2,953 — 2,953
Non-executive directors HHTEE
Mr. Liu Mingxing 2| e oy 440 _ _ 440
Mr. Jiang Xinhao FERE — — — —
Mr. Mahesh Vishwanathan IYER Mahesh Vishwanathan IYER
(Note i) Al i) 330 — - 330
Mr. Xiong Bin B — — - -
Independent non-executive directors B HHTTEE
Mr. Zhao Yuhua HEELE 792 — — 792
Dr. Mao Erwan EFoBEL 792 — — 792
Ms. Chen Yanyan [FE:% 5o 704 — — 704
Mr. Zhang Ling RALE 594 — - 594
Dr. Ma Weihua SRERL 1,000 — - 1,000
4,652 43,184 72 47,908

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2023/24 FEMTIZERARAT 2023240 %R E

89



920
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHAIRMAN'S EMOLUMENTS 11. EERIFFEME )

(Continued)
Notes:
(i) Resigned on 1 December 2023

(i) Appointed on 1 December 2023

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company and the Group.

Performance related incentive payments are determined by the
remuneration committee, having regard to the performance of the
directors and the Group’s operating result.

The non-executive directors’ emoluments and independent non-
executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their
services as directors of the Company.

Mr. Liu Ming Hui is also the Chief Executive of the Company and his
emoluments disclosed above included those for services rendered
by him as the Chief Executive.

Except for Mr. Jiang Xinhao and Mr. Xiong Bin who waived their
rights to receive remuneration (2023: Mr. Jiang Xinhao and Mr.
Xiong Bin), there was no arrangement under which the Chief
Executive or a director waived or agreed to waive any emoluments
during both years. No emoluments were paid by the Group to the
Chief Executive or the directors as an inducement to join the Group
or as a compensation for loss of office for both years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

12. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, of the five individuals with
the highest emoluments in the Group, four (2023: four) of them
were directors which included the Chief Executive of the Company
whose emoluments are included in note 11. The emoluments of the
remaining one (2023: one) individual are disclosed as follows:

12. ABBEHAL

REE-_ZE-_WNEF=ZA=+—HI®F
B AEERSHFZALEAESFTA
TEZ=F OA)AREE(BREARRAT
TREE) BEMSEHAMEN - E&
—H(ZZEZ=F  —R)AANEBE

BT
2024 2023
—S-NE B4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Salaries and bonus e MIEA 4,155 3,870
No. of employees
EE%AR

2024 2023
—E-EFE T =F

Their emoluments were within the WEZHENTUATEHE :

following bands:

HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001/ 75 % 4,000,000/ 7T — 1
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 024,500,000/ 7T 1 —

There was no arrangement under which the above individual(s)
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during both years. No
emoluments were paid by the Group to the above individual(s) as
an inducement to join the Group or as a compensation for loss of
office for both years.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

13. DIVIDENDS 13. KA
2024 2023
—E_—ME B
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Final dividend paid in respect of the year ENEE-E =%
ended 31 March 2023 of HK$0.40 ZA=+—BLFESR
(2023: HK$0.45 in respect of the 0408 T(ZT =% :
year ended 31 March 2022) per share BE-_Z-_—_F=A=1+—H
IFFEER0.4587T) 2
REARR S 2,176,134 2,448,151
Interim dividend paid in respect of the six ENEEZZE==FNA
months ended 30 September 2023 of =+ HI1EAEATR0.15% 7T
HK$0.15 (2022: HK$0.10 in respect of the R CoF HETCC
six months ended 30 September 2022) per LA =+H 1L/5A A &%
share 0.1087T) 2 H AR & 815,336 544,034
2,991,470 2,992,185

A final dividend of HK$0.35 in respect of the year ended 31
March 2024 (2023: final dividend of HK$0.40 in respect of the
year ended 31 March 2023) per share in an aggregate amount of
HK$1,902,451,000 (2023: HK$2,176,134,000) has been proposed
by the directors of the Company and is subject to approval by the
shareholders in the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE 14.

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

BREF

RRBEA AN EAG T REAR 58 & R
THE NIRRT E

2024 2023
—E-mEF —T=F
HK$'000 HK$’'000
FTExT FHT
Earnings ZF
Profit for the year attributable to owners of  FTEFIRER L EERF| 2
the Company for the purposes of basic and Q& A A BIEEEHH
diluted earnings per share 3,184,939 4,293,484
2024 2023
—E-IMEF —TC=F
‘000 ‘000
TR T
Number of shares ROEAR
Weighted average number of ordinary shares & SMFERZEF| 2 E@EM
for the purpose of basic earnings per share  H#EF 98 5,383,521 5,387,551
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares in Gt H i1 2EE) 2 @A BIE
respect of share awards granted e o B 12 U
Weighted average number of ordinary STEEREERR 2Tk
shares for the purpose of diluted earnings INFEF 5 8K
per share 5,383,533 5,387,558
The weighted average number of ordinary shares is arrived at after WP EE35ATEL - A N 9 EUh A0

deducting the treasury shares held by the trustee under the share
award scheme as set out in note 35.

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the computation
of diluted earnings per share does not assume the exercise of the
Company'’s outstanding share options as the adjusted exercise price
of those share options is higher than the average market price of
the shares for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

BEFEARBERNRBAEFEZER
BpiEEh -

HE-ZZ-_NFER-_Z=-Z=-=A8
=T-HIEFE  SREERNOFE
WEBRARBHARITEREREET
- RERZEERENKHETEE
EREE T _NER_ZT_=F=H
=+ —HIEFERMETFETIHER -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

15. REWHE

HK$'000
FAT
FAIR VALUE NHE
At 1 April 2022 RZE-__FWMA—H 2,296,359
Exchange adjustments PE 5 A% (155,121)
Transfer from property, plant and equipment HR A HERERE 253,600
Transfer from inventories ERATE 243,123
Gain on transfer from inventories to REEEREREYE WG
investment properties 254,020
Disposal k= (144,000)
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss RERERATEE 133,850
At 31 March 2023 R-ZE-_=%=A=+—H 2,881,831
Exchange adjustments PE 5 A% (136,801)
Additions INE 19,163
Transfer to property, plant and equipment EREYE - WEREE (73,100)
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss RERER AT EZE) (94,639)
At 31 March 2024 R-ZZE-_MFE=R=+—H 2,596,454
The Group’s investment properties are analysed as follows: REBZIREYESITWOT ¢
2024 2023
—E-WE —EB-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FTT
Properties held: BEZWE
— in Hong Kong — IR EH — 73,100
— in the PRC — IR 2,596,454 2,808,731
2,596,454 2,881,831
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE =T ZWF=A=+—HIEFE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 15.

Included in the investment properties are completed properties
of HK$2,108,931,000 (2023: HK$2,384,688,000) and properties
under development of HK$487,523,000 (2023: HK$497,143,000).

The fair values of the Group's investment properties in Hong Kong
as at 31 March 2023 had been arrived at on the basis of a valuation
carried out on the respective dates by LCH (Asia-Pacific) Surveyors
Limited, an independent qualified professional valuer not connected
to the Group. The resulting fair value gain of HK$8,900,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2023 was recognised in profit or loss.
The valuation was arrived at by reference to comparable market
transactions available in the relevant markets for similar properties
in the similar locations and conditions. In estimating the fair value
of the properties, the highest and best use of the properties was
their current use. The investment properties in Hong Kong have
been transferred to property, plant and equipment during the year
ended 31 March 2024.

The fair values of the Group's investment properties in the PRC
at 31 March 2024 and 2023 have been arrived at on the basis of
a valuation carried out on the respective dates by CHFT Advisory
and Appraisal Ltd., an independent qualified professional valuer
not connected to the Group. The resulting fair value loss of
HK$94,639,000 (2023: fair value gain of HK$124,950,000)
for the year ended 31 March 2024 was recognised in profit or
loss. The valuation of completed properties was arrived at by
reference to comparable market transactions available in the
relevant markets for similar properties in the similar locations and
conditions. The valuation of properties under construction was
arrived at by the adoption of the residual approach on the basis
that they will be developed and completed in accordance with the
latest development proposals and having taken into account the
construction cost that will extent to complete the development to
reflect the quality of the completed development. In estimating
the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use of the
properties is their current use.

BREWE 2

BE Y 452,108,931,0008 T (=&
— =4 :2,384,688,0005 7T ) 2 O K
)% K 487,523,000 0 (T - =4 -
497,143,000/70) 2 BERAAYE ©

MW-BE-=F=F=+—0 K&EE
NEBZREMEZ A FETIBIRER
EEWERENB LS ERBEEGERM
FEEITRHEMBARAFRER A H#
AZEESH HE-_ZT-_=F=A
=+—HLEFE  AEEZAFEK
#:8,900,000/8 LN B FER © [H{BETIE
EREUMERBUIENE REHF T2
HEMS A ESNAELRMIBER S M
B o AT EATER - MENR
ShEEREAHBERSE BE-Z
TMEZA=+—HIEE  REBZ
BENHCEREYE  WEKREE -

RZEBE-_NMER_E-_=ZF=ZA=+—
B AEBURTFBEZEENDEZAF
BENREEAEEHEFEZBYAE
BMBEEGHEMTESZATEERAR
REBR®ETZHESE - BEZT
“MMEZAZ+—BHLFE  BAEELE
2 ANF{EEI894,639,0008 L (— 2 - =
F R F(EUWEE124,950,00058 7T ) I8
WmHER - EERMEZHETIZEEMU
MERBLIIECE RIEG T Z2BEm
BOESHAELRMSERZMEH -
EEYEZHENRBHEETENZ
EYEBGREZTERTEMER K
TERK 0 WAt R FER R T AR AR K
AMEH URMEBEKEREBEENE
B AHTMELATFER  WEANRS
MEERGRAERERR -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 15.

Details of the Group’s investment properties and information about
the fair value hierarchy as 31 March 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

BREWME »)

AEBR-Z-_NWFEFR_T-_=F=A
T —HREEWERBBEAFESR

BREFBIOT

Fair value (Level 3)

DFE(E=R)

2024 2023
—ENE B =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT

Commercial units and land located REBNEAEML R T
in Hong Kong = 73,100
Offices located in the PRC URFBRNRAE 2,108,931 2,311,588

Commercial units under construction LA BRI A B AL

in the PRC 487,523 497,143

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year.

At the end of the reporting period, the management of the Group
works closely with the independent qualified external valuers to
establish and determine the appropriate valuation techniques
and inputs for Level 3 fair value measurements. Where there is a
material change in the fair value of the assets, the causes of the
fluctuations will be reported to the directors of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 15. REYXE @)

The following table shows the valuation techniques used in the
determination of fair values for investment properties and the key

TRETHREENEET A FERHMA
METEREEREMBEIETAERE

unobservable inputs used in the valuation models. i AZIE o
Relationship of
Range of unobservable unobservable inputs to
Description Fairvalue asat31March  Valuation techniques  Unobservable inputs inputs fair value
FURERAHE
BR RZR=T-R2ATE  f#ERE TIREBAGE TUBES)\UEEE HATEZBR
2024 2023
“EopE -FocF
HKS000 HK$'000
TR T
Commercial units and land N/A 73,00 Comparison approach  Adjusted transaction price to N/A (2023: HK$27,782- The higher the adjusted
located in Hong Kong TER reflect market value of similar -~ HK$30,115 per square foot) ~ transaction price the
properties, taking into account higher the fair value
factors such s location and
direction

AREBNBRELR L3 AV ERECSERNRMENIE MER(ZE=E:§TAR  GHERSELER -
Wl B AMERARE 2778 nENNSET) AFEEE
R&

Offices located in the PRC 2,108,931 2,311,588 Comparison approach  Adjusted transaction price to RIMB3,289-RMB88,316 The higher the adjusted
reflect market value of similar ~— per square metre (2023: transaction price the
properties, taking into account ~ RMB3,289-RMB76,796 per higher the fair value
factors such s location and square metre)
direction

NP ENHLE AV LR SRRIRMENE  STARARE3 8912 LEL G
0mE BAARERAIAE  ARB36T(ZZ-ZE:  ATEER
i3 FYHRKARE3 892

ARE76,7%7)
Commercial units under 481,523 497,143 Residual approach Adjusted transaction price to RMB15,600-RMB17,100 The higher the ajusted
construction in the PRC reflect market value of similar per square metre (2023: transaction price the
properties, taking into account ~ RMB16,200-RMB18,400 per  higher the air value
factors such as location and square metre)
direction

B REREL BiEA BARRSERIRMENNE  BYIRARE60TE  EHERSERER
o BiARERIEE  ARKI71001 AT{ESS
R (CEZZF BThR

ARE16,2001F
ARE184007)

Adjusted developer's profitand ~ 7.5% (2023: 12.5%) The higher the adjusted
risk rate, taking into account of developer's profit and
the progress of the property risk rate the lower the fair

value

BESERENERERE  1SW(CEoZE o Sw)  BEBRRENERERS
BHANEER s ATEEE

2,59,454 2,881,831
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxation arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the directors of the Company have reviewed the Group's
investment property portfolio and concluded that the Group's
investment properties are held under a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over time, rather than
through sale. Therefore, in measuring the Group’s deferred
taxation on investment properties, the directors of the Company
have determined that the presumption that the carrying amounts
of investment properties measured using the fair value model are
recovered entirely through sale is rebutted. Accordingly, deferred
taxation in relation to the Group's investment properties has been
measured based on the tax consequences of recovering the carrying
amounts entirely through use.

15.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. 1%~ BMERR®E
Coal-bed
Machinery  Furniture methane
Owned Construction and and Motor development
properties  Pipelines inprogress equipment  fixtures  vehicles ost  Vessels Total
BRR RER

L] EE ERIE HENRG ERKE nE BRRA L it
HKPOOD  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK§000  HKS000

Tén  TEL  TEm  TEL  TEn  TETL  TEn  TET  TEn

cost WA
At 1 April 2022 RZE-ZEWA-A 7187945 49387249 13471939 769,800  1,035330 1,064,086 743233 196,919 80,783 501
Exchange adjustment ERA% (493193)  (3,706,014) (1.455,284)  (595279)  (163,009) (77.597) (55,175) (16,621)  (6,562,172)
Additions HE 83318 239997 5,836,303 24,787 242,035 43,190 189,741 — 687937
Acquired on acquisition of subsiciaries JREFIBA A5

(note 37) (H37) 569 — MM 114n - - - - 369
Disposal and winding up of subsidiaries L EHBAFRIHBATER (4.987) - (411) (6,808) (69) (86) - - (16,061)
Disposal HE (86,612) (23,602) — (92,824) (35,435) (75,989) — (102857 (417319
Transfer to investment properties  EBZRENE (212,59) - - - - - - — (2125%)
Reclassification N8 383483 5206734 (6,024423) 366,210 7.9% — - - —
At 31 March 2023 R-E-=E=f=1-H 6,857,927 51164364 11848673 7624297 1,086,848 953,604 877,199 771441 80,490,953
Exchange adjustment A% (313,075 (2628,131)  (841,305)  (434,102)  (108,674) (47812) (47,716) (4,901) (4,425716)
Transfer from investment properties  E#ERENE 73,100 - - - - - - - 73,100
Additions e 146,255 401,667 5,417,084 177,591 364,633 44,502 288,624 — 6,840,356
Disposal and winding up of subsiciary  HEHBA A RIBAFEE (3,548) - %) (69 (129 (639) - - (1099
Disposal HE (55,564)  (268,814) —  (184,175) (50,467) (65,399) - (12200 (636,621)
Reclassification B8 470371 6,071,950 (7,899,148) 1,356,827 - - - - -
At 31 March 2024 RZE-ME=F=+-H 1175866 54741036 8522372 8537789 1,291,115 884,25 1,118,707 60,338 82,331,079
DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT & 5/E
At 1 April 2022 RZEZZ5ME-A 1,405,642 6,965,168 — 33716977 259,692 537612 36,178 137504 12,18773
Exchange adjustment 3k (97,798 (587,.829) — (268431 (74.938) (42.483) (2,685) (10,214)  (1,084378)
Provided for the year EREE 198,287 1,476,386 — 385,013 95,401 81410 32,185 8439 21283191
Himinated on disposal and winding up HEHBAARHELR

of subsidiaies BERE (928) - - 2932) (61) (51) - - (3972)
Eliminated on disposal HERHR (22,048)  (12407) - (5735) (13,065  (61,484) - (91,045 (257403)
Eliminated on transfer to investment ~ EHZRENER R

properties (56,513) - - - - - - - (56,513)
At 31 March 2023 R-E-=E=f=1-H 1426642 7,841,318 — 3433283 267,029 521,004 05,678 44,684 13,599,698
Bichange adjustment A% (63357)  (447,014) — (02015 (4183 (74%) (36900 (2153  (799,870)
Provided for the year EREE 21208 1,561,148 - 420,897 117,708 74,850 28,955 5606 2430372
Eiminated on disposal and winding up (HEMERAIRELT

of subsidiary e 3 (931) - - (1,075) (560) (370) = — (2.936)
Eliminated on disposal HERR (19,560)  (240,014) - (88,489) (11,663) (50,075) - (1.637)  (417438)
At 31 March 2024 R-E-ME=A=1-H 1,564,002 8,715,438 — 3,562,601 318,331 518,011 90,943 40500 14,809,826
CARRYING VALUES FEE
At 31 March 2024 \ZE-EZA=T-H 5011464 46025598 8522372 4975188 972,784 366,245 1,027,764 19838 67,521,253
At 31 March 2023 RE-ZE=A=+-A 5431285 43323046 11848673 4,191,014 819,819 432,540 812,121 32757 66,391,255
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 16. Y% - HERRZRE @

The pipelines of the Group are located in the PRC.

The above items of property, plant and equipment other than
construction in progress are depreciated on a straight-line basis at
the following rates per annum:

Owned properties Over the shorter of the remaining
terms of the leases or 50 years
Pipelines Over the shorter of 30 years or

the operation period of the
relevant company

Machinery and equipment 5%-10%
Furniture and fixtures 15%-50%
Motor vehicles 25%
Coal-bed methane development Units of production method
cost based on the expected proven
reserve to be extracted
Vessels 7% (new vessels acquired from

suppliers) or 34% (acquired
from second hand market)

During the year ended 31 March 2024, interest capitalised in
construction in progress amounted to HK$752,880,000 (2023:
HK$710,437,000).

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group is in the process
of obtaining title deeds from relevant government authorities for its
land and buildings in the PRC amounting to HK$31,170,000 (2023:
HK$32,598,000). In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the Group is not required to incur additional cost in obtaining the
title deeds for its land and buildings in the PRC.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. EREEE
Machinery
Leasehold Leased and Motor
lands  properties  equipment vehicles Vessels Total
HELH  HENE  BERRE RE i @t

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
AL AL AL AL AL ThT

As at 31 March 2024 R-B-ME=A=+-H
Carrying amount REE 2,254,143 166,453 203 3 — 2,420,802
As at 31 March 2023 R-B-=%=h=1-H
Carrying amount REE 2,493,037 153,885 489 17 1145245 3,792,673
For the year ended BE-E2omE
31 March 2024 ZA=t-HL%E
Depreciation charge HEER 79,180 67,442 266 13 151,819 298,720
For the year ended BE-ECCE
31 March 2023 ZAZt-HLEE
Depreciation charge HEBR 106,503 74,516 361 86 158,099 339,565
Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2024 2023
BZE =
—E-mE TEC=F
=A=+-—H —A=+—H”
IEFE IFFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THExT FAT
Expense relating to short-term leases rE B E AR X 76,630 82,141
Total cash outflow for leases HEMBESRL A% 401,300 444,468
Additions to right-of-use assets REGAEEE 147,604 115,223
Adjustments arising on lease modifications ~ HEEFTELE 2 A (993,427) —
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE =T ZWF=A=+—HIEFE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

For both years, the Group leases various leasehold lands, offices
and warehouses, machinery and equipment, motor vehicles and
vessels for its operations. Except for the lease of leasehold lands,
lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of 1 to 30 years
(2023: 1 to 30 years). Lease terms are negotiated on an individual
basis and contain different terms and conditions. In determining the
lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period,
the Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the
period for which the contract is enforceable.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group has obtained the land use right
certificates for all leasehold lands except for leasehold lands with
carrying amount of HK$38,956,000 (2023: HK$41,070,000) in
which the Group is in the process of obtaining. In the opinion of
the directors of the Company, the Group is not required to incur
additional cost in obtaining the title deeds for its leasehold lands in
the PRC.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for properties,
machinery and equipment and motor vehicles. As at 31 March
2024, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of
short-term leases to which the short-term lease expense disclosed as
above.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group entered into time
charter agreements with its joint ventures in relation to the time
charter of two liquefied natural gas (“LNG") vessels for a charter
period of 20 years from the date of delivery at a daily hire rate
ranging from approximately United States dollars (“USD") 80,000 to
USD100,000. Under the time charter agreements, each of the LNG
vessels shall neither be delivered nor shall hire commence before
31 December 2026 and 31 May 2027 respectively. As at 31 March
2024, the total future undiscounted cash flows of the two LNG
vessels over the charter period amounted to HK$10,561,630,000.

17.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 18. REEE NTZRE
2024 2023
—ECNE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Cost of investments in associates: REFE RN T2 EKA
Listed in Hong Kong RESLM 1,017,779 1,020,734
Unlisted JEET 5,488,364 5,374,443
Share of pre-acquisition dividend AEHEERIAR S (1,296) (1,296)
Share of post-acquisition profits and AMEREEEN REMEE
other comprehensive income (net of post-  Ug A (FNRUBEE PR E.)
acquisition dividend received) 3,267,937 3,618,738
Discount on acquisition of associates UgBE RS E N B 2 HTEE 232,970 232,970
10,005,754 10,245,589
Fair value of listed investment, based on FHEREZAFE
quoted market price (TS HREZ) 5,158,313 5,807,898
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 18. REFE N T 2B’ E &)

The Group had interests in the following significant associates:

REBR AT =25

BARB A -

Place of Principal Proportion of nominal value of
Form of business registration/  place of Class of registered/issued capital
Name of entity structure incorporation operations capital held by the Group Principal activities
T, AE@ATFEM/ BRIT
EER ES 33 3 jovk:E) TEEENY  RAER RAEEL A TEXH
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
% %
BEMIERRIRERERLA Sino-foreign equity joint ~ PRC PRC Registered a4 44 Gas pipeline construction
venture
FOaEL%E HE FE Al MREERR
EESBEERNERAF Sino-foreign equity joint ~ PRC PRC Registered 39 39 Exploration, collection,
venture transportation, purification
and sales of natural gas
PNEERE HE il i} B WE - 8% FLR
HEXRAR
EEMALEEARARERAR Sino-foreign equity joint ~ PRC PRC Registered 49 49 Sales of natural gas and gas
venture pipeline construction
PINEERE FE HE i RARHERRAEEER
BRETEREERETLA Sino-foreign equity joint ~ PRC PRC Registered 48 48 Sales of natural gas and gas
([ramErE]) venture pipeline construction
FORELE HE F i AARHERMREBRE
BRESIEERLERAR Limited liability company  PRC PRC Registered 35 35 Refining process, storage of LPG
BREARA F F i RICRARRERNIERE - #F
LA REBYERARER LA Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 25 25 Sales of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
EREERT HE FE Al ARRHERMREBRR
BN RRRERAR Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 40 40 Sales of LPG
EREERT HE e Al R RRARE
Zhongyu Energy* Limited liability company ~ Cayman Islands PRC Ordinary 37.00 37.39  Investment holding, sales of
natural gas and gas pipeline
construction
hRREIR BREARA HEHS FE L@ REER  RARHER
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 18. REFE AR ZRE 1)
Place of Principal Proportion of nominal value of
Form of business registration/  place of Class of registered/issued capital
Name of entity structure incorporation  operations capital held by the Group Principal activities
I AEEFSEM/ ERT
L¥ER EBEETR Jovsich s TEEEBY  REAER RAEELL S TR
2024 2023
ZBCmE -TC=F
% %
BNEETRP A TIRE Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 44 44 Sales of natural gas and gas
EREB A pipeline construction
BREARR F FE i AARHERMREERR
BHRRRAR AR AR Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 25 25 Sales of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
BREADA F F et AATHERMREBRR
BRTARAAREEBRAR Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 25 25 Sales of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
BREEATA F F Al AARHE R REBRR
REEBRELRRITERAF Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 42 42 Development of energy
technology and sales of
natural gas
BREADA F F et BERBMARRAAREE
RAESHRILAARABRAR Limited liability company  PRC PRC Registered 40 40 Sales of LPG
BREADA F F it RICRAREE
AP HERMEERLF Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 30 30  Sales of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
BREERAT HE F Al AARHE R REBRR
WREXREFIABRAR Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 25 25 Sales of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
BREAAR F FE i AARHERMREERR
RERAREPREBRAA Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 22 22 Sales of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
BREADA FE FE et AATHERMREBRR
EERREARAR ([BBER])  Limited liability company  PRC PRC Registered 46 46 Sales of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
BREARATA HE F Al AARHE R REBRR
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 18. REFE AR ZRE 1)
Place of Principal Proportion of nominal value of
Form of business registration/  place of Class of registered/issued capital
Name of entity structure incorporation  operations capital held by the Group Principal activities
iR AE@ATEM/ B RIT
L¥EER EBRBHA Jovaich s TEEE Y  REAER RAEELL S TEER
2024 2023
ZBCmE -TC=F
% %
AR IR RER DR Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 2 30 Production of coke and coking
chemicals
BREARR $ FE Al FEERRECERERAT
JEFZHRRARBRAT Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 49 49 Sales of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
BREERF + H Al RARHERMAEERR
IHERH M EEERDLF Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 49 49 Production and sales of LPG
BREARA F F it RICRAREERHE
I RERBMARERLERAA Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 49 49 Sales of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
BREAATA HE FE Al AARHE R REBRR
MMNPhE s R RER AR Sino-foreign equity joint ~ PRC PRC Registered 40 40  Sales of natural gas and gas
venture pipeline construction
PINEERE $ FE Al RARHERRAEEER
* Its shares are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and its financial * HRMHHREBEZMET - BEMBER
information is publicly available. Al AFERY o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE =T ZWF=A=+—HIEFE

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 18. REEERNTRI2RE (&)

At 31 March 2024, included in the cost of investments in associates
is goodwill of HK$2,905,918,000 (2023: HK$3,042,290,000).

The financial year end date for Zhongyu Energy is 31 December.
For the purpose of applying the equity method of accounting, the
consolidated financial statements of Zhongyu Energy for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (2023: 31 December 2022) have been
used as the Group considers that it is impracticable for Zhongyu
Energy with its shares listed on the Stock Exchange to provide a
separate and complete set of financial statements as of 31 March.
No significant transactions requiring adjustments took place during
the intervening period.

The financial year end date of J&[5)&75 is 31 December. This was
the statutory reporting date established when that company was
registered. The financial statements of J&[%/&7 for the period
other than its statutory reporting date had not been provided by
JE[587 to the Group. For the purposes of applying the equity
method of accounting, the financial statements of J&F5)&P for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (2023: 31 December 2022) have
been used. No significant transactions requiring adjustments took
place during the intervening period.

Summarised consolidated financial information in respect of each
of the Group’s material associates is set out below. The summarised
consolidated financial information below represents amounts
shown in the associate’s consolidated financial statements.

All of the Group’s associates are accounted for using the equity
method in these consolidated financial statements.

—EZE-_ME=/A=+—H " #A
NBERNRZEREXRNANEE A
2,905,918,000 B T ( = & = = F :
3,042,290,000/8 7T ) °

22

FRERCVTBEEZHER AT Z A
=+—H- - AREAEZEE  BARAE
SERBTFHWER(ERONREB AL
T)AA RN =A=1t—B 2B 5%
BEIERE - MAEBEEATRHER
HE-_ZT_=F+-_A=+—H(ZE
TE=F R oF+ZA=+—H)Lt
FEZEAVERE - RERSHM - 8
BEEAENFAZRNEARS °

ERERA Y REFEZEEHRT A
=+—H ' A%ARGFMERETAEE
WEBH - BSERIW E AL E R
EEME BN B®RE - A
EREmEE  ASECFERESE
mAEE-_T-_=F+-_A=+—H(=Z
T=F:ZE-_F+-A=+—080)1t
FEZVBHRE - RHEMREME - BiEs
EREHABRHERR S °

FEBEZEEBMENRZRETBER
BERHFIMT - TR HBEREE
BB E D RREMBEREARER

REBMAHERRRARERENA
RAMBEMEAAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 18. REFE N T 2B’ E &)

K EEF B and its subsidiaries REEHEREMHEAT
2024 2023

—EMEF —E-=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Current assets MENEE 912,810 749,092
Non-current assets IERENEE 3,061,662 3,779,152
Current liabilities mENBE (812,498) (1,213,362)
Non-current liabilities IERBAE (241,722) (292,360)
Net assets FEE 2,920,252 3,022,522
Revenue WA 2,563,717 2,162,894
Total comprehensive expense for the year FANETEAXERE (102,270) (145,924)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the

MBENBERERNGE B REER

carrying amount of the investments in associates recognised in the REEE RN B 2 A REESER -

consolidated financial statements:

2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Net assets of WA B BRBEREFEE 2,920,252 3,022,522
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest 7N EAMSERERE 2 A K
in lRERERE s Eadndll 48% 48%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest REERGREPE 2 ER
in FRERVB P reflected in the Group's BREE(EREBZ LA
consolidated statement of financial position X% R A [ Adt ) 1,401,721 1,450,811
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE=—F

18.

“HE=ZA=T—HLFE

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Summarised consolidated financial information of

material associates (Continued)

Zhongyu Energy and its subsidiaries

. RBEZERAT2RE @)

EEHENAGE

25

PHRERRENE QT

81 75 B R Al

2024 2023

—ECmEF —E-=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Current assets MBEE 6,512,465 6,272,670

Non-current assets IEMBNVEE 19,917,642 20,038,212

Current liabilities mENAE (11,786,342) (10,505,813)

Non-current liabilities IEREBE (5,950,338) (6,669,827)

Net assets FERE 8,693,427 9,135,242

Less: Non-controlling interests R FEIE R (992,114) (1,007,019)

Net assets attributable to owners HEANEEFEE 7,701,313 8,128,223

Revenue WA 13,643,682 12,997,322
Total comprehensive (expense) income FA2E(FES) WAL

for the year (197,363) 22,767
Dividend received from Zhongyu Energy FREWFIREETR 2R E

during the year — 169,242
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 18.

Zhongyu Energy and its subsidiaries (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
carrying amount of the investments in associates recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

REEE DT 2 B]E @)

RIREER R EL MR AR ()

AP ER R BN RS B Rk
R E QA ZIERMELR

2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Net assets attributable to owners of PR S AEIEFEE
Zhongyu Energy 7,701,313 8,128,223
Less: Fair value gain on revaluation of o ETAYE - BEREEZ
pipelines included in property, plant EEEHATERSS
and equipment, net of depreciation (BBRAEREITE )
thereon* (1,609,470) (2,077,378)
6,091,843 6,050,845
Proportion of the Group’s ownership AEERPWEERZEEE
interest in Zhongyu Energy L 37% 37%
Goodwill EES 472,257 483,469
Carrying amount of the Group's interest i~ AREBR AR 2 2 REE
Zhongyu Energy reflected in the Group's (EARKE 2 R BARRRF
consolidated statement of financial position Bt ) 2,726,239 2,722,282

* Zhongyu Energy measures its property, plant and equipment under
revaluation model. The cumulative revaluation surplus and the
depreciation thereon is reversed to conform with the Group’s accounting

policy.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 18. REEENTIZ2RE )

&R E7 and its subsidiaries EEERREMB AT
2024 2023
—E-NF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current assets MENEE 2,208,032 2,069,650
Non-current assets ERENEE 6,909,818 7,075,837
Current liabilities EIAE (5,563,130) (5,079,080)
Non-current liabilities ESTEN=E= (2,285,111) (2,505,650)
Net assets FEE 1,269,609 1,560,757
Less: Non-controlling interests B IEERR R R (128,374) (178,340)
Net assets attributable to owners B ANE(GFEEE 1,141,235 1,382,417
Revenue WA 4,527,827 4,735,126
Total comprehensive expense for the year FRNE2EMZBEE (291,148) (417,755)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
carrying amount of the investments in associates recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

LB E R B BN AR A B S R
RN E QR 2 WERMELK

2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Net assets attributable to owners of J&f5%E ESEHA AELFEE 1,141,235 1,382,417
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REBPES BT 2 B E
interest in &5 &7 - Eayn ] 46% 46%
Goodwill e 1,441,257 1,515,379
Carrying amount of the Group's interest REEES B2 EnREE
in B 7Y reflected in the Group’s (EREBZHEABBRNK
consolidated statement of financial position Az Bl ) 1,966,225 2,151,291
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Summarised consolidated financial information of

material associates (Continued)

Aggregate information of associates that are not

18. REEZE N T

(A5

BE&Em@®

EBE N ASRE VB ERBMT

BRMSLFERNZBE RTINS

individually material =)
2024 2023
—ECNEF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T BT
The Group's share of results of REBEEZEHRERR 2 EE
these associates 117,143 339,542
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s ~ ZREBNZER L N T 2 i
interests in these associates AFtEEEE 3,911,569 3,921,205
19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 19. AEERRIZERE
2024 2023
—ECNEF T =F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Cost of investments in joint REEBERBIZIRERAN — IELET
ventures — unlisted 9,844,657 9,461,464
Share of post-acquisition profits and other — D{EUEE R EF| R EM 2 EULA
comprehensive income (net of post- (FOBR U 1% PTURER IR 2.)
acquisition dividend received) 2,158,817 2,553,501
Discount on acquisition of joint ventures IWEESENTZITE 30,145 30,145
12,033,619 12,045,110
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 19. REERAIZKRE =)

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group had interests in the R -_NMER T -_=F=ZA=+—
following significant joint ventures: H AEBRUTEFEEGERRIFRES
Place of Principal Proportion of nominal value
Form of business registration/  place of Class of of registered/issued capital
Name of entity structure incorporation  operations capital held by the Group Principal activities
Raivg=d] AE@AFEM/ BRI
TLEER ERRRT Rt TEEENY RAER RAEELA TEER
2024 2023
—E-MFE e S
% %
BT IRRER AR Sino-foreign equity joint ~ PRC PRC Registered 50 50  Sales of natural gas and gas
venture pipeline construction
FORELE FE FE Faall} AATHERMREBRR
BHNFRETRRERERAR Sino-foreign equity joint  PRC PRC Registered 50 50  Sales of natural gas and gas
venture pipeline construction
FOaEr%E HE FE Al AARHERMREBRR
ENRRE TR RERERAE Sino-foreign equity joint ~ PRC PRC Registered 50 50  Sales of natural gas and gas
venture pipeline construction
FORELE F FE i AARHERMREERR
ERPRAZTERRER AT Sino-foreign equity joint ~ PRC PRC Registered 50 50  Natural gas refill service and gas
venture station administration
FORELE F F FEfR RARMERSE MR EE
Er N1 YN Equity joint venture PRC PRC Registered 51 51 Sales of natural gas
BELE F F Faalll RARHE
BRZAMRIZEER LT Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 49 49 Investment holding, sales of
([ERRR]) natural gas and gas pipeline
construction
BREART F FE i BREEZR - RARHER
HREERR
ERRMARRAEABETAR Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 49 49 Sales of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
BREAAT F FE Al AARHERMREBRR
RITERMRE (BU%) BRAF  Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 49 49 Sales of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
BREART A FE i AARHERMREERR
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 19. REEAQARZEE @)
Place of Principal Proportion of nominal value
Form of business registration/  place of Class of of registered/issued capital
Name of entity structure incorporation  operations capital held by the Group Principal activities
I AEEFSEM/ ERT
L¥ER EBRBHA Jovsich s TEEEBY  REAER RAEELL S TR
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
% %
AMPRE BRRTRREE Sino-foreign equity joint ~ PRC PRC Registered 50 50  Sales of natural gas and gas
BRAR venture pipeline construction
FORELE HE HE Al RARHERRAEEER
SERRT BHEEATMEZE  Sinoforeign equity joint  PRC PRC Registered 50 50  Sales of natural gas and gas
ARAR venture pipeline construction
FORELE FE F FEf AATHERMREBRR
REMAERAEEERAT Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 40 40 Sales of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
BREAAT FE FE Al AARHERMREBRR
MNBEDRERERRA Sino-foreign equity joint  PRC PRC Registered 50 50  Sales and distribution of LPG
venture
FORELE FE HE Al RCRRABEE RS
SEMMERRERAR Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 50 50  Sales of natural gas,
petrochemical products and
gas accessories
BREARAT FE FE Al AR BLERR
AR HE
CHMERRRERELDT Sino-foreign equity joint ~ PRC PRC Registered 49 49 Sales of natural gas and gas
venture pipeline construction
FORELE FE F FEf AARHERMREERR
MMNERILREEEBR AR Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 50 50  Sales of natural gas
BREADA FE FE FEf RARHE
BRI REEAR LA Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 40 40  Sales of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
BREART HE FE Al AARHERMREBRR
IWFERRREEBRERAR Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 40 40 Sales of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
BREARF HE HE Al RARHERRAEEER
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 19. REELQRIZIRE @)
Place of Principal Proportion of nominal value
Form of business registration/  place of Class of of registered/issued capital
Name of entity structure incorporation  operations capital held by the Group Principal activities
s AE@ATSEM/ B RIT
L¥ER EBRBHA Jovsich s TEEEBY  REAER RAEELL S TR
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
% %
IWRRHAAREBROER LA Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 4 41 Sales of natural gas and gas
(MR pipeline construction
BREARF HE HE Al RARHERRAEEER
ik (R B RERES Limited partnership PRC PRC Registered 99.34 43.87  Investment holding

(BBAE) (formerly known as
RREBM CFY) B2 RRELS

(BRA#)) (Note)
HRORI) B R RES BRABLE P T i REER

(BRARH) (FIFPREPHRORI)
ERERERES(BRAR)) (M)

R mEER KB ZEREREMTAF Limited liability company  PRC PRC Registered 40 —  Investment holding
(Note)
FITEEPRFZEREREAAF BERETAR FE FE Al REER
(BizE)
REFMELERMEEEAERAF  Limited liability company  PRC PRC Registered 39.96 43.83  Piped natural gas ("PNG"),
(Note) LNG, compressed natural gas
("CNG") and LPG energy
projects
REPREZERAEEEERAT  BREAAH FE FE Al BEERARPNG]) * NG +
(BisE) BREARACNG) R
RACRARERIER
KiEFE 2R EEAR A (Note) Limited liability company  PRC PRC Registered 39.60 4343 PNG, LNG, CNG and LPG energy
projects
REFREZEREEERAFA (M) FREEAR HE FE Al PNG * LNG * CNGRA(LAER
BERER
BN ERAERERERAF (Note) Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 39.60 4343 PNG, LNG, CNG and LPG energy
projects
B EER AR () BREARA F FE Al PNG * LNG * CNGIB{t AR A
BRER
BT R AR R EERAR Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 39.60 4343 PNG, LNG, CNG and LPG energy
(Note) projects
BOTHREBLRRRERAT  ARECLA + HE Al PNG * LNG * CNGRB(LRIAE
ik BRIER
MEr R ERBR A E (Note) Limited liability company  PRC PRC Registered 39.60 4343 PNG, LNG, CNG and LPG energy
projects
BERREREEERAR (FF) BREERT HE FE Al PNG * LNG * CNGRAE(LAER
BRER
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Note: During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group entered into a limited

partnership agreement (the “Limited Partnership Agreement”) with &
RBIREES (BREH) ("HRESR") and RYITHMESERARE
ERT (“RBRES") in relation to the formation of F{RIEFEE CEII)
TBREERIERES (the “Fund”), which is now renamed as ¥k G
BRRERERES (BRAH). The Fund shall focus on investing in PNG,
LNG, CNG and LPG energy projects. The Fund has a duration of 7 years
from the date of first contribution of the committed capital, subject to
an extension by unanimous consent of all parties. The committed capital
contribution from the Group, F{R#ZE % and F#AE S amounted RMB3.00
billion, RMB7.00 billion and RMB20.00 million respectively.

Under the Limited Partnership Agreement, F{RE% is entitled to
preferential return (the “Preferential Return”) based on its actual capital
contribution (after deducting any redeemed amount), and to seek early
redemption of its capital contribution (the “Preferential Redemption”)
at the 5th, 6th and 7th anniversaries of the date of its first capital
contribution amounting to 20%, 20% and 60% of the actual amount of
capital contribution, respectively.

Pursuant to the Limited Partnership Agreement, all of the shareholders
have contractually agreed the sharing of control over the Fund, as
key decisions about the relevant activities, including but not limited to
business, financial and operation matters of the Fund, require unanimous
consents from all of the shareholders of the Fund. Accordingly, the
Group has joint control over the Fund and the Group’s equity interest in
the Fund is accounted for as an investment in joint venture. Subsequent
to establishment, the Fund has then invested in investment projects in
accordance with the Limited Partnership Agreement and held equity
interests in () REFRERERFEEBEGRAF], (i) RERMREREE
REBAFRAT,; (i) BMNPHREERBERERAR, (v) BT HRERRE
BREHEAMR AT and (v) BEHRFREERER AR AR (collectively referred
to as the “Platform Companies”) and accounts for each of the Platform
Companies as the Fund’s subsidiaries. The Group, through the Fund, held
33.33% of the voting rights in the Platform Companies.

Up to 31 March 2023, F{RE S contributed capital (before the
Preferential Redemption) of RMB5.80 billion, and early redeemed its
capital contribution of RMB2.32 billion. As at 31 March 2023, the capital
contribution from F{REE and the Group amounted to RMB3.48 billion
(approximately HK$3.98 billion) and RMB2.72 billion (approximately
HK$3.22 billion) respectively.
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19. REERTRIZBE®)

Mer BE_Z—tF=A=+—HILFE K

SEEFERBREEES(BRAR)([F
RESDEFRYMHRESEEBEREMT
AEN[FBRES D) RELFREPROR
I)FEReERERES([ZE2] BE
BRATRORY)BEREREEES (B
RER))IEREE R E((BRER
HaEl) o ZESKEIIREPNG * NG -
CNG R R{Ib A REERER - & &2
TFERE SRS EE NS R A+
F AN —BRABEAER - &
58 FRESETFRESHELZLESE
FRIBARE30.0ET - ARK70.018T
K20 0BETT -

RIEBRAZHE  PRESBEELEH
HEENBRIAEERLRER) BEEZS
BEBR(MELEDR]) - BEEHIEME
ERHRER BEARBELEFEESK
DREEMHERE 220%  20% K60%HE
AIERE L EA(MELER]) -

REBRAZHE  TERREORE
DEZESWIEGIE - (FRABEBEEEE
WEIRATE  BIEETRAZESHE
% M REESE  BAESZESHE
BREH—HAE - Bt ~AEBMEZES
BHEHERZEGE mAEERZESZ
BAEEARABREERARIZIRE ° KL
% ZESDREBREBHERESHE
WEIEE - WRORETRERERF
EEBRAR]  ()VFREPRERERER
BRAR  ()AMFPRERERERA
Al (VB TR R R R AR A
Al RvBEFHREERERER AR (5B
[FaRARDBEAERAER  BEFaRA
ABRIEZESHHB AR - AEEER
ZEEFHEFAARIZ3.33%HERERE -

BETZ-=F=-A=+—0 HRES
RELEELNEHMRLEEARESS0E
T WERAEREEEEARK232E
T MZE_ZF=ZA=+—0  BRHE
SRALEHEEEI R AARKEI48E
TL(#39.8EIL) R AR 27 2B (4
32.2(87%7L) °



For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE =T ZWF=A=+—HIEFE

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Note: (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group, Szt AR AR ("F8
#B{=5T") and each of the Platform Companies entered into a cooperation
framework agreement (the “Cooperation Framework Agreement”) and
related agreements to establish FINTTEERREZERBRETA
A] ("ELZEAIR"). The Group and FAEFMEFE has respectively contributed
registered capital amounting to RMB606.4 million (approximately
HK$659.1 million) and RMB909.6 million (approximately HK$1,010.7
million) into B H#A, and EZEF A has applied the capital contributions
and the new bank loan of RMB2.27 billion (approximately HK$2.52 billion)
(the “Bank Loan"”) obtained to acquire the entire equity interests of each
of the Platform Companies at the aggregate consideration of RMB3.79
billion (approximately HK$4.21 billion) from the Fund. The Group has
agreed to provide guarantee (and as guaranteed by the Group on any
shortfall) for repayment of such Bank Loan. The Group, through Fi 2%,
held 33.33% of the voting rights in the Platform Companies.

Pursuant to the Cooperation Framework Agreement, following repayment
of the principal and interest payable in respect of the Bank Loan, all
distributable funds shall be distributed to FAEF{Z5E on a preferential
basis up to its equity investment amount together with pre-agreed rate
of return. Any remaining funds shall be distributed to the Group up to its
equity investment amount together with pre-agreed rate of return. After
the aforesaid distributions, any remaining funds shall be distributed to the
Group and FAEF{ZE in proportion to their respective paid-up registered
capital amounts.

As key decisions about the relevant activities of EEH B require
unanimous consents from the Group and FaEB{E5E, the Group has joint
control over EEMA#E and the Group's equity interest in EEEFKK is
accounted for as an investment in joint venture.

Subsequent to the above, the Fund returned RMB3.48 billion
(approximately HK$3.78 billion) to AR % as redemption of the
remaining capital contribution and approximately RMB284.7 million
(approximately HK$308.4 million) to the Group. Following the capital
redemption, F{RE S ceased to be the Fund's joint venture partner, and
the Fund continues to be held by the Group and F¥AE 4 under joint
control in the proportion of 99.34% and 0.66% of the Fund's registered
share capital, respectively.

The above transactions resulted in a change in the investment holding of
the Platform Companies and therefore, the Platform Companies continue
to be the Group's joint ventures after the above transactions and are
accounted for under the equity method.

At 31 March 2024, included in the cost of investments in joint
ventures is goodwill of HK$232,580,000 (2023: HK$244,541,000).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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19. REERTRIZBE®)

faE - ()

BE-_Z-_NEF=A=+—HItFE ' K
£ - ABNELERAB(TEBET R
BFERRRI A FIERGZE (A EES
Wi ) MBS - ARDRYITE S
WBERREERERETAR ([EEFRK]) -
AEBEASEEC D BIRAEEF ML
HEMERARKEGC64E ET(#4659.1 5
BETT) M ARE09.6EEIT(41,010.7
BEBIL)  MEAERREHAZSHESR
RS MIBITTERARE22. 7(8L(4
25218 ) ([$RITEF])  HEREBEAR
37 9B (W42 188 ) B A kg
FFERANEHRAES - AEBBR
EEEZSRTERREER(LHASE
ERETIEERER) - AEEBBEER
MR EF AR F]33.33%HIRZMRE -

REAFERDSE - FEERTEFSR
ZRENARERFER AR DIKRESHE
BREDIKTHIMERE  UEBRERESE
ERBEHENDHRERR - ERHTE
SRR TAEER - AEBRERE HE
TR SE W E M B E QR - X Lok
% ERBRTESHRESE ZHREMN
CENAY N SE e R

BN B EEPRERE SRR ER
EBEAKRELAREEN—HRAE - A%
Bl R AR mAKE
REERRZ BAE S ARASNAEERT
ZRE -

FMEIEE  ZESATRESREAR
#3488 7T (#H937.81887) » tEAIERF
BB WHAKEBEREHARK284.7
BAEIT(#308488EL) - AARERIE -
PRESTBAZESZAARARIEMN
MzESEERASERPRES LRIE
#l - B EAFRE O AZES M AR
99.34% }20.66% °

LR SEHF AR ZREEREEL

3 Bt FARARLRZZRINA
REEZEEARR - WEEmEALR -

F-MEZA=+-A HARA

BRNR 2B KA EZE /232,580,000
BT (ZZE =4 : 244,541,000/87T) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

The summarised financial information below represents amounts
shown in the joint ventures’ consolidated financial statements.

All of the Group's joint ventures are accounted for using the equity

19. REERRIZERE W)

TXEINZHEEHBEZIEEE R AR

BHMBMERIRER -

AEEAEGE XA RAEDENA

method in these consolidated financial statements. AP HRERAALE ©
BEZ A and its subsidiaries ERLZARENE QA
2024 2023
—E-UE —E=HF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current assets MEVEE 1,164,440 1,231,724
Non-current assets ERFEE 4,193,967 4,334,254
Current liabilities MENBE (1,360,182) (1,387,394)
Non-current liabilities IERBAE (592,398) (607,640)
Net assets FEE 3,405,827 3,570,944
Revenue WA 2,841,681 3,111,254
Total comprehensive income (expense) FEFEBRA(FAZ)BEE
for the year 52,275 (266,730)
Dividend received from 12 %A FREWERELAZRE
during the year 106,522 —
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

F\BEZA and its subsidiaries (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
carrying amount of the investments in joint ventures recognised in
the consolidated financial statements:

19.

REEBERATZ2EBE @)

BEZAREKE AR (9

L BT E R BN AR A B TS R
RZNBERAZWERMELK

2024 2023

—E-NE TEC=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAET

Net assets of f@E L K BRLZRFEE 3,405,827 3,570,944
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REBRBRERAZ A ERER

interest in TBELA (i dtll 49% 49%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest REERRELAZ EmREE

in {8 A reflected in the Group’s (EREB 2 GBI RKT
consolidated statement of financial position [z B ) 1,668,855 1,749,763
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 EZE=ZZ—WF=A=+—HIFE
19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 19. REERAIZKRE =)

Summarised financial information of material joint BESENTMEERME &)

ventures (Continued)

IR A 5H and its subsidiaries WERAHEREHB AT
2024 2023
—EmF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current assets MEVEE 1,516,219 1,450,847
Non-current assets ERFEE 3,075,193 3,307,197
Current liabilities mEBE (559,007) (708,185)
Non-current liabilities IERBAE (228,043) (233,782)
Net assets FEE 3,804,362 3,816,077
Less: Non-controlling interests T FEFERRE R (1,693,269) (1,677,103)
Net assets attributable to owners BB ANEIEEEE 2,111,093 2,138,974
Revenue WA 800,152 785,440
Total comprehensive expense for the year FANTEAXERE (11,715) (229,880)

Dividend received from LLIE A5 FREWRLEGHZRE

during the year — 66,739
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 19.

L3R AH and its subsidiaries (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
carrying amount of the investments in joint ventures recognised in
the consolidated financial statements:

REEBERATZ2EBE @)

WRAMREMBERE(®)

L BT E R BN AR A B TS R
RZNBERAZWERMELK

2024 2023
—E-NE TEC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHT FEIT
Net assets attributable to owners of LU AJE  IURAHES ATEGFEE 2,111,093 2,138,974
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REBRILRE B HEE
interest in [LIZAJH MRS L 41% 41%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest REBRILRAMZ R
in LA reflected in the Group's HE(EAERZ GE K
consolidated statement of financial position kR34 k) 865,548 876,979
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e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 19. REERAIZKRE =)

Summarised financial information of material joint
ventures (Continued)

¥ ih #R/the Fund and the Platform Companies

EZRERNAMBEREZ @)

FEHR ZEERFADLTH

2024 2023

—EmF —E-=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Current assets MENVEE 11,976,743 14,349,277

Non-current assets IERENEE 15,602,179 15,172,805

Current liabilities mEAE (14,683,364) (13,519,618)

Non-current liabilities ERBEE (10,624,725) (8,173,874)

Net assets FEE 2,270,833 7,828,590

Less: Non-controlling interests of 3 /1 %% W BERR(ZT =5

(2023: the Fund) ZE®)HIHT R R (168,433) (168,784)
Net assets attributable to owners of EEFR EERR(ZT—=F : ZES)

(2023: the Fund) HEANEILFEE 2,102,400 7,659,806

Revenue A 4,532,382 4,605,895

Profit (loss) for the year FEmA(EE) 27,019 (242,704)
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 19. REERTRIZBE®)

H 2 iR /the Fund and the Platform Companies (Continued)

The carrying amount of the Group's investments in S/ 1A (2023:
the Fund) comprises the following:

FEHR ZEESRFADRE)

REBEREERR(ZT_=F : &
&) REREEREATEA

2024 2023
—E-NEF ZEC=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
The Group's share of accumulated profits R EE B (G BLZE AR A
of EEEAHE (2023: the Fund) (ZB-=F  g&Ee)2

ESapitl 203,158 396,198

Capital contributed to EZ A REEMEERR(ZZ_=F -

(2023: the Fund) by the Group ZER)HE 659,131 3,215,902
Exchange realignment VE R — (236,728)
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in =~ REBREZEHRR(ZZT =4

EEER PR (2023: the Fund) reflected in ZES) EERRE(EASE

the Group’s consolidated statement of E 2 fra B R R k)

financial position 862,289 3,375,372

As disclosed above, the investment holding in the Platform
Companies changed from the Fund to B2 X, The summarised
financial information as at 31 March 2024 presented above
represents the consolidated financial information of 2% (2023:
the Fund). The summarised financial information for the years
ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 represents aggregate financial
information of the Platform Companies.

I EXFAHE - RFERRFAZR
BEHZESH/EETM - EX2IZ
RZZE-_WHE=ZRA=+—HNUKEHR
BMERBEEFR(ZT_=F : ZES)
ZEAMBER BE_T-_MER—
T =F=A=t—HLFEZMBEE
HEEEF e RRNEFTMBEESR -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 19.

Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not
individually material

REEBERATZ2EBE @)

BRMSLFERZEERANGS

2024 2023
—ENF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T BT
The Group's share of results of these TEERENRZESERAZ

joint ventures ES 440,520 271,093

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's ANEBRZEEE QAR ZEEH
interest in these joint ventures AFtEEEE 8,636,927 6,042,996

20.
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 20.

BAVESTAHMBEERAZ
BRARTHE

2024 2023
—E-IF —T=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET

Equity securities listed: FRUAT 2R T 2 ARE 5
— in Hong Kong —BE 102,520 119,500
— in the PRC — 243,769 397,872
Unlisted equity investments IEERARE 405,098 402,928
Other investments HAIR & 2,198 2,198
753,585 922,498

The directors of the Company have elected to designate these
equity investments as at FVTOCI as they believe that these
investments are not held for trading and not expected to be sold
in the foreseeable future. Details of the fair value measurements of
these investments are set out in note 39.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

21. GOODWILL 1. B8
HK$'000
FHT
At 1 April 2022 R-ZE-—FMA—H 3,473,229
Arising on acquisitions of subsidiaries (note 37) =4 B BT B 2 | (P EE37) 2,746
Exchange realignment PE 5 A% (245,834)
At 31 March 2023 R-E-_=F=A=+—H 3,230,141
Arising on disposal of subsidiaries EEXELERBAFR (1,929)
Exchange realignment PE 2L (149,859)
At 31 March 2024 RZE-MF=ZA=+—H 3,078,353

The Group tests for impairment of goodwill annually and in
the financial year in which the acquisition takes place, or more
frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired.

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to CGUs
that are expected to benefit from that business combination. The
CGUs are principally engaged in the sales of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction business, sales of LPG business and provision
of valued-added services.

AEERESFRRETREZWBFE
BeAABREERRE  EENRRA
BB HIURER - 2 EATAR -

EBaMTRENBHESEERAAR
BEREHAHNREELEM - ZFR
CELABNTIERERARBEELMAR
BREERER  BRIEOHREEEBR
PR HIRERR -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

21. GOODWILL (continued) 21. BE )
The carrying amounts of goodwill as at 31 March 2024 and 2023 RZE-_NMER T -_=F=ZA=+—
are allocated as follows: FoEEmEY iR T :
2024 2023
—E-MEF —To=%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline UTEMBRATZAAR
construction business within HERRREEEREL
each of the following subsidiaries
Clever Decision Enterprise Limited Clever Decision Enterprise Limited 134,014 140,906
BMNPRBETRRERBR AR BN TRRERERAT 42,367 44,546
IR HAREE B R AR LR ARIRE AR A A 14,695 15,451
HERRE S ERARANF HERARESERARAR 50,770 53,381
METRE TR ERAR DA HETRETRRERARAR 14,118 14,844
ESPRBTMAERBR AT and its ESPRBETMRERERAR
subsidiaries K BT R A 25,661 26,981
HARRE TR ERER AR HAFRB TR ERBR AT 28,745 30,223
ItREEE e REMTERABR AR and its It RBUEE NEEREMEEER
subsidiaries NE REMEAE 30,538 32,109
Fortune Gas Investment Holdings Limited and A EIE E1ERBER A 7 &
its subsidiaries HMB AR 940,300 988,658
HBRRE TR AR AR BRI E IR BRAR 15,759 16,569
REPREEREE AR AR and China Gas 2P REEREEER A E &
Hong Kong Company Limited and its FREBERARRENE
subsidiaries NS 173,180 182,086
Beijing Gas Development Limited and its bMREERAR AR N EH B AR
subsidiaries 195,772 205,840
ZEMBEXREAERA A ZEMERIMRER AR 7,874 8,279
SR LRI TR EREBRAF SRR R TRRERER
NG 6,110 6,424
RERPRARIBEBR QA RERPRARIEEBRAF 1,784 1,876
HEMERBERMAEER AT and its EMEERERAZEERARKR
subsidiary Eft B A7 5,389 5,666
BETIHARTMRAERER AR andits BEIPBEHMARREZERGR
subsidiaries NEIREKTB AT 65,777 69,160
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

21. GOODWILL (continued) 21. %%{%ﬁ)

2024 2023
—EMF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FiET
AR RIEERE R AR A A AR RIEERERERA A 3,176 3,339
KERRERTEBRAA KEFRERLTEBRAT 924 972
BEEGIERRAHEGRAR BEEGERRAHEEGRAAF 7,613 8,004
ERGIERAREEAR AR ERGIERAREERRAR 16,090 16,918
FePaS%) | R R AR AR A A BeFas%) IR A AR BERA R 6,836 7,188
RAREMRER A RPARZMABRAFR 5,041 5,301
EMRmmalss B RERERA R SR mmelge s ReelR
HRAF] 9,854 10,361
ERBTENTER AT EXRERENABRAE 7,484 7,869
LB LIRRER AT 2B LIRR AR AT 537 565
MR TR ERER AR MR TR SR
BRAT] 1,820 1,913
HEE R R LTI RAR AR BEEESRATMRER AR 4,135 4,347
B B ERARBR A A BB ERARBR AT 9,252 9,728
MG eERARERAA MG eERARERAA 11,727 12,330
RERERAR QA RERRER AR 5,937 6,242
BT S FMBRAR DT and its subsidiary B MEERRERAE KL
EIWBEAR 17,024 17,899
SEFRPBAREERAR SEFMRRAARERRAA 17,018 17,893
B SRR AR B R A A B SRR AR AR A A 32,408 34,075
HEER TR R ERBRAE and its HEARMETRRERERAR
subsidiary et =YNS) 13,947 14,664
IR R B R R B R A A IR E I LR E R A A 15,675 16,482
BEEMAEERGRAT BEmAEERGR AT 848 892
Other individually immaterial CGUs HE AR S L TEKRA
REEABMN 274,085 281,653
2,214,284 2,321,634
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE =T ZWF=A=+—HIEFE

21. GOODWILL (Continued) 21.

[EEIE))

2024 2023
—EmEF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Sales of LPG business within each of the L T&MEBARZEILAME
following subsidiaries HEXEK
AP ReERE B AR AR and its FIF R REBBR AT &
subsidiaries HMB AR 551,711 580,085
Other individually immaterial CGUs EH AR BT 5 WA E AR
R EEBNM 22,465 23,620
574,176 603,705
Provision of value-added services within LT & KB A T 224 E
each of following subsidiaries RIGET
Daily Pride Limited and its subsidiaries HEFERATREME AR 288,819 303,673
Bt (BE) a8 RER AR B (EE)FEIRBR AR 1,074 1,129
289,893 304,802
3,078,353 3,230,141

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined based on
value in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value in use
calculations are those regarding the discount rates and growth rates
during the year. Management estimates discount rates using pre-
tax rates that reflect current market assessment of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are
based on industry growth forecasts.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most
recent financial budgets approved by the management for the next
five years. The cash flows beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated
using a steady 3% (2023: 2%-3%) average growth rate for CGUs
in the natural gas and gas pipeline construction business, 3% (2023:
3%) for CGUs in the sales of LPG business and 2% (2023: 2%) for
CGUs engaged in the provision of value-added services. The pre-
tax rates used to discount cash flows for CGUs are from 11% to
20% (2023: 11% to 19%). In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, no material impairment loss is identified for both years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

22. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 22. Hit B EE

Exclusive

rightsof  Production

natural sharing  Technology Customer

gas operation rights rights Licenses relationship Total

AR
e

BREER LEDHRE i3 # EFER st

HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL

CosT A

At 1 April 2022 RZE--EMA-A 3,710,352 1,416,491 58,467 — 16,110 5,201,420

Exchange adjustments B3 % (333,875) (45,385) (4,343) — (1,197) (384,800)
Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries 4 EHENBAT] 9,457 - - 29,635 - 39,092

At 31 March 2023 NE-=F-fA=1-H 3,385,934 1,371,106 54,124 29,635 14,913 4,855,712

Exchange adjustments B ER (191,579) (81,075) (2,647) (1,450) (729 (237.480)
Additions AE — — — 783 — 783

At 31 March 2024 RZZE-ME=f=1-AH 3,194,355 1,330,031 51,477 28,968 14,184 4,619,015

AMORTISATION B

At 1 April 2022 RZE-ZEMA-A 91,563 117,547 53,524 - 16,110 1,148,744
Exchange adjustments EREZ (72,069) (6,502) (3,976) — (1,197) (83,744)
Charge for the year FRY 141,409 40,332 4,576 3,091 - 189,408

At 31 March 2023 NZEZ=F=A=1—H 1,030,903 151,377 54,124 3,091 14,913 1,254,408

Exchange adjustments EREZ (51,958) (5,864) (2,647) (151) (729) (61,349)
Charge for the year ERgH 145,710 32,602 - 3,003 = 181,405

At 31 March 2024 R-ZE-ME=f=1-AH 1,124,655 178,115 51,477 6,033 14,184 1,374,464
CARRYING VALUES REE

At 31 March 2024 RZE-MF=A=+—H 2,069,700 1,151,916 - 22,935 — 3,244,551

At 31 March 2023 R-F-=5=A=1—-H 2,355,031 1,219,729 - 26,544 — 3,601,304
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

22,

23.

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2023/24 FEMTIZERAR AT 2023240 7 8RE

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The exclusive rights of natural gas operation, technology rights,
licenses and customer relationship are amortised on a straight-line
method over the period of 30 years, 40 years, 3 to 10 years and 10
years respectively.

Production sharing right represents the right under the production
contract entered into between a subsidiary of the Company and
a PRC entity for the exploitation and development of a coal-
bed methane resource in the PRC (the “CBM Project”) under
an exclusive right granted by the PRC government to explore,
develop and produce coal-bed methane with that PRC entity as
joint operation partner until 2029. The management of the Group
sought advice from its legal advisor and has been advised that there
is a sound basis to further extend the exclusive right to 2038. The
Group has a 50% participating stake in the CBM Project. Production
sharing right is amortised by using the units of production method
based on the expected proven reserve to be extracted.

H\EEEE )

AAREF 2 BRE L - ok - 7
Al REFBEE D BIR304 ~ 404 - 3210
FRI0FZ BB ABGRE T AR -

EENKEEART —HNE AR E—
Al B b X B AR IR P B BUT IR B
BEX(ERRARZERH) K - M#E
RAEERERNBREEEM R KRR
BHhERERER(IKERER DL
MEEANETZEN  BRHE-F
“NEF AEENEEED MEERRE
RERERILEEMEB A SEERERS
RRERE-—FLERE_F=Z)/\F - K
SENKEREBHEAS0% 2 B -
A oy FXREAR 15 K5 B BR O TR R AR IR B
BEMEESELDET ASH -

INVENTORIES 23. 78
2024 2023
—E-MEF =%
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Construction materials fEyv) 2,101,380 2,819,700
Value-added products and BEE M IR EFESR
service consumables 938,753 1,180,292
Properties under development BRERAYE 413,399 386,427
Natural gas RAR 470,877 685,800
LPG BAL AR 691,539 445,403
Consumables, spare parts and HER - B REME
other materials 115,332 137,823
4,731,280 5,655,445




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

24. CONTRACT ASSETS/LIABILITIES

BREE BfE

2024 2023
—E-MEF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Contract assets — current BHEE — BE
Construction contracts in gas pipeline MREBEREREEGL
construction 10,260,982 12,706,697
Contract liabilities — current EHaE —
Construction contracts in gas pipeline MR EBRENEEED
construction 1,728,220 2,020,536
Purchase of natural gas, LPG and BEARAR  RIEABRRK
other sales Hisye 6,840,041 7,059,596
8,568,261 9,080,132

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration is due.
Contract assets primarily relate to the Group'’s right to consideration
for work completed because the rights are conditional on the
Group's future performance in achieving specified milestones on
the contract work. The contract assets are transferred to trade
receivables when the rights become unconditional.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract
are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

As at 1 April 2022, contract assets amounted to
HK$17,138,269,000 and contract liabilities amounted to
HK$9,443,070,000.

BHEERAKENEBRETEFPNE
in 25 AR 795 U AR FE (B 9 R (15 R A 75
BT ERBEERMBRELNS
SRR fHIRIE - R - %Hﬁzmlﬁh$$
B IR ERRGEREN - DR BEHFE
B R ENRZ B - G%’Jéﬁéi
B RAEERD TR TERERED
B RREHRENAFASERRK
‘$%/\%’JIVEE’J#—?E£&E${§ &
- ERMBNKAEGIE  GHE
ENEEEEZRERE -

BHRBEEASEREATP IR E
(HEIHEMZRE) - MERATFEE
EmSIMBHEE -

HEANEBEZANEERANARBR
FEEEARNMES

RZZE-_=—FWA—H AHNEEAR
17,138,269,000% 7T - Frﬁ SHBENA
9,443,070,000/8 7T ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE =T ZWF=A=+—HIEFE

24. CONTRACT ASSETS/LIABILITIES (Continued)

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract
assets and contract liabilities recognised are as follows:

The Group’s revenue from gas pipeline construction contracts is
measured using the input method. The Group requires certain
customers to provide upfront deposits before the commencement
of the construction as part of its credit risk management policies.

The Group classifies these contract assets as current because the
Group expects to realise them in its normal operating cycle.

When the Group receives a deposit before the construction
commences, this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start of
a contract, until the revenue recognised on the relevant contract
exceeds the amount of the deposit.

For the sales of natural gas to household customers, the Group
generally requires advance payment before the usage of the
natural gas through prepaid cards. The charge of the actual usage
of natural gas will be deducted directly from the balance of the
prepaid cards. The customers can only consume the natural gas
up to the balance of the prepaid cards. For certain industrial and
commercial customers, the Group requires advance payment before
the usage of the natural gas. Any shortage against the periodically
actual charge for the actual usage of natural gas will be billed by
the Group accordingly. This would give rise to contract liabilities
until the revenue recognised on the relevant contract reaches/
exceeds the amount of advance payment.

24,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

24. CONTRACT ASSETS/LIABILITIES (Continued)

=] nIJﬁF/E 1§<Z§>

For the sales of LPG, the Group would require advance payments g,ﬁﬁ RIEAHERMES  AEREe@ENR
from certain customers for the sales of LPG which gives rise to EFEPmEERbAARENZ
contract liabilities until the revenue recognised on the relevant HELAHNEBE BEEHEBEAS ’jﬁﬁﬁﬁw
contract exceeds the amount of advance payment. MR ABBTENSZE AL -

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised TEHVOERHN KW AEREES LA E

relates to carried-forward contract liabilities and how much relates
to performance obligations that were satisfied in prior periods.

BRANFEENARTSHEBITHNENRSE
ERZEH -

Purchase of
natural gas,

Construction LPG and
contracts other sales
BERAR
WAL FHR R
BREN HitigH &
HK$'000 HK$’000
FHT FHT
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE-ZE_NFE=A=+—H
LLFE
Revenue recognised that was included in the FE¥ERBIEN A KB ELEH
contract liabilities balance at the beginning ~ #JIA
of the year 2,020,536 7,059,596
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE-E-_=Z=f=ZRA=+—H
LLFE
Revenue recognised that was included in the FHERETER AN B EEE
contract liabilities balance at the beginning  BJUYA
of the year 2,408,833 7,034,237

Details of impairment assessment of contract assets are set out in
note 39.

BRBEZRENSFHEHNHES9 -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25. EZRWERAR K EWERIE
2024 2023
—EmEF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TExT FHT
Trade receivables from contracts with BEAHNELENE FEI
customers ARIH 6,684,417 7,271,886
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEBERE (1,060,618) (989,259)
Trade receivables, net B o EWERIB ERE 5,623,799 6,282,627
Deposits paid for construction and TITREFEMVBRE RS
other materials 1,474,578 1,497,602
Deposits paid for purchase of natural gas BERXARIBILAEHR
and LPG BfiEe 3,067,304 3,860,858
Advance payments to sub-contractors BT OB HIE 1,046,921 1,071,346
Rental and utilities deposits MeR A ARAEELS 521,239 617,013
Other tax recoverable H b r] Uk B 5518 663,550 562,078
Other receivables and deposits H i IR EEIE MRS 1,675,697 1,450,126
Prepaid operating expenses TEfHE &R 1,376,951 1,225,351
Amounts due from non-controlling FEUS B B A A FEFE R AE 25
interests of subsidiaries RIE 69,559 135,410
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments E{hfEWERIE « 124 MTE[N I8 9,895,799 10,419,784
Total trade and other receivables H S EUNERIE K H At FE BRI
Haza 15,519,598 16,702,411

As at 1 April 2022, trade receivables from contracts with customers
(net of allowance for credit losses) amounted to HK$5,740,964,000.

Other than certain major customers with good repayment history
to which the Group allows a longer credit period or settlement
by instalment basis, the Group generally allows an average credit
period of 30 to 180 days to its trade customers.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE =T ZWF=A=+—HIEFE

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 25. ESEWERER EMEWRIRE
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group entered REBEEz_ZEZ_MWME=A=+—HI&E

into contracts with an independent third party (2023: certain
independent third parties) (the “Entrusted Party(ies)”), pursuant
to which the Group has agreed to entrust the Entrusted Party(ies)
with trade receivables in the gas connection segment of
amounting to approximately RMB2,471,000,000 (approximately
HK$2,730,387,000) (2023: RMB3,756,417,000 (approximately
HK$4,293,048,000)) in aggregate, for the purpose of the issuance
of debt financing instruments backed by the cash flow generated
from the trade receivables. Management of the Group assessed
that, through the contracts with the Entrusted Party(ies), the Group
has transferred all the contractual rights to receive the cash flows
and transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the trade receivables to the Entrusted Party(ies). The Group
derecognised the related trade receivables of RMB2,471,000,000
(approximately HK$2,730,387,000) (2023: RMB3,756,417,000
(approximately HK$4,293,048,000)) during the year ended 31
March 2024 upon completion of transfer and recognised a loss
on derecognition of financial assets measured at amortised cost
of HK$237,601,000 (2023: HK$367,212,000) in other gains and
losses.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables net of

B AEBHE-EBIUF=H(ZZ
TEE ETBUE=ZA)ZEF
ﬁDJi 2Bt AEBEREZR

AR ALY AR 2,471,000,0007T (£
2730387000/%7t>(_f*—¢ A
R # 3,756,417,000 ( %7 4,293,048,000
BIL))HWBMEEESBE S EWEET
SXETEH  UNBTUESEREEES
MESREEFNESERETAR - AE
BEEEENG BRAEIZITNAEG
4 AEBEREBRHMAEKREREREN
BRHEFRELE SRIKIRIEMBEER
BAADPRABREERFIELES o K
EERERERERIIEREE _Z
TWFE=A=t+t—HIFEANHBZ
5 FEWBRTE A R ¥ 2,471,000,000 7T (£
2,730,387,000 8 T ) (Z T =_=F + A
EM3,756 417, 000 7T ( #74,293,048,000
BIL)) U EMKEREERERR
t%%ﬁ%%&ﬁﬁgziﬂéF%
18 237,601,000 T ( =& = = F :
367,212,000 7T) ©

RBEBR REZAM2IIZ2EHE

allowance for credit losses presented based on invoice date at the WEETE (%= 1B LB G ) 2 BRI D 4T
end of the reporting period: mE

2024 2023

—R-NF —To=F

HK$'000 HK$’000

THET THET

0-180 days 0£180H 2,400,788 3,229,635

181-365 days 181H2365H 576,011 708,738

Over 365 days 3658 £ 2,647,000 2,344,254

5,623,799 6,282,627

The Group has policies for allowance for credit losses which are
based on the evaluation of collectability and aged analysis of
trade receivables and on the management’s judgment including
the current creditworthiness and the past collection history of
customers as well as relevant forward-looking information.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables are
set out in note 39.

AEE 2 ERBRABERRIERER
FORM R 2 5HE R B 5 U R TE 2 Bk ik
AT YRBEEEEHEEEFPAKZ
ERBES - WGREE 2 HIET A R AR AT
B RHHIE -

B 5 W AR & B th FE U BRIE 2 R B Y
CRACEANIEEER
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE =T ZWF=A=+—HIEFE

26. AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) ASSOCIATES/

JOINT VENTURES

Included in the balance of amounts due from associates are
(i) a loan of HK$26,422,000 (2023: HK$384,392,000) which
is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable according to
the terms of agreement; (ii) amounts that are of trade nature of
HK$44,971,000 (2023: HK$84,671,000) and aged within 180
days based on invoice date; and (iii) a dividend receivable of
HK$4,779,000 (2023: HK$5,025,000) from associates. A credit
period of 30 to 180 days is granted to the associates for trade
amounts. Details of impairment assessment of amounts due from
associates are set out in note 39.

As at 31 March 2024, amounts due to associates of HK$81,760,000
(2023: HK$72,050,000) are of trade nature and aged within 180
days based on invoice date.

Included in the balance of amounts due from joint ventures
are (i) loans of HK$65,217,000 (2023: HK$80,000,000) which
are unsecured, interest-bearing at fixed rates 5.70% (2023:
5.70%) per annum; and (ii) amounts that are of trade nature of
HK$2,008,153,000 (2023: HK$3,912,023,000) and aged within
180 days based on invoice date. A credit period of 180 days is
granted to the joint ventures for trade amounts. The remaining
balance of HK$4,241,345,000 (2023: HK$1,967,553,000) is
of non-trade nature, which is unsecured, non-interest bearing
and repayable on demand. Details of impairment assessment of
amounts due from joint ventures are set out in note 39.

Included in the balance of amounts due to joint ventures are
amounts that are of trade nature of HK$180,704,000 (2023:
HK$156,108,000) and aged within 180 days based on invoice
date. The remaining balance of HK$185,798,000 (2023: Nil) is of
non-trade nature, which is unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayable on demand.

26.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

27. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 27. TTEE®MIA
2024 2023
—E-mE —EZ=F
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
BE a8\ BE 8E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FTHET T TFHET

Bensyhest|ET
PTHETIAR:

Derivatives under cash flow
hedge accounting:

Cross currency interest rate R X E W R 24 B
swap contracts =X

28,757 — —

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when
derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period.
The Group designates derivatives as hedging instruments for cash
flow hedges. At the inception of the hedging relationship the Group
documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and
the hedged item, along with its risk management objectives and its
strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. Furthermore,
at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group
documents whether the hedging instrument is highly effective in
offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item
attributable to the hedged risk.

For hedge effectiveness assessment, the Group considers whether
the hedging instrument is effective in offsetting changes in fair
values or cash flows of the hedged item attributable to the hedged
risk, which is when the hedging relationships meet all of the
following hedge effectiveness requirements:

° there is an economic relationship between the hedged item
and the hedging instrument;

o the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes
that result from that economic relationship; and

° the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as
that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item that
the Group actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging
instrument that the entity actually uses to hedge that quantity
of hedged item.

TETANMPEIIUTETARHBER
M FERER - HRINBRERROQ
FEEFAE AKERETET AR
RREREBE P 2EH TR - REIHE
FERBE - NEBCHEET TAERKY
FHIAR 2R ARERRERA
BLHEETERE TR P 2K - it
S - REE G E IR MR AR
BT TARE®EA B K HH
HhmEAERBREHMEHZ AFEE

ReRELD -

REPERMEFEME  AREEEE
HHTARTEMA R HEKE HIRE
HERSHER 2 A FEI RS RES
B - TREE R BRI T & T 5 S
BRUIEENR :

o RENPIREEEIR T AZRFEL
R

o ERRBRZEZELRTELLHERE
RATEE 2 BEZL &

o HIRBERZEIMLREREEER
Bz P RERERASEE
RAESIPZ BB 2R EPIRE Z
R TAHEMSH 2L EMER -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE =T ZWF=A=+—HIEFE

27. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives
and other qualifying hedging instruments that are designated and
qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated under the heading of hedging reserve,
limited to the cumulative change in fair value of the hedged item
from inception of the hedge. The gain or loss relating to the
ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss, and
is included in the “other gains and losses” line item. Amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods
when the hedged item affects profit or loss, in the same line as the
recognised hedged item.

The Group entered into cross currency interest rate swap contracts
in order to manage the Group's foreign currency exposure and
interest rate exposure in relation to the Group’s borrowings which
are denominated in HK$ and USD and with interests indexed
to Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR") and Secured
Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR") respectively. These cross
currency interest rate swap contracts are designated as hedging
instruments which hedge the variability in the cash flows relating
to interest and principal repayments of the underlying hedged
borrowings.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has the following
outstanding cross currency interest rate swap contracts:

() An aggregate notional amount of HK$1,688,700,000 that
requires the Group to buy HK$ for RMB at exchange rate
of RMB0.9187 for HK$1 and change from paying floating
interest rate of HIBOR+1.10% per annum to paying fixed
rates ranging from 3.95% to 3.98% per annum with a
maturity period that matches the maturity period of the
relevant borrowings; and

(i) An aggregate notional amount of USD283,500,000
(approximately HK$2,211,300,000) that requires the Group to
buy USD for RMB at exchange rate of RMB7.3127 for USD1
and change from paying floating interest rate of SOFR+1.30%
per annum to paying fixed rates ranging from 3.96% to
3.99% per annum with a maturity period that matches the
maturity period of the relevant borrowings.

27.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

27.

28.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the fair value gain of cross
currency interest rate swap contracts that are designated and
effective as hedging instruments of HK$32,936,000 is recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in hedging reserve.
Cumulative fair value gain of HK$25,181,000 was reclassified to
profit or loss on realisation of cash flow hedge.

The cross currency interest rate swap contracts are measured at fair
value at the end of the reporting period. Details of the fair value

27.

TTEER T A
BE-T-_ME-A=+—AIFE

#E.Eﬁﬁxﬁzf’ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂlﬂz X X B M|
i HE 7 A F{EWRE32,936,000%
TREMEEBRAERL R E PREER
it o BEFAFEUWEE25,181,00058 T 5k
Bensh28REaNnBEEas -

RXXEEFXEMEHORBREMRIZL
FEE - APEFEZFBHNME

measurements are set out in note 39. 39
HELD-FOR-TRADING INVESTMENTS 28. HEFEERE
2024 2023
—E-mEF —EC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TExT FHT
Equity securities at fair value listed BATHEINEZ BB EHARA
in Hong Kong FEH 27,585 104,536

Held-for-trading investments as at 31 March 2024 and 2023
represent equity securities listed in Hong Kong. The fair values
of the investments are determined based on the quoted market
bid prices available on the Stock Exchange. The fair value of held-
for-trading investments is classified as Level 1 of the fair value
hierarchy.

KRB WER T =F=A=+—
AR EEERERNETE LT ZRA
BH o ZFEREZRNFEERERZMA
GMEHREMNEE - HEEEREZR
FESBERATFEBRE R -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

29. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/CASH AND CASH

EQUIVALENTS

Pledged bank deposits represent deposits pledged to banks to
secure banking facilities granted to the Group. Deposits amounting
to HK$185,999,000 (2023: HK$178,696,000) have been pledged
to secure short-term bank loans and undrawn short-term facilities
and are therefore classified as current assets. The pledged bank
deposits carry fixed interest rates of 0.20% to 2.05% (2023: 0.35%
t0 2.17%) per annum.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash held by the Group and
short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months
or less and carry interest at market rates which range from 0.01%
10 1.35% (2023: 0.01% to 1.75%) per annum.

The details of the Group’s pledged bank deposits and cash and
cash equivalents which are denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of the respective group entities are set out
below:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

29. EEARTER REREE
EEEH

ERBROGTREANGSE FAEE
ZIMITBREMBERTFRITZER °
185,999,000 % ;t ( = & = = F
178,696,000/ 7T ) 2 17 5k B {E K #7 AR
SEHMBTEREARRIZEHHE -
At n AR EE - CEMIBITER
BEHF020EE205E( T - =4F :
0.35EZE2.17[E) 2 BIFEFIEEE o

RekBReSEEHBREAEEEFZ
R M RARZE A K AREIH 2 & 5
RITEZR  REF001EE135E (=
—=F0.01EE1.758) 2 H R
H o

AEBASHBESELER 2 EEEI
S BREHEZEEMRITERARLR
T RREEFERB ZHBHIMT

usbD SGD HK$
EYH N3 T BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET THET
equivalent equivalent
8 EE
At 31 March 2024 RZEBE-NMFE=ZA=+—H 534,574 855 69,387
At 31 March 2023 W_T_=F=RF=+—H 437,516 — 87,868
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30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 30. E5EARERHMENERIE

2024 2023

- o113 ZEC=F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FTHET FHTT

Trade and bill payables B O RNEBRENER 12,969,934 14,647,872

Other payables and accrued charges HAa A BRIE R EAE A 1,756,140 1,574,410

Consideration payables 283,200 295,278

Construction cost payables FENTIRER 582,990 838,162

Retention payables and security deposits BRREFS KiZE

received 1,318,370 1,600,123

Accrued staff costs BT TR A 150,980 150,221

Loan interest payables FERTESRFIE 375,488 253,297
Amounts due to non-controlling interests of  FE{< [} B 2 &) JEIZR AR HE 25 718

subsidiaries (Note) (FfFsE) 191,649 197,965

Other payables and accruals HAbEERIERESEA 4,658,817 4,909,456
Total trade and other payables Z S BT IRIB R E A B ARIA

Gk 17,628,751 19,557,328

Note: The amounts due to non-controlling interests of subsidiaries are non-trade
in nature, unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

The average credit period on trade purchases and ongoing costs is
90 to 180 days.

The following is an aged analysis of trade and bill payables
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting

BiaE : ENB R RS TIRZIFES R
BEHRREER - RS NARERREE -

HHRERFERAN 2 FEREHRR0
Z180H °

RBEMR  REZAH2IZ2EHE
NERBELRENERZRROTMOT -

period:
2024 2023
—EmFE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T FAT
0-90 days 6,901,648 9,430,268
91-180 days 91HZ180H 1,731,838 883,401
Over 180 days 4,336,448 4,334,203
12,969,934 14,647,872
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

31. LEASE LIABILITIES

31. HEEE

2024 2023
—E-MEF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Lease liabilities payable: ERHEEEE :
Within one year R—FER 58,146 200,709
Within a period of more than one year RHH—F LA FENEBRMRE
but not more than two years 30,500 171,136
Within a period of more than two years BEMFEL BT EBRART
but not more than five years 56,693 525,802
More than five years HFLAE 27,711 478,397
173,050 1,376,044
Less: Amount due for settlement within B 128 AREEEET A RS
12 months shown under current BEZHIA
liabilities (58,146) (200,709)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months  121# 3 12 B Hi& 2 5 A IE 7 &)
shown under non-current liabilities BEZHE 114,904 1,175,335
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 32. RITRHEMEE

2024 2023
—E-ME ZEZ=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FET

Bank and other borrowings comprise the RITREMEEBREAT

following: B8

Bank borrowings RITEE 45,359,660 50,138,721
Other borrowings HEE 13,705,695 9,872,080
59,065,355 60,010,801

Analysed for reporting purposes as: MERRME AN AE
Current e 23,043,420 21,907,608
Non-current JEFEY 36,021,935 38,103,193
59,065,355 60,010,801
Secured B 6,705,324 3,463,918
Unsecured Eii i 52,360,031 56,546,883
59,065,355 60,010,801
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued) 32. BITREMEE
Bank borrowings Other borrowings
BITEE HifE e
2024 2023 2024 2023

—B-ME ZTD=F ZRCONFE ZF-=F
HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
TER TAT T AT

The maturity profile of the above _Eit{E & 2~ FIHAIER
borrowings is as follows: O

On demand or within one year BREREESID—FRN 19,930,314 17,543,024 3,113,106 4,364,584
Within a period of more than BH—FL EETEA

one year but not more than GEE

two years 15,210,395 17,527,217 727,358 1,988,857
Within a period of more than BHMEL LB A

two years but not more than HF

five years 8,171,883 14,705,985 8,216,918 2,299,143
More than five years HEFLLE 2,047,068 362,495 1,648,313 1,219,496

45,359,660 50,138,721 13,705,695 9,872,080
Less: Amount due within one B —FREEIFIA

year shown under current BB EZHIE
liabilities (19,930,314) (17,543,024) (3,113,106) (4,364,584)
Amount due after one year —F B E|EF AFERED
shown under non-current BEZHIE
liabilities 25,429,346 32,595,697 10,592,589 5,507,496
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

32. RITREMEE®)

2024 2023
—E-ME = S =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Fixed-rate borrowings EEEE 24,349,587 15,963,092
Floating-rate borrowings FEEE
— London Interbank Offered Rate plus — RPERITREREE I
1.00% 1.00/2 — 2,808,000
— HIBOR for offshore RMB(“CNH HIBOR”) — ZF&RITRIEAREIRS
plus 0.11% to 1.00% ([BBRITREARE
(2023: CNH HIBOR plus 0.11%) FEDBMONER
1.00E(ZE==%F:
BARITRZEARE
B2 S0, 117) 2,565,227 1,568,914
— HIBOR plus 1.10% to 1.20% — BLRITRAEFREE SN
(2023: HIBOR plus 1.00% to 1.10%) 1.10EE1.20F
—E-ZF  BTiRTT
FEZEFREEZSIMNI.00EE
1.10/2) 3,692,926 8,330,622
— SOFR plus 1.00% to 1.30% — BERBREENES
1.00EE1.30E 4,091,100 4,091,100
— Base rate of the People’s Bank of China ~ — I A RBITEEFIE 24,366,515 27,249,073
59,065,355 60,010,801

Other borrowings mainly include: (i) other borrowings from
certain financial institutions of HK$5,131,787,000 (2023:
HK$2,937,500,000) which are secured by property, plant and
equipment, carry interest ranging from 3.18% to 4.17% (2023:
from 3.18% to 4.17%) per annum and repayable in 2029 to 2032
(2023: 2030 to 2031); (ii) corporate bonds and super and short-
term commercial papers in the PRC of HK$4,025,000,000 (2023:
HK$5,603,429,000) which are unsecured, carry interest ranging
from 2.20% to 3.20% (2023: 1.90% to 3.00%) per annum and
repayable in 2024 to 2029 (2023: 2023 to 2027); and (iii) the
Company'’s corporate bonds as disclosed below.

HaBEZERIE - ((REEToR%E
HEMEES,131,787,0008 T (ZE ==
£ :2,937,500,0007870) + AW - B
B R BIEER - BN TF318ER417E
(ZE-=F 1 318EZ4.17B ) MFFX
B URN_E-AFE-_T=—F(=
T ZE=TFE T =—F)H
BIERE (WP ERQEES M BESR
¥ Z=4£4,025,000,0008 7T (- B - =4 :
5,603,429,000/7T) + AEEIE - &N T
220EE320E(-Z _: C190EE
300J‘>E|’J$7‘ruﬂ+% —E-F
—== ni(_?__ﬁ :Ez:ﬁ
—E-F)BEES - RGiVARE T
S(Pﬁ%)isgmaiﬁ%%
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE=—F

“HE=ZA=1T—HLFE

32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

The details of the corporate bonds of the Company as included in

32.

RITREMBEE @

FRARMBEEZARBNRARESHBE

the other borrowings are as follows: W
2024 2023
—E-MF —EC=fF
HK$'000 HK$000
FET FAT
Corporate bond 1 (Note i) ARESH 1M = 34,013
Corporate bond 2 (Note ii) NRIESH 2(MFED 1,086,956 1,142,857
Corporate bond 3 (Note iii) ~alfES 3D 1,630,435 —
Corporate bond 4 (Note iv) ~alfEH 4 5Eiv) 1,630,435 —
4,347,826 1,176,870

Notes: 5T

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

The corporate bond of RMB2 billion was issued with coupon and effective
interest rate of 4.38% per annum in the PRC on 24 October 2018 and
maturity date on 24 October 2023. The corporate bond is tradable on
the National Interbank Bond Market of the PRC. During the year ended
31 March 2023, the Group early redeemed part of the corporate bond of
RMB1.97 billion (approximately HK$2.43 billion). During the year ended
31 March 2024, the corporate bond matured and the Group redeemed
the balance in full.

The corporate bond of RMB1 billion was issued with coupon and effective
interest rate of 3.38% per annum in PRC on 10 March 2020 and maturity
date on 10 March 2025. The corporate bond is tradable on the National
Interbank Bond Market of the PRC.

The corporate bond of RMB1.5 billion was issued with coupon and
effective interest rate of 3.15% per annum in the PRC on 6 September
2023 and maturity date on 6 September 2028. The corporate bond is
tradable in the National Interbank Bond Market of the PRC.

The corporate bond of RMB1.5 billion was issued with coupon and
effective interest rate of 3.20% per annum in the PRC on 18 October
2023 and maturity date on 18 October 2028. The corporate bond is
tradable on the National Interbank Bond Market of the PRC.

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued) 32. BITRAEMMEE @)
The range of effective interest rates on the Group’s borrowings are REFBES Y ERFEHNER(JAER
as follows: BESESLUNNE
2024 2023
—E-MEF —T=F
Effective interest rates per annum: BEBRFEF X
Fixed-rate borrowings TEEE 0.90%-5.50% 0.90%-5.10%
Floating-rate borrowings FEEE 3.00%-6.65% 3.00%-6.60%
The details of the Group’s borrowings which are denominated in AREBUINESAHEZEEFHFEYWOT ¢
foreign currencies are set out below:
Japanese Yen
HK$ ("JPY")
H
BT (re@l
HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
equivalent equivalent
%A EE
At 31 March 2024 RZE_WNF=A=+—H — 297,974
At 31 March 2023 W_E_=F=A=+—H 498,542 359,783
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

33. SHARE CAPITAL 33. B
Convertible
Ordinary shares preference shares Total
EER TRRELR At
No. of shares No. of shares
'000 at '000 at
HK$0.01 each HK$'000  HK$1.00 each HK$'000 HK$'000
BREE0.01 BIREE1.00
BTLH) BTCH)
AR TAT TR Thx TET
Authorised ETE 9,000,000 90,000 124,902 124,902 214,902
Issued and fully paid: BEIRER -
At1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023 R=Z-—4#WA-AK
“E-=F=f=1+-H 5,440,336 54,403 — — 54,403
Shares repurchased R (4.763) (47) — — (47)
At 31 March 2024 RZE-WF=F=1—-A4 5,435,573 54,356 — — 54,356

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company or its
subsidiaries repurchased a total of 4,762,600 shares of the
Company on the Stock Exchange at an aggregate repurchase
costs of HK$43,911,000, inclusive of total consideration paid of

HK$43,723,000 and related transaction costs of HK$188,000.

HE-_Z-_NE=ZA=+—H8IFE -
ARARREWNBARREBMELS
4,762,600 A& QR B 1D - 4258 B A
K 543,911,000 T (BEEFBNRE
43,723,000/ 7T &2 A8 B8 22 5 X, 75 188,000
B o

Price per share
BRER

No. of Aggregate
ordinary shares consideration
of HK$0.01 each Highest Lowest paid

SREE
0.01%7 EARE
ZEBRRE && RiE @t
Month of repurchase EEAH HKS HKS HK$'000
oy BT TAT
May 2023 ZEZ=F1A 4,762,600 931 9.01 43,723

All the above repurchased shares had been cancelled.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

34. DEFERRED TAXATION 34. IELERIR
The following is the deferred tax (assets) liabilities recognised and NTFAERANEERBTEEZEERE
movements thereon during the current and prior years. ERIB(BE)AREALABES) o
Fair value
adjustment Impairment
on property, on trade
plantand and other Other  Impairment
Accelerated  Revaluation  equipment receivables  payables on property,
tax on  and right-of- Tax  Intangible and contract and  plantand
depreciation  properties  use assets losses assets assets  accruals  equipment Total
0% BER EARNRE
REUR REfEY  EfES ES
EE (il - RERAH KER BER

& MRE AVESE  WEEE  BVEE  EERE  BRER REAE &3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TERL TEL TiEn TR TEL TEL TiEn TEn

At 1 April 2022 RZZE-—#MA-A 375,046 110,868 141,150 (229,306) 820,378 (446,433) — (29,267) 742,436
Exchange adjustments ERAE (13,619) (4,026) (5,125) 8328 (29,789) 16,209 — 1,063 (26,959)
(Credit) charge to profit or loss ERHERT AR

for the year (note 9 (st9) (3989 8333 @710 (60087 (30,164) 8641 (31417 — 1
Charge to other comprehensive ERRERZERARIR

income for the year — 24,380 - - - - - - 24,380
Acquisition of subsiciaries (note 37)  YEEMEBA (fi537) - - - - 2364 - - - 2364
At 31 March 2023 RZBZZE=R=1-A 337438 214,557 127315 (481,065 762789  (421583)  (81.417)  (28204) 429830
Exchange adjustments ERAE (17,837) (8,750) (6,085) 21,940 (37,110) 11,839 4,020 1,380 (24,603)
Charge (credft)to profit o loss ERRNERRAR(IA)

for the year (note 9) (P3x9) 125,963 (27,154) (8,710) (487,449) (31,141) (2,196) (2302) - (432,989)
At 31 March 2024 RZE-ME=F=1-H 445,564 178,653 112,520 (940,574) 694,538 (411,940) (79,699) (26,824) (27,762)
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement MEVNGEEMBARREMS @ & TEE
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities MBEENLEGD P - LT AR
have been offset. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax FEREM S ZIEETIBLER DT -

balances for financial reporting purposes:

2024 2023

—S-NE —Eo=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHBT

Deferred tax assets RETRITAE = (1,459,037) (1,012,269)
Deferred tax liabilities ELEFHIEARE 1,431,275 1,442,099
(27,762) 429,830
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE =T ZWF=A=+—HIEFE

34. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

Under the EIT Law, withholding tax is imposed on dividends
declared in respect of profit earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1
January 2008 onward. No deferred taxation has been provided for
in the consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary
differences attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC entities
amounting to HK$70,602,480,000 (2023: HK$67,674,715,000) as
the Group is able to control the timing of reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Majority of the joint ventures and associates established in the
PRC are held directly by certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Group established in the PRC which are therefore not subject to the
above-mentioned withholding tax.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has estimated unused
tax losses of HK$18,407,909,000 (2023: HK$14,458,423,000)
available for offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of HK$3,821,798,000 (2023:
HK$1,983,759,000) of the tax losses. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised for the remaining estimated tax losses of
HK$14,586,111,000 (2023: HK$12,474,664,000) due to the
uncertainty of future profits streams. Included in unrecognised
estimated tax losses are losses of HK$4,146,323,000 (2023:
HK$5,654,498,000) that will expire in 5 years from the year of
origination which is ranged from 2025 to 2028 (2023: 2024 to
2027). Other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

34.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE =T ZWF=A=+—HIEFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND SHARE-BASED 35.

PAYMENTS

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of
equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding
increase in equity (employee share-based compensation reserve).
At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate
of the number of equity instruments expected to vest based on
an assessment of all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The
impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised
in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the employee share-
based compensation reserve. For share awards/share options that
vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the share
awards/share options granted is expensed immediately to profit or
loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in employee share-based compensation reserve will
be transferred to share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in employee share-based
compensation reserve will be transferred to accumulated profits.

When share awards granted are vested, the amount previously
recognised in employee share-based compensation reserve and the
amount of the relevant share awards (presented under treasury
shares reserve) will be transferred to accumulated profits.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (Continued)

A share option scheme was adopted pursuant to a resolution
passed on 20 August 2013 (“Old Share Option Scheme”).
The purpose of the Old Share Option Scheme is to grant share
options to eligible persons as incentives or rewards for their
contribution to the Group. The Old Share Option Scheme was
terminated and replaced by a new share option scheme (“New
share Option Scheme"”) on 23 August 2023.

The Old Share Option Scheme

The eligible persons as defined in the Old Share Option
Scheme are individuals or entities who or which may
participate in the Old Share Option Scheme (“Eligible
Persons”). The following individuals or entities who in
the absolute discretion of the board of directors of the
Company have contributed to the Group on the basis of their
contribution to the development and growth of the Group
may participate in the Scheme:

(i) an eligible employee;

(i)  a non-executive director and an independent non-
executive director of any member of the Group;

(i) an agent or a consultant of any member of the Group;

(iv) a supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any director or employee of such supplier;

(v)  acustomer of any member of the Group or any director
or employee of such customer;

(vi)  person or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support or any advisory, consultancy
or professional services to any member of the Group or
any director or employee of any such entity;

(vii) a subsidiary of the Company; and

(viii) a company in which the Company holds, either directly
or indirectly, 20% or more of its equity interest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (Continued)

The Old Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The maximum number of shares available for subscription is as
follows:

(i)

Subject to the Listing Rules, the maximum number
of the shares of the Company subject to outstanding
unvested or vested options under the Old Share Option
Scheme and outstanding options under other share
option scheme of the Company (if any) must not exceed
30% of the shares of the Company in issue as at 20
August 2013 (“Overriding Limit”). No options may be
granted if it will result in this Overriding Limit being
exceeded.

Subject to the Overriding Limit, paragraphs (iii) and (iv)
below, the total number of shares of the Company
issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
must not exceed 10% of the shares of the Company
in issue as at 20 August 2013 (subject to adjustment in
the event of a capitalisation issue or rights issue or open
offer of shares of the Company, or consolidation, sub-
division or reduction of share capital of the Company
(other than an issue of shares of the Company as
consideration in respect of a transaction)) (“Mandate
Limit”). Unless approved pursuant to paragraphs (iii) or
(iv) below, no options may be granted if such grant will
result in the Mandate Limit being exceeded. Options
lapsed according to the terms of the Old Share Option
Scheme or other share option scheme(s) will not be
counted for the purpose of calculating the Mandate
Limit.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE =T ZWF=A=+—HIEFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (Continued)

The Old Share Option Scheme (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Subject to the Overriding Limit and an approval of
shareholders of the Company, the Company may from
time to time “refresh” a Mandate Limit provided that
the total number of shares of the Company which may
be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the limit as “refreshed” must not exceed 10%
of the shares of the Company in issue at the date
of the resolution to approve the “refreshed” limit
("Refresher Date”). Options previously granted (whether
outstanding, cancelled, lapsed (according to the Old
Share Option Scheme or the other share option schemes
of the Company) or exercised) will not be counted for
the purpose of calculating the limit as “refreshed”. The
Company can seek the approval of shareholders of the
Company to “refresh” a Mandate Limit any number
of times as the board of directors of the Company
considers appropriate. Unless approved pursuant to
paragraph (iv) below, the board of directors of the
Company cannot grant any options on or after the
Refresher Date if such grant will result in the Mandate
Limit as refreshed being exceeded. On 21 August 2019,
the Company obtained the approval of shareholders to
refresh the Mandate Limit, which represents 10% of
the total issued share capital of the Company on that
day.

Subject to the Overriding Limit and a specific approval
of shareholders of the Company, the board of directors
of the Company may grant options to Eligible Persons
identified by the board of directors of the Company.
If the approval of shareholders of the Company is
obtained, the board of directors of the Company may
grant options to any Eligible Person in respect of such
number of shares of the Company and on such terms
as specified in that approval of shareholders of the
Company.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (Continued)

The Old Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Options granted under the Old Share Option Scheme must be
taken up within 20 business days of the date of grant and pay
the Company the amount payable, if any, on acceptance of
the option. Any option under the Old Share Option Scheme
which has vested, in respect of which all conditions attaching
to it have satisfied and which has not lapsed may be exercised
at any time, by no option may be exercised if such exercise
would, in the opinion of the board of directors of the
Company, be in breach of the Old Share Option Scheme, any
applicable law, rule or regulation or the terms and conditions
of the relevant option granted under the Old Share Option
Scheme.

The exercise price is determined by the directors of the
Company, and will not be less than the highest of (i) the
closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant;
(i) the average closing price of the shares for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s share.

The New Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is to (a)
recognise and reward the contribution of certain eligible
participants to the growth and development of the Group
and to give incentives thereto in order to retain them for the
continual operation and development of the Group; and (b)
to attract suitable personnel for further development of the
Group.

The New Share Option Scheme shall remain in force for a
period of 10 years commencing on 23 August 2023.

The eligible participants of the New Share Option Scheme
include the Employee Participants, the Service Providers and
the Related Entity Participants (each, an “Eligible Participant”,
as defined below).

“Employee Participants” include any director and employee of
the Group.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (Continued)

The New Share Option Scheme (Continued)

“Service Providers” include any person who provide services
to the Group on a continuing or recurring basis in its ordinary
and usual course of business which are in the interests of
the long-term growth of the Group, including the following
persons:

(i) consultants providing business consulting services to the
Group, in relation to the Company’s principal business
activities involving sale of natural gas, gas connection,
engineering design and construction, sale of LPG and
value-added services (which include the sale of kitchen-
focused household products and services, value-added
services provided to corporate customers, customer
pipeline maintenance and the sale of value-added
products and services for government-led projects) and
any other principal business activities the Company may
engage in from time to time; and

(i) persons or entities that provide marketing,
public relations, investor relations and corporate
communications-related and other professional services
to any member of the Group.

For the avoidance of doubt, Service Providers may not
include placing agents or financial advisers providing advisory
services for fundraising, mergers or acquisitions, as well as
professional service providers such as auditors or valuers who
provide assurance or are required to perform their services
with impartiality and objectivity.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (Continued)

The New Share Option Scheme (Continued)

“Related Entity Participants” include the directors, chief
executive and employees of the holding companies, fellow
subsidiaries or associated companies of the Company,
provided that the board of directors shall have absolute
discretion to determine whether or not one falls within such
category.

The total number of shares of the Company which may be
issued upon the exercise of all share options to be granted
under the New Share Option Scheme and any other schemes
of the Company shall not in aggregate exceed 544,033,577,
representing 10% of the shares of the Company in issue
on the adoption date of the New Share Option Scheme, i.e.
23 August 2023, on which the New Share Option Scheme
was adopted by resolutions of the Shareholders, unless the
Company obtains an approval from the Shareholders pursuant
to the conditions set out in the New Share Option Scheme.

Subject to certain performance targets and clawback
mechanism as further set out in the New Share Option
Scheme, the total number of shares of the Company issued
and to be issued upon exercise of the options and awards
granted to each Eligible Participant or grantee (including
exercised and outstanding options but excluding any options
and awards lapsed in accordance with the terms of such
schemes) in any twelve (12)-month period up to the date of
grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at the date of grant.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (Continued)

The New Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Options for the time being outstanding may be exercised in
whole or in part at any time during the option period. In order
for the exercise of an option to be effective, the Company
must, prior to the expiry of the option period, have received: (i)
a written notice from the option holder exercising the option,
signed by or on behalf of the such holder and specifying
the number of shares of the Company in respect of which
the option is being exercised; and (ii) payment in full of an
amount equal to the exercise price multiplied by the relevant
number of shares of the Company in respect of which such
option is exercised.

Notwithstanding anything in provisions under the New Share
Option Scheme to the contrary, the option period shall not
be extended and, on the expiry of the option period, all rights
in respect of an option for the time being outstanding shall
terminate, except in so far as there has been an effective
exercise of that option prior thereto and the Company has
not discharged all its obligations under the New Share Option
Scheme in relation to such exercise.

Save for certain circumstances prescribed in the New Share
Option Scheme, an option must be held by the option holder
for at least 12 months before the option can be exercised.

To accept an offer to grant an option, an amount of
HK$10.00 per option shall be payable by the Eligible
Participant within ten (10) business day from the date of
grant.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE =T ZWF=A=+—HIEFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (Continued)

The New Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The exercise price (subject to adjustments set out in the New
Share Options Scheme) shall be determined on the date of
grant at the absolute discretion of the board of directors
of the Company as an amount per share which shall be at
least the highest of (a) the closing price of the shares of the
Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the date of grant, which must be a trading day;
(b) the average of the closing prices of the shares of the
Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five (5) trading days immediately preceding the
date of grant; and (c) the nominal value of the shares of the
Company on the date of grant, provided that the exercise
price shall be subject to adjustment in accordance with the
provisions set out in the New Share Options Scheme.

Information about the share options granted by
the Company

On 23 April 2020, 268,720,400 share options were granted
by the Company to certain directors of the Company, certain
employees of the Group and eligible persons. The vesting
period of the options is from 23 April 2020 to 31 December
2026, and the options may be exercised on or after 15
October 2023. The exercise of the options will be subject to
the satisfaction of either one of the conditions: (i) the Group’s
audited net profits after tax (before share-based payment
expenses) and deduction of net profit after tax attributable
to non-controlling interests for any of the financial years
ending on or before 31 March 2023 based on the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group amounts to
HK$14 billion or above; or (ii) if the above condition is not
fulfilled, the options may be exercised if the Group’s audited
net profit after tax (before share-based payment expenses)
and deduction of net profit after tax attributable to non-
controlling interests for the financial year ending 31 March
2023 based on the audited consolidated financial statements
of the Group amounts to HK$15 billion or above. The options
will lapse if none of the above conditions is satisfied within
the validity period of the options.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (Continued)

Information about the share options granted by
the Company (Continued)

The estimated fair value of the options granted on the
date of grant was HK$1,973,000,000. The fair value of the
share options granted was calculated by using the Binomial
Options Pricing Model. The variables and assumptions used
in computing the fair value of the options were based on the
directors’ best estimates. The value of a share option varies
with different variables of certain subjective assumptions. The
following assumptions were used to calculate the fair value of
the share options:

Closing price in valuation date HK$23.80
Exercise price HK$23.80
Expected life of option 6.7 years
Annualised validity 36%
Expected dividend yield 1.42%
Risk-free interest rate 0.47%
Exercise multiple 2.1-2.3
Post-vesting exit rate 8%-11%
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (Continued)

Information about the share options granted by
the Company (Continued)

The Group’s estimates of the number of options that are
expected to vest are based on an assessment of all relevant
non-market vesting conditions at the end of each of the
reporting period. During the year ended 31 March 2023,
the directors of the Company, based on the actual financial
performance for the year ended 31 March 2023, considered
that options granted with non-market vesting conditions
would not vest as the non-market vesting conditions for
exercising those share options were not probable to be met.
During the year ended 31 March 2023, no share-based
payment expense in respect of share options granted on 23
April 2020 was recognised.

All outstanding share options granted on 23 April 2020
lapsed on 5 July 2023.

On 24 May 2023, 3,000,000 share options were granted by
the Company to an external consultant of the Group. The
exercise of the options is subject to the grantee meeting
the performance targets to be determined by the Company
from time to time, and the Company will determine whether
the grantee meets such performance targets based on the
performance appraisal results and taking into account factors
such as the grantee’s contributions towards the long-term
development of the Company. Exercise of the options is also
subject to the condition that a grantee shall remain as an
external consultant of the Company at the time of exercise
of options. In addition, the options will lapse on the date
of a grantee ceasing to provide service to the Company, or
in the event of serious misconduct, bankruptcy, insolvency,
conviction of any criminal offence, or other breach of the
terms of his service contract by the grantee, among other
things, unless otherwise determined by the Company.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (Continued)

Information about the share options granted by
the Company (Continued)

The estimated fair value of the options granted on the date of
grant was HK$5,796,000. The fair value of the share options
granted was calculated by using the Binomial Options Pricing
Model. The variables and assumptions used in computing the
fair value of the options were based on the directors’ best
estimates. The value of a share option varies with different
variables of certain subjective assumptions. The following
assumptions were used to calculate the fair value of the share
options:

Closing price in valuation date HK$9.55
Exercise price HK$10.50
Expected life of option 2 years
Annualised validity 49%
Expected dividend yield 5.76%
Risk-free interest rate 3.60%
Exercise multiple 2.20

No share options were granted by the Company during the
year ended 31 March 2023. No share options were exercised
for both years.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, share-based payment
expense in respect of the share options granted on 24 May
2023 of HK$2,477,000 (2023: Nil) is recognised.

As at 31 March 2024, the number of shares in respect of
which options had been granted and remaining outstanding is
3,000,000 (2023: 245,017,600), representing 0.055% (2023:
4.50%) of the shares of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND SHARE-BASED 35. BEREEZIRURHESERY

PAYMENTS (Continued) B2 ()
Information about the share options granted by BEAATEHZEBREZER
the Company (Continued) ()
The following table discloses details of the Company’s TREZEES (BIEARNTIES)FN
share options held by employees (including directors of the BAATEEREZHELRHE_Z
Company) and movements in such holdings during the years —EN—E-_=F=A=+—H
ended 31 March 2024 and 2023: T FEHEEREZZHIBERN
Forfeited Transfer Lapsed Granted
Number during during Number during during Number
Vesting of share the year the year of share the year the year of share
and Exercise options at ended ended options at ended ended options at
exercisable price 1 April 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
Date of grant period per share 2022 2013 2023 2023 2024 2024 2024
R BE L R BE Bz R
S ZBCZE “EozE ZECzE “ECRE “EoQE 113
SEAR MA-A2z =A=t-B =A=t-B ZA=t-B =ZA=t-B =ZA=t-B =ZR=t-A
RHAH arEsR  SRORE  BREHE LFESRE  LFECER  CBREHA LEEXN  LEEERY BREHE
HKS
B

Held by directors of the Company

HALREERE
23 April 2020 (Note i) 2380 108,000,000 - — 108,000,000  (108,000,000) - -
“R-REMACTEA (M)
Held by eligible employees
HAEREERA
23 April 2020 (Note1) 2380 145175800 (10,523,800) (700,000) 133,952,000 (133,952,000) - -
ZBCRENAZT=A (W)
Held by consultants
HEEER
23 April 2020 (Note ) 2380 2,609,600 (244,000 700,000 3,065,600 (3,065,600) - -
“E-REMA-T=R (Kati)
24 May 2023 (Note i) 10.50 - - - - — 3,000,000 3,000,000
“E-ZFRACTAA GiED)

255,785,400 (10,767,800) —  245017,600  (245,017,600) 3,000,000 3,000,000
Weighted average exercise price 2380 2380 10.50
METEHRE

Exercisable at the end of the year - - - - — — _

RERTE
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (Continued)

Information about the share options granted by
the Company (Continued)

Notes:

(i) The vesting period of the options is from 23 April 2020 to 31
December 2026, and the options may be exercised on or after
15 October 2023 subject to the performance targets as disclosed
above. Based on the Group’s consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2023, the outstanding share options
as at 31 March 2023 were expected to lapse as the performance
condition has not been met. The share options lapsed on 5 July
2023.

(ii) The vesting period of the options is from 24 May 2023 to 23
May 2025, after which the options may be exercised subject to
the performance target and exercise condition and clawback
mechanism as disclosed above.

The Company adopted the share award scheme on 27
November 2020 (the “Share Award Scheme”). Pursuant to the
Share Award Scheme, the board of directors of the Company
may from time to time at its absolute discretion select eligible
persons including the directors, senior management and
consultant of any member of the Group and employee of
any member of the Group to participate in the Share Award
Scheme and determine the shares to be awarded. The Share
Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term of 10
years commencing on the adoption date.

The board of directors of the Company shall not make any
further award of shares under the Share Award Scheme
which will result in the total nominal value of the aggregate
of shares awarded by the board of directors of the Company
under the scheme exceeding 5% of the issued share capital
of the Company from time to time. For the avoidance of
doubt, the awards lapsed in accordance with the terms of the
Share Award Scheme will not be counted for the purpose of
calculating the limit of the scheme. The maximum number of
shares which may be awarded to a selected participant under
the scheme shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of
the Company in any 12-month period.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE =T ZWF=A=+—HIEFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (Continued)

Tricor Trust (Hong Kong) Limited (“Tricor”) was appointed as
a trustee of the Share Award Scheme. Subject to the terms
and conditions of the Share Award Scheme and the fulfilment
of all vesting conditions, the shares awarded held by the
trustee on behalf of a selected participant shall vest in such
selected participant and the trustee shall transfer the shares
to such selected participant.

The trustee did not purchase shares of the Company during
the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

On 8 October 2021, China Gas Capital Management Limited,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the
total return swap transaction (the “TRS Transaction”) with
Nomura Singapore Limited (the “TRS Counterparty”) in order
to hedge its exposure to future share price appreciation in
connection with the Share Award Scheme. Please refer to
the Announcement of the Company dated 8 October 2021
for details. In connection with the termination of the TRS
Transaction, any shares acquired by the TRS Counterparty
may be sold to the trustee. As informed by TRS Counterparty,
during the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the TRS
Counterparty did not purchase shares of the Company.

As at 31 March 2024, Tricor and the TRS Counterparty hold
15,754,800 (2023: 15,769,800) shares and 37,000,000
(2023: 37,000,000) shares of the Company for the purpose
of the Share Award Scheme.

On 19 September 2022, a total of 45,000 share awards
divided into three tranches of 15,000 each were granted to
a selected employee. The share awards are subject to certain
performance conditions and have no cash exercise price.
The estimated fair value of share awards granted on 19
September 2022 amounted to HK$513,000, which is based
on the market price of the relevant shares at the grant date.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND SHARE-BASED 35. BEREEZIRURHESERY

PAYMENTS (Continued)

The first tranche of 15,000 share awards vested on the
grant date of the share awards. The second tranche vested
on 18 June 2023 and the third tranche will vest on 18 June
2024. The Group's estimates of the number of share awards
that are expected to vest are based on an assessment of
the performance conditions at the end of the reporting
period. During the year ended 31 March 2024, share-based
payment expense in respect of the share awards granted of
HK$336,000 (2023: HK$345,000) is recognised.

The movements of the Company’s share awards during the
year are as follows:

Number Granted
of share during the
awards at year ended

B )

& 1t 15,000 17 A% {7 45 B 7 A% 19 88
BROBEEE F_HHN =%
—=FXNATN\BREE mE=it
BR-_ZE-UFE A+ N\HEE -
AN B TEER A 5B B A SR AR 1D B
B e MR D E R RS A R
MERBEGHFGH B2 W
FZA=Z+—BHLFE HER
BN EEFER AR AR
% 336,000 L (=Z T ==
345,000/87T) °

ARTRS LT ALHUT ¢

Vested Number Vested Number
during the of share during the of share
year ended awardsat  yearended awards at

31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March

2023 2023 2024 2024

WIB--F HZ-F--F HE-SC-F RCBC=E BECECME O RCEoQRE

=A=+-A =A=t+-B =B=t-B =B=t-H
LEEEHE NRORBEE LEECHE NRARDYUS

1 April 31 March

2022 2023

MA-R =ZA=t-A

Date of grant RHAH NRORBEE LEECEH
19 September 2022 “E--FAATHA - 45,000

(15,000) 30,000 (15,000) 15,000

Share awards vested are settled with the existing treasury
shares held by Tricor as the trustee of the Share Award
Scheme and are thus credited to treasury shares reserve. As
at 31 March 2024, the outstanding share awards represent
0.00028% (2023: 0.00055%) of the shares of the Company.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

36. ACQUISITION OF ADDITIONAL INTEREST IN 36. WEEMIEB A a1 EaMERS

SUBSIDIARIES

On 13 September 2023, FRRARAEZCRINER A (" F AR
&), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into
an acquisition agreement with RESEEEHBR AR (“HE T
E"), pursuant to which F#AMASR has agreed to acquire, and &
[E./5E has agreed to sell, shares of +HEFRRM TR REREGR
AF] ("TIEFRBL"), representing in aggregate approximately 15%
of the total issued shares of THEF LA at a cash consideration
of RMB34,279,000 (approximately HK$37,056,000) (including
transaction costs thereon). &+ ¥4 was a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company in which it held approximately 85%
equity interests before the acquisition. Upon completion of the
acquisition on 26 September 2023, the Group holds approximately
100% equity interests in +iEH IR, TIEFHA is principally engaged
in sales of natural gas and gas pipeline construction.

The acquisition did not involve in a change in control over +3E
#R. The difference between the consideration paid and the carrying
amount of the additional interests acquired by the Group of
HK$60,037,000 was credited to equity as capital reserve during the
year ended 31 March 2024.

RZZEZ=ZFNA+=H ARAEE
WEBARFMRRREECRI)ERAT
([FRRmR]ERRTEEBERAA
([HREAE )T BB s - L -
MARREREMRRTERELE T
ERRBRTRRERER AR ([ +1E
R B ARG TERRBE BT

D EEN15% BEREAARK
34,279,000 7t ( #37,056,000 7% 7T ) (&
BEFRRHHEA) o TEFRRABADF
F2EWMBAR  RREZENRZEY
85%fEHE - R—E_=FNA=+/<8
WIEEHETNE  AEEHE TEFRR
#9100% 5 - THEFRREERERAR
HEMMREBER -

HﬁZ%%IEjIT#/F&%T-i—i[WM Bl

BE HE_ZFT_MNFE-_A=+—HL
if‘ BB BN ER B P U R RO B O
e BREER Z#60,037,0008 TIER
BAREERT AR o
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE =T ZWF=A=+—HIEFE

36. ACQUISITION OF ADDITIONAL INTEREST IN

SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

On 24 February 2023, R EBR AT ("HAIKE"), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an acquisition
agreement with the State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Commission of Hohhot (the “Seller”), pursuant
to which A& & has agreed to acquire, and the Seller has
agreed to sell, shares of MEFIERFARBAIETHIAS, ("I FIE R AP
#R"), representing in aggregate approximately 32.4% of the
total issued shares of FEFIERFHR A at a cash consideration of
RMB1,695,346,000 (approximately HK$1,937,538,000) (including
transaction costs thereon). FEAERFHFE was a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company in which it held approximately 64.1%
equity interests before the acquisition. Upon completion of the
acquisition on 29 March 2023, the Group holds approximately
96.5% equity interests in FEAERFR IR, MRS A and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in gas pipeline installation,
maintenance, gas supply and sales services related to city gas
business. Details of the acquisition are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 6 March 2023.

The acquisition did not involve in a change in control over M1
$EFRBR. The difference between the consideration paid and the
carrying amount of the additional interests acquired by the Group
of HK$777,683,000 was debited to equity as capital reserve during
the year ended 31 March 2023.

The Group also entered into sale and purchase agreement
with the respective holders of the remaining equity interests of
subsidiaries in the PRC and Hong Kong for a total consideration of
HK$94,520,000. The difference between the consideration paid
and the carrying amount of the additional interests acquired by the
Group of HK$17,025,000 was debited to equity as capital reserve
during the year ended 31 March 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE =T ZWF=A=+—HIEFE

37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

The Group has no significant acquisition of subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 March 2024.

The Group had the following acquisition of business through
acquisition of subsidiaries during the year ended 31 March 2023:

(i)

(ii)

The Group acquired 100% equity interest of JEm &
BRRABRAR (WBREE") at a cash consideration of
RMB7,500,000 (approximately HK$8,571,000) in April 2022.
YEFIZE S is principally engaged in sales of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction business. The directors of the Company
consider that the acquisition will bring about a further synergy
effect of the existing business of the Group.

Included in the Group's profit for the year ended 31 March
2023 was a loss of HK$1,482,000 attributable to the
acquisition of JERIZE M. Revenue of JEFEME included in
the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2023
amounted to HK$7,123,000.

The Group acquired 100% equity interest of J2JRA¥AAE
TBAERAR (MEBRF") (formerly known as J2JRIE B &
e AP /A F]) at a cash consideration of RMB12,864,000
(approximately HK$14,703,000) in October 2022. J2JRA 1A
is principally engaged in sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
construction business. The directors of the Company consider
that the acquisition will bring about a further synergy effect
of the existing business of the Group.

Included in the Group's profit for the year ended 31 March
2023 was a loss of HK$5,575,000 attributable to the
acquisition of J2JRAF#X. Revenue of J2JRA ¥ included in
the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2023
amounted to HK$19,016,000.

37. WEEHEAF

BE-_Z-_NMEF=A=+—HILFE -
AEBWEETEAWNBARKRESE -

B=E

TR =F=ZR=+—HILFE"

REEFE BB B R RUE AT R -

(i)

AEBR-_Z-_FMWANUREAK
B AR7,500,0007T (498,571,000
B WEEEmEERIERA
([ BmZEE | )2 IpAkE - SErEE
BEFrBRERARBEERMAERE
BRER - ARTEERARES
HA] BALEREEBERE LR
[EAE o

HAREEBEE ST _=F=FH
=+ —HIEFENEAKES
5% B JE (1 518 1,482,00078 7T °
SFAREBEE T -_=F=H
=+ —BIEFERARE R E
A%7,123,000/8 7T ©

AEEBRZ_Z-__F+ANR
&R B AR 12,864,000 7T (4
14,703,000 7T ) Uk BE 52 R AR KA BE
RAERAR([C2FEAPL] - pifEE
TREBHEEBRAR) REIME -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

The above transactions have been accounted for as acquisition
of business using the acquisition method. The directors of the
Company consider that each of the above acquisitions is not
individually material considering the amount of consideration
transferred, fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed
and goodwill arising thereon. As such, information about the
acquisitions has been disclosed in aggregate below:

Consideration transferred

37. WEMB QR e

ERRSTRABEBEEREFWEAN
FR-ARFEZRR  ZEIMEEN
REDE  FRENEEMIAENE
BEORAFEARHLEEENEE - il
FRWHEEREHLTBEK - Bt
BRZFRESTENENCETXHE
TTIEARREE -

SERNAE

HK$'000
TAT

Cash consideration

RERE

23,274

Fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at

REBERERAWE B RBE 2 s

the respective dates of acquisition recognised by the EERFIAREEBEZATE:
Group:
HK$'000

FAT
Property, plant and equipment W - B MR 36,229
Right-of-use assets EREEE 4
Intangible assets mEE 9,457
Inventories VEX< 3,981
Trade and other receivables H 5 FEWIRTE I B Ath R AR TR 18,454
Cash and cash equivalents Re MR EEEE 4,728
Trade and other payables B S ENRIE R EMEARIE (48,948)
Contract liabilities EREaE (1,013)
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIEB R (2,364)

20,528
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 37. WEEMIB AR (®)
Goodwill arising on acquisition AWBEEmELEZEE
HK$'000
FHT
Consideration transferred EEERE 23,274
Less: Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired B BB AR FEE 2 ATE (20,528)
Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries g1 DSy dE 2,746
The goodwill arising on the acquisition of & @ and 2R IR AW EmERERERTMRMEEZRE
was attributed to the anticipated profitability of its sales of natural BNEARAERARIEERMAEBRER
gas and gas pipeline construction business and a further synergy XBrEBRNEN AR ABEREERE
effect of the existing business of the Group. KB RE Z I RBUE o
None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition was expected to be TEE mEAZBWESEENEE 2 HE
deductible for tax purposes. AIHUAARIE ©
Net cash inflow arising on acquisition HAWBEEmMELEZRERATE
HK$'000
FHT
Cash and cash equivalents acquired FrbiER e RIREeFEIEER 4,728
Cash consideration ReNRE (23,274)
Deposit paid [=ENE:& 23,274
4,728
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

37.

38.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group acquired certain
subsidiaries at an aggregate consideration of RMB26,986,000
(approximately HK$30,841,000, of which HK$30,350,000 was paid
as deposit as at 31 March 2022) which are treated as acquisition of
assets, comprising intangible assets and cash and cash equivalents
amounting to HK$29,635,000 and HK$1,206,000 at acquisition
date.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which include
amounts due to non-controlling interests of subsidiaries, lease
liabilities and bank and other borrowings disclosed in notes 30,
31 and 32 respectively, and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital disclosed in note 33,
reserves and accumulated profits as disclosed in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

The management reviews the capital structure by considering the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.
Based on recommendations of the management, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of new debt or the
redemption of existing debt.

37.

38.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

3. €T H

2024 2023
—S-NE TEC-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Financial assets SHEE
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BRAFEFAEMERKRAZ
BATE 753,585 922,498
Derivative financial instruments PTEemITA 36,512 —
Mandatorily measured at FVTPL Sl AR AT AR ABRE
— Held-for-trading investments — BEEERE 27,585 104,536
Amortised cost BEEHRR AR 22,561,516 25,536,526
Financial liabilities s@ans
Derivative financial instruments PTESBIA 28,757 —
Amortised cost BESHA AR 76,991,388 79,646,066

The Group's major financial instruments include equity instruments
at FVTOCI, derivative financial instruments, held-for-trading
investments, trade and other receivables, pledged bank deposits,
cash and cash equivalents, amounts due from associates and joint
ventures, trade and other payables, amounts due to associates
and joint ventures, amounts due from/to non-controlling interests
of subsidiaries and bank and other borrowings. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments and the policies on
how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

AEBZTESRTABEREAFE
AEMEARAZERATE - §TE¢m
TH HEEERE  BHZEKEER
HmEiRE 2\ HRITER B
MESeEEEER - BREERRREE
RERIE BHEMNERBEREMEMNE
- ERBERARRAEERRNIE &
We,THT A R EIE R A R R IE - A K
MITRHEMEE - ZF2MIEZFFE
RABREM TR - TXHEHINEZE 2/
TEBBZRARRE BN ARFEZER
BIE  BEREETEMEEZER
% LIEREREBNESETEE 2
Bt ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 30. €T )
Market risks ™% ELk
Currency risk B
Most of the Group’s revenue and costs as well as capital RABEEBFT » AEEKREH WA R
expenditures are denominated in RMB in its operations in the PRC. RAARERFAZHUAARKEEE - T
However, the Group has cash and cash equivalents and bank and B AEETEREMESFEEREN
other borrowings that are denominated in currencies other than RIBITREMEEAAREUINNEE
RMB which expose the Group to foreign currency risk. ETHE - SAREEEEINERRE o
At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of the RBEEBR - AREBUIINEFECEE
Group's material monetary assets and liabilities and intra-group EREERBBEZRAEAREEAR
balances that are denominated in foreign currencies are as follows: AIEAEERINT -
Assets Liabilities
BE aE
2024 2023 2024 2023
—E-MEF i —E-ME T =F
HKS$’000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
TERT FHET Tz FHET
usD =TT 534,574 437,516 185,798 —
HK$ BT 69,387 87,868 — 498,542
JPY H — — 297,974 359,783
SGD O T 855 — — —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 30. €T )

Market risks (Continued) ISR (&)

Currency risk (Continued) B (&)
Intra-group balances = AN RS
Assets Liabilities
&E =N

2024 2023 2024 2023
—E-IMEF —T=F —E-IF —TC=F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FAT FHET FHTT
usD =TT — — 4,044,140 7,671,326
HK$ BT — — 3,465,709 6,842,440
The management of the Group monitors the foreign exchange ZFE@ EREEEINERL - WERR
exposure and considers hedging significant foreign exchange FEOREAIMNERBS o AN EE27

exposure should the need arise. As disclosed in note 27, the
Group entered into cross currency interest rate swap contracts
which are designated as effective hedging instruments to hedge
the variability in the cash flows relating to interest and principal
repayments arising from bank borrowings denominated in HK$
and USD amounting to HK$1,688,700,000 (2023: Nil) and
HK$2,211,300,000 (2023: Nil) respectively as at 31 March 2024.
The Group reviews the continuing effectiveness of the designated
hedging instruments at least at the end of each reporting period.
The Group mainly uses the dollar offset method for the assessment
of the hedge effectiveness of the cross currency interest rate swap
contracts. The management of the Group considered that the
Group’s net exposure to currency risk to the extent that it is under
an effective hedging relationship as insignificant.

ﬁfr%);’z?é C REBE MW IE T BE B H
TEMRIXEEFEBHEL - LLEH
R-ZZE—MF=ZA=+—AUBTEE
TETEMRITEEMEENFERAS
EFNEERSREEE 28O A
1,688,700,0008 (=T ==F : T) K&
2,211,300,0008 T(ZZE=_=F : &) -
AEEE LR EREBHRBETIEE LA
TAZHEHERS -AEEXFEHRAET
SRR R X B RIS A 4 2 H
e REBERERS  AEBZE
BB F L O R B B PR T E
j( °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

39 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39.

Market risks (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% (2023:
10%) and 5% (2023: 5%) increase and decrease in the functional
currency of the relevant group entity against USD or HK$ and JPY
or SGD respectively. The respective percentages are the sensitivity
rates used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key
management personnel and represent management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange rates.
The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and excludes the effect of foreign
currency denominated borrowings that are under an effective
hedging relationship as the Group’s net exposure to currency risk
arising from the hedging relationship is insignificant, and adjusts
their translation at the end of the reporting period for a 10%
(2023: 10%) and 5% (2023: 5%) change in foreign currency rates
of USD or HK$ and JPY or SGD, respectively. A positive number
below indicates an increase in post-tax profit where the USD,
HK$, JPY and SGD weakens against the functional currency of the
relevant group entity. For a 10% (2023: 10%) and 5% (2023: 5%)
strengthening of USD or HK$ and JPY or SGD respectively there
would be an equal and opposite impact on the result for the year
and the balances below would be negative.

EBMTIT R

TG ELRE ()
B E R ()
BREDN

TRAMAEEFREEEEERN G
BRI T A T & BB S HT I
THENEEI0%(ZZE =4 : 10%)
&%6_7__¢ 5%) 2 BURE - &
DHEABRAEBEEAB RN 2 HINE
@ﬁ%mZ@@F&? WTREEERE
FLONBIE RS IR e F 1T 27T o
BRREDITEBIEEITEINZ INERTE
BH®IEE - BRARASEAS FERE
Hz EEREEHM AT AEX - BT
BIEE R BB R T AINERTE 2
BEZEZE  UHETHETLKHE
%Mﬁnﬂwﬂifﬂﬂm%(—izz
E 10% ) M5%(ZE_=F : 5%) 2
BE N RERRARHEBRE - TRATR
zE%hﬁ%n BT~ AE RET I
THIBBEEERNNEERERE K
B asfearmigim - METIE TR
BESFMFE D BIFAEI0% (T ==
F:10%)M5%(ZFE =9 : 5%)K >
B FEEERBKARRBRRZFLE
BTiEsmEaag -

2024 2023
—E-MEF T =F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FiET

Impact on post-tax profit for the year: HEERBERN 2 ZE
usb e 277,152 542,536
HK$ BT 254,724 543,984
JPY HIEl 11,174 13,492
SGD FTANH T (32) —
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE =T ZWF=A=+—HIEFE

39 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Market risks (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

No sensitivity analysis has been presented for derivatives that
are designated as hedging instruments because the Group’s net
exposure to currency risk arising from the hedging relationship is
insignificant.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative
of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure does
not reflect the exposure during the year.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk mainly in
relation to amounts due from associates and joint ventures that are
interest-bearing at fixed interest rates, lease liabilities and fixed-rate
bank and other borrowings (see notes 26, 31 and 32 for details of
these balances respectively).

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk mainly in
relation to variable-rate bank balances and floating-rate bank and
other borrowings (see notes 29 and 32 for details of these balances
respectively).

The Group manages its interest rate exposure based on interest
rate level as well as potential impact on the Group's financial
position arising from volatility. As disclosed in note 27, the Group
entered to cross currency interest rate swap contracts which are
designated as effective hedging instruments to hedge the interest
rate risk exposure arising from bank borrowings that are indexed to
HIBOR and SOFR amounting to HK$1,688,700,000 (2023: Nil) and
HK$2,211,300,000 (2023: Nil) respectively as at 31 March 2024.
The Group reviews the continuing effectiveness of the designated
hedging instruments at least at the end of each reporting period.
The Group mainly uses the dollar offset method for the assessment
of the hedge effectiveness of the cross currency interest rate swap
contracts. The management of the Group considered that the
Group's net exposure to interest rate risk to the extent that it is
under an effective hedging relationship as insignificant.

30. €@ T )

iz EkE(E)
R ()
BRED(E)

HRASERETERELE 2 ERRAR
RO ANER - IR E A
TAZITETAZSIBREDT -

BEERS - ARFERERILTHERER
FRZER - BEEEINTARKE
B ZINERR -

=R

AEEEEEZHERBEEAARA]
AEIFBEREEANEFE)  HEA
DUETEBRITREMEBE(BEZESE
ZFED B REEE26 3ummﬁﬁz
FEFIERRE

H
D)i%

AEETHEBEFEPRZERTEER
FRBITREMEE (ZEETFFEDR
ﬁﬁﬁlﬁi29&32)Ziﬁi/}m%ﬁj?ﬂﬁ»\

AR EARIE FI oK O R 8 AN S B B
ﬁ#ﬂ%%%ZﬁEwaﬁﬁﬁﬂfﬂ
o BANMIEE27 T FR - A BEI LB
ﬁ%ﬁ@%#IﬂZﬁﬂE%ﬂ%%%
B NEHREFBRITRERERE
ERREERBENEBBNIBITEEES
ZHRRER R-ET-_MFE=ZA=+—
B4 %9 5l 41,688,700,000/8 T (=&
‘:Eﬁ55g)&2N13MMmmaﬁ(:§
TE=F R c AEEELRESHRERKR
@ﬁ%iﬁﬁlﬂZFﬁﬁﬁ AEH
FEFRAETUAEETERIXNEEFIE
BHAHZHIRR - AEFEERER
B AEBRZFERRRFHONE R
SREIE T TEK ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE =T ZWF=A=+—HIEFE

39 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Market risks (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the exposure
to interest rate risk for floating-rate bank and other borrowings
at the end of the reporting period (excluding derivative financial
instruments). The sensitivity analysis excludes the effect on
variable-rate bank borrowings that are under an effective hedging
relationship as the Group’s net exposure to interest rate risk arising
from the hedging relationship is insignificant. Variable-rate bank
balances have not been included in the sensitivity analysis as the
management considers that the interest rate would not fluctuate
significantly in the near future and therefore the financial impact to
the Group is not significant. A change of 100 basis points (2023:
100 basis points) was applied to the yield curves and interest rate
on both floating-rate bank and other borrowings. The applied
change is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If the interest rate of floating-rate bank and other borrowings had
been 100 basis points (2023: 100 basis points) higher/lower and all
other variables were held constant, after taking into account the
interest capitalised to construction in progress, the Group's post-
tax profit for the year would decrease/increase by HK$164,195,000
(2023: HK$275,652,000).

No sensitivity analysis has been presented for derivatives that
are designated as hedging instruments because the Group’s net
exposure to interest rate risk arising from the hedging relationship is
insignificant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE =T ZWF=A=+—HIEFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Market risks (Continued)
Equity price risk

The Group's certain equity instruments at FVTOCI and held-for-
trading investments are measured at fair value at the end of the
reporting period. Therefore, the Group is exposed to equity price
risk. The management manages this exposure by maintaining a
portfolio of investments with different risk profiles.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to equity price risks of listed equity instrument at the
reporting date. A 10% (2023: 10%) change is used when reporting
equity price risk internally to key management personnel and
represents management'’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in equity price.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, if the market bid prices of the
listed investments had been 10% (2023: 10%) higher/lower and
all other variables were held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit
for the year would increase/decrease by HK$2,304,000 (2023:
HK$8,729,000) and the Group’s investment revaluation reserve
will increase/decrease by HK$34,629,000 (2023: HK$51,737,000)
respectively. This is mainly attributable to the changes in fair values
of the listed held-for-trading investments and equity instruments at
FVTOCI respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE =T ZWF=A=+—HIEFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. @R T E ()

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties default
on their contractual obligations resulting in financial losses to the
Group. The Group'’s credit risk exposures are primarily attributable
to trade receivables, contract assets, other receivables and deposits,
amounts due from non-controlling interests of subsidiaries,
amounts due from associates and joint ventures, pledged bank
deposits and bank balances. The Group does not hold any collateral
or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated
with its financial assets and financial guarantee contracts.

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from contracts
with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the
Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on trade
receivables based on provision matrix and contract assets based on
collective assessment.

Deposits and other receivables and amounts due from non-
controlling interests of subsidiaries

The Group has taken into account the economic outlook of the
industries in which the counterparties operate, and concluded
that there has been no significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. The ECL on deposits and other receivables and
amounts due from non-controlling interests of subsidiaries are
assessed based on 12m ECL and are considered to be insignificant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. €T A

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Amounts due from associates and joint ventures

The Group has assessed the financial position of associates and
joint ventures as well as the economic outlook of the industry in
which the associates and joint ventures operate, and concluded
that there has been no significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. The ECL on amounts due from associates and joint
ventures are assessed based on 12m ECL and are considered to be
insignificant.

Pledged bank deposits and bank balances

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties
are reputable banks in the PRC or banks with high credit-ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies and the Group has
limited exposure to any single financial institution.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group performs impairment assessment
on bank balances by reference to the average loss rates for
respective credit rating grades published by international credit-
rating agencies and concluded that the ECL is insignificant.

FERREREERNL(E)
W 2 N B A B R AR

AEEEFEBERRREERBNET
BN - ARBERBRAEERRKE
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE =T ZWF=A=+—HIEFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

\\\\\

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

For financial guarantee contracts, the aggregate amount of
outstanding financial guarantees issued to banks in respect of
bank facilities granted to and utilised by the Group’s associates
and joint ventures that the Group could be required to pay
amounted to HK$10,344,878,000 as at 31 March 2024 (2023:
HK$7,798,198,000). The fair value of these financial guarantees,
as at dates of initial recognition, were considered insignificant. At
the end of the reporting period, the management has performed
impairment assessment, and concluded that there has been no
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition of the
financial guarantee contracts. Accordingly, the loss allowance for
financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group is measured at an
amount equal to 12m ECL. No loss allowance was recognised in the
profit or loss.

As at 31 March 2024, other than the concentration of credit risk of
an amount due from a joint venture of HK$4,064,576,000 (2023:
HK$3,590,252,000), the Group does not have other significant
concentration of credit risk on trade receivables, with exposure
spread over a number of industrial, commercial and household
customers. In order to minimise the credit risk of those receivables,
the management of the Group closely monitors the recoverability
of the amount due. In this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

S8 mkg RORERE ()
AEBOABEERRE BRI FABEAT

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the

following categories:

Internal credit

ERIAMK :

Trade receivables/

Other financial assets/

rating Description Contract assets other items
g2 EWERE, HittemEE
RS E AR it BREE Htg B
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL
and does not have any significant past-due not credit-impaired
amounts
KR HFEFRORRE TEREMERAHRE FERHEHEEES 12@°8RDBEEEE
ERIA B —YEEERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but  Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL
usually settle in full not credit-impaired
ERAE ERALERIERNR - ERELEEE FENERDEEES 12@RRBEESE
B — TEEERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
credit risk since initial recognition through not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
information developed internally or external
resources
R B HRE - AMEIETREIMNBEIRRGE FERBEPEEES FEDHEREEES
MER B EE R AIEE N B —YEEERE 1B —WEEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
Eia BRBERPAEEHRESRE FEHFHEPEEES FEPHEREEE
B —EBEERE 1B — BEERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is Amount is written off ~ Amount is written off
in severe financial difficulty and the Group
has no realistic prospect of recovery
s BRERABEARABENIFRE TRIA B M TR B 3

B AN 6= [ UK B SRIR B 7 SRS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. @R T E ()
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) FEERBRBEE ()
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group's TRAMAEBBEETEREEBEF
financial assets, contract assets and financial guarantee contracts, HHEREE AHBEENMTBERSE
which are subject to ECL assessment: AFEREEERERE -

External Internal

credit credit
Notes rating rating  12m or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
i MBEETR ADRETR NERIFENNEAGERE HEAE
2024 2023
ZECME “EoCE
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#n Tt
Financial assets at amortised cost
REERATENEHEE
Trade receivables — contracts with customers 25 N/A (Note ) Lifetime ECL (provision matrix) 6,559,785 7,171,907
BHRNEE —5PEN NER (M) FEERRREEE(RERE)
Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 124,632 99,979
FENRBREESR(CRENE)
6,684,417 7,271,836
Deposits and other receivables and amounts 25 /A Lowrisk ~12m ECL (not credit-impaired and assessed individually) 2,266,495 2,202,549
due from non-controlling interests of
subsidiaries
e RAM RN R RS AT NER BER 12EAESEEER(IEEERERERTE)
FERERTE
Amounts due from associates 26 N/A Lowrisk ~12m ECL (not credit-impaired and assessed individually) 76,172 474,088
N NER ERR  EARREESR(TRESRARERNE)
Amounts due from joint ventures 26 /A Lowrisk ~12m ECL (not credit-impaired and assessed individually) 6,314,715 5,959,576
BRAERTE NER BER 12EAESREESR(IEEERERERTE)
Pledged bank deposits 29 A NA 12m ECL (not credit-impaired and assessed individually) 185,999 178,69
BERS Al TER  NEARBEESR(UEEERERERTE)
Bank balances 29 Aalto NA~ 12m ECL (not credit-impaired and assessed individually) 8,094,336 10,438,990
Baa3
/it rEBa3  TER  NEARSEEEE(UAEERERENTE)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. @R T E ()
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) FEERBRBEE ()

External Internal
credit credit

Note rating rating  12m or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
i BEEFE ABEETR nERRFRANEREGESSE FEAE
2024 2023
k1 -
HK$'000 HK$000
ThL T
Other items
AR
Contract assets — contracts with customers 1 N/A Lowrisk  Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired and assessed collectively) 5,535,718 6,078,747
BHEE —EPEN NER EER FEENRSREER(UEEEREREETE)
Watch list -~ Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired and assessed collectively) 323293 5715416
ERLE GESHRHCERE(UEREREREETE)
Doubtful  Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired and assessed collectively) 2,082,057 1,601,745
RE  FEIREBGESE(UECERNEREETH)
Loss  Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired and assessed individually) 151,958 -
BE GEINESGEEECEERERERTE)
11,002,656 13,395,908
Financial guarantee contracts (Note i) NIA N/A Lowrisk 12m ECL (not credit-impaired and assessed collectively) 10,344,878 7,798,198
HBERAY (M) AR NER BB EAESGEER(IEEENEREETE)
Notes: BisE
(i) For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach 0] HEZEWEENS  AEECDERASH
in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group iR £ RIF oMb H Rt 2T EH
determines the ECL on trade receivables grouped by aged analysis of FEHEEEENEERE A& ERE
debtors. When there are indicators that the relevant trade receivables ZENWRERIZEFARR MO B EE
may be credit impaired, the relevant amount will be assessed for ECL AVWEEEBEEEE - MENRETRE
individually. HESEKERENREIFEEERE B

SEEEZEREEERERNRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(U]

(Continued)

The Group uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for its
customers in relation to its operation because these customers consist
of a large number of customers with common risk characteristics that
are representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due in
accordance with the contractual terms. Based on the Group’s assessment
of historical credit loss experience of the existing debtors and all available
forward-looking information, including but not limited to the expected
economic conditions in the PRC and expected subsequent settlements,
the Group does not consider that default occurs for those contractual
payments that are more than 90 days past due.

The Group used estimated loss rates based on aging for classes with
different credit risk characteristics and exposures, and the estimated
loss rates are estimated based on historical observed default rates over
the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort, for example
the economic growth rates which reflect the expected general economic
conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate. The grouping is
regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant information about
specific debtors is updated.

The following table provides information about the exposure to credit
risk for trade receivables which are assessed on a collective basis by using
provision matrix within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired).

30. €@ T )

S8 mkg RORERE ()
feE - ()

(0]

(&)

REEEAERSARKRT TP EEL
EHRECRE ARZEEFPEEKREA
BARRERFHBZEP  KREREAH
BRINAERNESENES - REASE
EHREEBARLEEERER G
KA R A ATHE BB (B E AR
BTREE BN RIRB R B E) - &
EY TR RZECARBBIORZ EHM

AEEREESTRERRBRSHKLIBO
EVRREIERIE AT EBIEE - MihstEE
RREBAERFHABETBRENEK
e fhE - YRBENERALB ARG
ERTIE B RHEL TR E - PIIRBETSA
REMETENTAREREERRNEE
BEX - HEmEREETHRE - AR
FrE BB AMERE R D EE R -

TR B 5 YRR (5 B AR A
R 3% R RIA O P 1 4 SR TR
12 BSR4 2 B AL PO A R AR
SR RTH -

2024 2023
—E-mE —EC=F

Gross carrying amounts Average Trade Average Trade
(provision matrix) loss rate receivables loss rate receivables
BRI 48 (8 (BB 5ERE) FHBER EZEWRE THEEE B5EKERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET
0-180 days 0%E180H 4.5% 2,512,766 3.3% 3,341,473
181-365 days 1812365H 14.5% 673,405 10.5% 792,279
Over 365 days 365H A E 21.5% 3,373,614 22.8% 3,038,155
6,559,785 7,171,907
(i) For financial guarantee contracts, the gross carrying amount represents (i) HMBEREAOME  EEHAEELAEE

the maximum amount the Group has guaranteed under the respective REBHBETERERESRE -

contracts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has

30. €@ T )

=& Rk KR ER ()
TNRBETRREBCTADHE

A—j_] p=va}

5 e

been recognised for both trade receivables and contract assets RERGHNEENTFENHEREES
under the simplified approach. BEE) -
Trade receivables Contract assets
EaRWESE RHEE
Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
(credit-  (not credit- (credit- (ot credit-
impaired) impaired) Total impaired) impaired) Total
FEDE FESE FEDE FEDE
RECEFE ROGEFE REGEFE REGEFR
(FERE) (LREEHE) &5 (GBHE) (LEEEHE) fit
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tar  TAT  TEr TEr TR TR
As at 1 April 2022 W-E-—FNA—H 129,265 882,098 1,011,363 — 843,426 843,426
Changes due to financial WZE-~FNR—H
instruments recognised BEALBTA
asat 1 April 2022 BYHEE
— Impairment losses reversed ~ — 2 REIEERE (37,672) (574,845) (612,517) - (353,585) (353,585)
New financial assets/contract B4 BEE/
assets originated BHEE 31,351 647,553 678,904 — 255,114 255,114
Write-offs kit (12,627) — (12,627) — — —
Exchange adjustments 5% (10,339) (65,526) (75,864) — (55,744) (55,744)
As at 31 March 2023 RZZ_=F=A=1-H 99,979 889,280 989,259 - 689,211 689,211
Changes due to financial RZE-=ENA—H
instruments recognised BRERIE
asat 1 April 2023 BHNEY
— Transfer to —BESOEENE
credit-impaired 167,190 (167,190) - 97,573 (97,573) —
— Impairment losses — EERREEE
recognised 71,125 — 71,725 390,292 — 390,292
— Impairment losses reversed ~ — 2R EIRERR (65,888) (277,871) (343,759) = (60,375) (60,375)
New financial assets/contract B HeREE/
assets originated ANEE - 535,266 535,266 - 86,449 86,449
Write-offs itz (147,223) - (147,223) (335,907) - (335,907)
Exchange adjustments 5 A% (7,151) (43,499) (50,650) — (27,996) (27,996)
As at 31 March 2024 RZE-ME=F=1—H 124,632 935,986 1,060,618 151,958 589,716 741,674
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE =T ZWF=A=+—HIEFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. @R T E ()

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by
the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. In addition to issuance of
new shares, the Group relies on bank and other borrowings as a
significant source of liquidity. The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on a going concern basis because the directors
of the Company believe that the Group has sufficient funds to
finance its current working capital requirements taking account of
the cash flows from operations and assuming the continuing ability
to utilise the available bank facilities. As at 31 March 2024, the
Group had available unutilised bank facilities of HK$91,255,455,000
(2023: HK$99,672,155,000). Details of the Group’s bank and other
borrowings as at 31 March 2024 are set out in note 32.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities and derivative financial
instruments. The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay. The tables include
both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest
flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from
the interest rate curve at the end of the reporting period.

In addition, the following tables detail the Group'’s liquidity analysis
for its derivative financial instruments. The tables have been drawn
up based on the undiscounted contractual net cash (inflows) and
outflows on derivative financial instruments that settle on a net
basis. When the amount payable is not fixed, the amount disclosed
has been determined by reference to the projected interest rates as
illustrated by the yield curves existing at the end of the reporting
period. The liquidity analysis for the Group’s derivative financial
instruments are prepared based on the contractual maturities as the
management consider that the contractual maturities are essential
for an understanding of the timing of the cash flows of derivatives.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

30. €@ T )

TRENE S E (%)

Liquidity tables TEEER
Carrying
Weighted ~ Payable on amount
average  demandor  Between Between Between Total  attheend
effective ~ less than 1to  3months 1to Over undiscounted  of reporting
interest rate Tmonth  3months  to1year 5 years Syears  cash flows period
AREX
mERY  EEASR -EAE ZfAE AR RESHR
BB -fER =R £ -F2RE  BENL RENEE  2BEE
% HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T Fitn T Tt T Thn T
At 31 March 2024 e o113
ZR=1-H
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ {74 4REE
Trade and bill payables EHENEER
ERRE — 11296021 1228261  M5652 - — 12969934 12969934
Other payables and accruals HERRER
EitER — 4316188 - - - — 4316188 4316188
Amounts due to non-controling ERHER AR
interests of subsidlaries AV - 191,649 - - - - 191,649 191,649
Bank and other borrowings FRAfEE
—fived rate ) 3.64 68,137 797,231 13,036,640 10,168,114 1,968,452 26,038,574 24,349,587
— floating rate —38 4.68 44,280 1,358,457 8,408,427 26,509,560 2,631,619 38,952,343 34,715,768
Amounts due to associates EfBERA ZE - 81,760 - - - - 81,760 81,760
Amounts due to joint ventures ERABRTZFE - 366,502 - - - - 366,502 366,502
Lease liabilties HERE 4.64 5930 11421 653 102440 78 196242 173,050
16,370,467 3395370 21935992 36,780,114 4631249 83113192 77,164,438
Financial guarantee contracts BBERED — 10,344,878 - - - — 10,344,878 -
Derivative financial assets it eHER
— net settlement —FHLE
Cross currency interest rate swap RYEHH%
contracts BHAN - (22,657) - (61,714) 81,804 - (2,567) (7,755)
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

30. €@ T )

BNE & Rk ()

Liquidity tables (Continued) mENESR(E)
Carrying
Weighted  Payable on amount
average  demandor  Between Between Between Total  attheend
effective  less than 1to  3months 1to Over undiscounted  of reporting
interest rate Tmonth  3months  to1year 5 years Syears  cash flows period
AREX
mET  EEIAHR -fRZ ZfiRz AR RESHR
BB -{ER =f8R -F -§EIf BENE  REREE  ZBEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T Tin T T Fir Tin Tt
At 31 March 2023 i S
ZR=1-H
Non-derivative financial liabilities 374 $REE
Trade and bill payables EHENEER
ENZE — 11,491,057 1,710,989 1,445,826 - — 14647872 14647872
Other payables and accruals HtERRER
iR — 4561270 - - - — 4561210 4561270
Amounts due to non-controling ERHER AR
interests of subsidiaries AV - 197,965 - - - - 197,965 197,965
Bank and other borrowings RS
—fived rate — 8 358 1,343,546 1400510 7,136,094 5588333 1460586 16,929,069 15,963,092
— floating rate — 38 457 2,286 9246 12643253 35972642 437974 49,065,401 44,047,709
Amounts due to associates ERBEns 38 - 72,050 - - - - 72,050 72,050
Amounts due to joint ventures ERFAERAIZEE - 156,108 — - - - 156,108 156,108
Lease liabilties 8k 464 22,482 44,606 190,782 880,683 478594 1,617,147 1,376,044
17846764 3165351 21415955 42441658 2377154 87246882 81,022,110
Financial guarantee contracts HhERAN - 77%1% - - - - 77919 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. €T A

Liquidity risk (Continued)
Liquidity tables (Continued)

The amounts included above for financial guarantee contracts
are the maximum amounts the Group could be required to settle
under the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that
amount is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based on
expectations at the end of the reporting period, the management
considers that it is more likely than not that no amount will be
payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate is subject to
change depending on the probability of the counterparty claiming
under the guarantee which is a function of the likelihood that the
financial receivables held by the counterparty which are guaranteed
suffer credit losses.

The amounts included above for floating-rate bank and other
borrowings are subject to change if changes in variable interest
rates differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at the
end of the reporting period.

This note provides information about how the Group determines
fair values of various financial assets and liabilities.

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis

The Group's held-for-trading investments, equity instruments
at FVTOCI and derivative financial instruments are measured
at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The
following table gives information about how the fair values of
these financial assets and liabilities are determined.

TRENE S E (%)
MBETR(E)

A EFFAMBEREONEBEARH
EREREFITARABSHERRELHE
EREBEZFFRZENNESESE - R
BRBEMROEAR - BEEERRES
BREZHEXMNRENAEERS - R
o BURR S F A RBERELARD
At (RERRZEREEBNYF M
FEWERBIARMAIBEN) - fEts@l

= °

T FEF R B H RN R E IR
FEREE AR - B A A BERTT I
HifEENSE e -

A ERHEEFARENAEES RS
BEEMABRAFEZER -

() FAEERBFEEEZRNVEET
BEveRMEERAELATE

AEBEREERRE  mAFER
AHMEEBAZBRARE RITE
M TARERSEHRIZAFER
& TREHABRUAEELEFE
MEENBBEATEZEH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. @R T A

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and (i)
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis (Continued)

FEBRBFEEER A FER
BreRMEEREEAVEGE)

192

Fair value
N¥E Fair value
2024 2023 hierarchy
it a1 -2 —BCCF DFEER
Financial instruments
TRIA
Held-for-trading Listed equity securities in Hong Kong  Listed equity securities in Hong Kong  Level 1
investments — HK$27,585,000 (Note i) — HK$104,536,000 (Note i)
HIEEERE BB LRARE S BB L HRAES £
— 27,585,000/ 7t (FizEi) — 104,536,000/ 7t (i 5Ei)
Equity instruments at Listed equity securities in Hong Kong  Listed equity securities in Hong Kong ~ Level 1
FVTOCI — HK$102,520,000 (Note i) — HK$119,500,000 (Note i)
BATFERA BB LHRAES BB L THRARES £
HitZ2EEA — 102,520,000/ 7T (&) — 119,500,000/ 7 (Pfi &%)
ZIRATR
Listed equity securities in the PRC Listed equity securities in the PRC Level 1
— HK$243,769,000 (Note ii) — HK$397,872,000 (Note ii)
B TR E 5 B AR AR 2 £
— 243,769,000/ 7t (it 3ii) — 397,872,000 7t (Pfi 3ii)
Unlisted equity investments Unlisted equity investments Level 3
— HK$405,098,000 (Note iii) — HK$402,928,000 (Note iii)
I EMBRAKRE FEMRARE E=;
— 405,098,000 7T (it &iii) — 402,928,000/ 7t (Pfi i)
Derivative financial Cross currency interest rate swap Nil Level 2
instruments contracts (Note iv)
Assets — HK$36,512,000
Liabilities — HK$28,757,000
fTHEEmMIA RX G = HE L (HiEiv) i B/

BE — 36,512,000/ 7T
B & — 28,757,000/ 7T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

0

Fair

value of the Group’s financial assets and

liabilities that are measured at fair value on a

recurring basis (Continued)

Notes:

0]

(ii)

(iii)

The fair values of the listed equity securities in Hong Kong are
determined based on the quoted market bid prices available on the
Stock Exchange. The fair value measurement is classified as Level 1
of the fair value hierarchy.

The fair values of the listed equity securities in the PRC are
determined based on the quoted market bid prices available on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange. The fair value measurement is classified
as Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.

Unlisted equity investments represent the Group's investments in
entities which are mainly engaged in (a) investments in financial
assets measured at fair value and holding of bank and cash
balances; and (b) trading and storage and logistics of natural gas
and LPG.

The fair values of the unlisted equity investments are determined
by reference to market-based factors such as price-to-book ratio
and enterprise value to sales ratio, asset-based factors considering
the nature of underlying assets and liabilities held by the investees
and net assets value of the investees. The fair value measurement is
classified as Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The directors of the
Company consider that none of these investments is individually
significant.

The fair values of the cross currency interest rate swap contracts
are measured based on forward exchange rates (from observable
yield curves at the end of the reporting period) and yield curve of
relevant interest rates and contracted interest rates, discounted
at a rate that reflects the credit risk of various counterparties. The
fair value measurement is classified as Level 2 of the fair value
hierarchy.

There were no transfers between instruments in Level 1, 2
and 3 in both years.

30. €@ T )
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(iii)
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FETRARBIEASEHETER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

0]

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 30. €@ T )
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and () TEERBFEEERANFES
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a EEREENEBBATRES®)
recurring basis (Continued)
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of TREEF=-MATFEFEZ
financial assets R
Unlisted equity
investments
at FVTOCI
BAFERA
Hih2EBAZ
FETRAERE
HK$'000
T
As at 1 April 2022 RZZE-__FBF—H 600,093
Disposal HE (92,012)
Decrease in fair value recognised in other FFAEMEERAZ A ERD
comprehensive income (67,869)
Exchange adjustment PE 5 A% (37,284)
As at 31 March 2023 RZE_=F=F=+—H 402,928
Disposal HeE (6,551)
Addition INE 28,180
Exchange adjustment P H R (19,459)
As at 31 March 2024 R-ZZE-_MF=F=+—H 405,098

(i)

Fair value of Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities that are not measured at fair value on a
recurring basis

The fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities
is determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash flow analysis. The directors
of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of other
financial assets and financial liabilities carried at amortised
cost approximate their respective fair values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

40. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash

40. MEERBEE 2 AEYK

TERRAKERETHELEZABED
FE - BRREKIFRCEY - BER
PEEZABENRAEREBLARKREER

changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the
Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from

financing activities.

ERAEEES
mBEREREZAE -

RengRkIEARE

Bank and
other Amounts due
borrowings to non-
(including controlling
Dividend Consideration  loan interest Lease interest of
payable payables payables) liabilities  subsidiaries Total
RTRAMEE TS
(TEES NAFE
ERRE EARE EXRAE) HEEE  WERRE b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TEr THET TEL FEL
At 1 April 2022 RZEZZFNA—H — 443,172 56,294,482 1,569,918 311,706 58,619,278
Financing cash flows HERERE (2,992,185) (114,973) 4,510,415 (280,666) (90,595) 1,031,996
Foreign exchange translation INEIRE — (32,921) (3,038,111) (15,253) (23,146) (3,109,431)
Interest expenses FEE% — — 2,497,312 68,483 — 2,565,795
Dividend declared ERRE 2,992,185 - - — - 2,992,185
New leases entered METRL — — — 33,562 — 33,562
At 31 March 2023 WZEZ=F=A=1—H - 295,278 60,264,098 1,376,044 197,965 62,133,385
Financing cash flows BARSNE (2,991,470) — (2304121 (264,823) 3215  (5557,139)
Foreign exchange translation s - (12,078)  (1,334,343) (8,309) (9,591)  (1,364,321)
Interest expenses R - - 2,815,209 59,424 - 2,874,633
Dividend declared BRRE 2,991,470 - - - — 2,991,470
New leases entered and RO RAER
adjustments arising on lease EE7RE
modifications — — - (989,286) — (989,286)
At 31 March 2024 RZE-ME=A=1—H - 283,200 59,440,843 173,050 191,649 60,088,742
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

41. COMMITMENTS 41. A

The Group as lessor

All of the Group’s premises, equipment, vessels and motor vehicles
held for rental purposes have committed lessees for the next one
and after five years (2023: one and after five years).

Lease payments receivable on leases are as follows:

REEERHBEA

AEEFEHERERENDE &
- MR REERRR—FRAFE
HyEBEA(ZE_=ZF: —FRAF
%) e

HEAERNRKESIT

2024 2023

—E-ME —E-=F

HK$'000 HK$’000

FHET FAT

Within one year —FRK 41,392 138,659
In the second year FE-F 34,481 14,002
In the third year E=F 26,156 3,115
In the fourth year Euikes 17,485 2,862
In the fifth year BERF 4,416 2,142
After five years HFE 7,937 6,033
131,867 166,813

Leases are negotiated for an average term of one to twenty years
(2023: one to twenty years) with fixed rentals.

The Group has capital commitments in respect of the acquisition of
property, plant and equipment, construction materials for property,
plant and equipment and properties under development contracted
for but not provided in the consolidated financial statements
amounting to HK$132,262,000 (2023: HK$179,574,000),
HK$85,156,000 (2023: HK$134,206,000) and HK$171,213,000
(2023: HK$235,176,000) respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

42. PLEDGE OF OR RESTRICTIONS ON ASSETS 42. EEKFZRE

The Group pledged certain non-current and current assets and
equity interests over certain subsidiaries to banks or financial
institutions to secure loan facilities granted to the Group. Carrying
amount of the non-current and current assets pledged to banks or
financial institutions to secure loan facilities granted to the Group is
as follows:

REBBRETHBARZE TIERS
RARBEERBRANESIKIFFRTRE
B (EAEBERZERBMEZE
RoBHEBTEITXNEREBIEAEASE
EERZEFBMERERZIERE LR
BEREAENT

2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FT

Property, plant and equipment and W - BB KRB RRE L E
investment properties 8,562,336 5,907,983
Pledged bank deposits BRI TFR 185,999 178,696
8,748,335 6,086,679

At the end of the reporting period, the Company’s equity interests
in certain subsidiaries were pledged to a bank for credit facilities
granted to the Group.

In addition, lease liabilities of HK$173,050,000 (2023:
HK$1,376,044,000) are recognised with related right-of-use assets
of HK$166,659,000 (2023: HK$1,299,636,000) as at 31 March
2024. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other
than the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the
lessor and the relevant leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

RBEBR > ARFRETHBELRFZ
BARGERETAKBE 2 EERER
Y —MRT

AN RZFEZMF= A=+ —HER
THEBRE173,050,0008 (T ==
& 1 1,376,044,000/8 70 ) K #8 B (F A i
& E 166,659,000 8 T (ZE == F :
1,299,636,000/87T) » BRI ARFE KT
EEEPHIREEZSIN  BERRTHE
MEMEHE - MEEEEEETSHE
&I o
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE =T ZWF=A=+—HIEFE

43.

44.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) for all employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme
is registered with the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Authority
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance in Hong
Kong. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in funds under the control of an independent
trustee. Under the rules of the MPF Scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to the plan
at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. The only obligation of the
Group with respect of the MPF Scheme is to make the required
contributions. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the
contribution payable in the future years as at 31 March 2024 and
2023.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are covered
by the retirement and pension schemes defined by local practices
and regulations. The subsidiaries are required to contribute a
specific percentage of their payroll costs to the retirement and
pension schemes. The only obligation of the Group in respect to the
retirement benefits scheme is to make the specified contribution.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Apart from the amounts due from (to) related parties and
transactions as disclosed in notes 19, 25, 26 and 30, the Group
entered into the following transactions with major related parties
that are not members of the Group:

() During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group
purchased gas for total amount of HK$18,446,000 (2023:
HK$58,603,000) from a joint venture.

(i) During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group sold gas
appliances, consumables and spare parts for a total amount of
HK$248,457,000 (2023: HK$306,181,000) to joint ventures
and associates.

43.

44,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(Vi)

(vii)

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group received
engineering design and construction revenue and for the
building of property, plant and equipment for a total amount
of HK$206,662,000 (2023: HK$1,089,462,000) from joint
ventures.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group
purchased consumables and spare parts for total amount
of HK$218,149,000 (2023: HK$175,431,000) from joint
ventures.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group sold gas for
total amount of HK$195,754,000 (2023: HK$195,243,000)
to a joint venture.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group sold LPG
for a total amount of HK$1,938,862,000 (2023: Nil) to an
associate.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group entered
into sale and purchase agreements with the respective
holder(s) of the remaining equity interests holders for a total
consideration of HK$37,056,000 (2023: HK$2,032,058,000).
Details of the transactions has been disclosed in note 36.

44. BBEA R B @)

(iii)

(iv)

(Vi)

(vii)

BHE-_Z-_NWFE=A=+—HItHF
B AEEREEQFWEEZEY
¥ BERREBZ IRRARET
U A\ 4258 5206,662,0008 L ( — =
T =% :1,089,462,000/87T) °

BE-_Z-_NWFE=A=+—HItHF
B AEEREGELAREEERER
N A& - 42%85218,149,000/%8 7T
—ZT =4 :175,431,000&7T) °

HE_Z-_NF=-A=1+—HIF
I $%@W@ %8195,754,000
BL(ZE © 195,243,000
TE—EEEARLERE -

BE_Z_NF=A=1+—HLF
e $’EIJ«A B$%A1,938,862,000
/%75 ZE=FT)m—HEgE
AEEERILAEBR -

BE_Z-_WFE=A=+—HIE
B AREREBRRERSEASE
MEBAEAGTVEE RS  BRE
/337,056, ooo,am(_f— =4
2,032,058,000/ L) - K ZFHEE
REIFE36IE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(viii) The Group entered into 2 time charter contracts with a joint

(ix)

venture for the lease of vessels during the year ended 31
March 2021. The value of right-of-use assets recognised
under the transaction was approximately HK$1,580,993,000
at the commencement date of the lease. The lease payments
to the joint venture for the leased vessels during the
year ended 31 March 2024 are HK$189,676,000 (2023:
HK$197,923,000).

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group entered
into termination deeds with the joint venture, pursuant to
which the relevant parties agreed to the early termination of
the time charter contracts for the lease of the two vessels.

The Group provided guarantees for banking facilities
granted to the Group’s associates and joint ventures of
HK$10,344,878,000 (2023: HK$7,798,198,000).

The remuneration of key management of the Group was as follows:

44. BEE R B )

Vi) BE-_ZT-_—F=F=1+—HItF

(ix)

B AEEE-FHAEATEAE
WA I MMM E SR - R
ERKRBE  XPE N ERNFER
W& EBEA#1,580,993,000 %8
Lo HEZT-_WFEF=A=+—H
IHFEE > nEEMmSTFAE QT
R FEE 1~ 30 5189,676,00058 7T ( —
T~ =4 : 197,923,000 T) °

HE_ZT_WNF=A=+—HIF
B AEBEAERBRIRILER
%) BRI - AT R B s AR A A
HERPEUIMAEESR -

REEBABAEHEBLERNRRAE
NAESHEBITHERBRER
10,344,878,000/8 L (—ZE == :
7,798,198,000/87T) °

AEETEEEEZHEMT

2024 2023

—E-IF —T=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Short-term benefits %2 ERTE T 48,713 51,706
Post-employment benefits BB ER 72 72
48,785 51,778

The remuneration of key management is determined by the
remuneration committee having regard to the performance of
individuals and market trends.

TEZEEEMemTIMEZEEEEEE
ARBREHGBERET -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE =T ZWF=A=+—HIEFE

45. LEGAL CLAIMS

On 30 March 2017, the Company received a form of claim filed by
a former director of the Company in the Labour Tribunal of Hong
Kong claiming approximately HK$140 million (being the alleged
loss of salary in the sum of HK$21.6 million (annual salary of
HK$7.2 million) for the three financial years ended 31 March 2014
and the aggregate bonus in the sum of approximately HK$118.4
million for the four financial years ended 31 March 2014) and
other unliquidated damages and interest from the Company for the
alleged wrongful dismissal by the Company of a former director of
the Company as a director and an employee of the Company on 29
March 2011. By the mutual consent of the parties to the claim, the
claim has been transferred to the Court of First Instance of the High
Court.

In addition, the above former director and several other share
option holders initiated legal proceedings against the Company
with regard to their respective purported exercise of share options,
which would have entitled the relevant persons to a total of
110,000,000 shares of the Company.

In respect of the aforementioned legal proceedings, the Company
has sought advice from its legal advisors and has been advised
that there is a sound basis for defending the above claims, no
amount of contingent liabilities was provided as at 31 March 2024
and 2023. For details of the legal proceedings, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 2 June 2017 on the website
of the Stock Exchange (please note that the above former director
has since withdrawn his claims against the Company in respect of
HCA751/2017 referred to in the said announcement).

45. EEBRE

RZE—+tF=A=+H AREEE
ARAFAEEREBLEETHERRER
WERRE  UBBEEALRARFEZESER
EBER-_ZE—F=ZA-t+HLBHAR
AN ERRERBRARR AR AEE
T(AEHMEZE-_Z—NF=HA=+—H
=B FENFCELETE21.688
BIL(EEHFEAT2BEEB L) REEC
—UF=A=t+—HINEAYBRFE
RITEAT AR EE A1 . 18418 B L) R E MR &
ETEERERAE - KEFTRAE - %
EE/%EL?&%‘J’/fTEE NERE ©

Btz o EipTEESENE THEAE
BEBEEARESEBBITEERER
ARARIBEREFA  BRALTHERE
JESRA T F£110,000,0008% A% 1
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FEBEME i“ﬂﬂ%i%ﬂEﬁTsﬁﬁz
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%Eﬁ%ﬁmﬁé{% Eﬁﬁ/ﬁi.ﬁ*f\mﬁ
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

46. T EMBRATFHE

TZMBARFEET

Place of
incorporation or Paid up issued share  Proportion of nominal value of
registration/  Form of business capital/registered issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary operations structure capital  capital held by the Company Principal activities
Rl ARBERT RAARBERS
WEARER i/ EERY  EREEVS Ra/dmEs  Ra/ARESEERA  TEER
2024 2023
ZEomE -BCZf
% %
HIRREEE (R BRAT PRC Wholly-foreign owned Registered 100¢ 100 Investment holding and treasury
enterprises ("WFOE”) USD234,589,000
HE NEEALE i RERRRETR
234,589,000% T
IR EBRAA PRC WFOE Registered 100° 100* Investment holding and treasury
USD250,000,000
HE IEEARR i RERRRER
250,000,000 7
SRR ERTER A PRC Sino-foreign equity joint Registered 60" 60 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
venture RMB20,000,000 construction
] HhRERR i ARARERMREERS
A&H20,000,0007T
aERETREEEER A PRC Sino-foreign equity joint Registered 80% 80% Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
venture RIMB44,022,000 construction
e RERE i FABERRREERR
ARH44,022,00070
BRI ERERAT PRC Sino-foreign equity joint Registered 90# 90% Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
venture RMB100,000,000 construction
H hihe AR i AAREERMRERER
AR100,000,0007
BRI R R RERAT PRC Limited liabity company Registered 70 70 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RMB70,000,000 construction
G EREFAT it AERERMREERR
ARH70,000,0007
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. = EME A AFE @)

(Continued)

Place of
incorporation or Paid up issued share  Proportion of nominal value of
registration/  Form of business capital/registered  issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary operations structure capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activities
BalAED HREER FARMERES
HEARZHE P/ g ERRETS R/ AmER Ra/SMEXEELS  FEEE
2024 2023
Z2omE —Bocf
% %
EERRATREEEER A PRC Limited liability company Registered 100 100% Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RMB72,000,000 construction
HE EREFLT i ARAEERMRERRS
ARH72,000,0007
ZRORRATARLE PRC Sino-foreign equity joint Registered 100 100%  Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
venture RMB118,950,000 construction
] HhRERR i ARARERMRERRS
AE118950,0007C
ZRACH AR ERARAT PRC Sino-foreign equity joint Registered 100 100 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
venture RMB16,002,000 construction
# RELE FRal AABERRREERR
AR 16,002,000
B mR AR EERAT PRC WFOE Registered 100% 100% Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
USD6,060,000 construction
i NEEELE it AAREERMRERER
6,060,000% T
NPT AR RERAT PRC Sino-foreign equity joint Registered 75¢ 75% Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
venture RMB40,000,000 construction
i RELE it AERERMREERR
ARH40,000,0007
BRI RERER AT PRC Sino-foreign equity joint Registered 64 64 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
venture RMB265,725,582 construction
HE meERE i AMBHERMREERR
AR265,725,5827L
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. = EME A AFE @)

(Continued)

Place of
incorporation or Paid up issued share  Proportion of nominal value of
registration/  Form of business capital/registered  issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary operations structure capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activities
BalAED HREES FARMEEES
HEARZHE P/ gy ERRETS R/ RmER Ra/SMErEERS  FEEE
2024 2023
Z3omE —Bocf
% %
EEnREZRMRERARLA PRC Limited liability company Registered 64t 64 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RMB38,000,000 construction
HE EREFAT i AAABERMRERRS
ARH38,000,0007
ERpEERTREERAA PRC Limited liability company Registered 64% 64%  Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RIMB20,000,000 construction
] EREFAT i ARAEERMREERS
AEH20,000,0007T
AR REEERAT PRC Sino-foreign equity joint Registered 100% 100 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
venture RMB200,000,000 construction
# RERE i FABERRREERR
AE%200,000,0007C
ElEit R R RERAT PRC Sino-foreign equity joint Registered 70¢ 70% Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
venture RMB133,330,000 construction
i hiheERE i AAREERMRE RS
AR133,330,0007
BETRRARLT PRC Limited liability company Registered 80% 80" Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RMB183,800,000 construction
i EREFAT it AAREERMRERER
AR183,800,0007
BETEIRRATERNE PRC Limited liability company Registered 80 80% Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
BRAT RMB20,000,000 construction
HE EREFAT it ARRERMREERR
ARH20,000,0007
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. = EME A AFE @)

(Continued)

Place of
incorporation or Paid up issued share  Proportion of nominal value of
registration/  Form of business capital/registered  issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary operations structure capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activities
BalAED HREES FARMEEES
HEARZHE P/ gy ERRETS R/ RmER BA/EMEAEERS  IEER
2024 2023
Z3omE —Bocf
% %
HERREEERERAA PRC Limited liability company Registered 100 100%  Investment in petrochemical facilities
RMB1,130,000,000 of storage and transportation,
fundamental facilites of pier and
sales of LPG
HE BEREAE i RlkREERES REEENR
ABH1,130,000,0007C RERRIAMRHE
HIRREEHRERAR PRC Limited liability company Registered 100% 100% Sales, producing and storing LPG and
RMB300,000,000 chemical products
HE BREMAE i HE  EERRERLABRRIT
ABRH300,000,0007 Em
ENElARRAARAA PRC Limited liability company Registered 100% 100% Sales and manufacturing of highly
USD60,000,000 purified LPG, highly purified
propane and butane
e BREMAE i HEREERFIRILARR B
60,000,000 70 ERERT &
MR RERERAT PRC Limited liabiity company Registered 100% 100 Sales of LPG
RMB400,000,000
HE EREFAT i HRRRHE
AR #400,000,0007
Fortune Gas Investment Hong Kong Limited liability company Ordinary 100% 100%  Investment holding, sales of natural
Holdings Limited HK$876,980,000 gas and CBM business
EHRARARRERAR Bk BREMAE L RERR  RAREEREERES
876,980,000/
FREERRERAA PRC Limited liabiity company Registered 80" 80 Sales of natural gas
RMB50,000,000
H BRERAF i AAREE
ARH50,000,0007T
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. = EME A AFE @)

(Continued)

Place of
incorporation or Paid up issued share  Proportion of nominal value of
registration/  Form of business capital/registered  issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary operations structure capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activities
BalAED HREES FARMEEES
HEARZHE P/ gy ERRETS R/ RmER Ra/SMErEERS  FEEE
2024 2023
Z3omE —Bocf
% %
EMREREERA PRC WFOE Registered 100% 100%  Investment holding
USD30,000,000
HE IEEARR i RABR
30,000,000
EREREER AR PRC Sino-foreign equity joint Registered 100 100%  Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
venture RMB64,000,000 construction
] HMRERR i ARAEERMREERS
ARH64,000,0007T
EIMEEERA Hong Kong Limited liability company Ordinary 10%* 70* Exploration and production of
USD102,460,140 coal bed methane
o BREAAT L HRREERER
102,460,140%7
MR TR AR EERAT PRC Limited liabiity company Registered 100% 100% Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RMB100,000,000 construction
i BERERAF i AAREERMRE RS
A100,000,0007
BERTRARERERAR PRC Sino-foreign equity joint Registered 75t 75 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
venture RMB16,000,000 construction
i EELE it AERERMREERR
ARE16,000,0007
ERRITRRERARAT PRC Limited liability company Registered 99 99 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RMB150,000,000 construction
HE EREFAT it AMBRERMREERR
AF#150,000,0007
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. = EME A AFE @)

(Continued)

Place of
incorporation or Paid up issued share  Proportion of nominal value of
registration/  Form of business capital/registered  issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary operations structure capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activities
BalAED HREES FARMEEES
HEARZHE P/ gy ERRETS R/ RmER Ra/SMErEERS  FEEE
2024 2023
Z3omE —Bocf
% %
FERRHTRAREERAA PRC Limited liability company Registered 100 100 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RMB300,000,000 construction
HE EREFAT i AAABERMREERR
AK%300,000,0007
mEZEE (F) R AR PRC Limited liability company Registered 100 100 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
USD59,600,000 construction and investrent holding
] EREFAT i ARABEERMREERRIR
59,600,000 70 REER
AT TER AT PRC Limited liability company Registered 100% 100 Development and investment in clean
RIMB10,000,000 energy projects
H BRERAF i EEYS TR A
ARH10,000,0007T
TR RERERAR PRC Limited liabilty company Registered 100% 85* Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RMB397,050,000 construction
i BERERAF i AAREERMRE RS
AE%397,050,0007C
HRERERE HERAT PRC Limited liability company Registered 100% 100%  Wholesale and trading of natural gas
RMB300,000,000 and liquefied natural gas
i EREFAT it BRI RARHEREE
AR300,000,0007
AR EEER (RY) BRAT  PRC Limited liability company Registered 100% 100 Provision of procurement services to
RMB100,000,000 group companies
HE EREFAT it BEELTRRRRRY
AF#100,000,0007
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. = EME A AFE @)

(Continued)

Place of
incorporation or Paid up issued share  Proportion of nominal value of
registration/  Form of business capital/registered  issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary operations structure capital  capital held by the Company Principal activities
BaiEAES HEBES ARAFRORT
(i Pk it/ g5l ERERVA R&/iRER  RA/SMEARERA  TERE
2024 2023
E-RE CEoCF
% %
China Natural Gas Investment Limited ~ BVI Limited liability company Ordinary 100¢ 100°  Investment holding
UsD100
PERRRRERRAA ZERUME  RREMLAA i REHR
100%7
Panriver Investments Company Limited ~ Hong Kong Limited liability company Ordinary 100 100%  Investment holding
HKS1
BIRERRAH B ERELAA i3 REER
187
Energy Link Investments Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company Ordinary 100° 100°  Investment holding
HK$1
KERERRAR B BERERAT iB RERRK
17
China Gas Energy Utlization Holdings ~ Hong Kong Limited liability company Ordinary 100° 100°  Investment holding
Limited HKS$1
RN AR RERAT B ERELAA i REER
127
Zhongran Energy Network Development  Hong Kong Limited liability company Ordinary 100¢ 100°  Investment holding
Limited HK$100
R BRERARAT B BERERAF i8 RERRK
10047
REPREEERERAA PRC Limited liability company Registered 100 100 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RMB390,310,169 construction
hE ERELAA it RARHERMREERR
AR%390,310,1697C
Beijing Gas Development Limited BVI Limited liability company Ordinary 100 100%  Investment holding
UsD100
IHERERAT ZERAME  ARELLA 5 REER
10057
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. = EME A AFE @)

(Continued)

Place of
incorporation or Paid up issued share  Proportion of nominal value of
registration/  Form of business capital/registered  issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary operations structure capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activities
AR HRBER FRRFRER
(i P GAUVE-£ 3 S 2 L Ra/ifEs  RA/SMEAEERS  FEER
2024 2023
§-RE CEOCF
% %
ENReEEERERAA PRC Limited liability company Registered 99# 99*  Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RIMB300,000,000 construction
hE BRELRA it ARHERMFREBRR
AEH300,000,0007
ENPRRARARLE PRC Limited liability company Registered 88.91% 88.91%  Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RIMB118,000,000 construction
i EREAAT i ARAEERMRERRR
ARH118,0000007
PELEERIEEARLA PRC Limited liability company Registered 100% 100%  Development and consultancy services
RMB80,000,000 in gas pipeline construction
hE ERELRT it MREERR L FE LR
AK%80,000,0007T
TR RARAR PRC Liited liabilty company Regstered 100% 100 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RMB80,000,000 construction
i ERELRA Bl AARHERMRE R
AK%80,000,0007T
FrEEENMRRTERERAT  PRC Limited liability company Registered 85 85#  Development, consultancy services and
RMB107,500,000 investment in clean energy
i ERELAA Eil BRERRE  FARBRRE
AE107,500,0007
FPREELBARAR PRC Limited liability company Registered 1007 100% Provision of distributed heating services
(FRA AN ERETARAA) RMB300,000,000
hE ERELAA Eil REDHARERS
AEH300,000,0007
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. = EME A AFE @)

(Continued)

Place of
incorporation or Paid up issued share  Proportion of nominal value of
registration/  Form of business capital/registered  issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary operations structure capital  capital held by the Company Principal activities
AR HREER ARARRORT
HEATER GVA-E I R&/ifEs  RA/SMEAEERS  FEER
2024 2013
§-RE CEOCF
% %
HERENEEERAT PRC Limited liabiity company Registered 100% 100 Sales of electricity and development,
RMB500,000,000 consultancy services and investment
in clean energy
i ERELRA Bl ENHERRRERRY  HAkE
AFRE500,000,0007 Kz
Fmm R s 2 RLE PRC Limited liability company Registered 100 100%  Investment holding
BRAR RMB700,000,000
i ERELRA Bl RER
ARE700,000,0007T
Zhongran Energy Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company Ordinary 100¢ 100°  LPG trading
HK$50,000,002
hiRERERAA Bk EREFAT iB HRRRES
50,000,002
Sky Access Holdings Limited BVI Limited liability company Ordinary 100¢ 100°  Investment holding
UsD100
ZERAME  AREELA 5B RER
100%7T
Fresh Goal Limited BVI Limited liability company Ordinary 100¢ 100°  Investment holding
USD1
SHERAR AERNME  ARELLA £ RER
E3
China Gas Capital Management Limited BV Limited liability company Ordinary 100° 100 Group financing and treasry
UsD100
hEMRERERARAA AERNME  ARELLA EB SERERER
100%7T
EEme R RARAT PRC Limited liability company Registered 100% 100 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RMB100,000,000 construction
i ERELRA Eil AARHERMRE R
AKE100,000,0007T
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46.

(Continued)

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. X EME A B @)

Place of
incorporation or Paid up issued share  Proportion of nominal value of
registration/  Form of business capital/registered  issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary operations structure capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activities
AR HRBER FRRFRER
WEARAR GAUVE-£ 3 S 2 L Ra/ifEs  RA/SMEAEERS  FEER
2024 2023
IBomE B
% %
REPIREER A PRC Limited liability company Registered 100 100%  Investment in the construction of city
RIMB69,980,000 gas pipeline network, petrochemical
and natural gas projects
HE EREFAT i WITRRESRS  AAREN
AR 69,980,000 BREMTRE
PARERFARREREALT PRC Limited liabiity company Registered 65% 65 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RIMB133,000,000 construction
i BRELRA it ARHERMREBRR
133,000,000
WRESRATRRERERAT  MRC Limited liability company Registered 96.5% 96.5% Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RMB774,027,200 construction
H EREAAT i ARAEERMRERRR
ARET74,027,2007
EmEEEREERAR PRC Limited liability company Registered g 71%  Provision of value-added services and
RMB200,000,000 wholesale and retail of household
equipment, electric appliances,
kitchen appliances and others
b ERELRA it REEERBERFARE €8
AR%200,000,0007C BRERSHARTE
BHESE (M) ABAT PRC Limited liabiity company Registered 100% 100 Research and development, wholesale,
RIB30,000,000 retall, installation, and maintenance
of household equipment, electric
appliances, kitchen appliances and
others
HE EREFAT i ZRRE 2% BREAEHE
ARH30,000,0007 HE 2% ZRREE
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. = EME A AFE @)

(Continued)
Place of
incorporation or Paid up issued share  Proportion of nominal value of
registration/  Form of business capital/registered  issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary operations structure capital  capital held by the Company Principal activities
AR HREER ARARRORT
HEATER GVA-E I R&/ifEs  RA/SMEAEERS  FEER
2024 2023
§-RE CEOCF
% %
Rich Legend International Limited BVI Limited liability company Ordinary 100¢ 100°  Investment holding
UsD100
ZERUME  ARALAA i REHR
100£7C
FmeREERLE PRC Limited liability company Registered 100 100%  Investment holding
RMB50,000,000
G EREALT i RERRK
AE#50,000,0007T
WRERE 2 RARAR PRC Limited liabiity company Registered 100% 100%  Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RMB200,000,000 construction
hE BREEAA it ARHERMREERR
200,000,000
BRI R R RERLT PRC Limited liability company Registered 89.55 8955 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RMB50,000,000 construction
i ERELRA Bl AARHERMRE R
AK%50,000,0007T
Hai Xia Finance Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company Ordinary 100° 100° Securities investments
HK$2
BRHHARLT B ERELAA i3 EHRE
2B
BEM)IZRATREER PRC Sino-foreign equity joint Registered 65* 65 Design, construction and maintenance
venture RIMB6,000,000 of city pipeline projects
hE PhaErE iiff ATMREEER R BRRAE
AFE 6,000,007
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. = EME A AFE @)

(Continued)

Place of
incorporation or Paid up issued share  Proportion of nominal value of
registration/  Form of business capital/registered  issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary operations structure capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activities
AR HRBER ARARRORT
(i P GVA-E3 Ra/ifEs  RA/SMEAEERS  FEER
2024 2023
§-RE CEOCF
% %
52 RREER AT PRC Limited liability company Registered 100% 100% Development and consultancy
RIMB10,000,000 services in natural gas projects and
investment holding
hE ERELAA it RRRER 2 R LRI
AEH10,000,0007C REEK
REREETRERDA PRC Limited liability company Registered 100 100% Provision of construction services
RMB40,000,000
hE ERELRA it RUZREH
AR 40,000,007
e R RERAT PRC Limited liabiity company Registered 100% 100 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RIMB158,214,000 construction
i EREAAT i ARAEERMRERRR
ARH158,214,0007
RAFTRRERERAT PRC WFOE Registered 100% 100% Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
HK$59,450,000 construction
hE NEBERE it ARHERMREERR
59,450,000%7C
SRR ERARAR PRC Limited liability company Registered 100 100 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RMB234,358,158 construction
i ERELRA Bl ARHERMRE R
AEE234358,1587T
REENMIRARAR PRC Limited liability company Registered 70% 70%  Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RMB30,000,000 construction
i ERELAA Eil RARHERMAEERR
AK%30,000,0007T
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. = EME A AFE @)

(Continued)

Place of
incorporation or Paid up issued share  Proportion of nominal value of
registration/  Form of business capital/registered  issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary operations structure capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activities
ELAE] HEERf ARARRORT
(i P GVA-E3 Ra/ifEs  RA/SMEAEERS  FEER
2024 2013
“ECME CE-CE
% %
Electronic Business Development BVI Limited liability company Ordinary AN 718 Investment holding
Company Limited UsD100
ETERERARAA ARRNME  ARELLA EB RER
10057
Lofty Intellect Limited BVI Limited liability company Ordinary 100% 100% Investment holding
USD50,000
SEERAR AERNME  ARELLA £ RER
50,000%7
Nova Gas Limited BVI Limited liability company Ordinary 100% 100% Investment holding
usp2
HANRARAT EERNME  ARELLA EB RER
PES
TR IAERAT PRC WFOE Registered 100% 100 Sales of cherical products and
USD8,100,000 provision of transportation services
hE HEBALE itff {tEmHER R ERRH
8,100,000%7
EETReRIMRERDA PRC Limited liability company Registered 51 51%  Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RMB110,000,000 construction
i ERELRA Eil AARHERMRE R
ARE110,000,0007T
EBRmRRERERAA PRC Limited liabiity company Registered 80 80% Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RMB68,550,000 construction
i ERELRA Eil AARHERMRE R
AKX %68,550,0007T
Natural Shine Investment Ltd Hong Kong Limited liability company Ordinary 100° 100°  Investment holding
HKS1
B ERELAA EB RERR
187
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. = EME A AFE @)

(Continued)

Place of
incorporation or Paid up issued share  Proportion of nominal value of
registration/  Form of business capital/registered  issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary operations structure capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activities
AR HRBER ARARRORT
(i P GVA-E3 Ra/ifEs  RA/SMEAEERS  FEER
2024 2023
§-RE CEOCF
% %
Trade Merit Holdings Limited BVI Limited liability company Ordinary 100% 100% Investment holding
USD1,000
ZERUME  ARALAA i REHR
1,000%7
it RERER AT Hong Kong Limited liabiity company Ordinary 100¢ 100 Investment holding
HK$182,000,000
B BERERAF i RERRK
182,000,000
IRhRAME SERAT PRC Limited liabiity company Registered 100% 100%  Wholesale and trading of gas appliance
RMB26,751,300 and parts
hE BREEAA it MRAREINHEREE
AR%26,7513001
IR TR R RARAR PRC Limited liability company Registered 100 100 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RMB90,000,000 construction
i ERELRA Bl AARHERMRE R
AK90,000,0007T
AT EERAR PRC Liited liabilty company Registered 100% 100 Development and consultancy semices
RMB20,000,000 in software
i ERELAA iiff gt 2 AR R AR
AK%20,000,0007T
T EEREREERAA PRC Limited liability company Registered 50.66% 50.66% Development, manufacture and sales
RMB62,500,000 of gas appliance
hE ERELRA Eil % RERHEMRA
AR 62,500,007
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. = EME A AFE @)

(Continued)

Place of
incorporation or Paid up issued share  Proportion of nominal value of
registration/  Form of business capital/registered  issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary operations structure capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activities
AR HRBER FRRFRER
WEARAR H/ERHE  EBERYS Ra/ifEs  RA/SMEAEERS  FEER
2024 2023
IBomE B
% %
RERRANER AR PRC Limited liability company Registered 100 100 Provision of heating services
RMB200,000,000
i ERELRA it RUEARS
200,000,000
AR EERAREERAA PRC Limited liability company Registered 100 100 Provision of rental and inspection
RMB50,000,000 services for safety production
ke EREAAT itf REZPEERERBERE
AEH50,000,0007T
TR REEERAT PRC Limited liability company Registered 100% 100%  Wholesale and trading of natural gas
RMB50,000,000 and liquefied natural gas
# BRERAR Faa BRI RARHEREE
A 50,000,0007C
# Directly held # BHERE

# Indirectly held

The above table lists the principal subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would,
in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

None of the Company’s subsidiaries had issued any debt securities
at the end of the year, except for FIAREHR A E], a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, which has issued medium-
term notes, corporate bonds and super and short-term commercial
papers of approximately RMB3,703 million (approximately
HK$4,025 million) (2023: RMB4,903 million (approximately
HK$5,603 million) in aggregate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 —Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 47. & BB EERRE
COMPANY

Information about the statement of the financial position of the RATRMEH R Z BBk AR E R 0
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: T:
2024 2023
ZEBNF —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Non-current assets ERBNVEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB MR 1,527 1,940
Investments in subsidiaries RBARZIRE 17,502,618 16,776,323
Investments in associates REE AR ZKE 1,262,750 1,354,757
Investments in joint ventures REBRARIZKRE 570,400 603,146
Equity instruments at FVTOC| BRATHEGFARMEERA
ZH§$I,E< 2,900 2,900
Amounts due from subsidiaries AR ENGIE S 25,741,920 26,539,289
45,082,115 45,278,355
Current assets MEVEE
Other receivables and prepayment E b N BRIA K FBAS FOR 3,725 2,645
Cash and cash equivalents BE MRS EEIER 344,491 577,492
348,216 580,137
Current liabilities mEAE
Other payables and accruals H b fE (T BRIE ]2 JERT 1B 140,561 79,011
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERRB A RIZIA 11,328,525 15,339,287
Bank and other borrowings — RITRHEMEE —
due within one year R—FATE 7,119,889 980,221
18,588,975 16,398,519
Net current liabilities REBE R (18,240,759) (15,818,382)
26,841,356 29,459,973
Equity L
Share capital R 54,356 54,403
Reserves HiE 23,226,565 24,469,028
Total equity IS MEEE 23,280,921 24,523,431
Non-current liability 3F?}m§bﬁfﬁ
Bank and other borrowings — TREMEE
due after one year 5’\ i{%:ijﬂsﬁ 3,560,435 4,936,542
26,841,356 29,459,973
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 47. KA TMEMRRER @)

COMPANY (Continued)

Movement in the Company’s reserves:

Treasury
Share shares  Translation
premium reserve reserve

BiaE ERRARE  EXGE
HKE000  HKS000  HK$'000
TR TAT TR

ARFZ HEED

Employee Capital
Capital  share-based  redemption  Accumulated

reserve  compensation reserve profits Total

AR ERROEM AAMERR  RhEA &3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

T ThL Tén ThL Thn
(Note)

(M3t

At 1 April 2022 R-E-—FMA-H 20,275,595 (1,085,120)  (1,485,289) 65,475 - 3435 6,742,503 24,516,599
Profit for the year EFHF - - - - - - 3,633,521 3,633,521
Exchange differences arising from translation  BEE4 7 EH 28 - - (689,252) - - - — (689,252)
Recognition of equity-settled share based ~ BEZRALE MR (R BEEA)

payment % - - - - 345 - - 345
Shares vested under the share award scheme  [R17 BT EIZ BEBR N - 380 - - (m - (209) -
Dividends recognised as distributions TENRZRE - - - - - — (2992185 (2.992,185)
At 31 March 2023 RZE-=FZA=+-H 20,275,595 (1,084,740)  (2,174,541) 65,475 174 3,435 7383630 24,469,028
Profit for the year EFER - - - - - — 268313 2682313
Exchange differences arising from translation  EE4 2 [EF 28 - - (892,315) - - - - (892,315)
Recognition of equity-sttled share-based DRALE AR BER

payment 5 - - - - 2813 - - 2813
Repurchase of shares EERR (43,864) - - - - - - (43,864)
Shares vested under the share award scheme  [R(A 513 2R BRI - 380 - - (m) - (209) -
Dividends recognised as distributions BB KRR - - - - - — (2991470 (2,991,470)
At 31 March 2024 R-E-RmE=A=+-H 20,231,731 (1,084,360)  (3,066,856) 65,475 2,816 3,435 7074324 23,226,565

Note: The capital reserve of the Company represents the difference between
the underlying net assets of the subsidiaries acquired by the Company as
a result of the group reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s
shares in 1995 and the nominal amount of the Company’s share capital
issued as consideration for the acquisition.

3T - AARMERREEHRARRREA AR RN
R—NNAF EmAETSREEANLE
BB AR EEFEEARRIER
WHEREmMEITHRAEENZHE

48. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 48. HEHREIE

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Company issued
a corporate bond of RMBO0.8 billion with coupon and effective
interest rate of 2.46% per annum in the PRC on 20 May 2024 and
maturity date on 20 May 2029. The corporate bond is tradable on
the National Interbank Bond Market of the PRC.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBRE

For the year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=+—-HLFE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
CECONE T T T —EB-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET T FET T
Results EST
Revenue A 81,410,133 91,988,445 88,225,193 69,975,381 59,539,681
Profit for the year attributable 722 S A AJE
to owners of the Company  {H&FE & F 3,184,939 4,293,484 7,662,036 10,478,683 9,188,474
At 31 March
R=B=+—H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—EoNE o= —ZE--fF —T-—F ZT-FTF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FHET FET
Assets and liabilities BEENEBE
Total assets EEE 148,697,724 157,291,209 163,146,352 140,720,642 112,099,544
Total liabilities FEN=Er= (87,950,371) (92,500,830) (91,077,199) (80,856,510) (66,299,594)
60,747,353 64,790,379 72,069,153 59,864,132 45,799,950
Equity attributable to owners (B4R 7
of the Company Ba AR 53,927,655 57,900,584 63,577,893 51,936,860 39,604,964
Non-controlling interests IEFEAR RS 6,819,698 6,889,795 8,491,260 7,927,272 6,194,986
60,747,353 64,790,379 72,069,153 59,864,132 45,799,950
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PARTICULARS OF MAJOR PROPERTIES
ETRY=EH

Location Type Group's interest (%) Lease term
it Bh k=] REBERE(%)

Leasehold land and buildings

HELHRIET

In Hong Kong:

b= -

16/F., Capital Centre Office premises 100 Long term lease

No. 151 Gloucester Road HE/NES Y ES REELD

Wan Chai

Hong Kong

BAE

E

ELITE1515%

BARFAL61E

In the People’s Republic of China:

FAFREE AR FLAME -

Wt BHAEAE Commercial 100 Medium term lease
[SES R HATEAY

It mERMELMEER Office premises 100  Medium term lease
HI/NES Y ES FRHATE AT

Bttt ES Commercial 100 Long term lease

B = R R B AR B [SES REIFEAY

RER LA

Investment properties

REYFE

ARt ES Commercial 100 Long term lease

B m A R R B AL R B BES REIHEA

RMER T A

FRIITER K E502255% Commercial and 100  Medium term lease

A EISBREAEAR - 612 - 81 1018 - office premises FR EAFE 4Y

1318 - 1412 - 1512 1812 [HESE VN ES
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